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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

In this brief, the Appellant, Theresa Van Zee, will be referred to as 

"Theresa." The Appellees, Craig and Pamela Van Zee, will be referred to as 

"Craig" and "Pamela," respectively. The Hand County Clerk of Courts' record 

will be referred to by the initials "CR" and the corresponding page numbers. 

The transcript of the pretrial hearing will be referred to as "PT" followed by 

the corresponding page numbers. The transcript of the first day of the jury 

trial, conducted on December 13, 2023, will be referred to as "T " followed by 

the corresponding page numbers. The transcript of the second day of the jury 

trial, conducted on December 14, 2023, will be referred to as "T2" followed by 

the corresponding page numbers. The Appendix to this brief will be r eferred 

to as "Appx." followed by the corresponding page numbers. 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This appeal follows the trial court's Judgment, which was filed on 

December 22, 2023. (Appx. 20; CR 1837 .) Notice of Entry was served that 

same date. (CR 1838.) Theresa filed a Notice of Appeal on January 18, 2024. 

(CR 1876.) This Court may exercise jurisdiction pursuant to SDCL 15-26A-

3(1), because Theresa timely appealed a final judgment. 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY CONCLUDING 
THERE WAS NO FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT BY CRAIG 
AND PAMELA WHICH TOLLED THE STATUTE OF 
LIMITATIONS. 
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Relying upon its decision that Craig and Pamela did not owe 
Theresa a fiduciary duty, the trial court concluded that Theresa 
had to show that Craig and Pamela engaged in affirmative or 
deceptive acts that prevented Theresa from discovering her cause 
of action. The trial court granted Craig and Pamela's motion for 
summary judgment, barring Theresa's claims from prior to May 
31, 2017. 

Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21 (S.D. 1992). 

SDCL 15-2-13. 

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY CONCLUDING 
THAT CRAIG AND PAMELA, WHO WERE IN POSSESSION OF 
CO-TENANCY PROPERTY, OWED NO FIDUCIARY DUTY TO 
THERESA. 

The trial court denied Theresa's Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment, and granted Craig and Pamela's Motion for 
Summary Judgment, concluding Craig and Pamela did not owe 
a fiduciary duty to Theresa. 

Conway v. Conway, 487 N .W.2d 21 (S.D. 1992) . 

Hafeman v. Gem Oil Co., 163 Neb. 438, 80 N .W.2d 139 (1956). 

Mountcastle v. Baird, No. 33, 1988 Tenn. App . LEXIS 38 (Ct. App. Jan. 29, 
1988). 

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO 
IMPOSE A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST. 

The trial court found that a constructive trust was not created, 
granted Craig and Pamela's Motion for Summary Judgment, 
and denied Theresa's Motion for Partial Summary Judgm ent 
seeking that relief 

Briggs v. Briggs (In re Certification of a Question of Law from the United 
States Dist. Court, Dist. of S.D., S. Div.). 2019 S.D. 37, 931 N.W.2d 510. 

Johnson v. Markve, 2022 S.D. 57, 980 N.W.2d 662. 

SDCL 55-1-7. 
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SDCL 55-1-11. 

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING 
THERESA'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
SEEKING DAMAGES FOR CONVERSION. 

Although it was undisputed that Craig and Pamela exercised 
control over the rental income on the real estate they co-owned 
with Theresa, the trial court found there was a factual dispute 
that precluded summary judgment in Theresa's favor. 

First Am. Bank & Trust, N.A. v. Farmers State Bank of Canton, 2008 S.D. 
83, 756 N.W.2d 19. 

W. Consol. Coop. v. Pew, 2011 S.D. 9, 795 N .W.2d 390. 

SDCL 21-3-3. 

V. ALTERNATIVELY, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY 
ALLOWING CRAIG AND PAMELA TO PRESENT EVIDENCE 
TO THE JURY REGARDING DESMOND VAN ZEE'S DEBT, 
THE ALLEGED AGREEMENT BETWEEN CRAIG AND 
PAMELA AND PATRICIA VAN ZEE, AND ACTIONS FROM 1999 
TO THE PRESENT TO DEFEND AGAINST THERESA'S 
CLAIMS FOR UNPAID RENT. 

The trial court denied Theresa's motions in limine and p ermitted 
Craig and Pamela to present evidence related to Craig's alleged 
"agreement" with Patricia Van Z ee and evidence related to 
Desmond Van Zee's debt. 

Stabler v. First Bank of Roscoe, 2015 S.D. 44, 865 N.W.2d 466. 

SDCL 19-19-401. 

SDCL 19-19-403. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 14, 2022, Craig and P am ela filed a Complaint seeking a 

partit ion of Hand County real es tate th ey jointly owned with Ther esa. (CR 2-
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3.) On July 18, 2022, Theresa filed an Answer and Counterclaim seeking an 

accounting relating to the jointly owned real estate. (CR 6-8.) Craig and 

Pamela moved to dismiss the counterclaim seeking a partnership accounting, 

and their motion was granted. (CR 33.) 

On May 12, 2023, Theresa filed an Amended Motion for Leave to 

Amend and Add Counterclaim. (CR 140.) That Motion was granted. (CR 

174.) On May 31 , 2023, Theresa filed a Counterclaim alleging constructive 

trust and accounting, breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, fraudulent 

concealment, and unjust enrichment. (CR 182-187.) Theresa's counterclaims 

centered on the rental income that Craig and Pamela retained from the 

jointly-owned real estate. (Id.) Theresa sought rental income that she had 

not received since Craig and Theresa became joint owners in 2010. (Id .) 

On October 6, 2023, Craig and Pamela filed a Motion for Summary 

Judgment. (CR 262-263.) On October 12, 2023, Theresa filed a Motion for 

Partial Summary Judgment on her counterclaims for constructive trust, 

breach of fiduciary duty, and conversion. (CR 622.) In a letter opinion dated 

November 13, 2023, the Honorable Kent Shelton advised the parties that he 

was granting Craig and Pamela's motion, in part. (Appx. 1-15; CR 860-874.) 

Specifically, Judge Shelton granted summary judgment regarding the statute 

of limitations and barred Theresa's claims for unpaid r ent from prior to May 

31, 2017. (Appx. 3-5; CR 862-864.) Judge Shelton also concluded Craig and 

Theresa owed no fiduciary duty to Theresa, and no constructive trust should 
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be imposed. (Appx. 7-9; CR 866-868.) Finally, Judge Shelton advised that he 

was denying all parts of Theresa's motion. (Appx. 14-15; CR 873-874.) 

On November 28, 2023, Theresa filed a petition for discretionary 

appeal, and Craig and Pamela were instructed to respond by December 1, 

2023. (CR 898.) The Court denied the petition on December 7, 2023. (CR 

1028.) 

On November 30, 2023, Craig and Pamela filed Pretrial Motions and 

Motions in Limine, which included a request that the jury hear the "whole 

story." (CR 900-904.) Craig and Pamela requested they be allowed to 

present evidence relating to the history of the debt of Desmond Van Zee, the 

father of Craig, Theresa, and Michael. (Id.) They also sought to present 

evidence relating to a claimed agreement between Craig and his mother , 

Patricia, regarding the use of the rental income, as well as Craig and 

Pamela's actions dating back to 1999. (Id.) On November 30, 2023, Theresa 

filed Motions in Limine, which included a request that Craig and Pamela not 

be allowed to present evidence of Desmond's debt or Craig's agreement with 

Patricia. (CR 905.) At the pretrial hearing on December 5, 2023, Judge 

Shelton granted Craig and Pamela's Motions and denied Theresa's Motion. 

(Appx. 18-19; CR 921-922.) 

A jury trial was held on December 13 -14, 2023 regarding Theresa's 

counterclaims for conversion and unjust enrichment. Theresa was only 

allowed to pursue damages for the withheld r ent in the six years preceding 
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the lawsuit. (Appx. 79; CR 1031.) Consistent with Judge Shelton's pretrial 

rulings, Craig and Pamela were allowed to present the evidence about their 

actions preceding the co-tenancy, Desmond's debt, and Craig's claimed 

agreement with Patricia. Ultimately, after questioning whether the unjust 

enrichment damages could be split based on Patricia's date of death, the jury 

returned a verdict in Theresa's favor for only $38,052.00. (Appx. 80-81; CR 

1032-1033.) Judgment was entered on December 22, 2023. (CR 1837.) 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Although this matter proceeded to trial, Craig and Pamela do not 

dispute many of the critical facts. (CR 784-792.) Very simply, from the time 

that Craig became a cotenant with Theresa in 2010 until this lawsuit, Craig 

leased real estate that he and Theresa jointly owned without telling Theresa 

about the leases or providing her with any of the rental income. 

A. Craig obtains the Homeplace. 

Desmond and Patricia Van Zee were the parents of Craig, Michael, and 

Theresa. (T 4 , 6.) Desmond and Patricia owned farm land in Hand County, 

South Dakota. (CR 784.) Desmond passed away in 1997. (T 51.) When 

Desmond died, approximately 1,500 acres farmland owned by Desmond, 

Patricia, or jointly by the two of them, transferred to Patricia. (T 8, 51; CR 

784.) This land consisted of a "home place" of about 920 acres , and what is 

sometimes referred to as the "land by the lake" of approximately 480 acres. 

(T2 13-14, 21.) 
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Around 2004, Patricia and Craig consulted with attorney Jim Jones in 

Miller, South Dakota, to draft a deed transferring the home place from 

Patricia, a single person, to Patricia, Craig, and Pamela, as joint tenants with 

rights of survivorship. (T2 13-14; CR 785.) This deed was executed on June 

30, 2004. (CR 1034.) Before she executed the 2004 warranty deed to add 

Craig as a joint tenant on the home place, Patricia informed Craig that she 

was planning similar transfers of property to herself and to Michael and 

Theresa as joint tenants. (CR 785.) 

Patricia quitclaimed her interest in the home place to Craig and 

Pamela in 2013. (CR 787, 1044-1045, 1046-1047.) Craig acknowledged he 

had the rent from the 920 acres to service Desmond's debt. (T2 27 .) 

B. Craig and Theresa become co-tenants. 

On September 16, 2004, Patricia signed warranty deeds conveying 

approximately 240 acres to herself and Michael as joint tenants, and 

approximately 240 acres to herself and Theresa as joint tenants. (CR 785-

786, 1036, 1037.) The real estate Patricia deeded to Theresa is legally 

described as: 

The South Half of the Southwest Quarter (S ½SW¼) and the 
Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of Section Twenty-one (21) , Township 
One Hundred Fourteen (114) North, Range Sixty-nine (69) , West 
of the 5th P.M. ("Subject Property.") 

(CR 786.) 
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Theresa did not receive a copy of this September 16, 2004 warranty 

deed when it was signed and recorded. (T 54.) However, Theresa visited 

the courthouse at some later date and learned that she was put on the real 

estate as an owner with her mother. (T 56.) 

On June 7, 2010, Patricia conveyed to Craig her undivided one-half 

interest in the Subject Property. (CR 786, 1038-1039.) Consequently, as of 

June 7, 2010, Theresa and Craig each owned an undivided one-half interest 

in the Subject Property, and Patricia no longer owned any interest in the 

Subject Property. (CR 787 .)1 Craig knew that Patricia executed the deed in 

2010, and he knew that he owned the Subject Property jointly with Theresa. 

(T2 17, 21, 23; CR 786.) From 2010 to 2021 , Craig admits that he did not tell 

Theresa that he was a joint owner of the Subject Property with her. (T2 35 .) 

Conversely, Theresa did not appreciate that Patricia had conveyed her 

one-half interest to Craig, making her a tenant in common with him, until 

about a decade later when Patricia was about to die. (T 58-59, 84.) Neither 

Craig nor Pamela said anything to Theresa about the fact t hat they jointly 

owned the land together. (T 59, 66, 88; T2 35.) She did not receive tax 

notices from the county or Craig, as the notices were sent to Craig and 

Pamela's address and were not furnished to Theresa . (T 60, 63 , 88; T2 23, 32, 

34, 35.) She first learned that Craig was substituted for Patricia as an owner 

1 On August 25, 2015, Craig transferred his undivided one-half interest in 
the Subject Property to himself and Pamela. (CR 787, 1042.) 
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of the Subject Property when she saw Craig's name with hers when she was 

looking through a plat book in a grocery store. (T 58-59.) 

C. Craig leases the Subject Property. 

Craig signed several leases renting the homeplace, some additional 

parcels he owned, and the land by the lake, including the Subject property. 

Between 2008 and 2012, the Subject Property was leased to L&O Acres. (CR 

788.) Although Craig was aware that Theresa became a cotenant with him in 

2010, the lease with L&O acres was never mentioned to Theresa. (Id.) 

The Subject Property was among 471.2 acres that Craig leased to 

Kirby Odde for a five-year term beginning in 2012. (CR 788-789; 1048-1051.) 

This lease called for a $93,160.00 payment in 2012, a $186,600 .00 payment in 

2013, and $279,760 .00 for the years 2014, 2015, 2016, and 2017. (CR 1049.) 

Theresa was neither told about this lease nor included as a signatory to the 

lease. (T2 23; CR 1051.) According to Craig, he did not tell Theresa or 

Michael about the lease because "mom told me not to tell them." (T2 23.) 

Theresa received no rental payments under this lease. (T 61.) 

For the farming years 2018-2020, Craig again rented land, including 

the Subject Property, to Odde. (CR 789; 1052-1054.) Once again, Theresa 

was not consulted and did not sign the 2018-2020 lease. (T 62-63; CR 790, 

1054.) Taking the total payment of $323,400, divided by 1,960 acr es, this 

lease obligated Odde to pay $165/acre over those three years . (T2 27; CR 

1052-1054.) Although Theresa owned an undivided one-half inter est in the 
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Subject Property, which was rented to Odde, none of the rental income for 

those years was provided to Theresa. (T 62; T2 27, 32; CR 790.) 

For 2021, Craig executed a lease with Odde Farms, which included the 

Subject Property. (T2 33; CR 790, 1055-1057.) The total amount remained 

the same as the prior three years, with a price per acre of $165. (T2 33-34.) 

This lease was not discussed with Theresa and she did not sign it. (T 64; T2 

34.) Theresa received no rental payments in 2021. (T 63-64.) 

Finally, for the farming years from 2022 to present, Craig signed a 

lease with Odde Farms which included the Subject Property. (T2 35; CR 790-

791; 1058-1060.) For these years, the rental rate increased to $170/acre. (T2 

36.) The lease was neither discussed with nor furnished to Theresa. (T 64-

65.) Craig furnished none of the rental income to Theresa in 2022 or 2023 . 

(T 64; T2 35.) 

Considering the various rental rates that applied from 2012 to present, 

Craig received over $223,000 in rental income for Theresa's undivided one-

half portion of the Subject Property: 

Year Total Rent Price per Rent for land Theresa's 
Received From Acre by the lake 50% share 

All Land (471.2 tillable for Subject 
acres) Property 

2012 $93,160 $59.94 $28,243 $7,061 

2013 $186,600 $ 120.06 $56,572 $14,143 

2014 $279,760 $180 .00 $84,816 $21,204 
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2015 $279,760 $ 180.00 $84,816 $21,204 

2016 $279,760 $180.00 $84,816 $21,204 

2017 $279,760 $ 180.00 $84,816 $21,204 

2018 $323,400 $165 .00 $77,748 $19,437 

2019 $323,400 $ 165.00 $77,748 $19,437 

2020 $323,400 $165.00 $77,748 $19,437 

2021 $323,400 $165.00 $77,748 $19,437 

2022 $333,200 $ 170.00 $80,104 $20,026 

2023 $333,200 $ 170.00 $80,104 $20,026 

TOTAL $3,358 ,800.00 $895,279.00 $223,820 

From the time Craig became a co-tenant with Theresa in 2010 to this 

lawsuit, it is undisputed that Craig signed leases and collected over $446,000 

in rent off the Subject Property without telling Theresa, much less providing 

her with any portion of the r en t .2 (T2 23, 43, 64; CR 788-791 , 1048-1060.) 

D. Craig commingles the rental income from the Subject 
Property. 

Craig put his handling of the r ent the best: "Everything is thrown 

together." (T2 33.) Craig testified at trial that he deposited all the rent 

payments he received into the Van Zee farm account at American Bank and 

2 The lease with L&O Acres that was in effect when Craig becam e a cot enant 
could not be located, so it is unknown how much Craig r eceived in 2010 and 
2011. (Appx. 41; CR 788.) 
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Trust. (T2 36, 40.) This was Craig's only checking account. (T2 43.) While 

Patricia was on the account, she neither deposited money into the account 

nor wrote checks out of the account. (T2 36.) 

Craig's position is that he had an agreement with Patricia to pay 

Desmond's debt with the rent proceeds. (CR2 46.) First, Craig stated he "got 

the home place to take care of dad's note[.]" (T2 27.) Later, Craig testified 

that Patricia wanted him to keep all the land together to pay on Desmond's 

debt, and "[e]verything went to that debt." (T2 46.) The annual payment on 

Desmond's note was approximately $31,000-33,000, and Craig never paid 

more than the annual payment because he "never wanted to." (T2 38-39; CR 

1731.) 

Craig also claims that he had an agreement to pay Patricia rent every 

year that continued even after Patricia did not own the Subject Property. 

(CR2 58-59.) Craig and Pamela confirmed that Patricia was provided 

approximately $15,000- $17 ,000 per year from the total amount Craig 

collected each year. (T 91-92; T2 37, 41.) 

Craig used the rest of the rental income for a variety of things. He 

bought more land for himself. He purchased five additional quarters in 2011, 

which were collectively referred to at trial as the "Roach" land. (T2 25.) His 

loan payments on the Roach land ranged from $118,000 to $144,000 per year. 

(T2 28; CR 1732.) The Roach land generated about half that amount in 
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annual rent, which was insufficient to cover Craig's loan payments. (T2 30-

31.) 

Craig and Pamela also used the Van Zee farm account to pay their 

personal expenses. (T 89-91; T2 41-43.) They paid for vehicles with it. (Id.) 

They paid the kids' student loan debt and other expenses with it. (Id.) They 

insured and updated the lake cabin with it. (T2 42.) 

Zero dollars in rental income related to the land by the lake went to 

Theresa and Michael, even though they each owned an undivided one-half 

interest for over a decade. (T2 43.) 

ARGUMENT 

This appeal is primarily predicated on the trial court's errors handling 

the parties' summary judgment motions. The errors resulted in Craig and 

Pamela obtaining dismissals of Theresa's claims for breach of fiduciary duty 

and imposition of a constructive trust. They also resulted in Theresa's claim 

for damages being erroneously restrained to only the six years preceding h er 

counterclaim. Theresa submits that the undisputed facts that she presented 

to the trial court established that Craig and Pamela are liable for detaining 

the rental income on the Subject Property, as a matter of law. Thus, no jury 

trial should have occurred. 

When the jury trial on h er two surviving claims occurred, the trial 

court permitted Craig and Pamela to present irrelevant a nd unfairly 
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prejudicial evidence to the jury to persuade the jurors to go outside the 

elements of Theresa's claims and slash the damages to which Theresa is 

entitled under the law. 

This appeal, therefore, seeks reversal of several of the trial court's 

decisions. 

A. Craig and Pamela concealed their receipt and retention of 
rental income from their co-tenant, Theresa, and summary 
judgment on the statute of limitations was error. 

The trial court granted Craig and Pamela's motion for summary 

judgment, applying the six-year statute of limitations in SDCL 15-2-13 and 

barring Theresa's claims from prior to May 31 , 2017. (CR 877.) "Because the 

point at which a period of limitations begins to run must b e decided from the 

facts of each case, statute of limitations questions are normally left for a 

jury." Strassburg v. Citizens State Bank, 1998 S.D. 72, ,r 7, 581 N.W.2d 510, 

513. 

"In response to a summary judgment motion where the defendant 

asserts the statute of limitations as a bar to the action and presumptively 

establishes the defense by showing the case was brought beyond the 

statutory period, the burden then shifts to the plaintiff to establish the 

existence of material facts in avoida nce of the statute of limitations, e.g., 

fraud or fraudulent concealment." Strassburg, 1998 S.D. 72, ,r 5 , 581 N.W.2d 

at 513. Theresa established facts in avoidance of the statute of limitations, 

and the trial court incorrectly barred her claims via summary judgment. 
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The lynchpin of the trial court's error was requiring Theresa to show 

that Craig and Pamela took affirmative acts to prevent the discovery of her 

cause of action. (CR 862-863.) Under Conway v . Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21 

(S.D. 1992), Craig and Pamela's undisputed silence about collecting and 

retaining the rental income on the Subject Property, which persisted for over 

a decade, was sufficient to toll the statute of limitations. 

It is well established that the statute of limitations will be tolled until 

the cause of action is discovered or might have been discovered, if there is 

fraudulent concealment of the cause of action. Conway. 487 N.W.2d at 23 

(citing Glad v. Gunderson, Farrar, Aldrich, 378 N.W.2d 680, 682 (S.D. 1985) 

(further citations omitted) . "In South Dakota, if a trust or confidential 

relationship exists between the parties, which imposes a duty to disclose, 

mere silence by the one under that duty constitutes fraudulent 

concealment." Id. (citing Glad, 378 N .W.2d at 682-683) (emphasis added)). 

In Conway, this Court recognized a relationship of trust and confidence 

between co-tenants that requires disclosure: 

Although strictly speaking a fiduciary relationship does not exist 
between tenants in common by reason of the mere fact that they 
are such, a relationship of trust and confidence exists to the 
extent that each co-tenant has a duty to sustain or at least not to 
assail, the common interest or title, and one co-tenant will not be 
permitted to obtain a secret profit to the disadvantage of the other 
co-tenants where all must act in unison. 

Id. at 24 (quoting 86 C.J.S. Tenancy in Common§ 17 (1954) (emphasis 

added); see also Hafeman v. Gem Oil Co., 163 Neb . 438, 473, 80 N.W.2d 139, 
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160 (1956) (if one co-tenant has possession of funds belonging to his co-tenant 

he becomes trustee thereof and stands in a fiduciary relationship to the 

extent of the interest of the co-tenant who may compel an accounting). 

Conway is very analogous. A sister, Margaret, brought an equitable 

accounting action against her brother, Gerald, to recover her fair share of 

rent from property in which each had obtained an interest. Id. at 22. Their 

father owned 160 acres of farmland in Minnehaha County and died intestate. 

In 1959, the Final Decree of the father's estate provided that the surviving 

widow received three-ninths of the farm, and the three children each 

obtained an individual two-ninth share. Id. at 22. The mother retained a 

life estate, and she collected r ental income until 1981. Id. In 1981, the 

mother conveyed h er interest in the real estate to Gerald, who began leasing 

the farm to third-parties, collecting the r ent, and depositing it into his own 

bank account. Gerald never notified Margaret that their mother had 

conveyed h er interest in the farm to him. Nor did he t ell Margaret that h e 

was collecting the rental income as his own. Gerald, like Craig, claimed that 

he used the rental income to provide for his mother. 

The trial court was faced with whether the six-year statute of 

limitations was tolled due to Gerald's fraudulent concealment. Id. at 23. The 

trial court concluded that the statute of limitation began running when 

Margaret discover ed the warranty deed from her mother to Gerald in 1983 . 

This Court disagreed, finding that, b ecause Gerald had a duty to disclose his 
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receipt of rental income from the property and he chose to remain silent, his 

silence constituted fraudulent concealment and tolled the statute of 

limitations. Id. at 24. 

The trial court cited Conway in its recitation of the "Applicable Law," 

but did not analyze its holding in relation to the statute of limitations issue. 

(CR 862-864.) The trial court's analysis suggests that it went down the same 

wrong path as the trial court in Conway in two ways. 

First, the trial court failed to recognize that, when a confidential 

relationship exists between the parties, silence on the part of one having the 

duty to disclose constitutes fraudulent concealment. The trial court states in 

its decision: "This Court finds that the Plaintiffs (sic) act of managing the 

farm and farm account in accordance with the wishes of their mother does 

not rise to the level of an affirmative or deceptive act designed to prevent the 

Defendant's discovery of the cause of action." (CR 864.) (Emphasis added.) 

The trial court fixated on the lack of evidence of affirmative or deceptive acts. 

But Conway makes clear that the relationship between co-tenants is one that 

requires disclosure. "Essentially, Gerald and Margaret are tenants in 

common. In a relationship of this sort, a confidential relationship does exist 

between the parties." Id. at 24. "Since Gerald had a duty to disclose he was 

receiving all rental income from the farm, but chose to remain silent, we h old 

that this constitutes fraudulent concealment." Id. 
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The same fact pattern exists here. Craig knew he was a tenant in 

common with Theresa in 2010. He knew Patricia no longer held an 

ownership interest in the Subject Property. He knew the rental income from 

the land they owned together was being deposited into the Van Zee farm 

account. He knew that neither he nor Pamela were consulting Theresa about 

leasing the land, much less providing Theresa with any share of the rental 

income. Just like Gerald, Craig and Pamela chose to remain silent. 

Second, the trial court blamed Theresa for not doing more to verify 

ownership of the Subject Property. (CR 864.) This Court was not persuaded 

by a similar argument in Conway. In Conway, Margaret's assumption was 

that the rental income from the farm was going to mother while she was 

alive. Id. at 24. Gerald did not advise Margaret otherwise when he started 

collecting the rent. "Trial court h eld that discovery in 1983 of the warranty 

deed put upon Margaret the duty of further inquiry and notice. W e do not 

agree. We cannot make the inductive leap binding Margaret with knowledge 

of Gerald's claim to all rental income, based on her discovery of the warranty 

deed's existence." Id. at 24. 

Similarly, Theresa assumed that while Patricia was alive, the rental 

income from the Subject Property and the rest of the farm was going to 

Patricia. (T53.) Craig and Pamela remained silent and did not share with 

Theresa what they were doing with the rental income from the Subject 
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Property, presumably so that Theresa would continue in her errant 

assumption. 

Simply put, because they were co-tenants with Theresa, Craig and 

Pamela had a duty to disclose information about the receipt and handling of 

the rental income. It is undisputed they failed to do so. Just as in Conway, 

the applicable statute of limitations should have been tolled due to 

fraudulent concealment. 

B. As co-tenants in possession of rental income for the Subject 
Property, Craig and Pamela were fiduciaries. 

To establish a valid claim for a breach of a fiduciary duty, Theresa was 

first required to prove that Craig and Pamela were acting as fiduciaries . 

Olson v. Berggren, 2021 S.D. 58, ,r 39, 965 N.W.2d 442, 455. The existence of 

a fiduciary duty and the scope of that duty are questions of law for the Court. 

Once again, while the trial court acknowledged the Conway decision, it 

quickly pivoted to this Court's recent decision in Estate of Thacker v. Timm, 

2023 S.D. 2, 984 N.W.2d 679, and conventional rules governing fiduciary 

relationships. The trial court devoted no further discussion to the factual 

nuance present in this case: a co-tenant in possession of co-tenancy money. 

(CR 866-867.) Conway r ecognized that the factual setting of t his case is 

different. When Craig and Pamela came into possession of co-tenancy money 

related to the Subject Property, a fiduciary r elationship was created. 
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The trial court did not analyze whether co-tenants owe fiduciary duties 

to each other. Some courts have concluded that the relationship as tenants­

in-common, alone, creates a fiduciary relationship. See~ Jolley v . Corry, 

671 P.2d 139, 141 (Utah 1983); Bartz v. Heringer, 322 N.W.2d 243, 244 (N.D. 

1982) (recognizing confidential relationship between co-tenants); Brown v. 

Brown, 263 Ark. 189, 563 S.W.2d 444, 446 (Ark. 1978) (fiduciary relationship 

between co-tenants). This Court does not need to establish such a categorical 

rule to conclude that a fiduciary duty was owed in this case. Rather, it is 

Craig and Pamela's receipt of rental income from the Subject Property that is 

recognized by most courts to create the fiduciary duty. 

In Conway, the Court cited to Hafeman v. Gem Oil Co., 163 Neb. 438, 

80 N.W.2d 139 (1956). Hafeman discussed various authority around the 

country for the proposition that the fact of co-tenancy, alone, does not create a 

fiduciary relationship; however, a co-tenant who acquires possession and 

control over property common to the co-tenancy is a trustee or fiduciary for 

his fellow co-tenants. Id. at 4 71, 80 N.W.2d at 159; see also Clayton v. 

Clayton, 75 So. 3d 649, 655 (Ala. Civ. App. 2011) (quoting Faust v. Faust, 251 

Ala. 35, 37, 36 So. 2d 232, 233 (1948)) (" ... [i]t has become a settled rule in 

this country that a cotenant who has received money from third persons for 

the use of the common property becomes a trustee for the amount collected 

for the b en efit of his cotenants ... ") .. As such a trustee, the co-tenant in 

possession is required to observe a standard of conduct, described by Justice 
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Cardozo as follows: "'A trustee is held to something stricter than the morals 

of the market place. Not honestly alone, but the punctilio of an honor the 

most sensitive, is then the standard of behavior."' Hafeman at 473, 80 

N.W.2d at 161 (quoting Meinhard v. Salmon, 249 N.Y. 458, 164 N.E. 545 

(1928)). 

Because Craig and Pamela possessed funds which were paid for the 

use of the common property, they owed a fiduciary duty to protect and secure 

those funds for Theresa's benefit. See Mountcastle v . Baird, No. 33, 1988 

Tenn. App. LEXIS 38, at *7 (Ct. App. Jan. 29, 1988) (quoting Hafeman , 163 

Neb. at 473, 80 N.W.2d at 160). In Mountcastle, the defendant, Baird, 

undertook to manage and control mining activities under a lease that related 

to three separate tracts of land that were owned by different parties. Each 

month, Baird received royalty checks. Baird made no effort to allocate the 

funds b etween the various tracts of land that were leased. Instead, he 

deposited them in various locations, including in his own account and his 

wife's safety deposit box. "By allowing Baird so to act, plaintiffs, his co­

tenants, put a special confidence, faith and trust in him to m anage this 

property in their best interests." Id. at *6. "In addition, because Baird 

possessed funds which belonged to plaintiffs, he owed a fiduciary duty to them 

with regard to those funds." Id. at *7 (emphasis added). Similarly, Craig and 

Pamela received and deposited the rental income from the Subject Property 
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into the Van Zee farm account, making no attempt to allocate the portion 

that related to Theresa's one-half interest in the Subject Property. 

The recognition of a fiduciary duty in this setting comports with 

Conway's acknowledgement of a confidential relationship between co-tenants, 

as well as the traditional rules this Court has recognized with respect to 

fiduciary duties. "While there is no invariable rule for determining whether 

a fiduciary relationship exists, there must be not only confidence of the one in 

the other, but there must exist a certain inequality, dependence, weakness of 

age, mental strength, business intelligence, knowledge of the facts involved, 

or other conditions giving to one advantage over the other."' Estate of 

Thacker v. Timm, 2023 S .D . 2 , ,r 21, 984 N.W.2d at 687 (quoting Wyman v. 

Bruckner, 2018 S .D. 17, ,r 28, 908 N .W.2d 170, 179) (emphasis added) . 

Theresa was neither on equal footing with Craig and Pamela nor 

shared the same knowledge as Craig and Pamela. This put Craig and Pamela 

at an advantage. Theresa assumed that, while h er mother was alive, Patricia 

was renting the Subject Property to others and retaining the rental income. 

(T53.) See Conway. 487 N .W.2d at 24 ("The family h a d long operated under 

the belief that all rental income from the farm was to go to the support of 

Mother until her death."). Since the late nineties, Theresa has resided 

several hours away n ear the border of Iowa a nd Illinois. (T45 -46.) See id. 

("Margaret lived several states away from South Dakota and h ad no ready 

access to information concerning the farm."). She was not included as a 
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signatory to the contracts leasing her land or told anything about the leases 

pertaining to the Subject Property, by Craig and Pamela's own admission. 

(CR 788-791.) 

This case presents the precise factual setting in which courts, 

including Conway, Mountcastle, and Hafeman, have serially recognized a 

relationship of trust and confidence. One co-tenant cannot obtain a secret 

profit to the disadvantage of the other co-tenants. Theresa was at a clear 

disadvantage because of her lack of knowledge relating to the use of the 

Subject Property. Craig and Pamela had the upper hand, and they owed a 

fiduciary duty with respect to the rental income they collected on the Subject 

Property. The trial court erred by concluding they owed no fiduciary duty. 

C. Because Craig and Pamela detained the rental income from the 
Subject Property, a constructive trust should have been 
imposed. 

Despite clear and convincing evidence that Craig and Pamela detained 

the rental income from the Subject Property, while furnishing none to 

Theresa, the trial court refused to impose a constructive trust. Instead, it 

denied Theresa's motion for summary judgment and granted summary 

judgment to Craig and Pamela. (Appx. 9 , 14, 17; CR 868, 873, 878.) Craig 

and Pamela, as constructive trustees, should have been ordered to return to 

Theresa the money in which she has an ownership interest. 

SDCL 55-1-7 provides, "[o]ne who wrongfully detains a thing is an 

implied trustee thereof for the benefit of the owner." "SDCL 55-1-11 broadly 
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permits a court to establish and declare an implied or constructive trust 

based on the facts and circumstances of a transaction." Briggs v. Briggs (In re 

Certification of a Question of Law from the United States Dist. Court, Dist. of 

S.D., S. Div.). 2019 S.D. 37, ,-r 1, 931 N.W.2d 510, 510. 

"An implied trust arises from the facts and circumstances of a 

transaction. An implied trust is generally remedial in nature and is an 

equitable tool used to restore the status quo and to protect assets wrongfully 

obtained." Johnson v. Markve, 2022 S.D. 57, ,-i 74, 980 N.W.2d 662, 680-81. 

To impose a construct trust, one must show: "(1) the constructive trustee 

gained; (2) that gain was by fraud, accident, mistake, undue influence, 

violation of a trust, or other wrongful act; (3) the constructive trustee has no 

superior right to the thing gained; and (4) the party seeking the constructive 

trust would have otherwise had the thing gained." (Id.) (citations omitted). 

Craig and Pamela gained Theresa's share of the rental income from 

the Subject Property. To gain this money, they concealed information from 

Theresa that they were co-owners of the Subject Property, were negotiating 

and executing leases, were receivin g rental income, and were determining 

how to distribute the rental income without consulting Theresa. Theresa 

owned a one-half interest of the Subject Property, so Crai g and Pamela did 

not have a superior right to Theresa's portion of the rental income. Finally, 

had Craig and Pamela not retained Theresa's portion of the r en tal income, it 

rightfully would have gone to Theresa. 
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A constructive trust should have been imposed. The trial court erred 

by refusing this relief and granting Craig and Pamela's motion for summary 

judgment. 

D. Theresa was entitled to summary judgment on her claim that 
Craig and Pamela converted the rental income from the 
Subject Property. 

The trial court denied Theresa's Motion for Summary Judgment 

seeking damages for Craig and Pamela's conversion of rental income earned 

from the Subject Property. "A grant or denial of summary judgment is 

reviewed de novo." Abata v. Pennington Cnty. Bd. of Comm'rs, 2019 S.D. 39, 

,T 8, 931 N.W.2d 714, 718. 

"Conversion is the unauthorized exercise of control or dominion over 

p ersonal property in a way that repudiates an owner's right in the property 

or in a manner inconsistent with such right." First Am. Bank & Trust, N.A. v . 

Farmers State Bank of Canton, 2008 S.D. 83, ,T 38, 756 N .W .2d 19, 31 

(quoting Chem-Age Indus., Inc. v. Glover , 2002 S .D. 122, ,T 20,652 N.W.2d 

756, 766). To prove conversion, Theresa was required to show: "(1) [she] 

owned or had a possessory interest in the property; (2) [her] interest in the 

property was greater than [Craig and Pamela's]; (3) [Craig and Pamela] 

exercised dominion or control over or seriously interfered with [her] interest 

in the property; and (4) such conduct deprived [Theresa] of [her] interest in 

the property." First Am. Bank & Trust, N.A., 2008 S.D. 83, ,T 38, 756 N.W.2d 

at 31. 
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The trial court concluded there was an issue of fact about whether 

Craig and Pamela's conversion was "unwarranted," suggesting there is some 

additional element relating to Craig and Pamela's intent that Theresa needed 

to prove. (CR 871.) The trial court misapplied the law. "The tort of 

conversion does not require the intent to deprive the true owner of [her] 

property rights." W. Consol. Coop. v. Pew, 2011 S.D. 9, ~ 30, 795 N.W.2d 390, 

398. "It is the act of conversion itself that is the wrong." Id. "[N]either good 

nor bad faith, neither care nor negligence, neither knowledge nor ignorance, 

are of the gist of the action." Chem-Age Indus., 2002 S.D. 122, ~ 20,652 

N.W.2d at 766. 

In W. Consol. Coop. the trial court granted summary judgment in favor 

of Western Consolidated Cooperative (W estCon) on its conversion claim. 

WestCon's employee, Lynn Pew, had been stealing grain from WestCon and 

selling it to LaBolt Farmers Grain Company. WestCon sued both Pew and 

LaBolt for conversion. LaBolt tried to defend its actions in receiving the 

grain by arguing there was a genuine issue of fact about whether its 

interference was "unwarranted." This Court rejected the argument, 

concluding that the use of the word "wrongful" in SDCL 21-3-3 does not add 

an element to the tort, or an additional element that must be satisfied to 

calculate damages once the defendant has been found liable for conversion. 

The defendants ' liability for conversion was affirmed , but the matter was 
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remanded so damages could be apportioned under SDCL 15-8-15.1 and 15-8-

15.2. 

This case is much simpler. Theresa owned a one-half interest in the 

Subject Property, which entitled her to a one-half interest in the rental 

income associated with the Subject Property. Theresa's interest in her half of 

the rental income was greater than Craig and Pamela's interest. Craig and 

Pamela exercised complete dominion and control over all rental agreements, 

all rental income that was collected, and all rental income distributions, 

including the rental income associated with Theresa's one-half interest in the 

Subject Property. Theresa was deprived of her interest in the rental income 

by their actions. 

The trial court's conclusion that there is a fact dispute about whether 

Theresa "acquiesced to the rental income being used to support [her] mother 

and service the family debt," is completely untethered to any record evidence. 

Theresa was never told anything about the leases much less asked what she 

wanted done with her share of the rental incom e on the Subject Property. 

Indeed, Craig and Pamela admit that Theresa was never asked to h elp pay 

her father's debt: 

21. Craig has never asked Michael or Theresa to h elp pay 
Desmond's debt. (Depo. Craig, 62:16-19). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

(CR 788.) 
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The trial court incorrectly determined there was a factual dispute 

concerning Craig and Pamela's liability for converting the rental income. To 

the contrary, the facts about Craig and Pamela exercising control over the 

rental income are undisputed. Craig and Pamela's admissions establish all 

essential elements of conversion. From the time Craig became a co-tenant 

with Theresa in 2010 to this lawsuit, Craig, and later Craig and Pamela, 

exercised control over $223,830 in rental income off the Subject Property that 

related to Theresa's undivided one-half interest. (T2 23, 43, 64; CR 788-791, 

1048-1060.) Summary judgment should have been granted in Theresa's 

favor. Under SDCL 21-3-3(1), she was entitled to a judgment for the money 

converted plus interest. 

E. Alternatively, the trial court's evidentiary rulings permitting 
Craig and Pamela to present irrelevant content to the jury 
unfairly prejudiced Theresa. 

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court committed s everal errors with 

r espect to the cross motions for summary judgment. When the matter 

proceeded to trial on Theresa's two remaining claims, the trial court abused 

its discretion by allowing Craig and Pamela to present irrelevant and 

unfairly prejudicial evidence to the jury, which the jury acted upon to 

Theresa's detriment. 

This Court's review of the trial court's evidentiary rulings requires a 

two-step process. Stabler v. First Bank of Roscoe, 2015 S.D. 44,, 36, 865 

N.W.2d 466, 484. First, the Court must '"d etermine whether the trial court 
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abused its discretion in making an evidentiary ruling."' Id. (quoting 

Ruschenberg v. Eliason, 2014 S.D. 42, ,r 23, 850 N.W.2d 810, 817). Second, 

the Court must determine whether this error was a prejudicial error that in 

all probability affected the jury's conclusion." Id. (quoting Ruschenberg, 2014 

S.D. 42, ,I 23, 850 N.W.2d at 817). 

"Evidence is relevant if ... [i]t has any tendency to make a fact more 

or less probable than it would be without the evidence and ... [t]he fact is of 

consequence in determining the action." SDCL 19-19-401. A court may 

exclude relevant evidence, however, where its probative force is substantially 

outweighed by a danger of unfair prejudice, among other considerations. 

SDCL 19-19-403. 

In this case, two claims that Theresa pled in her counterclaim 

proceeded to trial: (1) Theresa's claim that, from 2010 forward, Craig and 

Pamela converted her share of income from the Subject Property; and (2) 

Theresa's claim that Craig and Pamela would be unjustly enriched by the 

retention of all the rental income from 2010 forward. (CR 185-186.) 

Since Theresa's motion in limine was denied, Craig and Pamela were 

allowed to defend against her claims with evidence about Desmond's debt 

dating back to the 1990's and a supposed agreement Craig made with 

Patricia about how the rental income was to be used. The trial court 

acknowledged that it permitted this evidence to come in only as to t he unjust 

enrichment claim. (PT 10.) Theresa maintains that this evidence should 
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have been excluded in its entirety. The jury was invited to consider matters 

that had nothing to do with the elements of her undue influence claim, 

namely, that Pamela and Craig received a benefit, that they were aware of 

the benefit, and that their retention of the benefit without reimbursing 

Theresa would be inequitable. (CR 991.) 

For example, this testimony was presented: 

Q Was there ever a time when your mom signed that lease, 
this is after the property, that she put Michael and 
Theresa's name on the property, was there ever a time 
when she told you I want part of this rent to go to Mike 
and Theresa? 

A The exact words come out of her mouth she said let's keep 
this together to pay on dad's debt. And so everything went 
to that debt. 

Q And so even though your mom had deeded part of the 
land to them and she signed the lease where she knew 
she was getting money, did she ever say some of this 
money needs to go to Michael and Theresa? 

A No, she just said just k eep it h ere for dad's debt. 

(T2 46.) 

Likewise, Craig testified: 

Q Would you tell the jury what your mother expected of you 
for you doing this for her all these years up to let's take 
the 2010 when you are signing the mortgage? 

A All I remember is my mom wanted me to keep the family 
farm going and so I was. 

Q Did she want any, did she ever tell you any of the r ent 
was supposed to go to Michael and Theresa? 
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A No. 

*** 

Q Some of the years, well, all of them after the deeds that 
were shown where your mom didn't own the land, she is 
still getting rent, didn't she? 

A Yes, I promised her that. 

(T2 57-58.) 

The trial court's decision to deny Theresa's motion in limine and allow 

evidence about Desmond's debt and the "agreement" Craig made with 

Patricia was erroneous. This evidence was irrelevant and calculated only to 

prejudice Theresa. 

First, Desmond's debt did not even p ertain to the land by the lake. 

Craig acknowledged in his testimony that, as of 2010, the land by the lake, 

including the Subject Property, had no mortgage or lien against it. (T2 44.) 

Craig also acknowledged that he was given the home place to deal with 

Desmond's debt: "I got four and a half quarters to take care of the Roach 

ground, I got the home place to take care of dad's note, and then I got a couple 

other notes." (T2 27.) (Emphasis added.) 

Second, and more importa ntly, Patricia was not an owner of the 

Subject Property from June 7, 2010 forward. The trial court seemed to 

attribute significance to Craig managing the family farm consistent with 

some nebulous con ception of what Patricia wanted. (CR 869 ("The 

undisputed facts here show that Plaintiffs h ad an agreement with t h eir 
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mother to manage the entire property, pay annual rent to support the p arties' 

mother, and service the parties' father's debt."). What Patricia wanted or did 

not want to be done with the rental income from 2010 forward is utterly 

irrelevant to the determination of Theresa's claims against Craig and 

Pamela. If Craig decided to do something Patricia requested, that was 

Craig's prerogative. But it has no bearing on whether Theresa, as Craig and 

Pamela's co-tenant who was never consulted, should have to forfeit the rental 

income relating to her undivided one-half interest in the Subject Property . 

Theresa did not make any agreements. 

There is no question that Patricia conveyed her remaining interest in 

the Subject Property to Craig in 2010. This Court interprets a deed as it 

would a contract. In re Estate of Rosenbaum, 2001 S .D. 44, ,r 6, 624 N .W.2d 

821, 824 (citing SDCL 43-4-13) . "When examining an instrument of 

conveyance, we are guided by the principle that the intention of the parties, 

and the grantor's intention in particular, must be ascertained by a fair 

consideration of the entire instrument and its language, without undue 

emphasis on any particular provision." Id. at ,r 7, 624 N .W .2d at 824. "Only 

when construction of an instrument, as a whole, leaves doubt about the 

intention of the parties will we consider the circumstances surrounding t h e 

execution of a deed." Id. "We presume that a grant of real property conveys a 

fee simple interest in the property described unless it appears from the grant 

that a lesser estate was intended." Id. at ,r 8 , 624 N .W .2d at 824. 
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The trial court took the bait on Craig and Pamela's argument that this 

evidence of Desmond's unrelated debt and an agreement with Patricia 

pertains to "equity," and they should be allowed to point to those things to 

explain why they provided no rental income to Theresa. (PT 7-9.) They were 

given carte blanche to color their retention of the rental income as carrying 

out Patricia's wishes. But there was nothing ambiguous about the 2010 

warranty deed by which Patricia conveyed her undivided one-half interest in 

the Subject Property to Craig. (CR 1038-1039.) Essentially, the trial court 

permitted Craig and Pamela to utilize parole evidence to convince the jury 

that the deed Patricia executed in 2010 did not really mean what it said. 

Their presentation suggested that, because of some side agreement that 

Theresa was no part of, Patricia still controlled the Subject Property and the 

income from it and decided that it should go to Desmond's debt and her. 

This claimed side agreement between Craig and Patricia was 

irrelevant. Even if it had some tangential relevance, its probative value was 

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusing the 

issues, and misleading the jury. SDCL 19-19-403. The trial court abused its 

discretion by allowing Craig and Pamela to make Desmond's debt and the 

supposed agreement between Craig and Patricia the focal points of their 

defense. 

And Theresa was unfairly prejudiced. The jury in this case asked two 

questions: (1) what was t h e date of Patricia's passing; and (2) can the jury 
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split the years by the date of Patricia's death for unnecessary enrichment? 

(T2 100-101.) Patricia died on March 26, 2021. (T2 101.) Theresa was 

seeking between $19,800-21,600 per year for the retained rent. (CR 1031.) 

The jury awarded $38,052.00 to her. (CR 1032.) It takes no significant feat 

of mathematics to surmise that the jury limited its award based upon the 

date that Patricia passed away, attributing significance to her supposed 

control over the Subject Property until her death. The trial court's error 

clearly prejudiced Theresa and reversal is warranted. 

CONCLUSION 

Theresa respectfully requests that the trial court's summary judgment 

rulings be reversed, and this case b e remanded for entry of judgment in 

Theresa's favor for the rental income withheld from her. 

Respectfully submitted this 4th day of June, 2024. 
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-URDAIDCW.rma ~,,8~ 

RE: Van Zee v. Van Zee, 29CJV22-9 & 29CIV22-I0; Plaintiffs' Motion to Consolidate Cases, 
Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, and Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment 

LETTER MEMORANDUM 

Dear Counsel: 

This matter has come before this Court by a Complaint filed on June 14. 2022. The 

Defendants filed a Counterclaim on May 31, 2023. The Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Consolidate 

cases 29CIV22-9 and 29CIV22-10, Motion to Amend and a Motion for Summary Judgment on 

October 6, 2023. Subsequently, Defendants each filed a Motion for Partial Swnmary Judgment. 

A Motion hearing was held on November 9, 2023. The following issues were addressed: (1) 

statute of limitations and fraudulent concealment, (2) lac hes, (3) fiduciary duty, ( 4) unjust 

enrichment (5) conversion, (6) failure to add an indispensable party, and (7) waiver and consent. 
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MOTION TO CONSOLIDATE: Granted in Court 

MOTION TO AMEND: Granted in Court 

1. PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

FACTS 

The land that is in dispute is family farmland that was owned by Desmond Van Zee and 

Patricia Van Zee, husband and wife, prior to Desmond's death in 1997. Desmond and Patricia 

are the parents of the parties to this suit. After Desmond's death, Craig Van Zee, the Plaintiff, 

took over management of the farm alongside Patricia. Theresa Van Zee and Michael Van Zee, 

Craig's siblings, did not help with the management of the disputed property. 

In 2004, Patricia conveyed an interest in the disputed property to Theresa and Michael, 

the Defendant's. In 20 I 0, Patricia conveyed her one-half interest in the disputed property to 

Craig, and Craig knew that the Defendant's had an interest in the property. Theresa received 

records from the Register of Deeds office three times in 2015 and once in 2019. Michael's son 

received records from the Register of Deeds office and allegedly gave those records to Michael 

in 2016. 

Plaintiffs claim that Patricia created an estate plan that involved deeding away her land, 

subject to the condition that she received rental support income and that the family debts were 

paid. Plaintiffs further claim that they had an agreement with Patricia to manage the property, 

and to use the rental income from the property to support Patricia and to service the family debt. 

Theresa admits that she knew about her interest in the property long before 2020. She also 

admits that she knew that Craig had an interest in the property in early 2020, prior to Patricia's 

death in March 2021. Michael admits that he knew about his property when his mother told him 
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about it, prior to her death in 2021. Both parties admit that Patricia was using the rental income 

from the property to live on. 

The Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on June 14, 2022, seeking to have the disputed 

property partitioned. Defendants filed their counterclaims against the Plaintiffs on May 31, 2023, 

alleging five counts regarding the disputed property. Plaintiffs now submit this Motion for 

Summary Judgment on the following issues. 

Issue 1: Statute of limitations and Fraudulent Concealment 

APPLICABLE LAW 

South Dakota law provides for a six-year statute of limitations on Defendant's 

counterclaims. SDCL 15-2-13. For a counterclaim that seeks affirmative relief, the statute is 

tolled once the counterclaim is served. Murray v. Mansheim, 2010 S.D. 18, 779 N. W.2d 379, 

383-384. "However, this statute oflimitations will be tolled until the cause of action is 

discovered or might have been discovered, ifthere is fraudulent concealment of the cause of 

action." Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21, 23(S.D. 1992). ''If a trust or confidential 

relationship exists between the parties, which imposes a duty to disclose, mere silence by the one 

under the duty constitutes fraudulent concealment." Id. 

"Fraudulent concealment applies not when an action remains merely widiscovered, but 

when actionable conduct or injury has been concealed by deceptive act or artifice." Strassburg v. 

Citizens State Bank, 581 N.W.2d 510 (S.D. 1998). "Without a confidential or fiduciazy 

relationship, fraudulent concealment consists of some affirmative act or conduct on the part of 

the defendant designed to prevent, and which does prevent, the discovery of the cause of action." 

Id. The party claiming fraudulent concealment "must further show he nonetheless exercised 
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diligence to discover the cause of action." Id. at ,rt 5. "Statute of limitations questions are usually 

jury questions .... [W]hen [Plaintiff] had actual or constructive knowledge of a claim, and 

whether he exercised diligence to discover his cause of action are issues of fact for the jury." Id. 

at~ 19. 

ANALYSJS 

The Plaintiff argues that the six-year statute of limitations applies to Defendant's 

counterclaim. Under this argument the Defendant's counterclaim that was served on May 31, 

2023, w~uld toll the statute and all claims prior to May 31, 2017, would be time barred. The 

Defendant's concede that there is a six-year statute of limitations; however, they argue that 

Plaintiffs fraudulently concealed relevant facts so the statute of limitations should be tolled. 

When a defendant submits a counterclaim that seeks afflnnative relief, South Dakota law 

is clear that there is a six-year statute oflimitations that ls tolled once the counterclaim is served. 

However, if there is fraudulent concealment of the cause of action, the statute will be tolled until 

the cause of action is discovered. Therefore, the issue here comes down to whether the Plaintiffs 

fraudulently concealed relevant facts. The Court finds that Plaintiffs did not owe Defendants a 

fiduciary duty here (see analysis under "Issue 3"). Therefore, for fraudulent concealment to exist 

here, the Plaintiffs must have engaged in an affirmative or deceptive act that prevented the 

Defendants from discovering this cause of action, and Defendant's must show that they exercised 

diligence to discover the cause of action. 

The Plaintiffs argue that they did not engage in affirmative or deceptive act because they 

had no contact with the Defendants until this litigation and the Defendants admit they had no 

dealings with the Plaintiffs concerning the disputed propeny. Conversely, Defendants argue that 
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the Plaintiffs were actively depositing the rental income into the farm account without 

Defendant's knowledge and did not provide the Defendants with any share of the income. The 

Plaintiffs were also managing the farm accowll in accordance with their agreement with their 

mother, rather than at the discretion of the Defendants. These facts are widisputed and therefore 

this issue is proper for summary judgment. This Court finds that the Plaintiffs act of managing 

the fann and farm account in accordance with the wishes of their mother does not rise to the 

level of an affinnative or deceptive act designed to prevent the Defendant's discovery of the 

cause of action. 

Even if the Plaintiffs acts did rise to the level of an affirmative or deceptive act, to be 

successful on a claim of fraudulent concealment, South Dakota Law requires the Defendants to 

show that they exercised diligence to discover the cause of action. Defendants' o\mership 

interests in the disputed property were a matter of public record as early as 2004. Defendants 

admitted that they knew about their property interests prior to their mother's death and knew that 

the disputed property was rented. The record shows that Theresa received several documents 

from the Register of Deeds office three times in 2015 and once in 2019, however, she denies that 

the content of those documents was regarding the disputed property. The Defendants could have, 

at any point, checked the public records for ownership information of the disputed property. At 

the very least, they could have reached out to their mother or the Plaintiffs and simply asked how 

the disputed property was being managed. The Court finds that the Defendants did not exercise 

diligence in discovering the cause of action. 

Plaintiffs motion for swnmary judgment on the issue of statute of limitations and 

fraudulent concealment is GRANTED. 

Issue 2: Laches 
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APPLICABLE LAW 

To support a determination that laches bars an action, the following factors must be 

found: (1) the moving party had full knowledge of the facts upon which their action was based, 

(2) regardless of this knowledge, the moving party engaged in unreasonable delay before serving 

the counterclaim, and (3) aJlowing the moving party to maintain their counterclaim would 

prejudice the other parties. Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W. 2d, 21, 24 (S.D. 1992). "Laches does 

not depend upon the passage of time alone; plaintiff must be chargeable with lack of diligence in 

failing to proceed more promptly." Id. at 25. "In a case where at least part of the delay is 

attributable to defendant, or when defendant has engaged in concealment, misleading tactics and 

misrepresentation, )aches is not available as a defense." Id. 

ANALYSIS 

Plaintiffs argue that the following factors prove the doctrine of !aches bars the 

Defendants claims: (I) Defendants had fulJ knowledge of the facts upon which their action was 

based, (2) regardless of this knowledge, Defendants engaged in unreasonable delay before 

serving the coW1terclaim, and (3) allowing Defendants to maintain their counterclaim would 

prejudice the Plaintiffs. Defendants contend that Plaintiffs are misstating the facts, and the record 

allegedly reveals that Defendants clearly did not have full knowledge of the facts until 2020. 

Based on the facts, the Court finds that there is a genuine issue as to when the Defendants 

became fully aware of all the relevant facts in this case. There are conflicting statements in the 

depositions, statements of undisputed material facts, and affidavits of the parties. The receipts 

submitted with the affidavit of Suzy Wemsmann indicate Theresa received several pages of 

records from the Register of Deeds office in 20 IS and 2019, however, the receipts do not affinn 
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what records Theresa was given. Michael's son allegedly received records from the Register of 

Deeds office and gave them to his dad, however, the Court cannot know for certain whether 

Michael ever received the property records for the disputed property. Full knowledge of the facts 

is a factor that must be proven for a claim oflaches to be successful, and full knowledge has not 

been proven. 

Further, the South Dakota Supreme Court has ruled that laches is not an available defense 

for a party who is part of the delay and who has engaged in concealment of the facts. The 

Plaintiffs have admitted that they never volunteered information regarding the disputed property 

to either of the Defendant's, despite having knowledge that they had an interest in the property 

dating back to 20 l 0. Plaintiffs managed the land and were aware that Patricia planned to add the 

Defendant's name to the property. The Plaintiffs actions may not amount to concealment, but 

they were certainly part of the delay. The Court finds that summary judgment would not be 

appropriate on the issue of Lach es. 

Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on the issue of laches is DENIED. 

Issue 3: Fiduciary Duty 

APPLICABLE U W 

"Although strictly speaking a fiduciary relationship does not exist between tenants in 

common by reason of the mere fact that they are such, a relationship of trust and confidence 

exists to the extent that each co-tenant has a duty to sustain or at least not to assail, the common 

interest or title, and one co-tenant will not be pennitted to obtain a secret profit to the 

disadvantage of the other co-tenants where all must act in unison." Id. at 24. However, the 

Supreme Court held most recently, "[t]iduciary duties arise only when one undertakes to act 
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primarily for another's benefit. The law will imply such duties only where one party to a 

relationship is unable to fully protect its interests and the unprotected party has placed its trust 

and confidence in the other.'' Esrate ofThacker v. Timm, 2023 S.D. 2,984 N.W.2d 679,686 

(citing Ward v. Lange, 1996 S.D. 113, ,12, 553 N.W.2d 246, 250). 

"While there is no invariable rule for determining whether a fiduciary relationship exists, 

there must be not only confidence of the one in the other, but there must exist a certain 

inequality, dependence, weakness of age, mental strength, business intelligence, knowledge of 

the facts involved, or other conditions giving to one advantage over the other." Id. at 687. "The 

existence and scope of a fiduciary duty are questions of law. Whether a breach of fiduciary duty 

occurred, however, is a question of fact." 

"An implied trust is generally remedial in nature and is an equitable tool used to restore 

the status quo and to protect assets wrongfully obtained." Johnson v. Markve, 2022 S.D. 57, 174, 

980 N. W.2d 662, 680-8 l. "To impose a constructive trust, the wrongful act must be proven by 

clear and convincing evidence, and must show: (1) the constructive trustee gained; (2) that gain 

was by fraud, accident, mistake, undue influence, violation of a trust, or other wrongful act; (3) 

the constructive trustee has no superior right to the thing gained; and (4) the party seeking the 

constructive trust would have otherwise had the thing gained." Id, 

ANALYSIS 

The Plaintiffs argue that they did not owe a fiduciary duty to the Defendants because the 

Defendants are fully able to protect their own interests, and they did not place their trust and 

confidence in the Plaintiffs. The Defendants contend that the Plaintiffs are the trustees of a 
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constructive trust that was created when they withheld income that was owed to the Defendants, 

and therefore owe a fiduciary duty to Defendants. 

This Court first considers whether a constructive trust exists. As stated by the South 

Dakota Supreme Court, the necessary factors to determine that a constructive trust exists are as 

follows: Plaintiffs have "gained;" that gain was by fraud, accident, mistake, undue influence, 

violation of a trust, or other wrongful act; the Plaintiffs have no superior right to the gain; and the 

Defendants would have otherwise had the thing gain. The Plaintiffs were given an interest in the 

property by a proper transfer of ownership, they managed the property, they paid the real estate 

taxes, they paid the family debt with the income from the property, and they paid Patricia's 

living expenses with the rental income. These facts do not prove by clear and convincing 

evidence that the Plaintiffs gained anything by wrongful act. The Court finds that a constructive 

trust has not been created based on the facts. 

The issue then becomes whether Plaintiffs owed Defendants a fiduciary duty. The 

Supreme Court has ruled that a fiduciary duty is only implied where one party is W1able to 

protect themselves and the Wlprotected party placed its trost and confidence in the other. The 

facts here show that the Defendants were both aware of their interests in the disputed property 

prior to Patricia's death in 2021. Theresa admitted to being aware of the Plaintiffs ownership in 

the property in early 2020. The Defendants were fully capable of protecting their interest in the 

property. The record shows that the parties did not communicate prior to this action, therefore 

the Defendants did not place their trust and confidence in the Plaintiff. The Court finds that the 

Plaintiffs did not owe a fiduciary duty to the Defendants. 

Plaintiffs motion for summary judgment on the issue of fiduciary duty is GRANTED. 
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Issue 4: Unjust Enrichment 

APPLICABLE LAW 

"To prevail on a claim for unjust enrichment, [Plaintiff] was required to prove the 

[Defendant] received a benefit, [Defendant] was aware he was receiving a benefit, and it would 

be inequitable to allow [Defendant] to retain the benefit without paying for it." Johnson v. 

Larson, 210 S.D. 20, 779 N.W.2d 412. 

ANALYSIS 

The Plaintiffs argue that they did not receive a benefit or an unjust benefit from the 

agreement with their mother concerning the disputed property. The Defendants argue that 

because the Plaintiffs were depositing all rental income received from the disputed property into 

a family farm account and Defendants were not receiving any of the rental income, the Plaintiffs 

were receiving a benefit to the detriment of the Defendants. 

The undisputed facts here show that Plaintiffs had an agreement with their mother to 

manage the entire property, pay annual rent to support the parties' mother, and service the 

parties' father's debt lt is also undisputed that the Plaintiffs controlled how the rental income 

was distributed, the Defendants did not receive any portion of the income, and the Defendants 

did not assist with the management of the property or the servicing of debt. 

To be successful on a claim for unjust enrichment, all three elements above must be 

proven. The Court recognizes that all of the rental income from the disputed property was 

deposited into the family fann account and Plaintiffs used the rental income to support their 

mother and service their father's debt; however, without more information regarding how the 

leftover funds were spent, the Court cannot determine whether the Plaintiffs received a benefit. 

Page 10 of 15 

- Page 869 -

Appendix 10 



MEMORANDUM Page 11 of 15 

The parties are in dispute as to whether the Def endarits knew and acquiesced to the Plaintiffs 

management of the property and whether the Defendants consented to the rental income being 

used for supporting their mother and servicing the family debt. Additionally, the parties' mother 

died in 2021 and therefore the Plaintiffs preswnably have no longer been paying for her support 

since her death. There are material facts here that are in dispute, and therefore this issue is no 

proper for summary judgment. 

Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on the issue of unjust enrichment is DENIED. 

Issue 5: Conversion 

APPLICABLE LAW 

"Conversion is the unauthorized exercise of control or dominion over personal property 

in a way that repudiates an owner's right in the property or is in some manner inconsistent with 

such right." Western Consolidate Co-op v. Pew, 2011 S.D. 9, 795 N.W.2d 390,396. To be 

successful on a claim of conversion, there must be "an unwarranted interference by Defendant 

with the dominion over the property over the Plaintiff." Id. In order to prove conversion, the 

plaintiff must show: "( 1) [plaintiff] owned or had a possessory interest in the property; {2) 

[plaintiffs] interest in the property was greater than the [defendant's]; (3) [defendant] exercised 

dominion or control over or seriously interfered with [plaintiff's] interest in the property; and (4) 

such conduct deprived [plaintiff] of its interest in the property. Id. (citing First Am. Bank & 

Trust, N.A., 2008 S.D. 83,, 38, 756 N. W.2d at 31.) 

ANALYSIS 

The Plaintiffs argue that summary judgment on the issue of conversion should be granted 

in their favor because their use of the rental income was not an unwarranted interference, based 
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upon the knowledge and conduct by the Defendants. The Defendants argue that they had no 

knowledge regarding the Plaintiffs management of the property, and the Plaintiffs argwnent 

regarding the family debt and providing their mother income are irrelevant issues. 

This issue is not suitable for summary judgment, because there is dispute as to whether 

the Defendants knew about and acquiesced to the rental income being used to support their 

mother and service the family debt. The Court finds that the rental income being used to service 

the debt and provide their mother income is relevant. If the Defendants knew and allowed the 

rental income to be distributed to their mother and service the debt, then a claim of conversion 

will be unsuccessful as there would be no unwarranted interference by Defendant. 

Plaintiffs motion for summary judgment on the issue of conversion is DENIED. 

Issue 6: Failure to Add an Indispensable Party 

APPLICABLE LAW 

The factors that a court should consider in detennining whether a party is indispensable 

include: "first, to what extent a judgment rendered in the person's absence might be prejudicial 

to him or those already parties; second, the extent to which, by protective provisions in the 

judgment, by the shaping of relief, or other measures, the prejudice can be lessened or avoided; 

third, whether a judgment rendered in the person's absence will be adequate; fourth, whether the 

plaintiff will have an adequate remedy if the action is dismissed for nonjoinder." 
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ANALYSIS 

Here, joining the parties' mother would have certainly helped clear up some of tlie 

disputed facts, however that is not possible in this case. First, the party exposed to potential 

prejudice from a judgment in absence of their mother are the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs have stated 

that their mother would have been able to provide the Court with facts regarding when the 

Defendants knew about their interest in the disputed property and the details of the agreement 

between the Plaintiffs and herself. However, the Court believes that any prejudice that the 

Plaintiffs would suffer can be lessened or avoided by shaping relief or other measures around the 

undisputed facts. Additionally, the Court believes that it has the ability to reach an adequate 

remedy in the absence of the mother. 

Plaintiff's motion for swnmary judgment on the issue of an Indispensable party is 

DENIED. 

Issue 7: Waiver aod Consent 

APPLICABLE LAW 

"The requirements to show waiver are that a person in possession of a right, with full 

knowledge of the material facts, does or forebears the doing of something that is inconsistent 

with the existence of the right and their intention to rely upon it." Wehr/camp v. Wehrkamp, 2009 

S.D. 84, 773 N.W. 2d 212,215. Additionally, the waiver must be a clear, unequivocal, and 

decisive act. Oxton v. Rud/and, 2017 S.D. 35,897 N.W.2d 356. 

ANALYSIS 
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The Plaintiffs argue that the Defendants consented and/or waived their right to obtain the 

rent while the Plaintiff was supporting their mother and servicing the debt that their father had 

accwnulated. The Defendants argue that they were unaware of many material facts and therefore 

did not consent or waive their rights to the rental income. 

It is undisputed that the Defendants had a right to the disputed property. 1t is also 

undisputed that at some point, the Defendants became aware that they had a property interest in 

the disputed property. However, there is dispute as to whether the Defendants knew that they 

were joint owners of the property with the Plaintiffs, rather than their mother. The Plaintiffs also 

argue that they did not know that the Plaintiffs were collecting rental income, depositing it into 

the family fann account, and were in charge of how it was distributed. To succeed on a defense 

of waiver, the Plaintiffs must prove that the Defendants waiver was clear, unequivocal, and 

decisive. None of the facts indicate that the Plaintiffs received a clear, unequivocal, or decisive 

wavier from the Defendants. In fact, both parties admitted that they didn't speak until this 

litigation. 

Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on the issue of waiver and consent is DENIED. 

2. DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Issue l: Statute of Limitations 

Based upon the above analysis in issue I, Defendant's motion for partial summary 

judgment on the issue of statute of limitations is DENIED. 

Issue 2: Constructive Trust 

Based upon the above analysis in issue 3, Defendant's motion for partial swnmary 

judgment on the issue of a constructive trust is DENIED. 
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Issue 3: Fiduciary Duty 

Based upon the above analysis in issue 3, Defendant's motion for partial swnmary 

judgment on the issue of fiduciary duty is DENIED. 

Issue 4: Conversion 

Based upon the above analysis in issue 5, Defendant's motion for partial summary 

judgment on the issue of conversion is DENlED. 

BY THE COURT: 

Kent A Shelton 
Hon. Kent A. Shelton 
Circuit Judge, Third Judicial Circuit 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THERESA VAN ZEE and 
MICHAEL D. VAN ZEE, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29CIV. 22-9 

ORDER ON :vlOTIONS FOR 
SUMMARY Jl:-DGMENT 

The Plaintiffs and the Defendants having filed cross Motions for Summary 

Judgment on various issues, and those Motions having come for hearing before the 

Honorable Kenl A Shel Lon on Lhe 7th day of November, 2023 al 10 :30 a.m., an<l Lhe 

parties having appeared and argued those motions before the Court, it is hereby 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary 

Judgment with respect to the statute of limitations is granted a nd all claims asserted by 

the Defendants from prior to May 31, 2017, are hereby barred; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that there is no fraudulent 

concealment; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary 

Judgment on the defense oflaches is denied; it is fmther 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Court finds that the Plaintiffs 

owed no fiduciary duty to the Defendants; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary 

.Judgment on the claim of unjust enrichment is denied; it is further 
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ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED Lhal Lhe Plainliffs' Molion for Summary 

Judgment on conversion, failure to add an indispensable party, waiver, and consent are 

denied; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Defendants' Motion that the 

statute of limitations is tolled based upon fraudulent concealment is denied; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that no constructive trust was created, 

and the claim for summary judgment based upon the constructive trust is denied; it is 

further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Defendants' Motion for 

Summary Judgment based upon fiduciary duty and conversion arc denied; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Court's Letter of Memorandum 

dated November 13, 2023, is incorporated herein by this reference. 

Attest: 
Bertsch, Marla 
Clerk/Deputy 

11/14/2023 1 :51 :31 PM 

BY THE COURT: 

Honorable Kent A Shelton 
Circuit Court Judge 

Filed on: 11/14/2023 Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-000009 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THERESA VAN ZEE and 
MICHAEL D. VAN ZEE, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29CIV. 22-9 

ORDER ON PRETRIAL MOTIO~S 
AND MOTIONS IN LIMINE 

The Plaintiffs and the Defendants having filed cross Pretrial Motions and 

Motions in Liminie on various issues, and those Motions having come for hearing before 

Lhe Honorable Kenl A Shel Lon on Lhe 5lh clay of Det.:ember, 2023 al 3: oo p.m., and Lhe 

parties having appeared and argued those motions before the Court, it is hereby 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' Motion excluding 

the testimony regarding rental income from property Craig and Pamela Van Ze did not 

receive from his mother, Patricia Van Zee is granted; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the whole story regarding 

Desmond Van Zee's debt, the agreement between Craig Van Zee and Patricia Van Zee 

and all Craig and Pamela Van Zee's actions from 1999 forward being presented to the 

jury is granted; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' Motion for no 

double recovery is granted; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' Motion for a Special 

Verdict Form is denied and a general verdict form will he used; it is further 
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ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED Lhal Lhe Plainliffs' an<l Defendanls' 

Motions for Sequestration is granted; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' and Defendants' 

Motions to exclude any testimony regarding settlement negotiations, communications, 

discussions or offers is granted; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Plaintiffs' Motion to prohibit 

any exhibits in opening statements is granted; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Defendants' Motion enjoining 

any undisclosed witnesses or documents to supp01t their defenses is granted with the 

exception of rebuttal witnesses or exhibits is granted; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that the Defendants' Motion enjoining 

the jurors to put themselves in the place of Craig Van Zee is granted; it is further 

ORDRRRD, AD.JUDGED, and DRCRRRD that the Defendants' Motion enjoining 

the t estimony or evidence related to Craig Van Zee' s agreement with Patricia Van Zee is 

denied; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED that the Defendants' Motion enjoining 

the testimony or evidence related to Desmon Van Zee's debt is denied. 

Attest: 
Bertsch, Marla 
Clerk/Deputy 

12/7/2023 8:32:46 AM 
BY THE COURT: 

#/~-
Honorable Kent A. Shelton 
Circuit Court Judge 

Filed on: 12/07/2023 Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-000009 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THERESA VAN ZEE and 
MICHAEL D. VAN ZEE, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29ClV. 22-9 

JUDGMENT 

The above entitled matter having come before a jury in Hand County, South 

Dakota on the 14th day of December, 2023 and the jury having returned a vell:iict on 

December 15, 2023, and the Plaintiffs, Craig and Pamela Van Zee having been 

represented by Lee Schoenbeck, and the Defl.!ndants, Michael Van Zee and Theresa Van 

Zee ~~ying been represented by Ryan Vogel and the jury having returned a verdict to the 

Honorable Kent A Shelton, the Court does now hereby 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that based upon the jury verdict, that 

judgment be entered for Michael Van Zee in the amount of $38,052, with interest 

accruing at ten percent per annum from December 14, 2023; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that a judgment be entered for 

Theresa Van Zee in the amount of $38,052 with interest accruing at ten percent per 

annum from December 14, 2023. 

Attest: 

Bertsch, Marla 
Clerk/Deputy 

• 

12/22/2023 8:25:17 AM 
BY THE COURT: 

Hon. Kent A. Shelton 
Circuit Court Judge 

Filed on: 12/22/2023 Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-000009 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VANZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

29CIV. 22-9 

v. 
PLAINTIFFS' STATEMENT OF 

UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

THERESA VAN ZEE, 

Defendant. 

Plaintiffs Craig Van Zee and Pamela Van Zee respectfully submit this Plaintiffs' 

Statement of Undisputed .Material Facts in support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary 

Judgment. Exhibits referenced herein arc attached to the Affidavit of Lee Schoenbeck 

filed in support of Plaintiffs' ~Wotionfor Summary Judgment. 

1. Desmond Van Zee, the father of the parties of the Van Zee children in this 

litigation, died on January 27, 1997. (Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

2. At the time of Desmond Van Zee's death, he had a divorce pending with his 

wife, Patricia Van Zee, in which Desmond alleged that during the parties' 

marriage they had incurred "substantial liabilities." (Divorce Answer and 

Counterclaim, REDIGER 93-95.) 

3. According to Attorney Rediger's handwritten notes, Desmond had debts of 

$198,220 and liquid assets of $16,454. (Atty. Rediger's Notes, PL 93.) 

4. Desmond was being foreclosed on. (Craig's Depo. p. 36.) 

5. After Desmond died, Craig took on all of the farm wo rk, pledged his property 

for his parents' debt, and signed mortgages that included his property. 

(Mortgage 6/17/ '2.00'2. PL 3'2.0-3'2.4.) 

Filed: 10/6/2023 4:22 PM CST Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-0efa00Eg7dix 21 
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6. Palrit:ia wanle<l all Lhe land kepl logelher lo help pay Desmond's <leb l. 

(Craig's Depo. p. 34.) 

7. On June 3, 2010, Patricia, Craig, and Pam signed a mortgage for Frontier 

Bank, formally known as Pender State Bank. (Mortgage 06/03/2010 PL 344-

8. On June 9, 2010, the original loan amount for Desmond's debt was down to 

$~7s,ooo and owed by Patricia, and now Craig and Pam. (Loan Status, Depo. 

Ex. 9; Craig's Depo. p. 47.) 

9. The original lender after Desmond died wanted Patricia and Craig to sell some 

of the quarters. (Craig's Dcpo. p. 48.) 

10. On June 30, 2004, Patricia Van Zee conveyed the home place to Patricia, 

Craig, and Craig's wife, Pam. (Warranty Deed, Depo. Ex. 5.) 

11. On September 16, 2004, Patricia conveyed a quarter and an 80 in Section 21 

into joint tenancy with herself and her son, Michael. (Warranty Deed, Depo. 

Ex. 6A.) 

1~. On September 16, ~004, Patricia conveyed a quarter and an 80 in Section ~1 

into joint tenancy with herself and her daughter, Theresa. (Warra nty Deed, 

Depo. Ex. 6B.) 

13. In October 2004, Northstar Farms leased the Section 21 property at issue in 

this litigation, and the lease was signed by Patricia and her son, Craig. 

(Northstar Lease, PL 1-3) 

14. June 7, 2010, Patricia conveyed her undivided one-half interest in the quarter 

and 80, the subject of this litigation with Michael, to Craig. (Warranty Deed, 

Depo. Exs. 6E & 6F.) 

2 
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15. June 7, 2010, PalriL:ia wnveye<l her un<livi<le<l one-half inlere8l in Lhe quarler 

and 80, the subject of this litigation with Theresa, to Craig. (Warranty Deed, 

Depo. Exs. 6C & 6D.) 

16. In October 2012, Kirby Odde leased all the Van Zee property, including the 

property subject to this litigation, and the lease was for five years. The lease 

was executed by Patricia Van Zee and Craig Van Zee. (Odde Lease, Depo. Ex. 

11.) 

17. At the time Odde Lease, Depa. Ex. 11, was executed, Patricia Van Zee had no 

interest in the property that is subject to this litigation. (Odde Lease, Depa. 

Ex. 11.) 

18. On May 22, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her interest in real property in 

Sections 1, 13, and 14 to Craig and his wife, Pam. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Ex. 

19. On July 10, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her interest in real property in Section 

13 Craig and his wife, Pam Van Zee. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Ex. 8.) 

:w. On December 3 1, 2013, Patricia listed $14,000 of rent on her tax return. (2013 

Tax Return, PL 21-26.) 

21. On December 31, 2014, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2014 

Tax Return, PL 27-32.) 

22. In March and April 2015, Theresa called the Register of Deeds and had five 

pages sent to her in Iowa. (Theresa Depa. pp. 17-18.) (See Affidavit of Suzy 

Wernsmann.) 

3 
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23. On Augm,l 25, 2015, Craig conveyed. his one-half inleresl in Lhe properly Lhal 

he owned that is subject to this litigation, into joint tenancy with his wife, 

Pam. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Exs. 6G & 6H.) 

24. On December 31, 2015, Patricia listed $16,000 ofrent on her tax return. (2015 

Tax Return, PL 33-38.) 

25. On October 18, 2016, Brady Van Zee, Michael's son, had the Hand County 

Register of Deeds find all the real property with Michael's name on it and 

provide him copies of the deeds. (Receipt, Depo. Ex. 2.) (Affidavit of Suzy 

Wernsmann1.) 

26. When Brady got copies of deeds with his dad's name on them, he testified 

that he probably gave them to his dad, Michael. (Brady Depo. p.10.) 

27. On December 31, 2016, Patricia listed $16,000.00 of rent on her tax return. 

(2016 Tax Return, PL 39-44.) 

28.On December 31, 2017, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2017 

Tax Return, PL 45-50.) 

~9. Sometime in :2018, Theresa said that she talked to Michael about the deeds at 

some time two years before Patricia died. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 20-21.) 

30. On December 31, 2018, Patricia listed $17,000 of rent on her tax return. (2018 

Tax Return, PL 51-56.) 

31. On July 18, 2019, Theresa got seven pages of records from the Hand County 

Register of Deeds Office. (See Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann.) 

1 "Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann" is a reference to the Affidavit filed in the corresponding case: Craig and Pamela 
Van Zee v. Michael Van Zee, 29CIV22-10 

4 
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32. On December 31, 2019, Palricia lislecl $15,899 of renl on her lax relurn. (2019 

Tax Return, PL 57-63.) 

33. By 2020, Theresa admitted that she knew that her name was on the land. 

(Theresa's Depo. pp. 15, 18.) 

34. Theresa admitted that she had seen the Warranty Deed that put her name on 

the ]and, Depa. Ex. 1, "a long time ago" before 2020. (Theresa's Depa. pp. 15, 

18.) 

35. Theresa knew that Desmond had debt when he died and had seen a 

bankruptcy attorney. She doesn't know how it was sorted out, she didn't help, 

and she doesn't know what Craig did about the debt. (Theresa's Depa. p. 19.) 

36. Theresa put a copy of the deed, where Michael got the land that is subject to 

litigation, in Michael's pickup. (Theresa's Depo. p. 20.) 

37. Theresa didn't do anything about paying real estate taxes or managing the 

farm once she knew her name was on the deed. (Theresa's Depo. p. 24.) 

38. December 31, 2020, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on he r tax return. (2020 

Tax Return, PL 64-73.) 

39. March 20, 2021, Michael signed a divorce settlement with his wife and doesn't 

list an interest in ag land as an asset in his divorce. (Divorce Prop erty and 

Martial Settlement Agreement, PL 425-430.) 

40.On March 26, 2021, Patricia died. (AffidavitofCraig VanZee.) 

41. Michael admitted that he knew while his mom was alive what land she put his 

name on. (Michael's Depo. pp. 7-9.) 

5 
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42. Renl Palricia ret:eive<l, whit:h was reporle<l on her Lax relurns, was renl paid 

by Craig, even though Patricia had no land to rent after July 10, 2013. (See 

Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

43. Michael assumed Craig was taking care of the farm debt. (Michael's Depo. p. 

12.) 

44. Michael brought up rent with his mom while she was alive. (Michael's Depo. 

p. 16.) 

45. Michael didn't do anything to assist with the land. (Michael's Depo. p. 9.) 

46. Michael learned from his siste r that his name was on the land. (Michael's 

Dcpo. p. 11.) 

47. Theresa talked to a lawyer after she saw the deeds but chose not to follow up 

with it. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 21-23.) 

48. Theresa knew her mom was renting out the farm ground. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 

29, 33.) 

49. Craig and Theresa didn't talk. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 32-33.) 

50. Craig a nd Michael didn't talk (Michael's Depo. pp. 13, 17-18.) 

51. Theresa talked to her mom about why Theresa was not on t he land. (Theresa's 

Depo. p. 18.) 

52. Theresa was told by her mom that Craig's name was on the land b ecause their 

dad had debt (Theresa's Depo. p. 18.) 

53. Theresa did not ask her mom for Theresa's share of the rent money. 

(Theresa's Depo. p. ~2.) 

54. Michael was told by his mom that his name was on the land. (Michael's Depo. 

6 
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55. Michael <li<ln'L ask for renl beL:ause he knew his mom nee<le<l Lhe money lo 

make payments on the debts. (Michael's Depo. pp. 8-9.) 

56. The current balance on Desmond Van Zee's debt that Craig is paying is 

$186,409.72. (Loan Status, Depo. Ex. 9.) 

57. Patricia cried to Pam about Theresa and Michael confronting Patricia 

concerning land that Theresa and Michael received. (Plaintiffs' First 

Supplemental Answers to Defendant's Interrogatories, No. 12.) 

DATED: This 6th day of October, 2023. 

SCHOENBECK & ERICKSON, P.C. 

By: /s/ Lee Schoenbeck 

7 

LEE SCHOENBECK 
JOE ERICKSON 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
1200 MiL:kelson Dr., STE. 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 
(605) 886-0010 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) IN CIRCUIT CGCRT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
SS. 

COUNTY OF HAND) 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

CRAIG VAN ZEE AND PAMELA * 29CIV22-009 
VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

-vs-

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT OF 
UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

THERESA VAN ZEE, * 
* 

Defendant. * 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Pursuant to SDCL 15-6-56(c), Defendant Theresa Van Zoe, submits tho 
following Statement of Undisputed Material Facts in support of his motion fm 
partial summary judgment. 

1. Desmond Van Zee ("Desmond'') and Patricia Van Zee ("Patricia"), husband 
and wife, owned farm land in Hand County, South Dakota. (Depo. Craig Van 
Zee, 24:6-8). 

2. Desmond passed away in 1997, and all the farmland owned by Desmond, 
Patricia, or jointly, was transferred to Patricia. (Depo. Craig, 24:3-19; 22:7-8). 

3. Around 2004, Patricia and her son Craig consulted with attorney Jim Jones 
in Miller, South Dakota, to draft a deed ("Deed l'') transferring 
approximately 920 acres of land from Patricia to Patricia, Craig, and Craig's 
wife Pamela Van Zee ("Pamela") as joint tenants with rights of survivorship. 
(Depo. Cn1i g, 24: H5-2f5; 2f5: 1-10). 1'he legal oescriptions of the transforreo 
parcels are as follows: 

The North Half of the ~orthwest Quarter (N 1/2 N,v 1/4 ) of 
Section One, the West % of the East Half of the Northwest 
Quarter (W 1/.! E 112 N 114), and the Southwest Quarter (S,v 
¼) of Section Thirteen (13); the Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) 
and the South Half (S ½) of Section Fourteen (14); and the 
Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Section Twenty-nine (29); 
all located in Township One Hundred Fifteen (115) ~orth, 
Range Sixty-seven (67), West of the 5th P.:M. 

(the "Homeplace") (Vogel Aff. ,-i2, Ex. A) . 

{O0679711.DOCX / 1} 1 of6 
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4. Deed 1 was executed on June 30, 2004. (Id.) 

5. Before Deed 1 was executed, Patricia indicated to Craig that she was going to 
transfer some real property to herself and Michael and Theresa. (Depo. Craig, 
27:13-23). 

6. The property subject to this litigation consists of approximately 210 acres and 
is described as follows: 

The South Half of the Southwest Quarter (S ½ s,v ¼) of the 
Southeast Quarter (SE ~-:::..) of Section Twenty-one (21), 
Township One Hundred .Fourteen (114) North, .Kange Sixty­
nine (69), West of the 5th P.M. 

("Subject Property") (Vogel Aff. ,2, Ex. C), 

7. On September lG, 2004, Patricia transferred the Subject Property to herself 
and Theresa as joint tenants with rights of survivorship ("Deed 3"). Qd.) 

8. That same day, September 16, 2004, Patricia transferred appr oximately 240 
acres from h erself, to herself and Michael as joint t enants with rights of 
survivorship ("Deecl 2") , with a legal clescription as follows: 

The Northwest Quarter (NW 11,1) and the North Half of the 
Southwest Quarter (N 112 S\V ¼) of Section Twenty-one (21), 
Township One Hundred Fourteen (114) North, Range Sixty­
nine (69), \i\''est of the 5th P.M. 

("Michael Property") (Vogel Aff. ,-2, Ex. B). 

9. Since at least 2004, Craig has been aware that Patricia planned to transfe1· 
land to h erself and Michael and to h erself and Theresa. (Depo. Craig, 29:20-
25; 30:1-10; 30:19-23). 

10. On June 7, 2010, Patricia transferred her undivided one-half inter est in the 
Subject Proper ty ("Deed 4'') to Cr aig. (Vogel Aff. ~2, Ex. D) . 

11. On June 7, 2010, Patricia transferred her undivided one-half interest in the 
Michael Property ("Deed 5") to Craig. (Vogel Aff. ,~. Ex. E). 

12. By virtue of Deeds 3 and 4, Ther esa and Craig each own ed an undivided one­
half interest in the Subject Property. (Vogel Aff. ~2, Exs. C a nd D) . 

{O0679711.DOCX / 1} 2 of 6 
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13. By virtue of Deeds 2 and 5, Michael and Craig each owned an undivided one­
half interest in the Michael Property. (Depo. Craig, 31:4-11) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, 
Exs. B and E). 

H. \iVhen Deed ,1 and 5 were executed, Craig was aware that he now owned the 
Subject Property with Theresa and the Michael Property with Michael 
respectively. (Depo. Craig, 31:21-25; 32:1-3; 33:13-15). 

15. On August 25, 2015, Craig transferred his undivided one-half interest in the 
Michael Property and the Subject Property to himself and Pamela ("Deed Ei"). 
(Depo. Craig, 37:14-25; 38:1-24) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. F). 

16. On May 22, 2013, Patricia, via quitclaim deed ("Deed 7"), deeded all of her 
interest in the Homeplace to Craig and Pamela. (Depo. Craig, 39: 13-25; 40: 
1-25). (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. G). 

17. On July 10, 2013, Patricia, having previously overlooked a parcel of the 
Homeplace, transferred via quitclaim deed ("Deed 8'') to Craig and Pamela: 

The West Half of the northwest Quarter (W ½NW¼) of 
Section Thirteen (13) in Township One Hundred Fifteen 
(11 n) North, Range 8ixty-seven (67), \Vest of the fith P.M. 

(considered as a part of the "Homeplace'')(Depo. Craig, 43:5-10, 11-24) 
(Vogel Aff. ,rz, Ex. H). 

18. After Patricia executed Deed 8 , she no longer owned any interest in the 
Homeplace, the Subject Property. or The Michael Property. (See all d eeds) 

19. During his life, Desmond acquired debt. (Depo. Craig, 50:16-21). 

20. Desmond's debt is not and was not associated with the Subject Property. 
(Depo. Craig, 60: 10-18). 

21. Craig has never asked Michael or Theresa to h elp pay Desmond's debt. (Depo. 
Craig, 62: 16-19). 

22. The Subject P roperty is not subject to any liens or mortgages, only the 
Homeplace is. (Depo. Craig, 35:7-21). 

23. The Subject Property was n evei· at risk for foreclosure. (Depo. Craig, 35:7-21). 
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24. For farming years 2008-2012, Craig cannot locate a copy of the lease with 
L&O Acres. (Depo. Craig, 70: 11-14). 

25. The rental income for the 2008-2012 lease was deposited into the Van Zee 
farm account. (Depo. Craig, 71: 12-14). 

26. The 2008-2012 lease was never discussed with Michael or Theresa. (Depo. 
Craig, 71: 15-20). 

27. For farming years 2012-2017, Craig and Patricia leased property, including 
the Michael Property, to Kirby Odde. (Depo. Craig, 72:5-10) (Vogel Aff. ,r2 , 
Ex. I). 

28. The 2012-2017 lease contains a signature line for Craig, Patricia, Kirby Odde, 
and two witnesses. (Depo. Craig. 72: 11-15) (Vogel Aff. i12, .1:!.:x. l). 

29. The 2012-2017 lease does not have a signature line for Michael or Theresa. 
(Depo. Craig, 72:lG-17) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. I). 

30. Craig was a part of the negotiations for the 2012-2017 lease (Depo. Craig, 
73:12-18). 

81. 'f'he rental income for the 2012-2017 lease was clepositecl in the Van Zee farm 
account. (Depo. Craig, 73:12-18). 

32. Craig never told Michael or Theresa about the lease, the rental income, nor 
did he provide them with their portion. (Depo. Craig, 73: 19-25). 

33. For farming years 2018-2020, Craig rented the Michael Property to Kirby 
Odde. (Depo. Craig, 74:7-13; 22-23) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. J). 

34. The rental amount for farming years 2018-2020 was deposited into the Van 
Zee farm account, none of which was provided to Michael or Theresa. (Depo. 
Craig, 74: 19-21; 76:3-5) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. J). 

35. Patricia never signed the 2018-2020 lease. (Depo. Craig, 75: 8-16) (Vogel Aff. 
,r2, Ex. J). 

36. )Jeither Michael nor Theresa signed the 2018-2020 lease. (Depo. Craig, 75: 
20-24) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. J). 

37 . For farm season of 2021, Craig executed a lease with Odde Farms. (Depo. 
Craig, 15-18) (Vogel Aff. if2 , Ex . K). 
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38. Craig negotiated the lease, signed the lease, received the rental income, and 
deposited the same into the Van Zee farm account. (Depo, Craig, 78:2-25; 
79:1-3) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. K). 

39. Patricia did not sign the 2021 lease. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. K). 

40. Craig did not inform Michael or Theresa of the 2021 lease or provide either of 
them their share of the income (Depo. Craig, 79:20-21; 80:3-5). 

41. The cuITent lease spans from 2020-2024 and was executed by Craig and Odde 
Farms. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. L). 

42. Craig did not inform Michael or Theresa of the 2022-2024 lease. (Depo. Craig, 
81:19-25; 82:1-6). 

43. Craig has not provided Michael or Ther esa any income from the 2022-2024 
lease. (Depo. Craig, 81:19-25; 82:1-6). 

44. All of the previously discussed leases included the Subject Property, the 
Michael Property, and other land owned by Craig and Pamela. (See all leases 
and deeds) 

45. 'f'he total prin~ipal amount of rental income owed to 'T'heres::i for ye::irs 2012-
2023 is $223,821.48. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Exs. I-M). 

46. Craig has never asked Michael or Theresa to pay the taxes associated with 
the Subject Property 01· the :Michael Property. (Depo. Craig, 67:5-7, 11-13) . 

4 7. Craig has never asked Michael or Theresa to assist with repairs or 
landscaping on the Subject Property or the Michael Property. (Depo. Craig, 
65:4-25: 66: 1-25; 67: 1-4) . 

48. Craig assuming his father's debt was an "agreement" only between Craig and 
Patricia. (Depo. Craig, 86: 20-24). 

49. Craig is unsure of the exact terms of the agreement between him and 
Patricia. (Dcpo. Craig, 87:10-14). 

50. Instead of providing Michael and Theresa with their share, Craig kept the 
money in the account as "backup." (Depo. Craig, 87:17-:H). 

51. Even t hough .Patricia's name is on th e Van Zee farm accoun t, she never wrote 
any checks from the account or d eposited any funds into the account. (Depo. 
Craig, 79:4-19). 
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Dated this 12th day of October, 2023. 

{O0679711.DOCX / 1} 

RICHARDSON, WYLY, WISE, SAUCK 
& HIEB, LLP 

By /s/ Rvan S. Vogel 
Attorneys for Defendant 

H,yan S. Vogel 
Brianna J. Haugen 
One Court Street 
Post Office Box 1030 
Aberdeen, SD 57402-1030 
Telephone No. G05-225-G310 
Email: RVogel@rwwsh.com 
Email: DIIaugen@rwwsh.com 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) 
ss: 

COUNTY OP HAND ) 

) 
CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, ) 

) 
Plaintiff, ) 

) 
vs. ) 

) 
THERESA VAN ZEE, ) 

) 
Defendant. ) 

) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29CIV22-9 

PLAINTIFFS' 
ADDITIONAL UNDISPUTED 

MATERIAL FACTS AND 
PL'\INTIFFS' RESPONSE TO 

DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT OF 
UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

CO:VCES NOW Plaintiffs, by and through their attorneys, Joe Erickson and Lee 

Schoenbeck, and submit this response and submit these Additional Statements of 

Undisputed Material Facts to Def endant's Statement of Undisputed Material Facts in 

Support oj)}fotionfor Partial Summary Judgment. 

ADDITIONAL UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS1 

48. Theresa knew her mother was renting out the farm ground (Theresa's depo pp. 29 & 

53. Theresa did not ask her mom for Theresa's share of the rent money (Theresa's depo 

pp. 32.) 

52. Theresa was told by her mom that Craig's name was on the land because their dad 

had debt (Theresa's Depo. p. 18.) 

1 These Additional Material Pacts and the documents cited for each are from the 
Plaintiffs' Statement of Undisputed :VCaterial Facts fil ed in support of Plaintiffs' Motion 
for Summary Judgment currently pending before this Court. 

1 
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3. Accunling Lu Allurney Reuiger's hamlwrillen no Les, Desmund hau <lebls of $198,220 

and liquid assets of $16,454. (Atty. Rediger's ~otes, PL 93.) 

4. Desmond was being foreclosed on. (Craig's Depa. p. 36.) 

5. After Desmond died, Craig took on all of the farm work, pledged his property for his 

parents' debt, and signed mortgages that included his property. (Mortgage 

6/17/2002 PL 320-324.) 

6. Patricia wanted all the land kept together to help pay Desmond's debt. (Craig's Depa. 

p. 34.) 

7. On June 3, 2010, Patricia, Craig, and Pam signed a mmtgage for Frontier Bank, 

formally known as Pender State Bank. (Mortgage 06/03/2010 PL 344-356.) 

8. On June 9, 2010, the original loan amount for Desmond's debt was down to 

$375,000 and owed by Patricia, and now Craig and Pam. (Loan Status, Depo. Ex. 9; 

Craig's Depo. p. 47.) 

9. The original lender after Desmond died wanted Patricia and Craig to sell some of the 

quarters. (Craig's Depo. p. 48.) 

20.On December 31, 2013, Patricia listed $14,000 of rent on her tax: return. (2013 Tax 

Return, PL 21-26.) 

21. On December 31, 2014, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2014 Tax 

Return, PL 27-32.) 

22. In March and April 2015, Theresa called the Register of Deeds and had five pages 

sent to her in Iowa. (Theresa Depo. pp. 17-18.) (See Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann.) 

24. On December ::31, 201.s, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (201.s Tax 

Return, PL 33-38.) 

2 
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27. On Det.:ember 31, 2016, Palricia lisle<l $16,000.00 of renl on her lax relurn. (2016 

Tax Return, PL 39-44.) 

28.On December 31, 2017, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2017Tax 

Return, PL 45-50.) 

30. On December 31, 2018, Patricia listed $17,000 of rent on her tax return. (2018 Tax 

Return, PL 51-56.) 

11. On July 18, 2019, Theresa got seven pages of records from the Hand County Register 

of Deeds Office. ( See Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann.) 

32. On December 31, 2019, Patricia listed $15,899 of rent on her tax return. (2019 Tax 

Return, PL 57-63.) 

33. By 2020, Theresa admitted that she knew that her name was on the land. (Theresa's 

Depo. pp. 15, 18.) 

34. Theresa admitted that she had seen the Warranty Deed that put her name on the 

land, Depo. Ex. 1, "a long time ago" before 2020. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 15, 18.) 

35. Theresa knew that Desmond had debt when he died and had seen a bankruptcy 

attorney. She doesn't know how it was sorted out, she didn't help, and she doesn't 

know what Craig did about the debt. (Theresa's Depo. p. 19.) 

37. Theresa didn't do anything about paying real estate taxes or managing the form once 

she knew her name was on the deed. (Theresa's Depo. p. 24.) 

38. December 31, 2020, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2020 Tax 

Return, PL 64-73.) 

40.On March 26, 2021, Patricia died. (Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

3 
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42. Renl Palricia received, which was reporled on her Lax rel urns, was renl paid by 

Craig, even though Patricia had no land to rent after .July 10, 2013. (See Affidavit of 

Craig Van Zee.) 

47. Theresa talked to a lawyer after she saw the deeds but chose not to follow up ·with it. 

(Theresa's Depo. pp. 21-23.) 

56. The current balance on Desmond Van Zee's debt that Craig is paying is $186,409.72. 

(Loan Status, Depo. Ex. 9.) 

57. Patricia cried to Pam about Theresa and Michael confronting Patricia concerning 

land that Theresa and Michael received. (Plaintiffs' First Supplemental Answers to 

Defendant's Interrogatories, No. 12.) 

RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

1. Desmond Van Zee ("Desmond") and Patricia Van Zee ("Patricia"), husband and 
wife, owned farm land in Hand Counly, Soulh Dakola. (Depo. Craig Van Zee, 
24:6-8). 

RESPONSt:: Admit. 

2. Desmond passed away in 1997, and all t he farmland owned by Desmond, 
Patricia, or jointly, was transferred to Patricia. (Depo. Craig, 24:3-19; 22:7-8). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

3. Around 2004, Patricia and her son Craig consulted with attorney .Jim Jones in 
Miller, South Dakota, to draft a deed ("Deed 1") transferring approximately 920 
acres ofland from Patricia to Patricia, Craig, and Craig's wife Pamela Van Zee 
("Pamela") as joint tenants with rights of survivorship. (Depo. Craig, 24: 15-25; 
25:1-10). The legal descriptions of the transferred pa rcels are as follows: 

The North Half of the Northwest Quarter (N ½NW¼) of 
Section One, the West½ of the East Half of the Northwest 
Quarter (W ½ E ½ N ¼), and the Southwest Quarter (sw· 
1/4) of Section Thirteen (13); the Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) 
and the South Half (S ½) of Section Fourteen (14); and the 
Northwest Quarter (NW¼) of Section Twenty-nine (29); all 

4 
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lm:ated in Township One Hundred Fifteen (115) North, 
Range Sixty-seven (67), West of the 5th P.M. 

(the "Homeplace") (Vogel Aff. i12, Ex. A). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

4. Deed 1 was executed on June 30, 2004. (Id.). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

5. Before Deed 1 was executed, Patricia indicated to Craig that she was going to 
transfer some property to herself and Michael and Theresa. (Depo. Craig, 
27=13-23). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

6. The property subject to this litigation consists of approximately 240 acres and is 
described as follows: 

The Soulh Half of Lhe Soulhwesl Quarler (S 1/::!. SW ¼) of 
the Southeast Quarter (SE¼) of Section Twenty-one (21), 
Township One Hundred Fourteen (114) North, Range 
Sixtynine (69), West of the 5th P.M. 

("Subject Property") (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. C). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

7. On September 16, 2004, Patricia deeded the Subject Property to herself and 
:\1ichael as joint tenants with rights of survivorship ("Deed 3"). (Id.) 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

8 . That same day, September 16, 2004, Patricia deeded approximately 240 acres 
from herself to herself and Theresa as joint tenants with rights of survivorship 
("Deed 2"), with a legal description as follows: 

The South Half of the Southwest Quarter (S ½SW¼) of the 
Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section Twenty-one (21), 
Township One Hundred Fourteen (114) North, Range 
SiAtynine (69), V\'est of the 5th P.M. 
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("Michael Property") (Vogel Aff. 12, Ex. B). 

RJ:<:SPONS.E: Admit. 

9. Since at least 2004, Craig has been aware that Patricia planned to transfer land to 
herself and Michael and to herself and Theresa. (Depa. Craig, :2.9::2.0-25; 30 :1-10; 
30:19-23). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

10. On June 7, 2010, Patricia transferred her undivided one-half interest in the 
Subject Property ("Deed 4") to Craig. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. D). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

11. On June 7, 2010, Patricia transferred her undivided one-half interest in the 
Michael Property ("Deed 5") to Craig. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. E). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

12. By virtue of Deeds 3 and 4, Theresa and Craig each owned an undivided onehalf 
interest in the Subject Property. (Vogel Aff. i12, Exs. C and D). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

13. By virtue of Deeds 2 and 5, Michael and Craig each owned an undivided onehalf 
interest in the Michael Property. (Depo. Craig, 31:4-11) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Exs. I3 and 
E). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

14. When Deed 4 and 5 were executed, Craig was aware that he now owned the 
Subject Property with Theresa and the Michael Property with Michael, 
respectively. (Depa. Craig, 31:24-25; 32:1-3; 33:13-15). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

6 
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15. On Augusl 25, 2015, Craig Lransferre<l his undivided one-half inleresl in Lhe 
:\1ichael Property and the Subject Property to himself and Pamela ("Deed 6"). 
(Depo. Craig, 37:14-25; 38:1-24) (Vogel Aff. ,J2, Ex. P). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

16. On May~~, ~013, Patricia, via quitclaim deed ("Deed 7''), transferred all her 
interest in the Homeplace to Craig and Pamela. (Depo. Craig, 39: 13-25; 40: 1-
25). (VogelAff. il2, Ex. G). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

17. On July 10, 2013, Patricia, having previously overlooked a parcel of the 
Homeplace, transferred via quitclaim deed ("Deed 8") to Craig and Pamela: 

The West Half of the northwest Quarter (W ½ NW 1/4) of 
Section Thirteen (13) in Township One Hundred Fifteen 
(115) North, Range Sixty-seven (67), West of the 5th P.M. 

(considered as a part of the "Homeplace")(Depo. Craig, 43:5-10, 11-24) (Vogel 
Aff. ,J2, Ex. H). 

RRSPONSF.: Admit. 

18. After Patricia executed Deed 8, she no longer owned any interest in the 
Homeplace, the Subject Property, or the Michael Property. (See all deeds) 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

19. During his life, Desmond acquired debt. (Depo. Craig, 50:16-21). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

20. Desmond's debt is not and was not associated with the Subject Property. (Depo. 
Craig, 60: 10-18). 

RESPONSE: Deny. The deposition cite misstates the record. In the deposition cite, 
Craig is saying that the other three loans have nothing to do with his father's debt. In 
fact, the Defendant miscites the deposition. On the previous page of the deposition, page 
59, Desmond's debt is described as currently being $186,000.00. (Craig's Depo, p. 
59:12-15.) 
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21. Craig has never asked Michael or Theresa lo help pay Desmond's debl. (Depo. 
Craig, 62:16-19). 

RJ:<:SPONS.E: Admit. 

22. The Subject Property is not subject to any liens or mortgages, only the 
Homeplace is. (Depo. Craig, 357-:n). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

23. The Subject Property was never at risk for foreclosure. (Depo. Craig, 3,1=;:7-21). 

RESPONSE: Denied to the extent the statement misstates the law. As set forth in the 
Additional Undisputed Material Facts above, Desmond had substantial debt. There is no 
dispute that there wasn't a mmtgage on the subject prope1ty, but Desmond had been in 
bankruptcy and had substantial financial problems. All of his real property would be 
subject to paying his creditors-even real property that did not have a mortgage on it. 

24. For farming years 2008-2012, Craig cannot locate a copy of the lease with L&O 
Acres. (Depa. Craig, 70:11-14). 

RRSPONSF.: Admit. 

25. The rental income for the 2008-2012 lease was deposited into the Van Zee farm 
account. (Depo. Craig, 71: 12-14). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

26. The 2008-2012 lease was never discussed with Michael or Theresa. (Depo. Craig, 
71:15-20 ). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

27. For farming years 2012-2017, Craig and Patricia leased property, including the 
:vlichael Property, to Kirby Odde. (Depo. Craig, 72:5-10) (Vogel A.ff. ,r2, Ex. I). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

28. The 2012-2017 lease contains a signature line for Craig, Patricia, Kirby Odde, and 
two witnesses. (Depo. Craig, 72:11-15) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Rx. I). 
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RESPONSE: Admit. 

29. The 2012-2017 lease does not have a signature line for Michael or Theresa. 
(Depo. Craig, 72:16-17) (Vogel Aff. iJ2, Ex. I). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

30.Craigwas a part of the negotiations for the 2012-2017 lease (Depa. Craig, 73:12-
18). 

RESPONSE: Deny as represented. In fact, the negotiations were conducted by Craig 
and his mother, who is also the Defendant's mother. (Craig's Depo. p. 73: 12-13.) 

31. The rental income for the 2012-2017 lease was deposited in the Van Zee farm 
account. (Dcpo. Craig, 73 :12-18). 

RESPONSE: Deny as represented. The funds were deposited in the bank account 
owned by the parties' mother, Patricia Van Zee, and Craig and Pamela Van Zee. (Craig's 
Depo. p. 79.) 

32. Craig never told Michael or Theresa about the lease, the rental income, nor did he 
provide them with their portion. (Depo. Craig, 73: 19-25). 

RESPONSE: Deny as represented. While Craig didn't tell Michael or Theresa about 
their rental income, Michael and Theresa knew about the rent and testified accordingly. 
There was no portion owing to Theresa because she allowed her mother to have the rent. 
(See Additional Undisputed Material Facts Nos. 48 and 53.) 

33. For forming years 2018-2020, Craig rented the Michael Property to Kirby Odde. 
(Depo. Craig, 747-13; 22-23) (Vogel Aff. ,i2, Ex. J). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

34. The rental amount for farming years 2018-2020 was deposited into the Van Zee 
farm account, none of which was provided to Michael or Theresa. (Depo. Craig, 
74: 19-21; 76:::3-,s) (Vogel Aff. ,i2, Ex. J). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 
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35. Palricia never signed Lhe 2018-2020 lease. (Depo. Craig, 75: 8-16) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, 
Ex. J). 

RJ:<:SPONS.E: Admit. 

36. ~either Michael nor Theresa signed the 2018-2020 lease. (Depo. Craig, 75: 20-
~4) (Vogel Aff. ,r~, Ex. J). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

87• For farm season of 2021, Craig executed a lease with Odde Farms. (Depo. Craig, 
15-18) (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. K). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

38. Craig negotiated the lease, signed the lease, received the rental income, and 
deposited the same into the Van Zee farm account. (Depo, Craig, 78:2-25; 79:1-3) 
(Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. K). 

RESPONSE: Deny as represented. The statement is incomplete in that it ignores that 
parl of Lhe renlal income wenl Lo pay Lhe balance owing on Desmond Van Zee's debl. 
(Additional Undisputed Material Facts Nos. 8, 52, 55, 56.) 

39. Patricia did not sign the 2021 lease. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. K). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

40.Craig did not inform Michael or Theresa of the 2021 lease or provide either of 
them their share of the income (Depo. Craig, 79:20-24; 80:3-5). 

RESPONSE: Deny. As set forth in the Additional Undisputed :viaterial Facts above, 
provided by the Plaintiffs, as well as the responses above, both Michael and Theresa 
knew the land was rented and, while their mother was alive, chose not to have the rent. 
They knew there was debt that was being serviced and that income was being provided 
to their mother. There was no such thing as "their share" that was not provided to them. 

41. The current lease spans from 2022-2024 and was executed by Craig and Odde 
Farms. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. L). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

10 
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42. Craig <li<l nol inform Mit.:hael or Theresa of Lhe 2022-2024 lease. (Depo. Craig, 
81:19-25; 82:1-6). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

43. Craig has not provided Michael or Theresa any income from the 2022-2024 lease. 
(Depo. Craig, 81:19-25; 82:1-6). 

RF.SPONSF.: Admit. 

44.All the previously discussed leases included the Subject Property, the Michael 
Property, and other land owned by Craig and Pamela. (See all leases and deeds) 

RESPONSE: A<lmil. 

45. The total principal amount of rental income owed to Theresa for years 2012-2023 
is $223,821.48. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Exs. I-M). 

RESPONSE: Deny. As set forth in the responses above and in the Plaintiffs' separate 
Motion for Summary Judgment, there is no amount owing to Theresa. Theresa knew her 
name was on the land. Theresa knew the land was being rented out for the benefit of her 
mother. Theresa knew that her father had substantial debt that was continuing to be 
serviced. Theresa did not ask for any share of the rent money. 

46. Craig has never asked Michael or Theresa to pay the taxes associated with the 
Subject Property or the Michael Property. (Depa. Craig, 67:5-7, 11-13). 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

47. Craig has never asked Michael or Theresa to assist with repairs or landscaping on 
the Subject Property or the Michael Property. (Depo. Craig, 65:4-25: 66:1-25; 
67:1-4). 

RESPONSE: A<lmil. 

48.Craig assuming his father's debt was an "agreem ent" only between Craig and 
Patricia. (Dcpo. Craig, 86: 20-24). 

RESPONSE: Admit in part and deny in part. There is no dispute that the agreement 
was reached between Craig and his mother when Craig undertook paying the debt. 

11 
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There is also no dis pule, as sel forlh in Lhe Auuilional Unuispuleu Malerial Fads, Lhal 
Michael and Theresa knew about the debt and knew that it was being serviced. 

49. Craig is unsure of the exact terms of the agreement between him and Patricia. 
(Depo. Craig, 8?:10-14). 

RESPONSE: Deny. In the deposition, Craig describes the agreement on pages 86 and 
87. Additionally, previously Craig Van Zee has submitted an Affidavit that again sets 
forth the very simple agreement he and his mother entered into, in order to preserve the 
very land that is the subject matter of this litigation. 

f)O. Instead of providing Michael and Theresa with their share, Craig kept the money 
in the account as "backup." (Depo. Craig, 8T17-21). 

RESPONSE: Deny. The issue of whether or not Michael and Theresa had "shares" left 
after the payments to their mother and the payments on the debt is not supported by the 
conclusory questions referenced in support of Statement No. 50. 

51. Even though Patricia's name is on the Van Zee farm account, she never wrote any 
checks from the account or deposited any funds into the account. (Depa. Craig, 
79=4-19). 

RRSPONSF.: Deny. Even set forth a hove in the Additional U ndisputed Material Facts, 
it represents that Patricia Van Zee signed leases, and that the rental receipts from those 
leases went into this account. It would be inaccurate to say that she didn't deposit any 
funds into the account. Also in the Statement of Undisputed Material Facts are facts that 
she received the rental payments, so it would be incorrect to say she did not receive any 
funds out of the account. 

Dated this 26th day of October, 2023. 
SCHOENBECK& ERICKSON, PC 

By: /s/ Lee Schoenbeck 
Lee Schoenbeck 
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Joe Erickson 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
1200 Mickelson Dr, STE. 310 
Watertown, SD _s7201 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) 

COUNTY OF HAND) 
SS. 

IN CIRCCIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

* 
CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 
-vs-

THERESA VAN ZEE, 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

File 22CIV22-09 

DEFENDANT'S RESPONSES TO 
PLAINTIFFS' STATEMENT OF 

UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

Defendant. * 
* 

*********************************************** * ** 

Pursuant to SDCL 15-6-5G(c), Defendant, Theresa Van Zee ("Theresa"), 
submits the following response to Plaintiffs' Statement of Undisputed Material 
Facts. The content provided in response to each numbered paragraph is also 
intended as Michael's statement of material facts as to which he contends a genuine 
issue exists . 

1. Desmond Van Zee, the father of the parties of the Van Zee children [sic] in 
this litigation, died on January 27, 1997. (Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

RESPO"'"SE: Undisputed. 

2. At the time of Desmond Van Zee's death, he had a divorce pending with his 
wife, Patricia Van Zee, in which Desmond alleged that during the parties' 
marriage they had incurred "substantial liabilities." (Divorce A nswer and 
Counterclaim, REDIGER 93-95.) 

RESPO"'"SE: It is undisputed that the divorce Answer and Counterclaim indicates 
"substantial liabilities" had been incurred; however, this fact is immaterial. 
The property subject to this lawsuit is not and was not encumbered by any 
liens or mortgages. (Craig Depo. 35:7-21). The property subject to this 
litigation was never at risk for foreclosure . (Id.). Desmond's debt was not 
associated with the property subject to this litigation. (Craig Depo. 60: 10-18). 

3 . According to Attorney Rediger's handwritten notes, Desmond had d ebts of 
$198,220 and liquid assets of $16,454. (Atty. H-ediger's Notes, .PL 93.) 
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RESPO~SE: It is undisputed that PL 93 contains someone's handwritten notes 
indicating various "debts" and "assets"; however, this fact is immaterial. See 
the additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

4. Desmond was being foreclosed on. (Craig's Depo. p. 36.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed and immaterial. The only evidence presented of this 
alleged foreclosure is Craig's testimony. No foreclosure documents or 
evidence from any third-party has been produced. (Vogel Second Affl. i!2). 
Further, Craig testified there was "talk of foreclosure." (Craig Depo. 36: 17-
19). See the additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

5. After Desmond died, Craig took on all of the farm work, pledged his property 
for his parents' debt, and signed mortgages that included his property. 
(Mortgage 6/l 7 /2002 PL 320-324.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed but immaterial. The only land pledged as collaternl by 
Craig was land purchased for Craig by Desmond. (Craig Depo. 10: 15-25; 
11:1-9). See the additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

6. Patricia wanted all the land kept together to help pay Desmond's debt. 
(Craig's Depo. p . 34.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fOTth in ,r2 . 
As of June 7, 2010, Patricia did not have any ownership interest in the 
property subject to this litigation. (Vogel Aff2. ,r2, Ex. A, B, C, and D.) 

7. On June 3, 2010, Patricia, Craig, and Pam signed a mortgage for Frontier 
Bank, formally known as Pender State Bank. (Mortgage 06/03/2010 PL 344-
356 .) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fOTth in ,r,r2 
and 6. 

8. On June 9, 2010, the original loan amount for Desmond's debt was down to 
$375,000 and owed by Patricia, and now Craig and Pam. (Loan Status, Depo. 
Ex. 9; Craig's Dopo. p. 47 .) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r,r2 
and G. The plaintiffs have not produced any evidence indicating how this debt 

1 The abbreviation "Vogel Second Aff." refers to the Affidavit of Ryan S. Vogel in Resistance to 
Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgment. 
2 The abbreviation "Vogel Aff." refers to the Affidavit of Ryan S. Vogel in Support of Defendant's 
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, which was previously filed. 
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was incurred. (Vogel Second Aff. 13). This debt amount is more substantial 
than the amount referenced in the handwritten notes of PL 93. 

9. The original lender after Desmond died wanted Patricia and Craig to sell 
some of the quarters. (Craig's Depo. p. 48.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

10. On June 30, 2004, Patricia Van Zee conveyed the home place to Patricia, 
Craig, and Craig's wife, Pam. (Warranty Deed, Depo. Ex. 5.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

11. On September 16, 2004, Patricia conveyed a quarter and an 80 in Section 21 
into joint tenancy with h erself and her son .. Michael. (Warranty Deed , lJepo. 
Ex. GA.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

12. On September lG, 2004, Patricia conveyed a quarter and an 80 in Section 21 
into joint t enancy with herself and her daughter, Theresa. (llv arranty Deed, 
Depo. Ex. 6B.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

13. In October 2004, Northstar Farms leased the Section 21 property at issue in 
this litigation, and the lease was signed by Patricia and he1· son, Craig. 
(Northstar Lease, PL 1-3) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

14 . June 7 , 2010, Patricia conveyed her undivided one-half interest in the 
quarter and 80, t he subject of this litigation with Michael , to Craig. 
(\;Varranty Deed, Depo. Exs. GE & 6F.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

15. June 7, 2010, Patricia conveyed her undivid ed one-half inter est in the 
quarter and 80, the subject of this litigation with Theresa, to Craig. 
(Warranty Deed, Depo. Exs. GC & GD.) 

RE8PO~SE: Undisputed. 
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16. In October 2012, Kirby Odde leased all the Van Zee property, including the 
property subject to this litigation, and the lease was for five years. The lease 
was executed by Patricia Van Zee and Craig Van Zee. (Odde Lease, Depo. Ex. 
11.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in 16. 

17. At the time Odde Lease, Depo. Ex. 11, was executed, Patricia Van Zee had no 
interest in the property that is subject to this litigation. (Odde Lease, Depo. 
Ex. 11.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

18. On May 22, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her interest in real property in 
Sections L 13 .. and 14 to Craig and his wife, Pam. (Quit Claim Deed .. Depo. 
Ex. 7.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

19. On July 10, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her interest in real property in 
Section 13 Craig and his wife, Pam Van Zee. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Ex. 8.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

20. On December 31, 2013, Patricia listed $ 14,000 of rent on her tax return. 
(2013 Tax Return, PL 21-26.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. As of July 10, 2013, Patricia did not 
have any ownership interest in any real property; therefore , categorizing any 
income as rental income on h er tax r eturn is a mischaracterization. (Vogel 
A.ff. 12, Ex. A, B, C, D, E , and F). 

21. On December 31, 2014, Patricia listed $16,000 of r ent on h er tax r eturn. 
(2014 Tax Return, PL 27-32.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fmth in ,20. 

22. In March and April 2015, Ther esa called the Register of Deeds and had five 
p ages sent to h er in Iowa. (Theresa Depo. pp. 17-18 .) (Affidavit of Suzy 
W ernsmann.) 

RE8PO~SE: Disputed. The Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann and attached records 
only indicate a "customer" and number of pages. They do not indicate how 
contact was made, who made contact, what r ecords were request ed, or where 
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records were sent. Further, the Affidavit of Suzy \Vernsman only states that 
"business records" show Theresa received copies. From this statement, it can 
be inferred that Ms. Wernsmann has no independent knowledge. (See 
Wernsmann Aff. if 2). 

23. On August 25, 2015, Craig conveyed his one-half interest in the property that 
he owned that is subject to this litigation, into joint tenancy with his wife, 
Pam. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Exs. 6G & 6H.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. 

24. On December 31, 2015, Patricia listed $ 16,000 of rent on her tax return. 
(2015 Tax H,eturn, .PL 33-38.) 

HE8P0~8.E: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fmth in i120. 

25. On October 18, 2016, Brady Van Zee, Michael's son, had the Hand County 
Register of Deeds find all the r eal property with :Michael's name on it and 
provide him copies of the deeds. (Receipt , Depo. Ex . 2.) (See Affidavit of Suzy 
Wer11s1nann.) 

RESPO~SE: DispuLed. Brady tesLified LhaL he wenL Lo Lhe Hand County RegisLer 
of Deeds looking for a parcel of property Michael owned, which is not subject 
to this litigation. (Brady Depo. 7: 10-23). Brady t estified that he never spoke 
with Michael about any real property Michael may be receiving from Patricia. 
(Brady Depo. 6: 17-20). The Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann and the 
attachments do n ot indicate wha t documents wei·e potentially r eceived by 
Brady. (See Wernsmann Aff. if3). Michael was not aware he was the owner 
of the property subject to this litigation. At some point, Patricia had 
informed Michael she was going to give the property to him at some time. 
(l\!Iicha el Depa. 10: 18-25). Michael did not know h e owned the property 
subject to this litigation until after Patricia died. (Michael Depo. 11:8-12) . 

26. When Brady got copies of deeds with his dad's name on t hem , he test ified 
that he probably gave them to his clad, Michael. (Brady Depa. p.10.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. Soc tho additional facts sot forth in if 25. During Brady's 
deposition, the following exchange took place: 

SCHOENBECK: So if the employees at the Hand County Register of Deeds 
office t estified that that's what you came and requested (referring to copies of 
deeds with Michael's n am e on t h em) and t hat 's what they gave you, t h ey'd be 
lying? 
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BRADY: I could have. I don't - I don't recall. (Brady Depo. 10:6-9) 

From the Affidavit of Suzy \Vernsmann, there is no information that Brady 
received copies of deeds with Michael's name on them., as Attorney 
Schoenbeck indicated during B1·ady's deposition. (See Wernsmann Aff.). 

27. On December 31, 2016, Patricia listed $16,000.00 of rent on her tax return. 
(2016 Tax Return, PL 39-11.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in if20. 

28. On December 31, 2017, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. 
(2017 Tax H,eturn, .PL 45-50.) 

HE8P0~8.E: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fmth in i120. 

29. Sometime in 2018, Theresa said that she talked to Michael about the d eeds at 
some time two years before Patricia died. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 20-21.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. Theresa stated that she put a copy of a deed, not deeds , in 
Michael's pickup at some time. (Theresa Depo. 20:22-24). :Michael did not 
see any deed in his pickup. (M:ichael Depo. 20:8-13) . Michael was not aware 
he was the owner of the property subject to this litigation. (M:ichael Depo. 
10:18-25). Michael did not know he owned the property subject to this 
litigation until after Patricia died. (Michael Depo. 11:8-12). The conversation 
between Theresa and Michael took place sometime after Patricia's death. 
(Michael Depo. 11:8-21). 

30. On December 31, 2018, Patricia listed $17,000 of rent on her tax return. 
(2018 Tax Return, PL 51-56.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fmth in ,r20. 

3 1. On July 18, 2019, Theresa got seven pages of records from the Hand County 
Register of Deeds Office. (Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. See the additional facts set forth in if 22. 

32. On December 31, 2010, Patricia listed $15,899 of rent on her tax return. 
(:W19 Tax Return, PL 57-83.) 

HE8PO~S.E: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fmth in i120. 
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33. By 2020 .. Theresa admitted that she knew that her name was on the land. 
(Theresa's Depo. pp. 15, 18.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. However, Theresa was not aware that Craig was a co­
owner of the land subject to this litigation, that Craig was renting the land, 
that Craig was depositing all rental income into an account he controlled, 
that Craig was determining how to distribute rental income, or that Craig 
was retaining a majority of the rental income because Craig never informed 
Theresa of any of these facts. (Craig Depo. 71:15-20; 73:19-25). 

34. Theresa admitted that she had seen the Warranty Deed that put her name on 
the land, Depo. Ex. 1, "a long time ago" before 2020. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 15, 
18.) 

HE8P0~8.E: Undisputed. Theresa was not aware that Craig was co-owner of the 
property subject to this litigation until 2020. Theresa was not aware that 
Patricia did not own the property until early 2020. Theresa was not aware 
that Craig was leasing the property, collecting the rental income, 
determining how rental income would be distributed, and retaining most of 
the rental income. (Theresa Aff. ifif2-4). See the additional facts set forth in 
if 33. 

35. Theresa knew that Desmond had debt when he died and had seen a 
bankruptcy attorney. She doesn't know how it was sorted out, she didn't help , 
and she doesn't know what Craig did about the debt. (Theresa's Depo. p. 19.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fOTth in ,r2. 

36. Theresa put a copy of the deed, where Michael got the land that is subject to 
litigation, in Michael's pickup. (Theresa's Depo. p. 20.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. Theresa testified she put a copy of a deed in Michael's 
pickup, but it is not cleaT which deed she put in Michael's pickup. (Theresa 
Depo. 20:22-24). See t h e additional facts set forth in if29. 

37. Theresa didn't do anything about paying real estate taxes or managing the 
form once she knew her name was on the deed. (Theresa's Depo. p. 24.). 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. The real estate tax notices were being sent to Craig, 
and he did not ask ~ichael or Theresa to pay the taxes associated with the 
property subject to this litigation. (Craig Depo. 67:5-7 and 11-13). See the 
additional facts set forth in ~1 34. 
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38. December 31, 2020, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2020 
Tax Return, PL 64-73 .) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set fmth in if 20. 

39. March 20, 2021, Michael signed a divorce settlement with his wife and 
doesn't list an interest in ag land as an asset in his divorce. (Divorce Property 
and Martial Settlement Agreement, PL 125-130 .) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. This is consistent with Michael's lack of knowledge of 
ownership of the property. See the additional facts set forth in if 29. 

40. On March 26, 2021, Patricia died. (Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

HE8P0~8.E: Undisputed. 

41. Michael admitted that he knew while his mom was alive what land she put 
his name on. (Michael's Depo. pp. 7-9.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. See the additional facts set forth in ,r,r25 and 29. 

42. Rent Patricia received, which was r eported on h er tax returns, was rent paid 
by Craig, even though Patricia had no land to rent after ,July 10, 2013. (See 
Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed insofar as the money being received by Patricia is 
characterized as rent. See the additional facts set forth in if20. 

43. Michael assumed Craig was taking care of the farm debt. (Michael's Depo. p. 
12.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed but immaterial. Michael was not aware of the farm's 
financial situation. (Michael Depo. 11:22-25; 12:1). Michael guessed that 
Craig was h elping take care of the farm finances. (Michael Depo. 12:21-24). 
See the additional facts set forth in if2. 

44. Michael brought up rent with his mom while she was alive. (Michael's Depo. 
p. 16.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. There is nothing on page 16 of Michael's deposition that 
supports the assertion that Yhchael spoke with Patricia regarding rent. (See 
Michael Depo. 16). 

45. Michael didn't do anything to assist with the land. (Michael's Depo. p. 9 .) 
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RESPO~SE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in ,29. 

46. Michael learned from his sister that his name was on the land. (Michael's 
Depo. p. 11.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in ,29. 

4 7. Theresa talked to a lawyer after she saw the deeds but chose not to follow up 
with it. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 21-23.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. Theresa was not aware Craig was co-owner of the 
property subject to this litigation until speaking with an attorney in early 
2020, and then began pursuing this matter. (Theresa Aff. il2). 

48. Theresa knew her mom was renting out the farm ground. (Theresa's Depo. 
pp. 29, 33 .) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed in that this statement is vague. Theresa was aware 
Patricia had rented some farm land out to the highest bidder. (Theresa Depo. 
29:19-25). See the additional facts set forth in il34. 

49. Craig and Theresa didn't talk. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 32-:33.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in ,34. 

50. Craig and Michael didn't talk (Michael's Depo. pp. 13, 17-18.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in ,,29 and 34. 

51. Theresa talked to her mom about why Theresa was not on the land. 
(Theresa's Depo. p. 18.) 

RESPO~SE: It is undisputed that at some point Theresa spoke with Patricia 
regarding ownership of the farm land. See the additional facts set forth in 
,r,r33-34. 

52. Theresa was told by her mom that Craig's name was on the land because 
their dad had debt (Theresa's Depo. p. 18.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r,2 
and 34. 
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53. Theresa did not ask her mom for Theresa's share of the rent money. 
(Theresa's Depo. p. 32.) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed. Patricia! told Thernsa she barely had enough money to 
live on. (Theresa Depo. 5-6). See the additional facts set forth in if 34. 

54. Michael was told by his mom that his name was on the land. (Michael's 
Depo. p. 7.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. This is a misstatement of Michael's testimony. Michael 
was told that at some point his name would be put on the land. (Michael 
Depo. 7: 15-18). Michael was never shown a copy of the deed. (Michael Depo. 
7:8-10). See the additional facts set forth in il29. 

55. Michael didn't ask for rent because h e knew his mom needed the money to 
make payments on the debts. (Michael's Depo. pp. 8-9.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. See the additional facts set forth in ifif 29 and 54. Based 
on these facts, Michael had no reason to request any rent. 

56. The current balance on Desmond Van Zee's debt that Craig is paying is 
$186,409.72. (Loan Status, Depo. Ex. 9 .) 

RESPO~SE: Undisputed insofar as the balance r emaining on at loan at Frontier 
Bank is 186,409.72 but immaterial. See additional facts set forth in ,r,r2 and 
8. 

57. Patricia cried t o Pam about Theresa and Michael confronting Pat ricia 
concerning land that Theresa and Michael r eceived. (Plaintiffs' First 
Supplemental Answers to Defendant's Interrogatories, No. 12.) 

RESPO~SE: Disputed. During Pam's deposition the following exchanges took 
place : 

VOGEL: Did you and Craig ever have conversations about Michael and 
Theresa receiving some of this land (referring t o Van Zee land)? 

PAM: No. 

VOGEL: Did you and Pat? 

PAM: No. 
(Pam Depo. 9:17-21). 

{O0682958.DOCX / 1} 10 of 11 

Filed: 10/26/2023 5:06 PM CST Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-06W86§dix 55 

- Page 816 -



RESPONSE: DEFENDANT 1 S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFFS STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 
Page 11 of 11 

VOGEL: You didn't - when you have conversations with Pat, it wasn't about 
Dad's debt or rental income or who owned what land? 

PAM: We had never talked about that. No. Pat and I never did that. 

VOGEL: Is that something Pat liked to talk about? 

PAM: No. 
(Pam Depo. 19:6-12) (emphasis added). 

Dated this ~6th day of October, ~0~3. 
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& HIEB, LLP 
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Attorneys for Defendant 

Ryan S. Vogel 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THERESA VAN ZEE, 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29CIV. 22-9 

REPLY TO 
DEFENDANT'S RESPONSES TO 
PLAINTIFFS' STATEMENT OF 

UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

Comes now the Plaintiffs, Craig and Pamela Van Zee, and make the following 
reply with respect to the Defendant's Responses to Plaintiffs' Statement of 
Undisputed .A1aterial Facts. Only those responses that required a reply are addressed 
below: 

:.!. At the time of Desmond Van Zee's death, he had a divorce pending with his 
wife, Patricia Van Zee, in which Desmond alleged that during the parties' 
marriage they had incurred "substantial liabilities." (Divorce Answer and 
Counterclaim, REDIGER 93-95.) 

RESPONSE: It is undisputed that the divorce Answer and Counterclaim indicates 
"substantial liabilities" had been incurred; however, this fact is immaterial. The 
property subject to this lawsuit is not and was not encumbered by any liens or 
mortgages. (Craig Depa. 35:7-21). The property subject to this litigation was 
never at risk for foreclosure. (Id.). Desmond's debt was not associated with the 
property subject to this litigation. (Craig Depa. 60:10-18). 

RJ:<:PLY: The last two sentences of the response are inaccurate. One sentence ignores 
that if a debtor owes money, while it is true that the foreclosure would be on the 
property that is co11ateral, ultimately all the judgment debtor's property is at risk 
until all of their debts are paid. The fact that the mortgage wasn't on some part of 
Lhe Van Zee properly doesn'L mean lhal lhe unmorlgaged properly is nol al risk 
with respect to the family dehts. 

Additiona11y, the response miscites and misquotes the deposition testimony of 
Craig Van Zee. The citation is to Craig Van Zee talking about the other notes at 
the bank. On the previous page, in reference to the amount of Craig's father's 
debt remaining, he affirmatively answers counsel's question that the principle on 
the father's loan was just over $186,000 as of March 24, 2023. (Craig's Depo. p. 
59:12-15.) 
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Even Lhough lhere was no morlgage on Lhe properly subjecl lo lhe liligalion, even 
\f ichael testified that his mother described the situation as the debt being against 
the land. (Michael's Depo. p. 8:7-8.) 

Even though there was not a mortgage on the land, Patricia Van Zee clearly 
vieweu all her lanu being al risk for lhe uebl lhal Lhe family uweu. 

4. Desmond was being foreclosed on. (Craig's Depo. p. 36.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed and immaterial. The only evidence presented of this alleged 
foreclosure is Craig's testimony. No foreclosure documents or evidence from 
any third-party has been produced. (Vogel Second Affl. ,r2) . Further, Craig 
testified there was "talk of foreclosure ." (Craig Depo. 36:17- 19). See the 
additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

REPLY: Craig explained in his deposition that his father was in financial trouble and 
he and his mother stopped a forced sale and lined up financing to salvage the 
farm. (Craig's Depo. pp. 36:2-19; 48:16-49:11) 

5. After Desmond died, Craig took on all of the farm work, pledged his property 
for his parents' debt, and signed mortgages that included his property. 
(Mortgage 6/17/2002 PL 320-324.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed but immaterial. The only land pledged as collateral by 
Craig was land purchased for Craig by Desmond. (Craig Depo. 10:15-25; 
11:1-9). See the additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

REPLY: The response is misleading. The truth is that Craig was helping his dad 
run the farm and the land was put in Craig's name, and Craig and his father 
made the payments. (Craig's Depo. pp. 10:21-11:5.) 

6. Patricia wanted all the land kept together to help pay Desmond's debt. 
(Craig's Depo. p. 34.) 

RESPONSE: U ndisputcd but immaterial. Sec the additional facts set forth in ,r2. As 
of June 7, 2010, Patricia did not have any ownership interest in the property 
subject to this litigation. (Vogel Aff2. 12, Ex. A, B, C, and D.) 

REPLY: It is t rue that part of Patricia 's estate plan involved her deeding away 
her land, subject to the conditions t hat she received rental support income 
and that the family debts were paid, and because of that, she did not have 
any ownership inleresl in lhe lancl. IL is malerial Lhal iL was Palrida's plan 
for this to happen this way and it is particularly material why waiting until 
Patricia had passed away to file the lawsuit deprives the Court and the jury 
of the important t estimony that is supported by the objective facts. 
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7. On June 3, 2010, Palricia, Craig, and Pam signed a morlgage for Fron lier 
Bank, formally known as Pender State Bank. (Mortgage 06/03/2010 PL 344-
356.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in 112 and 
6. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 2 and 6 above. 

8. On June 9, 2010, the original loan amount for Desmond's debt was down to 
$375,000 and owed by Patricia, and now Craig and Pam. (Loan Status, Depo. Rx. 
9; Craig's Depo. p. 47.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r,r2 and 6. 
The plaintiffs have not produced any evidence indicating how this debt was 
incurred. (Vogel Second Aff. 13). This debt amount is more substantial than the 
amount referenced in the handwritten notes of PL 93. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 2 and 6 above. Additionally, the best evidence available of 
the remaining Desmond Van Zee deht is the note that has heen continuously in 
existence since his survivors consolidated his debt and arranged a bank loan to 
pay it. It is inaccurate to say that the Plaintiffs have not produced any evidence 
as to how this debt was incurred, as they have presented evidence that Desmond 
Van Zee incurred debt. Better evidence about the amount of debt the Van Zee 
family had would have been available if the Defendants had brought their 
lawsuil while Palricia Van Zee was alive. 

9. The original lender after Desmond died wanted Patricia and Craig to sell some of 
the quarters. (Craig's Depo. p. 48.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

REPLY: See Reply to No.~ above. 

20. On December 31, 2013, Patricia listed $14,000 of rent on her tax return. 
(2013 Tax Return, PL 21-26.) 

RESPONS.E: Undisputed but immaterial. As of July 10, 2013, Patricia did not 
have any ownership interest in any real property; therefore, categorizing any 
income as rental income on her tax return is a mischaracterization. (Vogel 
Aff. ,r2, Ex. A, B, C, D, E, and F). 

REPLY: Patricia's tax returns characterize the money received by her as rent. The 
response uses the word "mischaracteriz.ation," which is misleading. Patricia 
believed she was receiving rent because that was a condition she placed on 
the transfer of the property. There is no "mischuracterization." Furthermore, 
Theresa testified that she knew her mom was receiving rent (Theresa's 
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Depo. pp. 31:24-32:16) and Michael knew Lhal his molher wa~ gelling 
income from the land and he didn't ask her for any of it (Michael's Depo. pp. 
7:15-9:7). 

22. In March and April 2015, Theresa called the Register of Deeds and had five 
pages sent to her in Iowa. (Theresa Depo. pp. 17-18.) (Affidavit of Suzy 
Wernsmann.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. The Affidavit of Suzy V\Ternsmann and attached records only 
indicate a "customer" and number of pages. They do not indicate how contact 
was made, who made contact, what records were requested, or where records 
were sent. Further, the Affidavit of Suzy Wernsman only states that "business 
records" show Theresa received copies. From this statement, it can be inferred 
that Ms. Wernsmann has no independent knowledge. (See Wernsmann Aff. ,r2). 

REPLY: Response misstates the Affidavit. Suzy W ernsmann testified that the records 
were delivered to Theresa Van Zee, the response doesn't dispute that Theresa 
Zan Zee got these records from the Register of Deeds office. 

24. On December 31, 2015, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2015 
Tax Return, PL 33-38.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r20. 

RRPI ,Y: See Reply to No. 20 a hove. 

25. On October 18, 2016, Brady Van Zee, Michael's son, had the Hand County 
Register of Deeds find all the real property with Michael's name on it and 
provide him copies of the deeds. (Receipt, Depo. Ex. 2.) (See Affidavit of Suzy 
Wernsmann.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. Brady testified that he went to the Hand County Register of 
Deeds looking for a parcel of property Michael owned, which is not subject to 
this litigation. (Brady Depo. 7:10-23). Brady testified that he never spoke with 
:Michael about any real property Michael may be receiving from Patricia. (Brady 
Depo. 6:17-20). The Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann and the attachments do not 
indicate what documents were potentially received by Brady. (See Wernsmann 
Aff. ,r3). Michael was not aware he was the owner of the property subject to this 
litigation. At some point, Patricia had informed :Michael she was going to give 
the property to him at some time. (Michael Depa. 10:18-25). Michael did not 
know he owned the property subject to this litigation until after Patricia died. 
(Michael Depo. 11:8-12). 

REPLY: Defendant's response misstates the record in several ways. First, Suzy 
Wernsmann's Affidavit does specifically tell what Brady asked for: 
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Brady wan led Lo know informalion on Lhe land Lhal was in 
his father's name. I took him to our Deed Books and 
showed him the deeds. from the receipts for the 
photocopies, which are attached, I know that the first time 
was in 2016 and the second time was in 2021. 

Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann. 

It is true that Brady initially lied in his deposition about going to the Register of 
Deeds office. (Brady's Depo. p. 7:2-4.) When confronted about them, he made up 
an initial story, which is what the Defendant is representing to the Court in his 
Response. When confronted with all the documents, Brady again told a different 
story, but in the end, the following took place, which is not the one the 
Defendant chose to disclose to the Court in his response: 

Q If you would have been getting copies of the deeds 
with your father's name on it, would you have then 
taken them to your father? 

A Well, yeah, I probably would have. 

(Brady's Depo. p. 10:12-15.) 

26. When Brady got copies of deeds with his dad's name on them, he testified 
that he probably gave them to his dad, Michael. (Brady Depa. p.10.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. See the additional facts set forth in il:.!5. During Brady's 
deposition, the following exchange took place: 

SCHOENBECK: So if the employees at the Hand County Register of Deeds office 
testified that that's what you came and requested (referring to copies of deeds 
with Michael's name on them) and that's what they gave you, they'd be lying'? 

BRADY: I could have. I don't - I don't recall. (Brady Depo. 10:6-9) 

From the Affidavit of Suzy vYernsmann, there is no information that Brady 
received copies of deeds with Michael's name on them, as Attorney Schoenbeck 
indicated during Brady's deposition. (See WernsmannAff.). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 25. The excerpt extracted by the Defendant and set before 
the Court in the Response on No. 26 intentionally excludes the actual answer to 
the question from the transcript, which is set forth immediately above in the 
Reply to No. 25. 

27- On December 31, 2016, Patricia listed $16,000.00 ofrent on her tax return. 
(2016 Tax Return, PL 39-44.) 
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RESPONSE: Umlispuleu bul immalerial. See Lhe auuilional fads sel forlh in ,r20. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 20 above. 

28. On December 31, 2017, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. 
(2017 Tax Return, PL 45-50.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r20. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 20 above. 

29. Sometime in 2018, Theresa said that she talked to Michael about the deeds at 
some time two years before Patricia died. (Theresa's Depa. pp. 20-21.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. Theresa stated that she put a copy of a deed, not deeds, in 
:vlichael's pickup at some time. (Theresa Depo. 20:22-24). Michael did not see 
any deed in his pickup. (Michael Depa. 20:8-13). Michael was not aware he 
was the owner of the property subject to this litigation. (Michael Depo. 10: 18-
25). Michael did not know he owned the prope rty subject to this litigation until 
after Patricia died. (Michael Depo. 11:8-12). The conversation between Theresa 
and Michael took place sometime after Patricia's death. (Michael Depo. 11:8-
21). 

REPLY: It is true that Michael and Theresa have told different stories. In fact, the 
excerpt from Michael's deposition cited to the Court excludes t his exchange: 

Q So had your mother told you she would put your name 
on some land or is that -- she told you that while she 
was alive? 

A Yes. 

Q And then when did you actually find out -- find out 
which land it was? 

A I knew which land it was when she told me. 

Q And did you know how much land it was? 

A Yes. 

Q And the n did you talk to her about when you were 
going to get the income from t hat land that was in 
your name? 

A No. 
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Q Okay. Why didn'l you have Lhal t.:onve.rsalion wilh 
her? 

A Why would I have a conversation with her 
over that when I was under the assumption 
that she needed the ground to make the 
payments on the debt? 

(Michael's Depo. pp. 7=15-8:6.) 

30. On December 31, 2018, Patricia listed $17,000 of rent on her tax return. 
(2018 Tax Return, PL 51-56.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in 120. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 20 above. 

31. On ,July 18, 2019, Theresa got seven pages of records from the Hand County 
Register of Deeds Office. (Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. See the additional facts set forth in 122. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 22 above. 

32. On December 31, 2019, Patricia listed $15,899 of rent on her tax return. 
(2019 Tax Return, PL 57-63.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in 120. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 20 above. 

33. By :w:w, Theresa admitted that she knew that her name was on the land. 
(Theresa's Depo. pp. 15, 18.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed. However, Theresa was not aware that Craig was a co­
owner of the land subject to this litigation, that Craig was renting the land, that 
Craig was depositing all rental income into an account he controlled, that Craig 
was determining how to distribute rental income, or that Craig was retaining a 
majority of the rental income because Craig never informed Theresa of any of 
these facts. (Craig Depo. 71:15-20; 73:19-25). 

REPLY: It is undisputed that Theresa knew the land was rented out and her mother 
was receiving income from the land, which arc the material facts. (Theresa's 
Depo. pp. 31:24-32:16.) 

34. Theresa admitted that she had seen the Warranty Deed that put her name on the 
land, Depo. Ex. 1, "a long time ago" before 2020. (Theresa's Depa. pp. 15, 18.) 
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RESPONSE: Undisputed. Theresa was not aware that Craig was co-owner of the 
property subject to this litigation until 2020. Theresa was not aware that 
Patricia did not own the property until early 2020. Theresa was not aware that 
Craig was leasing the property, collecting the rental income, determining how 
rental income would be distributed, and retaining most of the rental income. 
(Theresa Aff. ,r,r2-4). See the additional facts set forth in ,r33. 

REPLY: When Theresa received the deeds in 2015, Craig Van Zee's name was already 
on the property. The undisputed facts are contrary t o the allegations in the 
response. 

::35. Theresa knew that Desmond had debt when he died and had seen a bankruptcy 
attorney. She doesn't know how it was sorted out, she didn't help, and she 
doesn't know what Craig did about the debt. (Theresa's Depo. p. 19.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r2. 

REPLY: Sec Reply to No. 2 above. 

36. Theresa put a copy of the deed, where Michael got the land that is subject to 
litigation, in Michael's pickup. (Theresa's Depo. p. 20.) 

RESPONSE: Dispuled. Theresa Leslified she pul a copy of a deed in Michael's pickup, 
hut it is not clear which deed she put in Michael's pickup. (Theresa Depo. 20:22-

24). See the additional facts set forth in ,r29. 

REPLY: See Reply t o No. 29 above. Additionally, context of Theresa's discussion on the 
deposition pages 19-21 make it clear she gave Michael a copy of the deed to his 
property. 

37. Theresa didn't do anything about paying real estate taxes or managing the 
farm once she knew her name was on the deed. (Theresa's Depo. p. 24.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed. The real estate tax notices were being se nt to Craig, and 
he did not ask Michael or Theresa to pay the taxes associated with the property 
subject to this litigation. (Craig Depo. 67:5-7 and 11-13). See the additional 
facts set forth in ,r34. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 34 above. 

38. December 3 1, 2020, Patricia listed $16, 000 ofrent on her tax return. (2020 

Tax Return, PL 64-73 .) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r20. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 20 above. 

8 of 13 

Filed: 11/2/2023 4:42 PM CST Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-0efa00Eg7dix 64 

- Page 847 -



REPLY: REPLY TO DEFENDANT 1 S RESPONSES TO PLAINTIFFS• STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL 
FACTS Page 9 of 13 

39. :\1arch 20, 2021, Michael signed a divorce settlement with his wife and doesn't 
list an interest in ag land as an asset in his divorce. (Divorce Property and 
.\ilartial Settlement Agreement, PL 425-430.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed. This is consistent with Michael's lack of knowledge of 
ownership of the property. See the additional facts set forth in '1129. 

REPLY: See the Reply to No. 29 above. 

41. :\1ichael admitted that he knew while his mom was alive what land she put his 
name on. (Michael's Depo. pp. 7-9.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. See the additional facts set forth in '11125 and 29. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 25 and 29 above. 

42. Rent Patricia received, which was reported on her tax returns, was rent paid hy 
Craig, even though Patricia had no land to rent after July 10, 2013 . (See 
Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed insofar as the money being received by Patricia is characterized 
as rent. See the additional facts set forth in '11:20. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 20 above. 

43. :\1ichael assumed Craig was taking care of the farm debt. (Michael's Depa. p. 
12.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed but immaterial. Michael was not aware of the farm's 
financial situation. (Michael Depa. 11:22-25; 12:1). Michael guessed that Craig 
was helping take care of the farm finances. (Michael Depo. 12:21-24). See the 
additional facts set forth in '1[2. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 2 above. Also, Michael testified that he knew there was debt 
that had to be serviced. (Michael's Depo. pp. 7:24-8:6.) 

44. :\1ichael brought up rent with his mom while she was alive. (:\1ichael's Depo. p. 
16.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. There is nothing on page 16 of Michael's deposition that 
supports the assertion that :\1ichael spoke with Patricia rega rding rent. (See 
:\1ichael Depo. 16). 

REPLY: The better deposition cite to Michael's testimony are pages 7:19-8:8. 

45. :\1ichael didn't do anything to assist with the land. (Michael's Depo. p. 9.) 
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RESPONSE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in '1[29. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 29 above. 

46. :vlichael learned from his sister that his name was on the land. (Michael's 
Depo. p. 11.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in '1[29. 

REPLY: Sec Reply to No. 29 above. 

47. Theresa talked to a lawyer after she saw the deeds but chose not to follow up 
with it. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 21-23.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. Theresa was not aware Craig was co-owner of the property 
subject to this litigation until speaking with an attorney in early 2020, and then 
began pursuing this matter. (Theresa Aff. '1[2). 

REPLY: Theresa's Affidavit and the argument contained in the response are 
inconsistent with the undisputed facts that Theresa testified that she knew the 
land was being rented but she chose to not raise the issue with her mother 
before her clealh. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 31:24-32:16.) Acl<lilionally, when 
Theresa obtained the deeds on the property from the Hand County Register of 
Deeds in 2015, Craig Van Zee's name was already on the real property. See 
Reply to No. 34 above. 

48. Theresa knew her mom was renting out the farm ground. (Theresa's Depo. 
pp. 29, 33.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed in that this statement is vague. Theresa was aware Patricia 
had rented some farm land out to the highest bidder. (Theresa Depo. 29:19-25). 
See the additional facts set forth in '1[34. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. ~4. Additionally, Theresa's response here is directly 
contradicted by her testimony with respect to the disputed land, Deposition Rxhibit 
1, reflected in her deposition on pages 31:24-32:6. 

49. Craig an<l Theresa <li<ln'L Lalk. (Theresa's Depu. pp. 32-33.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed. See the additional facts set forth in '1[34. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 34. 

50. Craig and Michael didn't talk (Michael's Depo. pp. 13, 17-18.) 
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RESPONSE: Un<lispule<l. See Lhe a<l<lilional fads sel forlh in ,r,r29 and 34. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 29 and 34. 

51. Theresa talked to her mom about why Theresa was not on the land. 
(Theresa's Depo. p. 18.) 

RESPONSE: It is undisputed that at some point Theresa spoke with Patricia regarding 
ownership of the farm land. See the additional facts set forth in ,r,r33-34. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 33 and 34. 

52. Theresa was told by her mom that Craig's name was on the land because 
their dad had debt (Theresa's Depo. p. 18.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed but immaterial. See the additional facts set forth in ,r,r2 and 
34. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 2 and 34. 

53. Theresa did not ask her mom for Theresa's share of the rent money. (Theresa's 
Depo. p. 32.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed. Patricia} told Theresa she barely had enough money to live 
on. (Theresa Depa. 5-6). See the additional facts set forth in ,r34. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 34. 

f54. Michael was told by his mom that his name was on the land. (Michael's 
Depo. p. 7.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. This is a misstatement of Michael's testimony. Michael was 
Lol<l Lhal al some poinl his name woul<l be pul on Lhe lan<l. (Michael Depo. 
7=15-18). Michael was never shown a copy of the deed. (Michael Depo. 7=8-10) . 
See the additional facts set forth in ,r29. 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 29. 

55. Michael didn't ask for rent because he knew his mom needed the money to 
make payments on the debts. (Michael's Depa. pp. 8-9.) 

RESPONSE: Disputed. See the additional facts set forth in ,r,r29 and 54. Based on 
these facts, Michael had no reason to request any rent. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 29 and !14-
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56. The current balance on Desmond Van Zee's debt that Craig is paying is 
$186,409.72. (Loan Status, Depo. Ex. 9.) 

RESPONSE: Undisputed insofar as the balance remaining on at loan at Frontier 
Bank is 186,409.72 but immaterial. See additional facts set forth in ,r,r2 and 8. 

REPLY: See Reply to Nos. 2 and 8. 

57. Patricia cried to Pam about Theresa and Michael confronting Patricia 
concerning land that Theresa and Michael received. (Plaintiffs' First 
Supplemental Answers to Defendant's Interrogatories, No. 12.) 

RF.SPONSF.: Disputed. During Pam's deposition the following exchanges took place: 

VOGEL: Did you and Craig ever have conversations about Michael and Theresa 
receiving some of this land (referring to Van Zee land)? 

PAM: No. 

VOGEL: Did you and Pat? 

PAM: No. 

(Pam Depo. 9:17-21). 

VOGEL: You didn't-when you have conversations with Pat, it wasn't about 
Dad's debt or rental income or who owned what land? 

PAM: We had never talked about that. No. Pat and l never did that. 

VOGEL: Is that something Pat liked to talk about? 

PAM: No. 

(Pam Depa. 19:6-1~) (emphasis added). 

REPLY: It is true that Pam did not talk to her mother-in-law about any of the details 
concerning the father's debt or the rental income. The Statement of Fact a nd the 
supporting Answers to Interrogatories arc about her mother-in-law crying to her 
when being confronted by Theresa and Michael concerning the land they received. 
Other than Patricia crying about this, Pam was not involved in any discussions 
with Patricia about the details. 
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Dale<l Lhis 2nd <lay of November, 2023. 
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SCHOENBECK& ERICKSON, PC 

/s/ Lee Schoenbeck 
Lee Schoenbeck 
Joe Erickson 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
1200 Mickelson Dr., STE. 310 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THERESA VAN ZEE, 

Defendant. 

) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

) 29CIV. 22-9 
) 
) 
) PLAINTIFFS' REPLY TO 
) DEFENDANT'S ADDITIONAL FACTS 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Comes now, the Plaintiffs, Craig and Pamela Van Zee, by and through their 

attorney, Lee Schoenbeck, and makes this reply to the Defendant's Additional Facts: 

1. ~o foreclosure documents or evidence from any third-party has been 
produced. (Vogel Second Aff1. ,r2). Furlher, Craig Leslifie<l Lhere was "Lalk of 
foreclosure." (Craig Depo. 36:17-19). 

REPLY: Craig explained in his deposition that his father was in financial trouble and 
he and his mother stopped a forced sale and lined up financing to salvage the 
farm. (Craig's Depo. p. 36:2-19; 48:16-49:11) 

2. The only land pledged as collateral by Craig was land purchased for Craig 
by Desmond. (Craig Depo. 10:15-25; 11:1-9). 

REPLY: The statement is misleading. The actual deposition cite says that Craig was 
working with his father on the farm, and they worked together to make the 
payments. 

3. As of June 7, 2010, Patricia did not have any ownership interest in the 
property subject to this litigation. (Vogel Affa. ,i2, Ex. A, B, C, and D.) 

REPLY: It is true that part of Patricia's estate plan involved her deeding away 
her land, subject to the conditions that she received rental support income 
and that the family debts were paid, and because of that, she did not have 
any ownership interest in the land. It is material that it was Patricia's plan 
for this to happen this way and it is particularly material why waiting until 
Patricia had passed away to file the lawsuit deprives the Court and the jury 
of Lhe imporlanl Leslimony Lhal is supporle<l by Lhe objeclive fads. 

4. The plaintiffs have not produced any evidence indicating how this debt was 
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incurred. (Vogel Set.:onu Aff. ,r3). This uebl amounl is more subslanlial 
than the amount referenced in the handwritten notes of PL 93. 

RJ:<:.PLY: See the Reply to Nos. 1 and 3 above. Additionally, the best evidence available 
of the remaining Desmond Van Zee debt is the note that has been continuously 
in existence since his survivors consolidated his debt and arranged a bank loan 
to pay it. It is inaccurate to say that the Plaintiffs have not produced any 
evidence as to how this debt was incurred, as they have presented evidence that 
Desmond Van Zee incurred debt. Better evidence about the amount of debt the 
Van Zee family had would have been available if the Defendants had brought 
their lawsuit while Patricia Van Zee was alive. 

F,. As of July 10, 201~, Patricia did not have any ownership interest in any real 
property; therefore, categorizing any income as rental income on her tax return is 
a mischaracterization. (Vogel Aff. ,r2, Ex. A, B, C, D, E, and F). 

REPLY: Patricia's tax returns characterize the money received by her as rent. The 
response uses the word "mischaracterization," which is misleading. Patricia 
believed she was receiving rent because that was a condition she placed on 
the transfer of the property. There is no "mischaracterization." Furthermore, 
Theresa testified that she knew her mom was receiving rent (Theresa's 
Depo. pp. 31:24-32:16) and Michael knew that his mother was getting 
income from the land and he didn't ask her for any of it.(Michael's Depo. pp. 
7:15-9:7). 

6. The Affidavit of Suzy "\Vernsmann and attached records only indicate a 
"customer" and number of pages. They do not indicate how contact was made, 
who made contact, what records were requested, or where records were sent. 
Further, the Affidavit of Suzy Wernsman only states that "business records" show 
Theresa received copies. From this statement, it can be inferred that Ms. 
Wernsmann has no independent knowledge. (See Wernsmann Aff. ,r~). 

REPLY: Response misstates the Affidavit. Suzy W ernsmann testified that the records 
were delivered to Theresa Van Zee, the response doesn't dispute that Theresa 
Zan Zee got these records from the Register of Deeds office. 

7. Brady testified that he went to the Hand County Register of Deeds looking for a 
parcel of property Michael owned, which is not subject to this litigation. (Brady 
Depo. 7=10-23). Brady testified that he never spoke with Michael about any real 
property Michael may be receiving from Patricia. (Brady Depo. 6: 17-20). The 
Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann and the attachments do not indicate what 
documents were potentially received by Brady. (Sec \Vernsmann Aff. ,r3). 

REPLY: Defendant's response misstates the record in several ways. First, Suzy 
Wernsmann's Affidavit does specifically tell what Brady asked for: 

Brady wanted to know infonnation on the land that was in his 
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falher's name. I look him lo our Deecl Books aml showed him Lhe 
deeds. From the receipts for the photocopies, which are attached, 
I know that the first time was in 2016 and the second bme was in 
2021. 

Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmmm. 

It is true that Brady initially lied in his deposition about going to the Register of 
Deeds office. (Brady's Depo. p. 7:2-4.) When confronted about them, he made up 
an initial story, which is what the Defendant is representing to the Court in his 
Response. When confronted with all the documents, Brady again told a different 
story, but in the end, the following took place, which is not the one the 
Defendant chose to disclose to the Court in his response: 

Q If you would have been getting copies of the deeds 
with your father's name on it, would you have then 
taken them to your father? 

A Well, yeah, I probably would have. 

(Brady's Depo. p. 10:12-15.) 

8. .\1ichael was not aware he was the owner of the property subject to this litigation. 
At some point, Patricia had informed Michael she was going to give the property 
to him at some time. (Michael Depo. 10:18-25). 

REPLY: It is true that Michael and Theresa have told different stories. In fact, the 
excerpt from Michael's deposition cited to the Court excludes this exchange: 

Q So had your mother told you she would put your name 
on some land or is that -- she told you that while she 
was alive? 

A Yes. 

Q And then when did you actually find out -- find out 
which land it was? 

A I knew which land it was when she told me. 

Q And did you know how much land it was? 

A Yes. 

Q And then did you talk to her about when you were 
going to get the income from that land that was in 
your name? 
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A No. 

Q Okay. Why didn't you have that conversation with 
her? 

A Why would I have a conversation with her 
over that when I was under the assumption 
that she needed the ground to make the 
payments on the debt? 

(Michael's Depo. pp. 7:15-8:6.) 

g. ~ichael did not know he owned the property subject to this litigation until after 
Patricia died. (Michael Depo. 11:8-12). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 8 above. 

10. During Brady's deposition, the following exchange took place: 

SCHOENBECK: So if the employees at the Hand County Register of Deeds office 
testified that that's what you came and requested (referring to copies of deeds 
wilh Michael's name on Lhem) an<l Lhal's whal Lhey gave you, Lhey'<l be lying? 

BRADY: I could have. I don't - I don't recall. (Brady Depa. 10:6-9) 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 7 above. The exce rpt extracted by the Defendant and set 
before the Court in No. 7 intentionally excludes the actual answer to the 
question from the transcript, which is set forth above in the Reply to No. 7. 

11. From the Affidavit of Suzy \Vernsmann, there is no information that Brady 
received copies of deeds with Michael's name on them, as Attorney Schoenbeck 
indicated during Brady's deposition. (See Wernsmann Aff.). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 7 above. The excerpt extracted by the Defendant and set 
before the Court in No. 7 intentionally excludes the actual answer to the 
question from the transcript, which is set forth above in the Reply to No. 7. 

12. Theresa stated that she put a copy of a deed, not deeds, in Michael's pickup at 
some time. (Theresa Depo. 20:22-24). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 8 above. Additionally, context of Theresa's discussion on the 
deposition pages 19 -21 make it clear she gave Michael a copy of the deed to his 
property. 

13 . ~ichael did not see any deed in his pickup. (Michael Depa. 20:8-13). 
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REPLY: See Reply to No. 8 above. Additionally, context of Theresa's discussion on the 
deposition pages 19-21 make it clear she gave Michael a copy of the deed to his 
property. 

14. The conversation between Theresa and Michael took place sometime after 
Patricia's death. (Michael Depa. 11:8-21). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 8 above. 

15. Theresa was not aware that Craig was a co-owner of the land subject to this 
litigation, that Craig was renting the land, that Craig was depositing all rental 
income into an account he controlled, that Craig was determining how to 
distribute rental income, or that Craig was retaining a majority of the rental 
income because Craig never informed Theresa of any of these facts. ( Craig Depo. 
71:15-20; 73: 19-25). 

REPLY: It is undisputed that Theresa knew the land was rented out and her mother 
was receiving income from the land, which arc the material facts. (Theresa's 
Depo. pp. 31:24-32:16.) 

16. Theresa was not aware that Craig was co-owner of the property subject to this 
litigation until 2020. Theresa was not aware that Patricia did not own the 
properly unlil early 2020. Theresa was nol aware Lhal Craig wm; leasing Lhe 
property, collecting the rental income, determining how rental income would he 
distributed, and retaining most of the rental income. (Theresa Aff. 112-4). 

REPLY: When Theresa received the deeds in 2015, Craig Van Zee's name was already 
on the property. The undisputed facts are contrary to the allegations in No. 16. 

17. The real estate tax notices were being sent to Craig, and he did not ask Michael or 
Theresa to pay the taxes associated with the property subject to this litigation. 
(Craig Depa. 67:5-7 and 11-13). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 16 above. 

18. Michael was told that at some point his name would be put on the land. (Michael 
Depo. 7:15-18). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 8 above. 

19. Michael was never shown a copy of the deed. (Michael Dcpo. 7=8-10). 

REPLY: See Reply to No. 8 above. 

20. During Pam's deposition the following exchanges took place : 
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VOGEL: 

PAM: 

VOGEL: 

PAM: 

Did you and Craig ever have t:onversalions aboul Mit:hael and 
Theresa receiving some of this land (referring to Van Zee land)? 

No. 

Did you and Pat? 

No. 

(Pam Depo. 9:17-21). 

VOGEL: 

PAM: 

VOGEL: 

PAM: 

You didn't - when you have conversations with Pat, it wasn't about 
Dad's debt or rental income or who owned what land? 

We had never talked about that. No. Pat and I never did that. 

Is that something Pat liked to talk about? 

No. 

(Pam Depo. 19:6-12)(emphasis added). 

REPLY: It is true that Pam did not talk to her mother-in-law about any of the details 
cont:erning Lhe falher's de bl or Lhe renlal inoome. The Slalemenl of Fad an<l Lhe 
supporting Answers to Interrogatories are ahout her mother-in-law crying to her 
when being confronted by Theresa and Michael concerning the land they received. 
Other than Patricia crying about this, Pam was not involved in any discussions 
with Patricia about the details. 

Dated this 2nd day of November, 2023. 

SCHOENBECK& ERICKSON, PC 

/s/ Lee Schoenbeck 
Lee Schoenbeck 
Joe Erickson 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
1200 Mickelson Dr., STE. 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 
605-886-0010 
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21-3-3. Preswned damages for wrongful conversion of personal property--Preswnptions conclusive 
when possession wrongful from beginning. 

The detriment caused by the wrongful conversion of personal property is presumed to be: 
(1) The value of the property at the time of the conversion, with the interest from that time; 
(2) Where the action has been prosecuted with reasonable diligence, the highest market value of the 

property at any time between the conversion and the verdict, without interest, at the option of the 
injured party; 

(3) A fair compensation for the time and money properly expended in pursuit of the property. 
Such presumptions cannot be repelled in favor of one whose possession was wrongful from the beginning 

by his subsequent application of the property to the benefit of the owner, without his consent. 

Source: CivC 1877, §§ 1970, 1971; SL 1885, ch 42, § l; CL 1887, §§ 4603, 4604; RCivC 1903, §§ 2315, 
2316; RC 1919, §§ 1987, 1988; SDC 1939 & Supp 1960, § 37.1910. 
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SDLRC - Codified Law 55-1-7 - Wrongful detention creates implied trust. https:/ /sdlegislature .gov /api/Statutes/55-1-7. htm l?all=true 

55-1-7. Wrongful detention creates implied trust. 
One who wrongfully detains a thing is an implied trustee thereof for the benefit of the owner. 

Source: SDC 1939, § 59.0102 (1). 
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55-1-11. Implied trust--Declaration by court of equity. 
The enumeration in§§ 55-1-7 to 55-1-10, inclusive, of cases wherein an implied trust arises does not 

exclude or prevent the arising of an implied trust in other cases nor prevent a court of equity from 
establishing and declaring an implied, resulting, or constructive trust in other cases and instances pursuant to 
the custom and practice of such courts. 

Source: SDC 1939, § 59.0102. 
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Rent amounts -Theresa's portion 

2016 - $21,600 

2017 - $21,600 

2018- $19,800 

2019- $19,800 

2020 - $19,800 

2021- $19,800 

2022 - $21,000 

2023 - $21,000 

Total - $164,400 

{00690859.DOCX I 1} 
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l,, 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

) 
CRAIG AND PAMELA VANZEE, ) 

) 
Plaintiffs, ) 

) 
~ ) 

) 
THERESA VAN ZEE AND MICHAEL D. ) 
VAN ZEE, ) 

) 
Defendants ) 

) 

29CIV. 22-9 

VERDICT FORM 

We, the jury, duly impaneled in the above-entitled action and s,-.,orn to try the 
issues, find as follows '>vith respect to the issues we are to address. 

Question 1 

We find for Pamela and Craig Van Zee on all counts brought by both Defendants: 

Yes _i_ No 

If "No," go to Question 2 . 

Question2 

We find that Michael Van Zee is entitled to damages against Pamela and Craig 
Van Zee in the amount of$ ?fi,0£,QO (assessed damages, if any, in the sum 

' of). 

We fm-ther find that rvhchael Van Zee is entitled to prejudgment interest, 
beginning /ol-Jt/-iiB (fill in date) on the amount of 
~OS fl? (fill in dollar amount of damages the plaintiff is entitled to 

recover interest on). 

If you have put an amount in this Question, then go to Question 3. 
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Question3 

We find that Theresa Van Zee is entitled to damages against Pamela and Craig 
Van Zee in the amount of$ ..3E; 05;2 CO (assessed damages, if any, in the sum 
of). 

We further find that Theresa Van Zee is entitled to prejudgment interest, 
beginning lc?-///-olEi (fill in date) on the amount of 

,i?la:5;200 (fill in dollar amount of damages the plaintiff is entitled to 
recover interest on). 

The Foreperson should now sign the Verdict Form and notify the Bailiff. 

Dated this Jfday of December, 2023. 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT 
OF THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

No. 30600 

1HERESA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiff and Appellant, 

vs. 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VANZEE, 

Defendants and Appellees. 

Appeal from the Circuit Court 
Third Judicial Circuit 

Hand County, South Dakota 

HONORABLE KENT A. SHELTON 
Presiding Judge 

APPELLEES' BRIEF 

RICHARDSON, WYLY, WISE, SCHOENBECK & ERICKSON, PC 
Lee Schoenbeck SAUCK & HIEB, LLP 

Zachary W. Peterson 
Ryan S. Vogel 
Brianna J. Haugen 
Post Office Box 1030 
Aberdeen, SD 57402-1030 
( 605) 225-6310 
Attorneys for Appellant 

Joe Erickson 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The Honorable Judge Shelton and the Hand County jury, based upon the 

undisputed evidence before Judge Shelton and the witnesses that testified before 

the jury, got it right. The Hand County jury did not believe Theresa Van Zee's 

story as to why she had not pursued rent on land that she knew that she owned. 

Theresa's case is entirely based upon misapplication of the law concerning 

tenants in common. 

Appellees, Craig and Pamela Van Zee, will use the same designations in 

the Appellees' Brief that the Appellant, Theresa Van Zee, has indicated in the 

Preliminary Statement to her Appellant's Brief. Craig and Pamela's Statement of 

Undisputed Material Facts will be included in our Appendix and additionally 

referred to as "SUMF" with its respective paragraph number in the pleading. The 

Hand County Clerk of Courts record for the companion case of Michael Van Zee 

(hereinafter "Michael") prior to the consolidation of the matters, will be referred 

to as "CR Michael" followed by the corresponding page numbers. 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

Craig and Pamela agree with Appellant's Jurisdictional Statement. 

STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES 

1.. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN CONCLUDING 
THAT CRAIG AND PAMELA OWED NO FIDUCIARY DUTY TO 
THEIR CO-TENANT. 

The trial court denied Theresa's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and 
granted Craig and Pamela's M otion for Summary Judgment, concluding 
Craig and Pamela did not owe a.fiduciary duty to Theresa. 

1 



Est. of Thacker v. Timm, 2023 S.D. 2,984 N.W.2d 679, 686. 
Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21 (S.D. 1992). 
Smith v. Smith. 846 S.E.2d 819 (N.C. Ct. App. 2020). 
Hoven v. Banner Assocs .• Inc., 2023 S.D. 33,993 N.W.2d 562. 

SDCL 48-7A-202(c)(1). 

2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN CONCLUDING 
THERE WAS NO FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT BY CRAIG AND 
PAMELA, WHICH WOULD HA VE TOLLED THE STATUTE OF 
LIMITATIONS. 

The trial court concluded that Theresa had no evidence that showed Craig 
and Pamela engaged in affirmative or deceptive acts that prevented Theresa 
from discovering her cause of action. The trial court granted Craig and 
Pamela's Motion for Summary Judgment, barring Theresa's claims from 
prior to May 31, 2017. 

Strassburg v. Citizens State Bank, 581 N.W.2d 510,515 (S.D. 1998). 

3. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN REFUSING TO 
IMPOSE A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST. 

The trial court found that a constructive trust was not created, granted 
Craig and Pamela's Motion for Summary Judgment, and denied Theresa 's 
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment seeking that relief 

Johnson v. Markve, 2022 S.D. 57,980 N.W.2d 662. 

4. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING 
THERESA'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
SEEKING DAMAGES FOR CONVERSION. 

The trial court concluded that there was a factual dispute that precluded 
summary judgment in Theresa's favor. 

W. Consol. Coop. v. Pew, 2011 S.D. 9,795 N.W.2d 390. 
Est. of Thacker v. Timm, 2023 S.D. 2,984 N.W.2d 679, 686. 

5. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN ALLOWING 
CRAIG AND PAMELA TO PRESENT EVIDENCE TO THE JURY 
CONCERNINGTHEAGREEMENTFORTHEPAYMENTOFTHE 
FAMILY DEBT AND SUPPORTING MOTHER AS A CONDITION OF 
RECEIVING THE REAL PROPERTY. 
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The trial court denied Theresa's Motions in Limine to exclude evidence of the 
mother's requirement that she be supported and that the debt be paid as a 
condition of receiving the property. 

Hofeldt v. Mehling. 2003 S.D. 25, 658 N.W.2d 783, 788. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Craig and Pamela agree with most of Theresa's Statement of the Case, 

supplemented as set forth herein. 

Craig and Pamela commenced two partition actions to divide the property. 

One of the actions was to make Theresa take her half interest. (CR 2-3.) In the 

companion action, Michael was forced to take his share of an adjoining piece of 

property. (CR Michael 2-3.) Both matters were tried together before the jury. The 

two Complaints were consolidated for trial and Michael also received a verdict of 

$38,052. He has not appealed from his Judgment, and that Judgment has been 

satisfied. (App. 161.) 

Theresa's initial Counterclaim alleged a partnership and sought an 

accounting. (CR 6-10.) Pursuant to a Motion to Dismiss, the partnership claim 

was dismissed by the court (CR 33) and Theresa has not appealed that ruling. 

The parties stipulated to trying all of the equitable issues to a jury. (App. 

159-160.) 

On page 5 of the Appellant's Brief, Theresa refers to the Agreement that 

the siblings entered into with their mother as a "claimed agreement." As Theresa 

admits on page 34 of the Appellant's Brief, the jury found this to be an actual 

agreement. Craig and Pamela would dispute the use of the adjective "claimed" by 

Theresa. The sam e reference appears on page 6 of the Appellant's Brief. 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Because Theresa's appeal is about both the facts that were presented 

before the court at the motion for summary judgment hearing, and the facts that 

were presented to a jury at the jury trial, Craig and Pamela's Statement of Facts 

set forth below makes the temporal distinction about information before the 

judge and the jury. 

A. Summary Judgment Undisputed Facts 1. 

1.. Van Zee parents' land and dad's debt. 

• Desmond Van Zee, the father of the parties of 
the Van Zee children in this litigation, died on 
January 27, 1997. (SUMF #1, App. 1; Aff. of 
Craig, CR 290-291.) 

• At the time of Desmond Van Zee's death, he 
had a divorce pending with his wife, Patricia 
Van Zee, in which Desmond alleged that during 
the parties' marriage they had incurred 
"substantial liabilities." (SUMF #2, App. 1; 
Divorce Answer and Counterclaim, CR 305-
307-) 

• According to Attorney Rediger's handwritten 
notes, Desmond had debts of $198,220 and 
liquid assets of $16,454. (SUMF #3, App. 1; CR 
308.) 

• Desmond was being foreclosed on. (SUMF #4, 
App. 1; Craig's Depo., App. 43.) 

• After Desmond died, Craig took on all of the 
farm work, pledged his property for his 
parents' debt, and signed mortgages that 

1 SUMF refers to Craig and Pamela's Statement of Undisputed Material Facts 
(App. 1-7.) as referenced above in the Preliminary Statement. The number of the 
statement is given in the citation along with the document that was cited for the 
statement in the Statement of Undisputed Material Facts. 
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included his property. (SUMF #5, App. 1; 
Mortgage 6/17/2002, CR 409-413.) 

• Patricia wanted all the land kept together to 
help pay Desmond's debt. (SUMF #6, App. 2; 
Craig's Depo., App. 41.) 

• On June 3, 2010, Patricia, Craig, and Pam 
signed a mortgage for Frontier Bank, formally 
known as Pender State Bank. (SUMF #7, App. 
2; Mortgage 06/03/2010, CR 414-426.) 

• On June 9, 2010, the original loan amount for 
Desmond's debt was down to $375,000 and 
owed by Patricia, and now Craig and Pam. 
(SUMF #8, App. 2; Loan Status, CR 427.) 

• The original lender after Desmond died wanted 
Patricia and Craig to sell some of the quarters. 
(SUMF #9, App. 2; Craig's Depo., App. 55.) 

• On June 30, 2004, Patricia Van Zee conveyed 
the home place to Patricia, Craig, and Craig's 
wife, Pam. (SUMF #10, App. 2; Warranty Deed, 
CR 428-429.) 

• The current balance on Desmond Van Zee's 
debt that Craig is paying is $186,409.72. 
(SUMF #10, App. 2; Loan Status, CR 427.) 

2. History of the farmland at issue. 

• On September 16, 2004, Patricia conveyed a 
quarter and an 80 in Section 21 into joint 
tenancy with herself and her son, Michael. 
(SUMF #11, App. 2; Warranty Deed, CR 430.) 

• On September 16, 2004, Patricia conveyed a 
quarter and an 80 in Section 21 into joint 
tenancy with herself and her daughter, 
Theresa. (SUMF #12, App. 2; Warranty Deed, 
CR 431.) 

• In October 2004, Northstar Farms leased the 
Section 21 property at issue in this litigation, 
and the lease was signed by Patricia and her 
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son, Craig. (SUMF #13, App. 2; Northstar 
Lease, CR 432-434.) 

• June 7, 2010, Patricia conveyed her undivided 
one-half interest in the quarter and 80, the 
subject of this litigation with Michael, to Craig. 
(SUMF #14, App. 2; Warranty Deed, CR 435-
436.) 

• June 7, 2010, Patricia conveyed her undivided 
one-half interest in the quarter and 80, the 
subject of this litigation with Theresa, to Craig. 
(SUMF #15, App. 3; Warranty Deed, CR 437-
438.) 

• In October 2012, Kirby Odde leased all the Van 
Zee property, including the property subject to 
this litigation, and the lease was for five years. 
The lease was executed by Patricia Van Zee and 
Craig Van Zee. (SUMF #16, App. 3; Odde 
Lease, CR 439-442.) 

• On May 22, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her 
interest in real property in Sections 1, 13, and 
14 to Craig and his wife, Pam. (SUMF #18, App. 
3; Quit Claim Deed, CR 443-444.) 

• On July 10, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her 
interest in real property in Section 13 Craig and 
his wife, Pam Van Zee. (SUMF #19, App. 3; 
Quit Claim Deed, CR 445-446.) 

• On August 25, 2015, Craig conveyed his one­
half interest in the property that he owned that 
is subject to this litigation, into joint tenancy 
with his wife, Pam. (SUMF #23, App. 4; Quit 
Claim Deed, CR 508-509.) 

3. Mom continued to get the benefit of the land after her 

name was off the property. 

• At the time Odde Lease, Depo. Ex. 11, was 
executed, Patricia Van Zee had no interest in 
the property that is subject to this litigation. 
(SUMF #17, App. 3; Odde Lease, CR 439-442.) 
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• On December 31, 2013, Patricia listed $14,000 
of rent on her tax return. (SUMF #20, App. 3; 
2013 Tax Return, CR 447-452.) 

• On December 31, 2014, Patricia listed $16,000 
of rent on her tax return. (SUMF #21, App. 3; 
2014 Tax Return, CR 453-458.) 

• On December 31, 2015, Patricia listed $16,000 
of rent on her tax return. (SUMF #24, App. 4; 
2015 Tax Return, CR 510-515.) 

• On December 31, 2016, Patricia listed 
$16,000.00 of rent on her tax return. (SUMF 
#27, App. 4; 2016 Tax Return, CR 531-536.) 

• On December 31, 2017, Patricia listed $16,000 
of rent on her tax return. (SUMF #28, App. 4; 
2017 Tax Return, CR 537-542.) 

• On December 31, 2018, Patricia listed $17,000 
of rent on her tax return. (SUMF #30, App. 4; 
2018 Tax Return, CR 543-548.) 

• On December 31, 2019, Patricia listed $15,899 
of rent on her tax return. (SUMF #32, App. 5; 
2019 Tax Return, CR 549-555.) 

• December 31, 2020, Patricia listed $16,000 of 
rent on her tax return. (SUMF #38, App. 5; 
2020 Tax Return, CR 556-565.) 

• Rent Patricia received, which was reported on 
her tax returns, was rent paid by Craig, even 
though Patricia had no land to rent after July 
10, 2013. (SUMF #42, App. 6; Aff. of Craig, CR 
290-291.) 

4. Theresa knew she was an owner of the property long 

before the partition action. 

• In March and April 2015, Theresa called the 
Register of Deeds a nd had five pages sent to 
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her in Iowa. (SUMF #22, App. 3; See Aff. of 
SuzyWernsmann, CR 285-289.) 

• Theresa admitted that she had seen the 
Warranty Deed that put her name on the land, 
Depo. Ex. 1, "a long time ago" before 2020. 
(SUMF #34, App. 5; Theresa's Depo., App. 123, 
126.) 

• On October 18, 2016, Brady Van Zee, Michael's 
son, had the Hand County Register of Deeds 
find all the real property with Michael's name 
on it and provide him copies of the deeds. 
(SUMF #25, App. 4; Receipt, CR 516.) 

• When Brady got copies of deeds with his dad's 
name on them, he testified that he probably 
gave them to his dad, Michael. (SUMF #26, 
App. 4; Brady Depo., CR 526.) 

• Sometime in 2018, Theresa said that she talked 
to Michael about the deeds at some time two 
years before Patricia died. (SUMF #29, App. 4; 
Theresa's Depo., App. 128-129.) 

• On July 18, 2019, Theresa got seven pages of 
records from the Hand County Register of 
Deeds Office. (SUMF #31, App. 4; See Aff. of 
SuzyWernsmann, CR 285-289.) 

• By 2020, Theresa admitted that she knew that 
her name was on the land. (SUMF #33, App. 5; 
Theresa's Depo., App. 123, 126.) 

• Theresa knew that Desmond had debt when he 
died and had seen a bankruptcy attorney. She 
doesn't know how it was sorted out, she didn't 
help, and she doesn't know what Craig did 
about the debt. (SUMF #35, App. 5; Theresa's 
Depo., App. 127.) 

• Theresa put a copy of the deed, where Michael 
got the land that is subject to litigation, in 
Michael's pickup. (SUMF #36, App. 5; 
Theresa's Depo., App. 128.) 

8 



• Theresa didn't do anything about paying real 
estate taxes or managing the farm once she 
knew her name was on the deed. (SUMF #37, 
App. 5; Theresa's Depo., App. 132.) 

• March 20, 2021, Michael signed a divorce 
settlement with his wife and doesn't list an 
interest in ag land as an asset in his divorce. 
(SUMF #39, App. 5; Divorce Property and 
Marital Settlement Agreement, CR 566-571.) 

• Michael admitted that he knew while his mom 
was alive what land she put his name on. 
(SUMF #41, App. 5; Michael's Depo., CR 579-
581. 

• Michael assumed Craig was taking care of the 
farm debt. (SUMF #43, App. 6; Michael's 
Depo., CR 584.) 

• Michael brought up rent with his mom while 
she was alive. (SUMF #44, App. 6; Michael's 
Depo., CR 588.) 

• Michael didn't do anything to assist with the 
land. (SUMF #45, App. 6; Michael's Depo., CR 
581.) 

• Michael learned from his sister that his name 
was on the land. (SUMF #46, App. 6; Michael's 
Depo., CR 583.) 

• Theresa talked to a lawyer after she saw the 
deeds but chose not to follow up with it. (SUMF 
#47, App. 6; Theresa's Depo., App. 129-131.) 

• Theresa knew her mom was renting out the 
farm ground. (SUMF #48, App. 6; Theresa's 
Depo., App. 137, 141.) 

• Theresa talked to her mom about why Theresa 
was not on the land. (SUMF #51, App. 6; 
Theresa's Depo., App. 126.) 
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• Theresa was told by her mom that Craig's name 
was on the land because their dad had debt 
(SUMF #52, App. 6; Theresa's Depo., App. 
126.) 

• Theresa did not ask her mom for Theresa's 
share of the rent money. (SUMF #53, App. 6; 
Theresa's Depo., App. 140.) 

• Michael was told by his mom that his name was 
on the land. (SUMF #54, App. 6; Michael's 
Depo., CR 579.) 

• Michael didn't ask for rent because he knew his 
mom needed the money to make payments on 
the debts. (SUMF #55, App. 7; Michael's Depo., 
CR 580-581.) 

5. Craig had no involvement with Theresa. 

• Craig and Theresa didn't talk. (SUMF #49, 
App. 6; Theresa's Depo., App. 140-141.) 

• Craig and Michael didn't talk (SUMF #50, App. 
6; Michael's Depo., CR 585, 589-590.) 

6. Mom died in 2021.. 

• On March 26, 2021, Patricia died. (SUMF #40, 
App. 5; Aff. of Craig, CR 290-291.) 

B. Trial Facts. 

Below are additional facts the jury heard while having the opportunity to 

see and weigh the witness credibility: 

1.. Weighing Theresa's story. 

In 2015, Theresa had the Hand County Register of Deeds send Theresa 

copies of all of the deeds that had Theresa's name on them. (T 78-81; App. 164-

167.) The jury heard evidence that showed Theresa knew her name was on the 
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real property in 2015. (T 82.) From that time on, Theresa never complained to 

her mother about not receiving rent. (T 82.) 

Theresa knew that her name was on the property while her mother was 

still alive, and Theresa chose not to talk to her mom about why Theresa wasn't 

receiving rent. (T 56-56.) Theresa said that around 2020 she knew that she and 

Craig owned the land together. (T 58.) 

Theresa was evasive in front of the jury, and they were able to judge her 

demeanor. (T 71-72.) 

Theresa admitted that she talked with her brother Michael about the deed 

at least two years before her mother died. (T 72.) 

Theresa knew that her father's bankruptcy showed secured debt of 

$364,480.61 and unsecured debt of $29,862.56. She doesn't know who was 

working on the farm after her father's debt to get the bills taken care of. (T 77.) 

She didn't do anything to help her mother financially even though she knew her 

mother had to go to a banker to get some help with her finances. (T 77-78.) 

Near the end of Theresa's mother's life, Theresa did confront her mom 

about why Craig was one of the owners of the property, but she didn't confront 

her mother about the rent. (T 84.) 

Theresa asked the jury for eight years of one-half of the rental income on 

the land she received from her mother, for a total of $164,000 and the jury 

awarded Theresa $38,052 which is approximately the amount of the rent from 

the time Theresa's mother died until the jury trial. (T2 104; Appellant's Brief p. 

34.) 
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2. Theresa's Mother's wants and needs. 

Theresa was okay with her mom having control of the funds. (T 83-84.) 

Theresa's mom's name was on the farm checking account where the rent went. (T 

83.) 

Theresa's mother was sick with cancer and bad health from 2017 on, but 

she continued to live independently because she was cared for by Craig and 

Pamela. (T 94-98.) 

Patricia wanted the income from the land to go towards paying the debt 

her husband had accumulated, instead of paying rent to Michael and Theresa. 

(T2 45-46.) When Desmond Van Zee died, the land taxes hadn't been paid, and 

he was behind on land payments. (T2 48.) The mother had a hospital bill that was 

in collection and back taxes were owed. (Id.) 

Through all of this, Patricia never told Craig to make any rent payments to 

Michael or Theresa. (T2 56-57.) Through it all, Craig and Pamela agreed with 

their mother to keep paying her rent every year, even when she wasn't the owner 

of the property. (T2 58.) During much of this time, Theresa and Michael "kept 

haunting her" about the land. (T2 57-58.) Craig and Pamela agreed to take care of 

Craig's mother as part of the deal his mother made. (T2 59-61; 63-64.) 

3. Craig and Pamela. 

In the Appellant's Brief, they misstate Craig and Pamela's purchase of the 

Roach place. (Appellant's Brief p. 12.) Land acquired from their mother was not 

used to finance the purchase of the Roach place. (T2 25-27.) 

When their father died, Craig signed notes and mortgages for the family 

debt. (T2 49-51; CR. 1783-1793, 1800-1834.) Craig and Pamela signed a note for 
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$250,000 of his father's debt in 1999. (T2 51.) The same process of signing notes 

for the family debt was repeated in 2022, putting Pam and Craig on $350,000 of 

family debt. (T2 52-53; CR 1789-1793.) Craig and Pamela were not able to get 

ahead in paying off the family debt by 2003. (T2 54.) Michael and Theresa were 

not helping pay the debt. (T2 55-56.) 

Craig and Pamela and their sons converted the pastureland to crop ground 

to make it more profitable. (T 98-99; T2 46-47.) They picked rocks by hand, 

cleaned it up, broke up and tilled the ground, and then repeated the process the 

following year because the rocks kept coming up. (Id.) The improvement from 

pastureland to crop ground made the rental income rise from approximately $65 

an acre up to $170 an acre. (Id.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

1. Jury Verdict. 

The challenge to a jury verdict, the evidence is examined in the light "most 

favorable" to upholding the verdict and the verdict is given the "benefit of all 

reasonable inferences." Bridge v. Karl's. Inc., .538 N.W.2d 521, 523 (S.D. 1995). 

"This court does not weigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of 

thejury." (Id.) 

2. Evidentiary Rulings. 

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. 

Thompson v. Mehlhaff, 2005 S.D. 69, iT 32, 698 N.W.2d 512, 522. If there is error 

in an evidentiary ruling, it must be prejudicial in nature before this Court will 
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overturn the jury verdict. In re Est. of Duebendorfer, 2006 S.D. 79, ,i 16, 721 

N.W.2d 438,443. 

3. Summary Judgment. 

A summary judgment decision is reviewed de novo. Ries v. JM Custom 

Homes, LLC, 2022 S.D. 52, ,i 14,980 N.W.2d 217, 222. The Court determines 

whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and if a legal question has been 

correctly decided. (Id.) 

ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court correctly concluded that Craig and Pamela owed 

no fiduciary duty to their co-tenant. 

1. There was no fiduciary relationship as a matter of law. 

This last year this Court clearly defined a fiduciary duty: 

Fiduciary duties "arise only when one undertakes to 
act primarily for another's benefit. The law will imply 
such duties only where one party to a relationship is 
unable to fully protect its interests and the 
unprotected party has placed its trust and confidence 
in the other." 

Est. of Thacker v. Timm, 2023 S.D. 2,121,984 N.W.2d 679, 686. 

The key facts with respect to fiduciary duty are not in dispute. Craig and 

Pamela had no relationship with Theresa of any type. Theresa knew that she 

owned a one-half interest in the property since 2015. (T 78-82.) Theresa knew the 

property was rented and that she wasn't getting any rent. (T 82.) On appeal, 

Theresa now takes the position that she agreed to rental income going to support 

her mother. (Appellant's Brief p. 22.) 

14 



There are no facts that support the imposition of a fiduciary duty 

relationship in this setting. Theresa's bare argument is that Craig and Pamela are 

her fiduciaries because their mother put them all on the title to the real property 

at some point in time. 

Judge Shelton got the legal question right in the motion for summary 

judgment, and the jury also didn't buy Theresa's story at the trial. 

2. There is no fiduciary relationship for tenants in common, 

absent special circumstances. 

Conway v. Conway. 487 N.W.2d 21 (S.D. 1992) uses language from a 

Nebraska decision, Hafeman v. Gem Oil Co., 163 Neb. 438, 80 N.W.2d 139 

(1956), a decision unique to oil and gas property circumstances. Transporting 

that language into Conway misdirects the standards for tenants in common. 

The basic rule in American jurisprudence is that "a fiduciary relationship 

ordinarily does not arise between tenants in common." Smith v. Smith. 846 

S.E.2d 819 (N.C. Ct. App. 2020); Rancho Viejo Cattle Co .• Ltd. v. ANB Cattle Co .• 

Ltd., 642 S.W.3d 850, 865 (Tex. App. 2021). The Conway decision cites similar 

language from Hafeman. Conway, at 24. 

To have a fiduciary relationship between tenants in common, there has to 

be a "special confidence reposed," Smith, 846 S.E. at 23, or "an agreement or 

contract." Rancho Viejo, 642 S.W. at 26. Our Court has expounded on the nature 

of a fiduciary relationship. Hoven v. Banner Assocs .• Inc. , 2023 S.D. 33,993 

N.W.2d 562. A fiduciary relationship is a "peculiar confidence placed by one 

individual in another." Id. at 573. One party has "superior power." Id. One party 

has been placed "in charge of' the other. Id. None of these facts are present here. 
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In fact, it is undisputed that Theresa, Craig, and Pamela had no special 

relationship, no discussion, no agreement, in any respect concerning this 

transaction. 

In Theresa's Appellant's Brief, she attempts to stretch the tenants in 

common relationship into a fiduciary one on page 20. But, other than the 

Arkansas decision, the other states required special relationships between the co­

tenants. In the North Dakota decision, there were option rights the co-tenants 

shared pursuant to a last will and testament. Bartz v. Beringer, 322 N.W.2d 243, 

244 (N.D. 1982). In the Utah decision, there was a debt that a co-tenant 

unilaterally defaulted on to put the property into foreclosure so as to acquire it. 

Jolley v. Corry. 671 P.2d 139, 141 (Utah 1983). Even more interesting is the 

reference in Appellant's Brief to Justice Cardozo's decision in Meinhard v. 

Salmon, 249 N.Y. 458, 164 N.E. 545 (1928). Justice Cardozo was writing about 

"joint adventures, like co-partners." Ironically, Theresa initially filed a 

counterclaim alleging a partnership, like the situation in Meinhard v. Salmon, 

and that counterclaim was dismissed in September of 2022 as joint ownership 

alone does not create a partnership. SDCL 48-7A-202(c)(1). The dismissal of the 

counterclaim alleging a partnership was not appealed. 

3. Conway Key Facts: life estate and family understanding. 

In Conway, mother had a life estate. Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21 

(S.D. 1992). That entitled her to all t he income during her lifetime. The life estate 

was deeded away to her son/ defendant, and he didn't disclose the removal of the 

mother's life estate. Our Court noted the critical fact "the family had long 

operated under the belief that all rental income from the farm was to go to 
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support the mother until her death." Id. Conversely, the 2010 deed of one-half 

interest to Theresa did not reserve a life estate to mother. According to Theresa's 

own testimony, in 2015, she knew every fact that entitled her to assert present 

ownership and entitlement to rent. (T 80-82.) The jury heard the testimony. The 

logical explanation for Theresa's conscious decision to not seek rent while her 

mother was alive was because she knew her mother conditioned the gift on 

mother being cared for and the family debt being paid. The jury is expected to 

weigh conflicting evidence and decide upon the credibility of the witnesses. 

Matter of Est. of Tank, 2023 S.D. 59,998 N.W.2d 109, 122. 

In Theresa's new interpretation of the facts on page 22 of her Appellant's 

Brief, she is now saying that she was okay with her mother being supported by 

the rental income from the farm. 

4. There was no relationship of trust or confidence. 

As set forth in the facts, Craig and Pamela had no relationship with 

Theresa. There was no trust or confidence of any type between them. Under 

Theresa's theory, her mother owed Theresa rent from September 2004, when 

Theresa became a co-owner with her mother of the parcel of property at issue! 

In Theresa's Brief on page 22, she creates a new story, different from the 

one she argued at the trial below. On page 22 of the Appellant's Brief, Theresa 

now says that she assumed that her mother was getting the rent and that was 

okay while her mother owned the property. If the Court looks at the trial 

transcript cite, it is a reference to something that happened just a couple of years 

after Theresa's father died in 1997. Theresa is now, on appeal, attempting to 

transport that story into the events after Theresa's mother made Theresa one-half 
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owner of the property in 2004. On appeal, Theresa also then transports her story 

one step further to be that the permission for her mother to have the rent from 

the property ended when Craig and Pamela became half owners of the property. 

If Theresa's new story on page 22 of her Appellant's Brief is true, and she agreed 

with rental income going for the support of her mother, the undisputed evidence 

is that her mother continued to receive rent all the way until her mother died, 

what is the basis for Theresa's complaint on appeal? Summary judgment was 

appropriate as a matter of law because there was no special relationship. 

Additionally, the jury heard Theresa's evolving story. The Court should not weigh 

the evidence and should not substitute its judgment for that of that jury. 

Westover v. E. River Elec. Power Co-op., Inc., 488 N.W.2d 892 (S.D. 1992). 

5. Oil and gas pool decision. 

The Conway decision relied upon Hafeman v. Gem Oil Co., 163 Neb. 438, 

80 N.W.2d 139 (1956) for its language about "a relationship of trust in confidence 

exists" and about "a secret profit." Hafeman is an oil and gas case involving oil 

extracted from under two non-contiguous quarters of real property. Id. at 40. It is 

a laborious case to read, but it is about the agreement that the co-tenants entered 

for the sharing of the proceeds from the pool of oil from which there were 

extractions. In Hafeman, two of the co-tenants controlled the extraction and 

distribution of the proceeds pursuant to an agreement. Id. at 470. The agreement 

was violated, and a lawsuit resulted from the party that didn't receive their share 

of the oil proceeds. In Hafeman, there actually was a contract and there were 

secret profits. The owner of the property couldn't know the amount of oil being 

eA'tracted and whether or not they were getting their share. 
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Theresa conversely knew in 2015 she had received a one-half interest in 

the real property and, under her theory, it came unencumbered, so she knew 

immediately that she was entitled to half the rent. If her claim before this Court is 

false, the same claim rejected by the jury, it may well be because Theresa knew 

that the proceeds from the land had to go towards paying off the debt and 

supporting her mother. Upon her mother's death, Theresa received the benefits 

of the real property that her mother had gifted to her as part of an estate plan. 

6. The facts don't support Theresa's theory. 

Theresa came into the property relationship with her mother in 2004. 

Under Theresa's theory, her mother created a fiduciary responsibility to Theresa 

to provide half of the rent to Theresa from the day the mother made the gift! The 

course of conduct between the parties is undisputed. Theresa did not receive any 

rent from her mother at any time prior to her mother's death. 

At trial, the jury heard that in 2015 Theresa received the deed that showed 

her name on the property as a joint tenant. Under Theresa's theory, at that point 

in time, she had no special relationship of any type with Craig and Pamela. 

Theresa doesn't contend she had any contract or agreement with Craig or 

Pamela. Theresa made a conscious decision to not pursue one-half of the rent for 

the property. The only plausible explanation for that is the one offered by Craig, 

that the parties all knew the rent from the property was to stay together until the 

debt was paid and to provide for mom in her lifet ime. 

Theresa asked the jury to return a verdict of $164,400. Instead, the jury 

returned an amount of $38,052, which is approximately the rental income from 
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the time mother died until the time Craig was able to get the property partitioned 

in 2023. (T 104.) 

B. There was no fraudulent concealment by Craig and Pamela to 

toll the statute of limitations. 

1. Relevant Undisputed Material Facts. 

It is undisputed that rent was being paid to Patricia right up until her 

death and was reported accordingly on her income tax returns, even though she 

didn't own the land from which she received "rent." (SUMF #42, App. 6.) In her 

Appellant's Brief, Theresa now contends that she was okay with her mother 

receiving rental income. (Appellant's Brief p. 22.) Theresa's name was put on the 

property in 2004, as a joint tenant with her mother. Her mother did not pay rent 

to Theresa ever. In 2010, Patricia transferred her half interest to Craig and 

Pamela. In 2015, Theresa obtained the deeds from Hand County Register of 

Deeds Office, so she knew who the owners of the property were. (T 79-82.) 

Theresa knew the land was being rented. (T 82.) Theresa now contends that she 

was a victim of fraudulent concealment. 

2. Law of Fraudulent Concealment. 

Judge Shelton correctly issued this summary judgment decision. For 

fraudulent concealment to apply absent a "confidential or fiduciary relationship," 

there has to have been "actionable conduct or injury [that] has been concealed by 

a deceptive act or artifice." Strassburg v. Citizens State Bank, 581 N.W.2d 510,515 

(S.D. 1998). 

Craig did not talk to his sister, Theresa. (SUMF #49, App. 6.) Theresa 

knew the land was rented. (T 82.) Theresa knew she was an owner of the property 
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since 2015. (T 79-82.) Theresa doesn't allege that Craig or Pamela did anything to 

hide from her that she was (a) an owner of the property; and (b) that the property 

was rented; or (c) that Theresa was not receiving any of the rent from the 

property. Fraudulent concealment did not exist. 

3. Conway distinguished. 

Appellant relies upon the Conway decision for their fraudulent 

concealment argument. Conway is discussed and distinguished in the preceding 

issue. Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21 (S.D. 1992). 

C. There was no basis for a constructive trust. 

The trial court correctly found on summary judgment there was no basis 

for a constructive trust. Theresa notes in her brief that the assets have to have 

been "wrongfully obtained." Johnson v. Markve, 2022 S.D. 57,980 N.W.2d 662. 

Two of the elements of a constructive trust are a problem for Theresa. First, she 

must show that Craig and Pamela "gained," and then she has to show that the 

gain was "by fraud, accident, mistake, undue influence, violation of a trust, or 

other wrongful act." Id. 

With respect to whether Craig and Pamela gained from the rent on this 

property, Theresa ignored that Craig and Pamela signed their names to large 

debts of Theresa's parents and paid on those large debts for many years. 

Additionally, as the jury heard, Craig and Pamela agreed to care for Patricia, and 

that included more than paying rent. Craig and Pamela and t heir sons worked the 

land, picked the rocks, and helped convert the subject property from pasture to 

more valuable crop ground. (T 98-99; T2 46-47.) Craig and Pamela were 

physically caring for a lady who at the time was very sick and who needed care as 
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a result of cancer. (T 94-98; T2 59-61.) If Craig and Pamela had "gained" so 

much, one might wonder why Theresa didn't sign for the family debt, work the 

family farm, and care for her mother. 

The even bigger problem that Theresa has with her argument is that there 

is no evidence that Craig and Pamela engaged in "fraud, accident, mistake, undue 

influence, violation of a trust, or other wrongful act." They didn't do anything 

with respect to Theresa. But here is what Theresa has admitted: 

• She knew she owned the land since 2015. 

• She knew the land was rented. 

• She knew she wasn't getting the rent. 

• She knew there was family debt that had to be paid. 

• She knew that her mother was being cared for and 
provided for. 

On the undisputed facts, how is Theresa the victim of "fraud, accident, 

mistake, undue influence, violation of a trust, or other wrongful act" given what 

she has admitted she knew? 

D. The trial court was correct in denying Theresa's motion for 

partial summary judgment seeking damages for conversion. 

Theresa knew and acquiesced in not receiving the rent. There was no 

conversion. There were questions of fact. 

Theresa did not object to Jury Instruction #15, the South Dakota Civil 

Pattern Jury Instruction 20-170-10, which provides in its first sentence: 

Conversion is the unauthorized exercise of control or 
dominion over personal property in a manner that is 
unwarranted and seriously interferes with an 

22 



owner's right in the property or in a manner 
inconsistent with the owner's right. 

S.D. Civil Pattern Jury Instruction 20-170-10 (emphasis added); W. 

Consol. Coop. v. Pew, 2011 S.D. 9,795 N.W.2d 390,396. Consent defeats 

conversion. Est. of Thacker v. Timm, 2023 S.D. 2, ,r 41,984 N.W.2d 679, 692. 

The jury heard the testimony that Theresa knew she owned a one-half 

interest in the property, she knew the property was being rented, and she knew 

she wasn't receiving any of the rent. On appeal, now Theresa contends on page 22 

of her Appellant's Brief that she was agreeable to money being used for her 

mother's care. The jury also heard testimony about Theresa's arguments with her 

mother concerning the property and heard testimony that their mother wanted 

all of the money to be used to pay the family debt and for mother's care. There 

was sufficient evidence to support the jury conclusion that the use of the rent was 

not unauthorized or unwarranted or seriously inferred with or was inconsistent 

with Theresa's wishes through this time period. 

In Theresa's appeal, she is not contesting the affirmative defenses that 

were included in the jury instructions of laches, waiver, estoppel, and consent. 

There is an interesting question of reconciling the two civil pattern jury 

instructions on conversion: 20-170-10 and 20-170-20. Both are statements of the 

law repeated by the court on multiple occasions. It would appear that the 

reconciliation is that you cannot begin to claim conversion if you authorized the 

use, or if the use is not unwarranted or doesn't interfere with what you intended. 

In other words, you have to get over the threshold in 20-170-10, which is a 
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verbatim quote from W. Consol. Coop. v. Pew, 2011 S.D. 9,795 N.W.2d 390,396, 

before you look at the elements set forth in 20-170-20. 

An alternative reconciliation of the two statements of law would be that 

the "seriously interfered with" condition in the third element of conversion is 

defined by the language contained in South Dakota Pattern Jury Instruction 20-

170-10. 

In either event, the jury had the ability to hear the testimony and Theresa's 

evolving explanations, which supported a reasonable belief that Theresa knew 

where the income was supposed to go, she knew she wasn't getting it, and she 

had no complaints about its use during her mother's lifetime. 

Interestingly, Theresa has this statement in support of this issue: 

Trial court's conclusion that there is a fact dispute 
about whether Theresa "acquiesced to the rental 
income being used to support [her] mother and 
service the family debt" is completely untethered to 
any record evidence. 

Appellant's Brief p. 27. 

Compare that allegation under conversion to the representation on page 

22 of Appellant's Brief that she assumed and acquiesced in rental income being 

used for the support of her mother. The jury had reasonable evidence on which it 

concluded that Theresa acquiesced in her mother's wishes of the family debt 

being serviced and her mother being supported. The inconsistencies in Theresa's 

Brief in page 22 and page 27 support that there was a question of fact for the jury 

to decide-and they did. There was a factual issue for the jury, and they rejected 

Theresa's story. 
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E. The trial court correctly allowed Craig and Pamela to present 

evidence to the jury to show they were not unjustly enriched. 

The gravamen of an unjust enrichment claim is whether or not the 

retention of a benefit would be "unjust." Hofeldt v. Mehling. 2003 S.D. 25, 658 

N.W.2d 783,788. Theresa doesn't dispute that the issue of what is "just," or in 

the words of the instruction "inequitable," is a factual dispute. Instead, Theresa 

seeks to limit the evidence the jury heard on the issue on what would be 

inequitable. There is a certain irony in Theresa's argument and a clear 

inconsistency. On page 22 of her Appellant's Brief, she says she acquiesced in the 

rent being used to support her mother-she admits at least that much of what she 

agreed to. When Theresa received the deeds in 2015, her mother was no longer 

on the property, and Theresa admits that on page 32 of her Appellant's Brief on 

this issue. Theresa now wants to put a hard stop on the concept of "justice" with 

respect to the rental income going to pay the family debts and support her 

mother, and Theresa is blunt in describing her new position: 

What Patricia (mother) wanted or did not want to be 
done with the rental income from 2010 forward is 
utterly irrelevant to the determination of Theresa's 
claim against Craig and Pamela. 

Appellant's Brief pg. 32. 

There is no legal basis for reversing the trial court's determination that the 

jury should hear all the evidence on whether or not it would be unjust for Craig 

and Pamela to use the rent for support of Theresa's mother and for the payment 

of Theresa's mother's family debt. 
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CONCLUSION 

According to Theresa's own testimony, from 2015 on, she knew she owned 

a one-half interest in the real property at issue. Now on appeal, she argues that 

she was agreeable with the money going to support her mother until such time 

that her mother was no longer a half-owner of the property. Her mother was no 

longer a half-owner of the property by the time Theresa received the deeds in 

The jury heard the evidence. As Theresa summarizes on page 34 of her 

brief, the jury based its decision on the evidence it heard about what Theresa and 

Michael and Craig and Pamela and Patricia all had intended and acquiesced in­

that while mother was alive, that the funds would go for mother's care and to 

service the family debt. The jury's decision should be upheld. 

DATED this 5th day of August, 2024. 
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JOE ERICKSON 
Attorneys for Appellees, 
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STATEMENT: OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS Page 1 of 7 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VANZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

29CIV. 22-9 

v. 
PLAINTIFFS' STATEMENT OF 

UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

THERESA VAN ZEE, 

Defendant. 

Plaintiffs Craig Van Zee and Pamela Van Zee respectfully submit this Plaintiffs' 

Statement of Undisputed .Material Facts in support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary 

Judgment. Exhibits referenced herein arc attached to the Affidavit of Lee Schoenbeck 

filed in support of Plaintiffs' ~Wotionfor Summary Judgment. 

1. Desmond Van Zee, the father of the parties of the Van Zee children in this 

litigation, died on January 27, 1997. (Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

2. At the time of Desmond Van Zee's death, he had a divorce pending with his 

wife, Patricia Van Zee, in which Desmond alleged that during the parties' 

marriage they had incurred "substantial liabilities." (Divorce Answer and 

Counterclaim, REDIGER 93-95.) 

3. According to Attorney Rediger's handwritten notes, Desmond had debts of 

$198,220 and liquid assets of $16,454. (Atty. Rediger's Notes, PL 93.) 

4. Desmond was being foreclosed on. (Craig's Depo. p. 36.) 

5. After Desmond died, Craig took on all of the farm wo rk, pledged his property 

for his parents' debt, and signed mortgages that included his property. 

(Mortgage 6/17/ '2.00'2. PL 3'2.0-3'2.4.) 

Filed: 10/6/2023 4:22 PM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 264 -
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STATEMENT: OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS Page 2 of 7 

6. Palrit:ia wanle<l all Lhe land kepl logelher lo help pay Desmond's <leb l. 

(Craig's Depo. p. 34.) 

7. On June 3, 2010, Patricia, Craig, and Pam signed a mortgage for Frontier 

Bank, formally known as Pender State Bank. (Mortgage 06/03/2010 PL 344-

8. On June 9, 2010, the original loan amount for Desmond's debt was down to 

$~7s,ooo and owed by Patricia, and now Craig and Pam. (Loan Status, Depo. 

Ex. 9; Craig's Depo. p. 47.) 

9. The original lender after Desmond died wanted Patricia and Craig to sell some 

of the quarters. (Craig's Dcpo. p. 48.) 

10. On June 30, 2004, Patricia Van Zee conveyed the home place to Patricia, 

Craig, and Craig's wife, Pam. (Warranty Deed, Depo. Ex. 5.) 

11. On September 16, 2004, Patricia conveyed a quarter and an 80 in Section 21 

into joint tenancy with herself and her son, Michael. (Warranty Deed, Depo. 

Ex. 6A.) 

1~. On September 16, ~004, Patricia conveyed a quarter and an 80 in Section ~1 

into joint tenancy with herself and her daughter, Theresa. (Warra nty Deed, 

Depo. Ex. 6B.) 

13. In October 2004, Northstar Farms leased the Section 21 property at issue in 

this litigation, and the lease was signed by Patricia and her son, Craig. 

(Northstar Lease, PL 1-3) 

14. June 7, 2010, Patricia conveyed her undivided one-half interest in the quarter 

and 80, the subject of this litigation with Michael, to Craig. (Warranty Deed, 

Depo. Exs. 6E & 6F.) 

2 
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STATEMENT: OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS Page 3 of 7 

15. June 7, 2010, PalriL:ia wnveye<l her un<livi<le<l one-half inlere8l in Lhe quarler 

and 80, the subject of this litigation with Theresa, to Craig. (Warranty Deed, 

Depo. Exs. 6C & 6D.) 

16. In October 2012, Kirby Odde leased all the Van Zee property, including the 

property subject to this litigation, and the lease was for five years. The lease 

was executed by Patricia Van Zee and Craig Van Zee. (Odde Lease, Depo. Ex. 

11.) 

17. At the time Odde Lease, Depa. Ex. 11, was executed, Patricia Van Zee had no 

interest in the property that is subject to this litigation. (Odde Lease, Depa. 

Ex. 11.) 

18. On May 22, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her interest in real property in 

Sections 1, 13, and 14 to Craig and his wife, Pam. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Ex. 

19. On July 10, 2013, Patricia quit claimed her interest in real property in Section 

13 Craig and his wife, Pam Van Zee. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Ex. 8.) 

:w. On December 3 1, 2013, Patricia listed $14,000 of rent on her tax return. (2013 

Tax Return, PL 21-26.) 

21. On December 31, 2014, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2014 

Tax Return, PL 27-32.) 

22. In March and April 2015, Theresa called the Register of Deeds and had five 

pages sent to her in Iowa. (Theresa Depa. pp. 17-18.) (See Affidavit of Suzy 

Wernsmann.) 

3 
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STATEMENT: OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS Page 4 of 7 

23. On Augm,l 25, 2015, Craig conveyed. his one-half inleresl in Lhe properly Lhal 

he owned that is subject to this litigation, into joint tenancy with his wife, 

Pam. (Quit Claim Deed, Depo. Exs. 6G & 6H.) 

24. On December 31, 2015, Patricia listed $16,000 ofrent on her tax return. (2015 

Tax Return, PL 33-38.) 

25. On October 18, 2016, Brady Van Zee, Michael's son, had the Hand County 

Register of Deeds find all the real property with Michael's name on it and 

provide him copies of the deeds. (Receipt, Depo. Ex. 2.) (Affidavit of Suzy 

Wernsmann1.) 

26. When Brady got copies of deeds with his dad's name on them, he testified 

that he probably gave them to his dad, Michael. (Brady Depo. p.10.) 

27. On December 31, 2016, Patricia listed $16,000.00 of rent on her tax return. 

(2016 Tax Return, PL 39-44.) 

28.On December 31, 2017, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on her tax return. (2017 

Tax Return, PL 45-50.) 

~9. Sometime in :2018, Theresa said that she talked to Michael about the deeds at 

some time two years before Patricia died. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 20-21.) 

30. On December 31, 2018, Patricia listed $17,000 of rent on her tax return. (2018 

Tax Return, PL 51-56.) 

31. On July 18, 2019, Theresa got seven pages of records from the Hand County 

Register of Deeds Office. (See Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann.) 

1 "Affidavit of Suzy Wernsmann" is a reference to the Affidavit filed in the corresponding case: Craig and Pamela 
Van Zee v. Michael Van Zee, 29CIV22-10 
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STATEMENT: OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS Page 5 of 7 

32. On December 31, 2019, Palricia lislecl $15,899 of renl on her lax relurn. (2019 

Tax Return, PL 57-63.) 

33. By 2020, Theresa admitted that she knew that her name was on the land. 

(Theresa's Depo. pp. 15, 18.) 

34. Theresa admitted that she had seen the Warranty Deed that put her name on 

the ]and, Depa. Ex. 1, "a long time ago" before 2020. (Theresa's Depa. pp. 15, 

18.) 

35. Theresa knew that Desmond had debt when he died and had seen a 

bankruptcy attorney. She doesn't know how it was sorted out, she didn't help, 

and she doesn't know what Craig did about the debt. (Theresa's Depa. p. 19.) 

36. Theresa put a copy of the deed, where Michael got the land that is subject to 

litigation, in Michael's pickup. (Theresa's Depo. p. 20.) 

37. Theresa didn't do anything about paying real estate taxes or managing the 

farm once she knew her name was on the deed. (Theresa's Depo. p. 24.) 

38. December 31, 2020, Patricia listed $16,000 of rent on he r tax return. (2020 

Tax Return, PL 64-73.) 

39. March 20, 2021, Michael signed a divorce settlement with his wife and doesn't 

list an interest in ag land as an asset in his divorce. (Divorce Prop erty and 

Martial Settlement Agreement, PL 425-430.) 

40.On March 26, 2021, Patricia died. (AffidavitofCraig VanZee.) 

41. Michael admitted that he knew while his mom was alive what land she put his 

name on. (Michael's Depo. pp. 7-9.) 

5 
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STATEMENT: OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS Page 6 of 7 

42. Renl Palricia ret:eive<l, whit:h was reporle<l on her Lax relurns, was renl paid 

by Craig, even though Patricia had no land to rent after July 10, 2013. (See 

Affidavit of Craig Van Zee.) 

43. Michael assumed Craig was taking care of the farm debt. (Michael's Depo. p. 

12.) 

44. Michael brought up rent with his mom while she was alive. (Michael's Depo. 

p. 16.) 

45. Michael didn't do anything to assist with the land. (Michael's Depo. p. 9.) 

46. Michael learned from his siste r that his name was on the land. (Michael's 

Dcpo. p. 11.) 

47. Theresa talked to a lawyer after she saw the deeds but chose not to follow up 

with it. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 21-23.) 

48. Theresa knew her mom was renting out the farm ground. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 

29, 33.) 

49. Craig and Theresa didn't talk. (Theresa's Depo. pp. 32-33.) 

50. Craig a nd Michael didn't talk (Michael's Depo. pp. 13, 17-18.) 

51. Theresa talked to her mom about why Theresa was not on t he land. (Theresa's 

Depo. p. 18.) 

52. Theresa was told by her mom that Craig's name was on the land b ecause their 

dad had debt (Theresa's Depo. p. 18.) 

53. Theresa did not ask her mom for Theresa's share of the rent money. 

(Theresa's Depo. p. ~2.) 

54. Michael was told by his mom that his name was on the land. (Michael's Depo. 

6 
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STATEMENT: OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS Page 7 of 7 

55. Michael <li<ln'L ask for renl beL:ause he knew his mom nee<le<l Lhe money lo 

make payments on the debts. (Michael's Depo. pp. 8-9.) 

56. The current balance on Desmond Van Zee's debt that Craig is paying is 

$186,409.72. (Loan Status, Depo. Ex. 9.) 

57. Patricia cried to Pam about Theresa and Michael confronting Patricia 

concerning land that Theresa and Michael received. (Plaintiffs' First 

Supplemental Answers to Defendant's Interrogatories, No. 12.) 

DATED: This 6th day of October, 2023. 

SCHOENBECK & ERICKSON, P.C. 

By: /s/ Lee Schoenbeck 
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LEE SCHOENBECK 
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Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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(605) 886-0010 
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1 

2 

3 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

(vJHE?.EUPON, the f ollowirnJ proceedings were d ul y hac : ) 

CRAIG VAN ZEE, 

wa□ call ed a□ a witne□□ and, being fir□ t du l y 

sworn , was examined and testified as follcws : 

EX./:\.MI N.l'\.T IO~ 

BY MR . VOGEL 

Q Crai ,;_:i , would vcu j ust st3te your 

A My name lS Crai g Van :lee. 

Q Where do ycu live , Cra ig? 

A Mill e r. 

Q Is i t ckay if a call ycu Crai,;_:i? 

A Yeah . 

Q What ' s your address in Mi l le r? 

A 718 ~ast Second Avenue. 

Q 3ow l o ng have yoJ lived there. 

A I ca~nct tel l yoJ . 

name? 

17 Q Ten years? Twenty years? 

16 A I am sure it ' s a ,;_:icod fifteen . 

19 Q And before we ,;_:iet anyncre in depth , .1ave ycu had your 

2C de pos i t i on taken before? 

2 1 A ~o, s i r . 

4 

Q 

23 

I am s ure yoJ rret with Lee and he p robably explained some 

of t ~e rJles o f a de8osit i on. BJ t jJst bri ef l y , you're 

24 doin,;_:i a gocd j cb sc far , nake sure yo u let me f i nish the 

quest i cn before you 3nswe r . I f i t ' s a y es o r no answer , 
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5 

1 answer a y es or a no, rather t ha~ a jead shake or a ~n- h~m 

2 o r a h rrm- mrr . 

3 A Yee , cir. 

1 Q Okay. A~other, ~ot re a l l y a r u l e , bJt soneth ing I l i ke to 

ask i s if I ask you a q ues tion a~d you don 't u nd ers t a nci 

6 it , will ycu let ne knew? 

7 A Yes, s ir. 

E Q So i f 1 ask you a qu estion and you a ~swer it, 1 an goi ng 

9 to ass ume t ha t you u nderstood that qJest i on ; i s t hat f a ir? 

l C A Yes , s ir. 

1 1 Q Ar e y o u o n a ~y medi c a tio n s o r a nyt h i ~g tja t ' s going to 

make it difficult fo r you to understand what t he 

13 questicns 

1 4 A )To . 

15 Q -- a r e abou t t c day? 

1 6 A )To . 

17 Q And y o u Jnde rsta~d why we ' re here today taki ng thi s --

1E A Yes . 

1 9 Q -- depcsitio~? 

2C A Yes , I d o . 

2 1 MR. SCHO~NEECK: Make sure h e f i ~i s h es . 

THE WITN~SS : Okay . Scr ry . Sorry . 

23 BY MR . VOGEL 

24 Q And 1 will make sure , Cra i g , that 1 let you f i ni sh before 

I ta l k so that I ' n not ta l king over you . To pre9are fo r 
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6 

1 your deposition t oday, what d i e you do ? Lcok at any 

2 docume nt o? 

3 A Yeste r day, I did . 

1 Q What did ycu l cok at ? 

r:: _, A l\.ll t he pa~e rwcrk t ha t I ' n g etti :-ig t 'l rcw:1. aga ins t me . 

6 Q Can yo u ex r:: l ain a litt le b i t nore what t>1at :neans? T/Je r e 

7 they ycur anowero t o interrogator i es? We re they docunent 

2 prod-1 ction'.:' 

9 A ~xcuse me , b-1t wjat does t hat mean? 

l C Q We r e they the questions I sent your attor ney fe r you to 

11 answe r ? We r e they sane of the document s t hat yo ur 

att orney provided to n e? Wha.t -- what documen t s would you 

13 say? 

14 A Quest i cns and answers . 

15 Q J'.\.ny o f t :'le bank records ? 

1 6 A You 9ot all t hat I cou l d have or f i n ,j . 

17 Q I am as king if you reviff.vec any of t'lerr before today? 

1E A ::-Jo . 

1 9 Q Any of tie -- yo-1r father ' s orcbate fi l e f r o~ At torney 

2C =<l udt ? 

2 1 A 

Q Did you lock at any of the bankr-1ptcy f i le frorr At torney 

23 Carlon? 

24 A _\l o . 

Q =--row abcut any cf t he f i le -- and I do n ' t knm.,r i f I ' m 
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7 

1 pronouncing _Ji s :1arr.e r ight -- Attorney Redige r? 

2 A :?.i ght . 

3 Q I:::; t 1at _'1 0W you prcnounce i t? 

1 A Yes , sir . 

r:: _, Q Di d you lock at any of h i s file ? 

6 A )To, sir . 

7 Q P,ny of y our mother ' s n edi ca l records? 

2 A When l was taki rn:r he r to t he doctor , l got to see then 

9 all . 

l C Q Di d you l ock at them, any of t h em, i ~ preparat i o n fo r 

11 t oday? 

A 

13 Q Okay. So I want tc ge t a l i tt l e bit into your backgr ound, 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

1E 

19 

2C 

2 1 

23 

24 

Crai g . You menti o ned you ' r e net s ure h ow l ong you l i v ed 

at your address , but I want t o go t ack a l it t l e jit 

fa r t~er than that . 

Where did you graduate frcm h i gj sc~ocl? 

A Miller . 

Q What year wao t hat? 

A 1 97 6 . 

Q Di d you g o to any schocl ing aft er high schcol? 

A )To . 

O After high s chcol, did you work sorr.ewher e ? 

A 1 wor ked o n the farm until it was d ry that year a nd then _ 

went tc work on the road constru ct io~ . 
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1 Q Do you k:1ow what year t ha t woul d have teen a:;:>pro xirnat e ly? 

2 A ' ; 6 . 

3 Q Okay. So -- okay . So a fter hig~ □ c~ocl , you worked on 

1 the farm during t ha t year unt i l i t got dry a nd t hen you 

worked r oad constructicn? 

6 A :\ight . 

7 Q Di d you wor k on the farm other years? 

2 A ':i'es . 

9 Q Can you tell ne -- let ' s t ake it that -- sc as far as 

l C wor ki ng o n t~e far rr , what years d i d you work o n t he f arm? 

11 A ~ver s i nce I was srra ll. 

Q 

A 

After high schcol , wha t yea rs ciid yoJ work o n the farn? 

13 ~very day . 

14 Q Di d you eventually s top ? 

15 A 

1 6 

I mi ght ~ave stopped and workeci at a t i re stor e , but then 

I a l ways went c u t to the f ar~ . 

17 Q Are you stil l actively farming? 

1 9 Q All the farm groJnd, is i t curre~t l y rented? 

2C A Yes . 

2 1 Q Do you p_1t up hay e n any of i t, anyt1. ing like t ha t? 

') ~ 
'--- L A The grcu:1d t :1at I cwn , I do ::)Ut J P h ay . 

23 0 Whi c .1 g r ound wcul d t ha t :>e? 

24 A l t ' s called the },.oach ground . 

') " L, -..} Q And that -- is t1at grcund that you purc:1ase,j se9a rately 
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1 from land t hat your 8arent s had, t he Reach l and? 

2 A ~xpl a in bette r. 

3 Q Yeah, I will t r y that ag a in. The Roach land, tha t' □ not 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

1~ L 

1 3 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

l and t hat yo J recei ved f r om your rnetje r, i s i t ? 

Is tjat land that you purchasec? 

Yes. 

Uo you k:1.ow abe u t wha t y ear tha t was! 

)To . 

Are we t alkL1g 1 ) years ago? 

I ca:1.net g i ve yo --1 a stra i ght a nswer . 

Why lS t:1.a t? 

3 eca --1se I do:1. ' t knew . 

9 

14 Q Okay. So yo J rre~tioned you wor ked o~ t h e f a rn eve r y day, 

15 and i t ' s my Jnder s t anding your f at her passed away in ~997? 

1 6 A :?.ight . 

17 Q So --

1E A Yes. 

1 9 Q I' rn sorry . I cu t you eff. Fini sh w:1.at you '.vere going tD 

2C say . 

21 A I sa i d yes . 

') ~ 
'--- L Q So frorr 197 6 until 197 7 [sic] , you farrred wi t h ye>ur 

23 f a ther? 

24 A 1 was farmi ng wi th my dad before ' 76 . 

Q Sure . I arr j ust ta l king about frorr ' ?6 Jnti l ' 97 , y e>u 
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1 fa r med with your dad? 

2 A My d ad didn't f a rn fi v e yea rs be fo re he di ed. 

3 Q Okay. 

1 A I t ook care o f i t . 

r:: _, 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Wha t was the 

Most l y j -1st 

What t ype c f 

Cash c r op, 1 

And at L 1. a t 

time ? 

f a r ming O[ce r a tion? Cr ops ? 

c rcps l ate -- l a t e r . 

crop s ? 

call t h en , 2o r n, b eans . 

tirre -- you di cn't have t he 

Cat t l e ? 

?.oach l and at 

Q I t wa s j Jst -- a t t h a t tine i t wa s j Jst your fat he r ' s 

13 l and? 

14 A Ye s . 

lJ 

that 

15 Q So frorr ' 97 -- frorr '7 6 unti l ' 97 , d i d y ou U toTn a ny l ane ? 

1 6 A Say tha t aga i n . 

17 Q You bet . Fron 197 6 unti l 19 97 , di d you own any l and? 

1E A Yes . 

1 9 Q Whic i1. l a:1d would t hat hav e b een? 

2C A We c a ll i t ti e Harde s qua r te r . That ' s t i e nane of i t . 

2 1 Q Di d you buy tha t ? 

A I do~ ' t knew hew t c s ay this . I wcrked for dad anc we 

23 made the payment s en i t , but he pu t i t i 1 rry name . 

2 4 Q \Aiho -- w:1en you say "we :11ace t he payments ," 'tJere you 

p ayi ~g for i t ? Was i t con i ng ou t c f yc u r da d ' s fa rm 
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1 accoJnt ? Exp l a i ~ that to me . 

2 A Me -- rre a nd n y d a d N°a s 9 aying i t t o 1J ethe r o ut o f t h e 

3 farm . 

1 Q Was ther e cne accoun t? 

A Yes . 

6 Q Okay. A~d money fro~ t h e farn went i nto t hat ac2ount? 

7 A I assurre it's Da d' s acc o unt. 

E Q Uid you put any money into t ha t a ccoJnt l 

9 A )lo . 

l C Q And t h e :-Iarde s land, de you know who y cu pur chased it 

11 from? 

A =-rardes . 

1 1 

13 Q :-Iardes ? Ther e was a deed I f ound somewhere frcm some land 

14 

15 

that wa s -- y o u rec eiv e d fro~ a Deborah John son. It wou l d 

be t ~e Southeast Quar t er o f Section 13 . 

1 6 A That ' s t ~e sane grcu nd . 

17 Q So t ~at 's the Bardes land? 

16 A (Wit~ess ncds head.) 

1 9 Q Oh, okay . At some poi nt someone named Ba r des cwnec i t ? 

2C A That' s h er dad . 

2 1 Q That make s sense the n . Okay . Oka y . So as y o u' re 

you ' re farrri~g wit h your dad, yoJ said , abcut f i ve years 

23 be f o r e he ~a ssed away he wasn' t very act i vel y i nvol ved i n 

24 farmi ng ; is t hat accu ratel 

A 
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12 

1 Q I t ' s net accJrate? 

2 A Yes. I t -- I'rr sorry. No, he d i d not farrr. 

3 Q And >ww abcut how rrany acres , ot ~er than t h i s Ha r dee land, 

1 _,ow many acres were you anci your dad farmi ng dur ing t hat 

r:: _, farm pe riod? 

6 A I do:1 ' t knew. 

7 Q Would i t -- is it -- other t ha n the ~oac~ land t ha t you 

2 :1ave new, WO.Jld it h ave ::::>een the acres t:1a t you := u r r ently 

9 own other than ti1e Hardes and Ro a c h l and? 

l C A Say that again. 

11 Q You b e t. So the l ands tha t you and your dad wer e fa rni n•;J 

from 1976 unt il when ever he stopped , is it t he land that 

13 you cur r e ntly cw:, rrinus t he Roac~ and Hardes l and? 

14 A I'm sor ry, bJt you 're going t o have t o r epeat t ha t again. 

15 It a i n ' t ceming ou t r i ght . 

1 6 Q You bet . I ~ave deeds from land that yoJr mot her got 

17 after yoJr father passed away, deeded some t o Mi:=hael and 

1E Theresa , scme to yeu . YDu know abeu t all cf t ha t land? 

19 A Yes . 

2 C Q I s t --ie re any -- was a ll Df that l a nd tha t you current ly 

2 1 _,ave the l a nd that YDU were f a rming with vcur dad? 

') ~ 
'--- L A You mean new? 

23 0 The l a nd that yo..1 cu rrently have , was that t he lane t hat 

24 you were farming wi t h your dad frorr 1 97 6 until when he 

') r:: 
L, -! stopped ? 
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13 

1 A Yes . 

2 Q Okay. Okay . It's not l i ke a ft e r yoJ r dad passed away, 

3 your mcm d id:1 ' t purchase any new land , did che? 

1 A ~ o . 

5 Q Okay. Tja t was t he ques tion the r e . Sc you 're -- you --

6 

7 

it ' s safe to say ycu ' r e pretty fa mi li a r wi th t he fa r ~i ng 

operatio:1? 

2 A '{e s . 

9 Q Okay. A~d y ou ' re p r et t y f amil i a r wi th tje land t hat your 

l C mom a nd d ad owned? 

11 A Ye s . 

Q Okay. A~d you mentioned, a s part cf ycur work history, 

13 you wo rked at a t ire s ho8 ? 

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q What was the name c f that s h op? 

1 6 A OK Tire . 

1 7 Q Do you k:1ow approxima t ely hrnv rna~y years y c u wcrke c there? 

1E A ~o . 

1 9 Q Do you k:1ow approxi mately v,,-h en you worked t here? 

2 C A Oh , S l X or seven years a•JO I qui t . I h ad t o . 

2 1 Q Why l S t:1at? 

') ~ 
'--- L A I lost my knees . 

23 0 Okay . Di d you have knee s unJery? 

24 A r 'i ve t i mes . 

Q Okay. So un t i l abcut -- d i d you say f i ve er s i x years 
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14 

1 ago --

2 A :?.ight. 

3 Q -- you worked at OK Tire? 

1 A ?..ight . 

r:: _, Q l\.nd you don't --

6 A Yes . 

7 Q Sorry. I --

2 A ;:,orry. 

9 Q And yo u ,jon ' t know how l ong you'd wor ked t he r e before you 

l C quit ? 

11 A ~o . 

Q Okay. So f i ve or six years ago, we ' r e t alking about 2017 , 

13 2018 , is aroJnd when yc u s topped wcrking at OK Tire? 

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q Whil e yo...1 were working at OK Ti re , were you f arming or 

1 6 renting o ut the l a nd? 

1 7 A I was farming . I was fa rnin,;r mos t of it. I didn't rent 

1E ~oth ing o ut Jntil after Daci d ied . 

19 Q Okay. Were you wor k i ng a t OK Tire w_1en 

2C A Yes . 

2 1 Q So you worked a t OK Tire f c,r a w'.1 ile ? 

') ~ 
'--- L A Yes . 

23 O Full-time? 

24 A _\l o . 

Q We r e ycu eve r f ull - t i ne there? 
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1 5 

1 A )To . 

2 Q 3o i t wa s just a pa rt-ti~e? 

3 A I took of f wi en I wanted to . 

1 Q ~xpl a i n what ycu nean by t hat . 

5 A Whe n I had stuff tc do a t the f a rm, I didn't have to s hutJ 

6 --1p for wor k . 

7 Q Okay . Maybe this i s a b e t ter way t o ask it. ¼he n d i d you 

2 s tart leas ing the fa rn ground outl 

9 A 200 4. 

l C Q 3o fr oJT a:1d was t ha t -- d i d you -- di d you cwn t he 

11 :l.oac:1 l a :1d a t that poi nt? 

1~ L A )To . 

13 Q So L1 20J4 , t here was your pare nts ' land and t he Bardes 

14 land; i s that a ccurate ? 

15 A ?-.i gh t . 

1 6 Q Was a ll of t:1at l and rentec out i n 2J04? 

17 A I do:1 ' t knew . I arr goirn;i to say yes , tut al l cf Dad ' s 

1E farm groJnd :1ow was not farmed . It was sod. 

1 9 Q In 2 :J0 4 i t was ? 

2C A ?-.i ght . 

2 1 Q So a ll t>1e l a nd that vcur p arent s cw:1ed 

') ~ 
'--- L A )To . 

23 0 ~xpl a in it t o rre the n. 

24 A J:lart of i t was farrre ,j and part was sod . 

') " L,-! Q Do you k:10W approximately the spli t , as 
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1 don ' t need parcels right now, but acres . Hu.,r rru::::h wa.s 

2 .sod? How rruch was f arrre d? 

1 Q 3ut you be l ieve i n 2001 i t was a ll rented c u t ? 

5 A I do:1 1 t knew fer sure . 

6 Q Well , were you -- if ycu were active l y farrring it , what 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

would yoJ have b een doing? Raising cattl e? Put t ing up 

j ayl Ca .s h cropsl 

A I re~ted the pasture out t o other people. 

Q Okay. 

A And I t ook c a r e of t he f a rm grou~d . 

Q When ycu say "took care ," what do y o--1 rrean by t h at? 

A Farmed it . 

1 6 

14 Q Okay. So in two thousand -- and the land tha. t ' s a t i ssue 

15 ~ere that invo l ves Michael and Tjere.sa , you 're fa.n i l i ar 

1 6 wi th i t ' .s in Secticn 21? 

17 A :?.ight , yes . 

1E Q In 2)04 was that pasture? 

19 A I do:1 1 t knew fer sure . 

2 C Q At some point i t was pasture , correct? 

2 1 A Was past_1re when Dad died . 

') ~ 
'--- L Q Okay . 

23 A =-re had it re,ted o ut t c a. nothe r pers on . 

24 Q 'l'he p ast --1re'.:' 

') " L,-! A :?.ight . 
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17 

1 Q ~ventually , sorreone 6re ke it up ? 

2 A Ye s . 

3 Q Do you recal l who t ha t was ? 

1 A L&C ,l:\.cres . 

r:: _, Q So it wasn 't yeu? 

6 A )To . 

7 Q Do you k:1ow abeut when , ·.vhat yea r yo .1 wo.1l d have s topped 

2 acti vely farmi ng rai s i ng cro8s . 

9 A )To . 

l C Q Ten years ago? 

11 A I do~ •t knew the years . 

Q Okay. You have ~o recel lect i on of wien you stepped 

13 farming? 

14 A I haven 't stopi:::ed yet. 

15 Q What de you s till do? 

1 6 A Put ..lp hay . 

17 Q Okay. W1at land de you ::rnt up hay 0:1 ? 

1E A The :?.oac>1 ground. 

1 9 Q Okay. A:1ything e l se? 

2C A Jus t t he farm ' s ditc hes . 

2 1 Q Okay. Okay . Do vcu - - wha t -- the ~oaci ground, co vou 

know what sectio:1 t ha t ' s in? 

23 A )To . 

24 Q l f you saw a deed e r a lease , wo.1 l d you knew wh i :=h lane 

t he :?.oacj l a~d i s? 
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1 3 

1 A )To . 

2 Q 3o you don't know any c f t he lega l d escripti ons t o your 

3 land? 

1 A I gotta l ock at a too k, anc I COJ l d pick it out . 

r:: _, Q What kind cf bcok? 

6 A It ' s a book of Hand County . 

7 Q Like a p lat mar:: , p l at took? 

2 A ':i'eah, t ha t s iwws the landowners . 

9 Q Okay. Okay. Gett i n9 ta:::::k to the farni n9 that you d i d 

l C 

11 

well, actual l y back to your work. You said you worked at 

OK Tire part- time when you n eede d time off t o do s t u ff on 

the farm and j ust didn ' t have to gc i nto wcrk , correct? 

13 A ~i gh t , yes . 

14 Q Di d you work anY'AThere e lse o r have you? 

15 A Oh, I worked f er the fa L11er I work fo r now . 

1 6 Q Who i s L i.at? 

17 A Wagners. 

le Q Do you k:1ow abcut wh en ye>u started worki:1g for t hem? 

1 9 A I worked witi then when Dad was a live . 

2C Q So you ' ve worked fer the~ , woul d ycu say, e n a nd off since 

2 1 before your dad di ed? 

A Yes . 

23 O What ki nd c f wcrk do ycu do f o r them? 

24 A ~un corrbine, dri ve truc k . ~hey ' re gra i n f ar~ers . 

Q So i s i t seasona l ? 
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1 9 

1 A Yes . 

2 Q Do you help them pla nt a ny of the c rops ? 

3 A ::--Jow I do . 

1 Q When did ycu s tart t ha t ? 

r:: _, A I c a :1 guess. Five , s even -- yea'.1 , f ive o r s even y ear s 

6 ago , f u l l -ti me now . 

7 Q You 're f Jll-tirre wi t h t hen? 

2 A _--Zi ght. 

9 Q So -- and yo J sa id t hey -- do they h ave any livestock? 

l C 

11 

A 

Q 

A 

So t jey ' re j Jst a g r a i n farm --

Yes . 

1 3 Q -- cas h c rcps ? Okay . And you ' re f ul l-t i ne ';Ji th t he:-n nu""? 

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q 3ef o r e t j a t it wa s seasona l? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q Mainly dJ r ing harvest? 

1E A Yes . 

1 9 Q Okay. A:1y other errpl oyment you' ve h ad? 

2C A I ca'.1 1 t think c f nuc h rrore . 

2 1 Q So , so fa r we 1 v e get ycu worke ci at O~ Ti re part - time , you 

seasonally wo rked for ¼agners , a~d you h e lped cut on t he 

23 f a r m? 

24 A _--Zi ght , yes . 

Q And you' re not sJre , a s far as tje f arrr , ycur parents ' 
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2 J 

1 farm, when you stopped farming act ua l c rops ; i s that 

2 accura t e ? 

1 Q Okay. Here 's here ' s what I am going to do i s I have 

some d eeds h e r e . I wan t t o go t ~rcu gh t~e rr with you . We 

6 wi ll h ave then marked as exhi bit s . 

7 (Exhibi t 4 marked f or i d entificat i c n by t he 2ourt 

2 repo r ter.) 

9 BY MR . VOGE L 

l C Q All ri ght. Cr a i g , I arr handi ng you what's b een ~a rked as 

11 

13 

14 

15 

~xhib it 4 . What I wa.nt you t o do i s the r e ' s a t op a nd a 

bottom h alf, there ' s kind of a line divi d ing it . The 

bottom ha l f , i t a ppears to be a d eed from De~orah J o hnson 

t o -- let rre find i t he r e -- Cr a ig Van Zee. 

De yo u s e e t hat? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q And it i s for the Southeast Quarter of Section 13 . Do you 

see that ? 

1 9 A Yes . 

2C Q And i t ' s from February of 1 993 . De you see t hat a s wel l ? 

2 1 A 

Q 

23 

24 A 

Q 

(No r e spo nse .) 

About halfway down o n t h e bottom sectic n, there ' s a dat ed 

thi s b l a~k day o f Fe8ruary 1 993 . 

Uh , y es , 1 do . 

This wcu ld be fo r t h e Ha rdes l a nd? 
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1 A Yes . 

2 Q Ar e you 

3 A ~XCUGe me . 

1 Q P,nd you ' r e f ani l i ar wi t h -- are you f arri l i ar wi t h t hi s 

r:: _, deed? 

6 A )To . 

7 Q You ' r e f ami l i a r with thi s land ? 

2 A '{e s . 

9 Q Okay . k ld ti1i s 

l C A I d i d -- exc.1 s e me . I d id see t :~1is o ne titTe when I ',t,la S 

11 t a kL1g c are o f Dad ' s pape r work . 

1~ L Q Okay. Okay . 

13 (Exhi b i t 5 marked for ident i ficaticn by the ~ourt 

14 repo rter . ) 

15 BY MR . VOGEL 

1 6 Q All r i ght . You can set 4 aside , Craig . Here ' s Exhi~i t 5 . 

17 It ' s two pages marked FL 295 through 296 . J ust ta ke a 

minute t o look a t t h is , Crai•J , a :--id j .1st let :11e know ',/{hen 

1 9 you ' ve had a cha~ce to look at i t . 

2C A I l ooked at i t . 

2 1 Q Okay. A~d t i i s says i t ' s a wa r ranty deed and i t ' s from 

') ~ 
'--- L Patricia Van Zee tc Crai ,;r a nd Pamela Van Zee . Excuse me. 

23 I t ' s f rom -- l e t ne 8ack up . I t ' s frorr Pat r i c i a Van Zee 

24 to Patricia and Craig and .l:'a:ne l a Van Zee . 

') r:: 
L,-! De you s e e that ? 
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1 A Yes . 

2 Q And i t lists s e v e r a l p i e c e s of l and down i n the s e ction 

3 wh ere i t de□ cribe□ t h e l and. Do ycu □ ee t hat? 

1 A Yes . 

r:: _, Q l\.nd it' s d a t e d ,J_me 3 0 , 200 4 . Do yo_1 s ee th=1.t ? 

6 A Ye s . 

7 Q P,nd i n 2 :)04, vcur fat h e r had passed away, cor r ect ? 

2 A _-:le di ed in ' 97 . 

9 Q ~i g h t . And so have you seen thi s d eed b e f cre ? 

l C 

11 

A 

Q 

A 

I a m sure I ~ave, but I d on't r ecall i t . 

So you L 1in k ycu' ve s een it, b ut ycu dcn't k now ,vhen? 

~ight . 

13 Q Okay. So i n 2 004, as I l ook at t h a t , th i s de e d , it 

14 app e ars tha t ycur rrot h e r Pat ricia i s deeding l and t o 

15 i e r self, ycu, a nd you r wi fe . Do ycu see t hat? 

1 6 A ~ight . Yes . 

17 Q And t he r e ' s several li s t e d there a nd I we nt through it . 

22 

I t app ears tiat it ' s approxi~ately 920 acres of l and , give 

1 9 or take , i f -- does that sou nd r i g ht tc you? 

2 C A Yes . 

2 1 Q Okay. Do yo~ r emerrber i n 2004 conversations t hat you 

would have had wit h your nom aboJt h e r d e eded lan d to you 

23 a n d your wife? 

24 A _\l o . 

Q So y ou don ' t r emenber you r mon ta l kL1g wi th you abou t wh y 
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2 3 

1 s he was deeding l and tc you ? 

2 A All I c a :1 r emerrber one tin e :ue a :-id my rrom t a l ked about i s 

3 getting the land o ut o f he r name if □ orrethi ng happ en s t o 

1 s ee :1e r where she goes i nt o a nurs i ng home . 

r:: _, Q Do y ou k :'10W when tha t conve r s a tion h apr:; e :1ed? 

6 A 3 e fo r e t_1is . 

7 Q So b efcre 20J4? 

2 A '{e s . 

9 Q And t hen ycu unde r s t and that thi s deed , the l a nd i s sti l l 

l C in y our morr ' s name? 

11 A I t i s? ~ow? 

Q ~nder t h is deed , it i s . 

1 3 A Oh . Th is is whe :1 rre and Mom tcok e ver . I don ' t knu l'l f o r 

14 s u r e . Al l t i ree o f o u r name s were 0 :1 i t a t one t ime . 

15 Q Okay . Yes . Tha t' s -- t hat' s wha t t1.i s deed i s f r om ny 

1 6 readi ng o f i t . 

17 A :?.ight . 

16 Q I t appea r s to rre , and yo u can correct rre if I ' rr ~ r a ng , 

1 9 Crai g , after ycur father passed away, a l l t he l and, t he 

2C Van Zee fa rml and, wa s in your rrothe r ' s n an e onl y . 

2 1 De e s tha t sound r i ght ? 

') ~ 
'--- L A :\i ght . :Jot all . Th e Ha rdes quarter . 

23 0 That was yc urs ? 

24 A _-Zi g ht . 

') r:: 
L, -! Q Tha t wa s a l ways jus t i n your name acco rdi ng t o t ha t ,je ed , 
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1 -:::orrect ? 

2 A ~ight , yes . 

3 Q Ye□ . Yep . That ' □ right . But t j e re□t o f t he l a nd wa□ 

1 after yoJr father p assed away was j u st i~ yo u r mo t her ' s 

~ame fer a p eri od cf time? 

6 A I had to -- Dad ~ad l and in h i s ~arre only --

7 Q Okay. 

E A -- a~d Mom ' s name a n d h i s . 

9 Q Yep . 

l C A So I switc hed it a ll over t o Mom ' s w~en Dad died . So 

11 everyth i~g was i ~ Mo~ •s name . A~d tjen me and Mon c on e up 

wi th th i s deal . 

13 Q I n abo ut 2004? 

14 A I -- mus t ce , ye s . 

15 Q Okay. So yoJ sa i d you and Mon came JP with th i s dea l. 

1 6 

17 

Tell me abc ut what -- wha t was t~e pJr p o s e of doi ng t h is , 

wha t we s ee i n t j is d eed n arke c ~xhibit 5 . 

1 6 A Li ke I said , i t - - t o get i t o ut of ~er ~arre a nd somebod y 

1 9 e l se ' s name i f sonet hing happ ens t c ~er . 

2C Q Okay. A~d i t a p pears t h a t J i n Jon es an a tto r ney i n Mi l l e r 

2 1 draft e d th i s up, i n the top l e ft c c c1.e r? 

') ~ 
'--- L A Yeah, that ' s hi s n a me . 

23 0 Di d y o u ever neet with J i n Jones ? 

2 4 A Me a :1.d my rrom d i d . 

Q Okay. A~d you h a d convers a t ions wi t j him about d eeding 

Filed: 10/9/2023 9:02 AM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 332 -

App. 031 
29CIV22-000009 



AFFIDAVIT: OF LEE SCHOENBECK, AND EXHIBITS 1-31 - Scan 2 - Page 25 of 100 

25 

1 l and o ut of j ust ycur rro~ •s name into yoJ r nane? 

2 A Me a~d mom did. 

3 Q You and Morr iad conver□ations with hin? 

1 A Yes. 

5 Q And t he purpos e of d eed i ng it ou t cf her name wa s in case 

6 something happened t o her? 

7 A Yes. 

E Q Okay. A~d you u~ders tand that with this 1 x hi b i t 5 , the 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

A 

Q 

A 

land i s stil l in ycur rro~ •s n ame ? 

Yes. 

Okay. 

She j ust wanted anct he r name on there if scmething happens 

i t don ' t gc to tie State . 

14 Q Okay. Okay . I s ee what you're sayi~g . Okay . So you are 

15 f amiliar witi the d eed i n Exhibi t 5 t he n ? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q Okay. I arr going t o gc 6ack t o that deed , Exhi bit 5 . As 

I look a t this , and you can correct me if I ' ~ wrong , 

1 9 Crai g , a ll tie l and deeded , your mcm deeded to you and 

2C your wife a nd her , none of it was i n Secticn 2 1, correct ? 

2 1 A I s t ia t the grcu~d t hat we ' re arguin g with? 

Q Correct. 

23 A 

24 Q ~o your 

A 

i ~ 20J 4 , that land wasn ' t deeded to you yetl 
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1 Q That wa s a bad qJ est i on , s o your a nswer is b ad and that ' s 

2 

3 

my faul t . Ti at l a nd hadn 't o een deeded to you y e t, hac 

it? 

1 A ~ o . 

5 Q That's b e tte r. Do yDu know --

6 A =-i:e r --

7 Q Go a .1ead . 

2 A _-:I.er part --

9 Q Go a:1ead. I 'n sorry. I interrupted ycu . 

l C A It's undivided. 

11 Q Okay. 

A So sie deeded her p a r t t o me later . 

13 Q 

14 

Okay. A~d sie deede d -- s o in f r orr the t irre ycur cad c i ed 

. .mtil 20J4, your ncm was t he only cw1er of t he lane a t 

15 i ssue he re? 

1 6 A The ~orreplace . 

17 Q Is t ja t what yc u refer t o it a s? 

16 A The jorreplace , yes. 

1 9 Q I f I call i t that , you wil l know what I'm ta l ki ng ab -::::rnt? 

2C A ~ight . 

2 1 Q Perfect . I appreci a t e that. So f rom ' 97 

MR . SCHO~NEECK : Can we je off t ie reccrd a second? 

23 MR . VOGEL: Yeah. 

24 (A b ri ef d i scuss i o n was he l d o ff the recor d . ) 

BY MR . VOGEL 
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1 Q Okay. So t h e l a~d by t h e lake i s t h e l a~d t hat there ' s 

2 the disp--1t e abcut noN°? 

3 A Yee . 

1 Q That ' s w:, a t you call i t ? 

r:: _, A Yes . 

6 Q Th e land t h a t ' s in Exhibit 5 i s the _1orrep l ace? 

7 A Yes. 

E Q Okay. So l' m goi ng to tal k a bou t t h e la~d by t h e l ake 

9 

l C 

11 

~ow . From ' 97 u~t il ycur cad c i ed u~ti l a pp r ox i~atel y 

2 004 , yoJr mon was t h e o nly owner cf that p r operty , 

c o rrect ? 

A Yes . 

27 

13 

14 

Q And then eve~tual l y , she deeded t he prcpe rty t c -- sone of 

the p r c per ty t c i e rsel f a nd t o Mi c ha e l a~d Theresa , 

15 cor rec t ? 

1 6 A She tol d me s h e was . 

17 Q So you were farriliar with that? 

1E A Yes . 

1 9 Q Do you k:1ow wh en s he tcl d you t hat ? 

2 C A \Jo . 

2 1 Q Was it a r ound t he sa~e tine of t ie d e e d 1n Exhi bit 5 or 

23 A 3ef o r e . 

24 Q Okay. So yo Jr mon had t o l d you the land by the lake s he 

was goi ng to deed i t and p u t Mic jael and Theresa on i t as 
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23 

1 well? 

3 Q And t h en ycu nenticn ed eventually yoJr mon --

1 A She -- excuse rre . 

5 Q ~ventually your morr tock h e r i nt e r e st in t he l and b y t h e 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

lake and deeded it you ? 

Yeah, y es. 

Uo you k:1.ow arcff1.d when that was.:' 

)To. 

Okay. 

(Exhibi t 6 ma rke d f or identificat i cn by the c o urt 

r eporter . ) 

BY MR. VOGEL 

14 Q So b efcre yo J l ook at it, Craig , I'l l jus t let you know 

15 

1 6 

17 

19 

2C 

2 1 

23 

24 

A 

that the r e ' s sever a l pages stapl ed togeti e r here as 

~xhi b i t 6 , several deeds . They are ~ot 3ates s t anped . 

They are dee ds tjat we receivec frcm -- frcm Lee . So I ' l~ 

j ust have yoJ t a ke a ninute , look througi all cf t he~ , and 

t h en I' m just goi ng to as k sane questicns about these 

d eeds . 

Have yoJ h a d a chance to l ook a t a ll those , Cr a i g? 

Yes . 

MR . VOGEL: And off t he record f o r a second . 

(A b ri ef d i scuss i o n was he l d o ff the record . ) 

BY MR . VOGE L 
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1 Q Al l right . Craig , so Exhibit 6, I' ve we:1t th r cugh and put 

2 

3 

1 

A 

6 Q 

7 A 

2 Q 

9 A 

l C Q 

11 

13 

14 

15 

l ett e rs A througj Hon the page . And when I r efer t o a 

page , I wil l r efer t o a□ 6A, 6E, whatever the letter i □ on 

t he bottom . 

Yes . 

So you ' ve had a chanc:e to l ook at t h ese ? 

Yes . 

Are you farri l i ar wi t h t hese deeds'! 

I seen L 1.err befor e . 

Okay. We 'll just s tart a t the b egirL1.ing , so 6A lS f r om 

Sept e mbe r 16 , 20) 4 , a nd this is a deed t :,a t appears 'if'lhe r e 

Pat rici a ycur rrother deeds the Nor t hwest Quarter and the 

::-STort, Ha l f of t h e So u t hwes t Quarter of Secti on 2 1 t o 

i e r s elf and Mi chael . 

De you see t hat? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q And this is a r c u:1d t he s ane t i me a s th e deed in Exhi6i t 5, 

19 A 

2 C Q 

2 1 

') ~ 
'--- L A 

23 0 

24 

correct? 

Yes . 

So t , i s l and that 's deed ed to Pat r i cia a :,d Mi chael lS 

port i on o f t :,e lake land , the l a:1d by the l ake ? 

Yes . 

P,nd you testifi ed earlier your mom h ad talked with you 

that s he was gci :1g to do t hi s , to deed tji s l a nd l ike 

s he ' s do ing in Exhibit 6A? 

a 
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3J 

1 A 3ut keep her name en i t . 

2 Q Correct. And he r na:ne l S s t il l on it, you ca.n see? 

3 A ~ight . 

1 Q Okay. So yo..1 were a'l'1are of that? 

r:: _, A Yes . 

6 Q And you were aware t ha t she was going to deed so:ne o f i t 

7 t o Mi c ha e l? 

2 A ':i'es . 

9 Q And she was goi ng to deed so:ne of it tc Theres a? 

l C A Yes . 

11 Q Okay. I wi l l have you t urn t o 63 . I t ' s another warranty 

deed . A~d tiis is for the South Half cf t he Scuthwest 

13 Quart e r and t he So ut heast Quarter cf Sectic n 21 . 

14 Agai n , t hi s i s 8art of t he l a nd by t he l ake? 

15 A Yes . 

1 6 Q I s t~at what ycu ca l l i t , l and by t h e l ake , or t he l a ke 

17 land? 

16 A Land by the lake . 

1 9 Q Okay. A~d ti is deed, it appears t hat yoJr man is deeding 

2C the l and tc ierse lf a nd to The r e s a ? 

2 1 A Yes. 

Q Okay . A~d you were awa r e thi s was going t c t ake p l a Ge ? 

23 A Yes . 

2 4 Q And l i ke ycu nenticned , your ncm kept her na:ne o n t he 

l and? 
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3 1 

1 A Yes . 

2 Q Okay. k1d L,is wa s Se pt e nbe r 1 6th o f 2004 , is wh a t t he --

3 A Yeah, I cee that new there . 

1 Q I wi ll have you turn tc Exhibi t 6C . Sc ~x h i bit 6C i s 

anot'1er deed that's for the So ut :'1 Ha l f of the Southwes t 

6 

7 

Quarter and the Sout h Quarter of Secticn 2 1 . 

De you see t hat? 

2 A '{e s . 

9 Q And y o ur mctje r i s -- i s deedi n g h er undiv ided one - half 

l C interest in that real estate t c you ? 

11 A Yes . 

Q And t h is was on June 7, 2 010 , correc t? 

13 A I co-1 l dn ' t t e ll y o u -- I s ee that , b -1 t I d c n ' t kn ow f o r 

14 s ure. It rru s t be . 

15 Q Okay. A~d t:"li s l a nd that's describ ed in Exhi b i t 6C i s t h e 

1 6 l and that yoJr mothe r had prev i o J s l y deeded to h e r sel f and 

17 The r e s a , ccrre ct? 

1E A Yes. 

19 Q Okay. So as of the da t e of thi s deed in 2 01 0 , your ~ om 

2C :"lad d e e d e d a ll h e r i nt e rest i n t :"la t l and away, cor r e c t ? 

2 1 A That pcrticn, y e s . 

Q 

2 3 A 

24 Q 

That pcrt icn , ye s . 

:\ight , y es . 

So a t that p o int, y o u and 1 h eres a e a c h had a n un d i v i ded 

o n e - j a l f inte r e st i n the l and descri bed in Exh ibi t 6C? 
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3 2 

1 A Yes . 

2 Q And you knew t h a t? 

3 A Ye e . 

1 Q I wi ll h ave y ou turn anc it ' s two p age s , so Exh i b i t 60 

6 

7 

2 

9 

i s t je n o t a ry block, s c I'm go i ng t o hav e yo u t urn t o 

~xhi bi t 6E . And, agai n , t h is i s anothe r wa rranty deed . 

Thi s i s f or t h e )Jorthwes t Quart er and the Nor t h Ha lf o f 

t he ~o uL rwe s t Quarte r cf Sect ion 2 1. 

De yo u s e e t hat ? 

l C A Yes . 

11 Q This is the o t h e r portio n of the l and b y t he l ake , 

corre ct? 

13 A Yes . 

1 4 Q And i n t ~i s d e e d , you r mother Pat r i c i a i s dee d i n g an 

15 . .md i v i d ed c ne - h a lf i nterest i n t ja t rea l estate t o you , 

1 6 Crai cr? 

17 A Yes . 

1E Q And frcm the date cf this , this was on JJne 7 , 2 0 ~0 ? 

1 9 A Yes . 

2C Q Th e l a nd d escr i bed i n Ex hibi t EE i s t h e l and ycur mo~ h a d 

2 1 previ o us l y deeded t o herself and Mi cjael, c o rrect ? 

A Ye s . 

23 O And you knew tha t ? 

24 A 'f es . 

Q Okay. So as of June of 20 10 , t h e l a~d tjat ' s descri~e t in 
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1 6E , your mcm nc l onge r had an interest i~ that l and, 

2 corre ct? 

3 MR. SCHO~NEECK : I will object to t he for□ of t he 

1 questicn . Witness can go ahead and answer. 

THE WITN~SS: Say t ha t a ,::1ain new, ~ l ea s e . 

6 BY MR . VOGEL 

7 Q Yeah, sure . ~cu r rro~ had deeded a ll her i n t erest in t he 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

land descr i bed i~ 6E tc Mi c h ael and t o you as cf June 7 , 

20 1 0? 

Yes . 

And you were awa r e o f t h at? 

Yes . 

,I:\.nd you knew Mi c :,ae l owned that l and described in EE with 

you? 

15 A Yes . 

1 6 Q Okay . Can you tel l ~e , Cra i g , w~en the deeds i n 6C anc 6E 

17 

19 

were sig~ed by your ~orr in 20~0 , what co~versation s you 

:-1ad with her aco--1t why she was now relinquis h ing al l of 

~er i nterest in that l and? 

2C A I t wasn 't fo r the sa~e reason , bJt i f s omethi ng happe ned 

2 1 

23 

24 

to her it woJldn ' t go f ully t o t ~err where thev cou l d se l l 

it free of nothi:1g , you know, free of Dad ' s debt . That' s 

why we left t wc ~arres en it. 

Q ~xplain that t c me , you ~ean sell it free cf Dad ' s debt . 

A We ll , if they h ad t h eir names on it on l y 
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1 Q ~ight . 

2 A -- t jey c o u l d s e ll it a nd i t jus t b e fr e e . Th i s wa y t h e y 

3 

1 

6 

got e x tra name o ~ i t , t h ey can ' t cell i t until a ll three 

of u s a gree . An d Mo ~ wa nt e d t h i s l a~d t o stay i n t he 

gro u p to he l p p a y Dad's d ebt. So t h a t's wha t we did it 

f o r . 

7 Q Okay . So that's why -- why d i d she p ut it i n you r n ane 

2 

9 

and ~o t jus t keep he r n a ~ e on it i Di d s j e tal k t o you 

abo u t t h at? 

l C A She j u s t wanted ever y t hi ng out o f he r name . If s ome t h i ng 

11 

13 

i1appe n s t o h e r, t h e r e woul c n' t be a big brawl. 

Q A b i ,:;i wh at? 

A ,"G,, f i ght . 

14 Q Okay. A~y o ther ccn versation s you h ad with y o ur nom 

15 

1 6 

17 

1E 

1 9 

2C 

2 1 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

aro u~d t i e tine o f t he deecs i n ~x hibit 6C a nd 6E ? 

I'm sure there wa s , '.JUt I c a n 't rerrember . 

Any convers a ti c ns a bout her d eedi ng land t c you ? 

We agreed e n t his . She orought it u p . 

Okay. 

I d idn ' t . 

So you r morr brc u g h t up d eec ing t je land t o y ou ? 

:\i ght . 

23 O Okay . Yo u me n t i oned -- a nc we 'll get t o Da d ' s deb t . But 

2 4 y o u me nt i o n e d p a rt o f t he ra t i o na l e was s o t h a t Mi c h a e l 

a nd Ther esa could n ' t sel l t h is l a nd , c c rre ct? 
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1 A Yes . 

2 Q Why di dn 't si1e want t hem t o have cen t r el o f the land? 

3 A 3ecaJ□ e of Dad' □ d ebt . 

1 Q 3 ow much debt did y o u r Dad -- wa s t h ere of your d ad ' s as 

o f 2 010 ? 

6 A I ca~nct t e ll yoJ . 

7 Q Okay. As c f 20 1 0 -- and I' m re f err i ~g to a ll cf t h e l a nd 

2 

9 

l C 

1 1 

13 

1 4 

by t je l ake ~ow, Mi c hael ' s , r he r e sa ' s , yours -- we r e t he r e 

a ny mort gages tied t o t ha t lane? 

A ~o . 

Q Any li ens en t h a t l a nd ? 

A ~o . 

Q Were t he r e a~y l i ens o r ~ortgages en t h e hemep l a~e --

A Ye s . 

15 Q -- as c f --

1 6 A Yes . ¼hen I teak i t over , yes . 

17 Q 3ecaJs e in 20 04 , ycu tcok over -- yoJ and your mon -- your 

1 9 

2C 

21 

23 

24 

mom dee d ed tje honeplace land to yeu and her , correct? 

A :1i g ht , yes . 

Q And ther e wer e mor t g ages or lien s e n i t at t hat ooint ? 

A Yes . 

Q What was that associated wi t h? 

A I coJ l dn ' t really t e ll you f or s J r e , but Dad had one he l l 

of a debt aga i nst i t . 

Q Did i t have to do wi th you r dad purcjasi~g t hat land , t h e 
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1 

2 A ~o . He just -- God, what year was t i at ? You p robably 

3 know he :1.ad to file oankruptcy . 

1 Q I do know that , yep . 

A ' 76 was a dry year . The n h e was behi nd. ¼hen I took i t 

6 ove r , he was getting fcr ecl oset on . 

7 Q When yc u teak what over? 

E A Me a~d Mom t ook the land over . 

9 Q What year wo..1ld that have been? 

l C A Well, i t was~•t me and Mon . I t wa s me. It was stil l 

11 

13 

14 

Mom ' s l a ~d wi e n I s tarted he l p ing her cut . And we got i t 

going wher e they ccu ldn ' t sell it . I we~t and got a 

banker , got i t going , and that 's whe ~ l ater on Mon decided 

t o pJt t ~e l and i n my na~e. 

15 Q Thi s was after your dad died? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q So aft e r ycur dad di e d , there was talk of foreclosure on 

the jorreplace la~d? 

19 A A l ot cf i t , yes . 

2C Q 3ut ~ot on tie l ake -- land oy tie l ake ? 

2 1 A 

Q 3ecaJs e that n ever had any l iens or mortgages en it? 

23 A 

24 Q 'l'hat was a bad q..1es t i on . For as l cn9 as ycu know, has t h e 

l and by the l ake had any l iens or rrortga9es on it? 
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1 A )To . 

2 Q It was o~l y the jorreolace land? 

3 A Yee . 

1 Q And the jorrepl ace land when you ' r e t al ki~g about Dad ' s 

debt , hi s d e bt was t i e d to the home p la c e l and t hrough a 

6 mortgage or sorre scrt cf lien? 

7 A Yes . 

37 

E Q And all of t j e h oneplace land, your morr deeded to you and 

9 j e r and then eve~tually just to y o u, ccrrect? 

l C A Yes . 

11 Q Okay. A~d a ll tje d ebt was t ied tc tha t l and t hrough a 

lien or mortgage? 

13 A Yes . 

14 Q Okay. I wi l l have you t a ke a l ook at 6G . And , Crai•;J, 

15 th i s l S a quit c l a i m deed that -- f or the Nor t hwest 

1 6 1,2uarter and the So ut h Ha l f of ::ectio:1 21. 

17 De you see that ? 

1E A Yes . 

1 9 Q And i t it ' s a deed frorr you to yoursel f and you r wi fe 

2 C Pamel a , correct? 

2 1 A Yes . 

Q And it ' s from August 25th of 2 015 . Do you see t ha t ? 

23 A Yes . 

24 Q So -- and thi s perta i ns this d eed i s for all o f the 

l and by the l ake , correct? 
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1 A I COJl d n ' t tel l you. 

2 Q Why can't yoJ t e ll me ? 

3 A I d o:1 1 t knew the description of all of t:1at land b y t he 

1 l ake . 

5 Q Was a ll the l and by t he l a ke i n Sectio n 2 ~? 

6 A I COJldn 't tell y o u . 

7 Q 3ow many acres are U 8 t here? 

E A three q u a r ters. 

9 Q Okay. So apprcxinat ely 480 acres ? 

l C A Yes. 

11 Q And if you l ook at t his, we have t he Nc r thwe s t Qu a rte r 

whici woJld be approxirratel y ~60 acres , right ? 

13 A ~ight . 

14 Q And then we i ave the Scuth Hal f whici woJld ae 

15 approximatel y 32) acres , correc t ? 

1 6 A :?.ight . 

17 Q So t j a t 's 48J acres i n Section 2 1 , corr ect? 

1E A Yes . 

19 Q 3o does t hat appear to be the l a~d by t he l ake? 

2C A Yes . 

2 1 Q And wha t was the purpo se of d eeding i t fro rr y o urs e lf to 

23 

yourself a nd ycu r wi fe -- or at leas t yoJr i nterest in it 

from ycursel f t o ycurself a n d yo.1 r wi fe ? 

24 A Jus t in c ase scmething h appens t o rre . 

Q Okay. Tjat ' s wh at I f i g ured . I j us t wa~ted tc ask you . 
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1 A Yeah . 

2 Q 3o -- and a s of 2 014, you we r e s t ill aware t ha t Mi chael 

3 and There□ a iad an intere □ t i n portion□ of t h i □ l a nd, 

1 correct? 

A Yes . 

6 (Exhibit 7 ma rked fo r ide ntif i caticn by the 2ourt 

7 reporter . ) 

2 BY M.k. VOGE L 

9 Q I' ll h ave y o ..1 take a lcok at Exhi bit 7 Cr a i c:i . ' , 

l C A Okay. 

11 Q ::-Iave ycu h a d a c _1ance t o l ook a t it? 

1~ L A Yes . 

1 3 Q Okay. kid Exhib it 7 lS a c u it c l a i m deed . Do you see 

14 that ? 

1 5 A Yes . 

1 6 Q And i n t ~e portion wh ere i t descr i be s l a~d be ing deedec , 

17 there ' s a few diffe rent ~ arcel s there . Do you see t hat? 

1 6 A (No response. ) 

1 9 Q I t starts with tie Nort h Ha l f of t he Ncrthwe s t Quarter o f 

2C Section 1? 

2 1 A Yes . 

') ~ 
'-- L Q So t1is deed ar:;pears t c .8e a deed fron you r J1o ther to you 

23 and your wife Famel a . Do you s ee t h a t ? 

24 A 'f e s . 

') " L,-! Q And i t ' s from May 22nd of 201 3 . That ' s 
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1 of L 1is. 

2 A Ye s. 

3 Q Okay. A~d you can look i f you wan t , but a□ I look at 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

1E 

19 

2C 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

~xhibit 5 , wjich was t h e warranty deed wjere ycur mo~ 

d eed ed l a nd frcm her tc hersel f and you, and t he n I l ook 

at Exhibit 7 whe r e she ' s deedi ng land fron he r inte r e s t 

in land f rem hersel f te you anc your wife, i t appears that 

it' s the same l egal descript ions 1n both o f thes e deeds , 

~xh i b i ts 5 a~d 7 . They are la i d o ut a l ittle b i t 

d iffe r ently in for rrat . 

Exhibit 5. I t hink you ' r e locki ng a t 6 , t here , 

Craig . Yeah, righ t ther e . 

I did not draw t,ese ui::; . 

)To, I unders tand that . 

So I den ' t k:1.ow what --

Just t he first p a ge of Exhibit 5 . 

Oh , righ t h e r e . 

As I review the legal descr i otio:1.s L1. Ex:-1ici t 5 anc 

~xh i b i t 7, tjey appear to be the same l egal descripti ons , 

al l of t , err? 

21 A Yes . 

Q Okay. So it l eaks l ike in 2 0~3 your nem deeded a l l of h er 

23 i nter est in the ~orre8l ace out o f her na me t o yeu a nd your 

24 wife . Does that seund a 2curat e l 

A Yes . 
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1 Q Do you remember conversa t i on s yo-1 had wi t h your :norn a.rou nd 

2 2013 aboJ t w~y sie wa s doing that ? 

3 A The rea□on wa □ if □o~ething happe ned tc ier , if □ he goe □ 

1 in a he me , tiey wo uldn ' t c ome a nd ge t it. 

5 Q Okay. So she wa~t e d the l and all c u t cf h e r n ame ? 

6 A Yep . 

7 Q So as I've l ooked a t -- a.s we ' ve l eaked at all t he d eecis 

2 

9 

thro J gh these exiib its here, i t app ea r s a s o f May 2 01 3 

your mcm nc longer h a.s any of the la~d i~ h e r na~e? 

l C 

11 

A 

Q 

A 

Yes . 

That ' s a ccurate ? 

Ye s . 

13 Q I t ' s a ll in your name a nd your wife ' s er y c ur wife ' s n ame 

14 and either Michael and Ther e s a? 

15 A Yes . 

1 6 Q And you were awa r e of a l l t ha.t ? 

17 A Yes . 

le Q Wha t was y c u r !Tom ' s h e a l t h l i ke in 2 '.L3 , i f you r erne J1ber? 

19 A I do~ •t t hink it was t hat bad yet . 

2 C Q Okay. A~d I h av e n ' t as ke d this yet , b ut ycur rro~ p a ssed 

21 away i n 2021, corre ct? 

') ~ 
'--- L A That wc ul d b e , w>-1a t, thr e e yea r s ? 

23 0 J\bo ut t wo and a 1a lf y ears a •J O, I t hi n k . 

2 4 A 'f e s . 

') " L, -! Q =-i:ow old was s he? I •~ go ing to p -1t y o u o:, 
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1 A Well, she was corn i n '33. 

2 Q Wha t mcnth wa s s_1e bor n? 

3 A ::--Jovember . 

1 Q Okay. I dcn ' t -- I an not good a t math , Cra i g . So she 

was born in 1933 a nd di e d i n 2 02 1 ? 

6 A ~ight , yes . 

7 Q Okay . So if ny ma t h i s ri ght, s:ie wasn't qui t e 90 y e t , 

2 s he woul d ce 88 '! You do n't know fer s u r e '! 

9 A :'-Jo . 

l C Q Okay. 

11 

1 3 

(Exhi bi t 8 ma r ke d f or i dentificat i c n by t he cour t 

r eporter . ) 

BY MR. VOGEL 

42 

14 Q One more here, t i i s i s Exhibi t 8 , Craig, i t ' s a quit c l aim 

15 deed . I t' s twc pages . J us t t ake a minu t e t o l ook at 

1 6 that , p l ease . 

1 7 A Okay. 

16 Q You ' v e had a cha:ice to l ook at Exhibit 8? 

1 9 A Yes . 

2C Q And thi s i s anc tie r de ed , i t ' s a qui t c l a i ~ deed , and the 

2 1 l ega l de scriptio:i i n this i s t he West Ha l f of t h e 

::--Jort1west Quarte r c f Section ::_3 , Tcw:1ship 115 , Range 67 . 

23 De you see t ha t? 

24 A 'fes . 

Q And i t ' s dated J J l y 1 0 , 20 13 . Do yoJ see that ? 
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1 A Yes. 

2 Q And it's a q Jit clai~ d eed f r om your nctie r to you a nd 

3 your wife ramela . Do you □ ee tha t ? 

1 A Yes . 

5 Q Was t h is seme l a~d t h at your nom miss e d i n d eeding over to 

6 

7 

you or w_1at -- do you know why t :-iere ' s a separate ceed f or 

this cempared to Exhibit 7? 

2 A _-:low many acres i s t h is'.:' Do you knew.:' 

9 Q 3alf of a quarter, I bel i eve , i s 80 , thereabouts . 

l C A Yeah, she rrissed it. 

11 Q Okay. Was tiis part of the homeplace? 

A It ' s three miles fro~ it . 

13 Q Okay. W-ien we ' re ta l kirn;J about t he :,orrepl ace and t he land 

14 by t ie la ke, hew far are t hey apart, the land? 

15 A I do:1 1 t knew . Eight te t e n :ni l es . 

1 6 Q Okay. So the l a~d described in ~xhibit 3 is abou t three 

17 miles from t:-i e hone place ? 

1E A Yes. 

19 Q Okay. Do yoJ stil l cons ider it part of the horreol ace land 

2C or was t i i s sorrethin g separat e ? 

2 1 A ~o. I t ' s the homepl a ce, Dad ' s . 

Q Okay . So the la~d in Exhibit 7 and the land in Exhiji t 8 

23 are what ycu refer to as t he h omepl ace? 

24 A 'fe s . 

Q All right . And if my rrath i s right , i t ' s about a t h o usand 
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1 acres , g ive or take? 

2 A Yes. 

3 Q Does that co.md abcu t ri,:;;iht from ycur knowledge of the 

1 farm? 

r:: _, A Yes . 

6 Q Okay. k1d t:1en the land by the lake is apr:;roximatel y 

7 480 acr es 

2 A ':{es . 

9 Q -- g i ve or take? So we 're tal kL1g L1e land that was your 

l C 

11 A 

famil y ' s land is net quite 150 0 acres? 

Yes . 

Q 

A 

And t hen the Hardes land was separate la:1d of yours? 

13 Yes . 

14 Q P,nd :--10w the :\Oa c>1 land is se:=ia r ate land of y ours as ·.vel l ? 

15 A Yes . 

1 6 Q Okay . k1y other lan,d t ha t you own ? 

17 A )To . 

le Q What aco--1t your wife , any other l a nd that she cwns ? 

19 A That ' s a ll hers . 

2C Q Okay. I s t here any other? 

2 1 A My wi fe owns scme . 

') ~ 
'--- L Q Okay. Do yo ---1 know a80Ut how nany a c r es? 

23 A I thi nk it' s ::_ 60 . 

2 4 Q Ukay. Would she kno'N cetter tha:1 yo---1'! 

A Ye ah, I ' d say , because I don ' t ask her . 
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1 Q Okay. Fair enc ugh . I aT1 j ust aski ng wha t you know, 

2 

3 A That ' c not i ~vclved in the f arm, mine . 

1 Q Okay. A~d tje l and in Exhi b it 8 , t h e reasc n f e r your mo~ 

transfe rring that land to you , is t hat tje sane reas on she 

6 trans fe r red the land? 

7 A Yes. 

E Q And l asked you a qu e s tion earlier, i t probably wasn ' t 

9 

l C 

11 

totally r ight. So now as o f J uly 1 0 , 2 01 3 , frc m ny rev iew 

of all t :-1ese deeds , it a:;:,pears your mo!T _-1as now deeded any 

inte r est s he has in a ny o f the Van Zee land to you , your 

wi f e , and Mi chael and The r e s a? 

13 A Yes . 

14 Q So a s cf that date , she no l onger had any cwne rshi p 

15 inte r est in any real estat e tha t we ' ve ta l ked a bout her e 

1 6 today; i s t ha t cor re2t ? 

17 A Yes . 

1E Q And you were aware of t ha t ? 

19 A Ye s . 

2 C Q And I d i dn't n enticn thi s ea r l i e r, Cra ig. I f you need a 

2 1 break a t scme ~oi nt, l e t ne know. I will just try to 

') ~ 
'--- L finis h t>le q Jestio ns I a:1\ a s ki ng . I ' n not --

23 A That ' s fine . I ' m f ine . 

2 4 Q ':c' ou 're good f o r :-10w'! 

') " L, -! A Yes . 
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1 Q Okay. I want to talk to you aboJt wjat you ' ve been 

2 r e f e rring to as Dad's d e~t a nd t je payrre~ts you' v e be e n 

3 maki~g o~ it . 

1 (Ex hibi t 9 marked for ident ificat i cn by the court 

5 r e port e r. ) 

6 BY MR. VOGEL 

7 Q Crai g , I've ~anded y ou Exhibi t 9 . I~ the bottcm l eft 

2 

9 

corner you will see a f L 30 1 , t hat' s what we cal l a Bates 

stamp . This i s a d o::::urrent I r ece i ve,j fron your attorney 

l C 

11 

Lee throJ gh d i scover y . I wi ll have you take a l ook a t 

that. 

1~ L A Yeah, I locked at i t . 

13 Q Okay. Ar e you fanil i ar 'Ni th this --

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q -- document? I t says it' s f r o rr Frcnti er Bank? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q Where is Fro:--itier Eank located? 

1E A :::-Jebraska. 

19 Q Where a t in :::-Jebras ka d e you dea l wi t-1? 

2C A (No r esponse .) 

2 1 Q I s t '1e r e a t own o r a city? 

') ~ 
'--- L A Pender . 

23 O Pender , ~e braska? Is t here a per scn that you dea l wi t h at 

24 that bank '? 

A Troy . 
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1 Q Do you k:1ow Trey ' s last name ? 

2 A :'-Jo. 

3 Q Okay. So Troy at Fronti er Bank i n Pender , Neb r a s ka? 

1 A Yes . 

5 Q As I leok at this do2 urre n t , i t h as you r ~arre , Fa~e l a 's 

6 

7 

~ame , a n d yoJ r mothe r Patr i c ia ' s n ame en it unde r t he 

maili n g label. Do y o u see t h at? 

2 A '{es. 

47 

9 Q We loo k ,jown at t h e loan t o d a te, it leoks l i ke on J une 9, 

l C 

11 

2 010, there was a p ri nc i pal adva ~ce on t~e loa n o f 

$375 , 000? 

1~ L A What d ay? 

13 Q June 9 , 2010 . 

14 A :?.ight. 

15 Q So ti1e origi :1al aneunt of thi s l oa n was $37 5 , 0 0 0 . Does 

1 6 t hat seu~d rig h t ? 

17 A Yes . 

16 Q Is tjis the loan t hat is associated with what you refer to 

19 as Dad ' s debt? 

2 C A Yes . 

2 1 Q Di d you _1.ave a l oa n a t a d iff e r e~t b an k 

') ~ 
'--- L before t>liS o n e ? 

23 A Yes . 

2 4 Q \A/h e r e wa s tha t at '? 

') " L, -! A Mill e r . It ' s call e d the Quoin Ban k . 
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1 Q I s L 1at the one that ' s s 9 e l l ed, like , Q-"J-C-I-N? 

2 A Yeah, y e o. 

3 Q That ' c p r ono __ m ced Quoin like a coin? 

1 A Yes . 

5 Q Okay. I just didn ' t knu,IV ex3ctly how to p ronoun :::e it . 

6 Sc be fore 2J~O , thi s 

7 A I we~t t o another b ank a fter that t oo . 

E Q After Quoinl 

9 A Yes . 

l C Q Well, I wi l l back up -- ~aybe we 'll ba ck up a little bit. 

11 

13 

14 

Bo Dad ' s debt , j Jst wa l k n e thro J gh your unde rstandi ng o f 

_,ow Dad ' B debt cane abeut and how y o--1 and your mon r epaid 

i t , wher e yo J got l oans t hrough . Juot, I am l e a king fo r a 

timeline as best ycu can g i ve me, Craig . 

15 A Well, when Dad died, I got everythi ng t ogethe r from Dac's 

1 6 

17 

1E 

1 9 

2C 

paperwcrk , hi s debts , his b i lls . And then , see , ne anc 

Mom sa t down and f i g ured out whe r e what we coul c do . 

3o I sta r ted leaking fe r a bank to hold onto t he far~ 

becaJ se we wa s gonna -- the bank -- one bank t e l d us t o 

start se llirn;i- . 

2 1 Q Do you k:1.ow whi c:'1 b a n k tha t ',!Va s? 

A It was t~e QJ oin Bank . They wanted JS to sel l a counle 

23 quarters . 

24 Q And thi s was a r oJnd the t ime vour da d diedl 

A After . 
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1 Q Okay. 

2 A Me a :1d Mom didn't t a ke over the f arm until a f ter Dad died. 

3 Q ~ight . That '::; w:, at I am t a lking abo--1t . 

1 A ~ight . So me and Mo:n sat CUtJn, we p --1 t soneth i ng toget her , 

and I had to throw my qua rt e r of l and in t hat wa s c lear . 

6 Q Is t j at the 3ardes? 

7 A ~i ght. And it would n ake i t work t o take a l oan out to 

2 keep the farm going . 

9 Q And I'rr go ing to s t o8 you. When ycu say " keep t he farm 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

1E 

19 

2 C 

2 1 

') ~ 
'--- L 

23 

24 

going ," is t_-iat b e c ause --

A We could make the paynents. 

Q 3 ecaJ se s orre of this debt was tied to la~d, :nean1ng land 

was mort gaged and t hey were threateni ng to for eclose on 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

that land? 

Yes . 

3ut the land by the la ke was not -- they neve r t hreatened 

foreclcs--1re on L1at , did they? 

::-Jo. 

That was a bad q--1est i on . Did t he ever t:,reaten 

forecl cs--1re on t,a t land? 

::-Jo. 

Okay . Keep QO in<:J t hen . I want to s t op you for a se8ond, 

tho ugh , be c aJ s e you :nent i oned Quo in 3ank and ycu said that 

was a while after your dad had passed . So i n ' 97 after 

your dad passes away, t he r e ' s some d ebt , scme cf his debt 
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S J 

1 i s s t i ll ou tstanding? 

2 A Ye s. 

3 Q And you didn' t go to Quoin Bank Jnti l □everal year□ a f te r 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

that -- after yoJr dad' s death? I am just t r y i ng to get a 

timeline of jow t h i s d ebt ca~e about . Was i t t hrough 

purcjasi~g l and? Was it t hrough purchasing equipnent? 

::-row your d ad acc_mul a ted t his cebt , i f you know? 

MH. SCHO~N~ECK : l a~ going t o ObJ ect t o t h e fe r ~ of those 

mult i ple questio ~s . And ask t hat yoJ as k the wi t ness one 

qu e s t i cn . T~e r e was a bo ut five i n a rcw t h e re. 

MR . VOGEL : Well, I just want h i m t o a nswer ~y l ast on e . 

MR . SCHO~NEECK : Okay . Tl'lhat ' s t ja t one? 

MR . VOGEL: Woul d you r ead it back , :<e lli ? 

(The reqJe s ted portion was read back by the 2ourt 

r epor ter . ) 

THE WI TN~SS : I assu ~e , I' m not s u re , l a~d that he 

purcjas e d . And then he had li ke three years ' ba2k t axe s 

1E on it . 

1 9 BY MR . VOGEL 

2C Q I s t ja t land taxes ? 

2 1 A ?,.i ght . 

MR . SCHO~NEECK: ~cu cut h im off . Are you d one answeri n g 

23 i t ? 

24 tHE Wl ~N~SS : Sorry . So rry . 

MR . VOGEL : Sorret i rres i t ' s hard to tell , Lee . 
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1 

2 

3 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

BY 

Q 

A 

Q 

5 1 

MR . SCHO~NEECK : Okay . Wel l, I'll j J st iel p h im here . 

You cu t iirr o ff. 

THE WITN~SS : Okay . 

MR. VOGEL: Okay . You can finis i yoJr a~swer . 

THE WITN~SS: Ask rre aga i n, 8 lease . ~cu said --

MR . VOGEL : The questicn he was answering that I t hought 

~e was done with. 

(t he reqJested portion was read back by the court 

reporter . ) 

MR. VOGEL: And would you read back what he had f o r an 

answer so far? 

(The reqJested portion was r ead back by the court 

reporter . ) 

MR . VOGEL 

So fi n i s:1. yo..1r a :1.swer if you need to . 

I' d say whic_1. cne? On the taxes? 

The one on how your dad accffnulated the ,ject . 

le A Oh , I I don ' t know tecausa t hat was b ack i n ' 97. Al l -

19 know, rre and ny morr out something to,:;rether to rra ke i t 

2C work . 

2 1 Q You d i d menti on sorreth in•:J about t hree years ' bdck tdxes , 

') ~ 
'--- L right? 

23 A Yes . 

24 Q \Ala s that back real estate taxes '! 

') " L, -! A Yes . 
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52 

1 Q Di d >1e owe a :--iy back taxes , as far as li ke i n2orre taxes 

2 

3 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

tha t ycu ' re awa r e cf? 

Do you k:--iow 1.ow much the b ack taxes we r e ? 

::-Jo. 

Do you k:--10w if t1.ese back taxes wer e associa t ed 'Ni t h a l l 

o f t.1.e land that he owned o r j ust r::;ortio :1.s o f i t? 

1 a m gcL1g t o say a ll. 

Do y ou k:--iow f o r sur e ? 

::-Jo. 

Okay. Do yo..1 know wh en you W'.1e n you oay you 3.nC your 

mom put sorre thirn;r toge t her , d o y ou k:--iow abcut wh 3.t year 

that was ? 

14 A ::-Jo . 

15 Q Ar e we t al ki '.1g a r o un d t h e ti~e o f yoJr f a t her' s death or 

1 6 severa l years after? 

17 A ~ eal c los e to when Dad di ed ~ecaJs e th e b anks were going 

to come and get it. 

1 9 Q Do you k:--iow whi c>1 b anks ? 

2 C A I do:, ' t knew . I den ' t renemoer wh i c :1. cnes h e wa s i nvolved 

2 1 with . 

Q Okay . Do yo ..1 know if t h ere 'tJas more tha:1. c n e b a n k he was 

23 invol ved wit1.? 

24 A 1 ca'.1nct answer that . 

Q Okay . 

Filed: 10/9/2023 9:02 AM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 360 -

App . 059 
29CIV22-000009 



AFFIDAVIT: OF LEE SCHOENBECK, AND EXHIBITS 1-31 - Scan 2 - Page 53 of 100 

53 

1 A I do~ •t knew . 

2 Q We r e do you k:-10w if there were -- if your nem or you 

3 were receivi~g notices from the County abou t t hese bac k 

1 taxes ? 

r:: _, A They wer e showing up at :11v d=1.d's hcu se . 

6 Q Who was? 

7 A The letter s. 

2 Q From -- frem whom'? 

9 A =-rand Ceff1ty Courtheu se . 

l C Q Okay. Say ing yo -1 ewe t axes? 

11 A Yes . 

Q And if you don ' t pay the~, d i d t j ey say what t hey were 

13 (Joing to de? 

14 A I do:1 ' t rerrember. 

15 Q They were showinQ up a t 'v'lhos e ho-1se? 

1 6 A My dad ' s he use . 

17 Q And did your nem live t here ? 

1E A ::-Jo. 

19 Q And was th is before your dad died these l etters were 

2C showi ng -1p t:,ere? 

21 A I' m sure they were , 8ecause he was tjree vea rs beh ind. 

Q Okay . So wa s anyone living at your dad ' s house aft er he 

23 died? 

24 A 1 had rry mem neve b a2k . 

Q So t jey lived separate fo r a whi l e? 
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54 

1 A Yes. 

2 Q Okay. A~d tien a fter your dad d i ed , ycur rro~ rrovet ~ack 

3 into ycu r dad ' □ iou□ e? 

1 A I told her to do it . 

Q Was t hat hcus e i~ Miller or --

A Yes . 6 

7 Q And so letters frorr Hand County were showi ng up a t that 

2 ilOUS e '! 

9 A Yes . 

l C 

11 

Q What ' s t :-1e address o f t ha t h ouse , yo.1 said, " Dad ' s house " ? 

A 509 ~ast Fifth Street . 

Q Is tiat the iouse t ha t your ~om lived in until she passed 

13 away? 

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q Okay. So when you and your ~orr p ut sorrething t ogethe r 

1 6 

17 

regarding the back t axes , was there a certain bank you 

went tc first? 

16 A I ' m ~ot sure, but I ' ~ t hinking i t was Quoin. 

19 Q And that ' s 1~ Miller? 

2C A Yes . 

2 1 Q So you tiink -- you think the first bank vcu went to after 

your dad passed was the Quoin Ea~k? 

23 A Yes . 

24 Q And when ycu went t h ere , did y o u a nd ycur rro~, l guess fo r 

l ack of a better ter~, refinance a ll o f y our dad ' s d ebt 
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1 into o ne l ca :--i? 

2 A Yes. 

3 Q ThroJgh the Quci~ Bank? 

1 A Yes . 

r:: _, Q Do y ou k:1.ow apr-::roxima t e l y 

6 A )To . 

7 Q ,"Q,.re we t al kL1.g a nil lie n 

2 A .>lo. 

9 Q 500 , JO O? 

l C A )To. 

11 Q Le ss ? 

1~ L A Yes . 

13 Q 30 0 , JO O? 

hrnv much t 'lat d ect was ? 

dol l ars? 

14 A Well, here i t says t h r ee- s omethi :1g h ere , dcesn ' t it? 

5 5 

15 Q )To , I get what i t says o n that o~e . I am just aski ng if 

1 6 you knew bac k when you went to Q-1o i n Bank wha t i t was ? 

17 A )To . 

16 Q Okay. Fair e ncugh . Sc when you refinanced at Quoin Bank, 

1 9 do you r ecal l what you us ed as collateral for that loan at 

2C 

2 1 A I t was t ~e ma i n f a rm . 

') ~ 
'--- L Q The :1orre farm -- the hcmep l a2e ? 

23 A Yep, a nd the1. that -- rry quart er , t h e Hardes q ua r ter . 

24 Q And yo u don ' t know what year thi s wa s '! 

') r:: 
L, -! A ~\Jo . 
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5 6 

1 Q Okay. After Quo i n Ban k , d i d you gc t o a different bank? 

2 A Ye s. 

1 A Dacotah . 

5 Q Da cot a h 3 a nk? 

6 A Yeah , FaJlkton . 

7 Q Okay . So yoJ we~t f r orr -- y our r ecol lecti c n i s f rom Quoin 

2 3 ank tc Dacotah 3 a n k l 

9 A Yes . 

l C Q In Faul kt o n. What was the rea s o :1 f or t h a t tr a ns i tion? 

11 A I didn ' t li ke the Qu oin Bank b ecaus e they wanted t o sel l 

some land . So I fcu nd another b ank that wculd t ake ~eon , 

13 me a~d Mom, where we didn ' t have tc se ll any. 

14 Q So with your l ea~ a t Quoin Bank, were y o J rra k ing t h e 

15 r egular payments ? 

1 6 A I do~ ' t r errember . 

17 Q Who was -- w_10 was makirn;i thos e payments? 

16 A Me a~d my rrom . 

1 9 Q We ll, do ycu know, when you s ay you and your n cm, cid you 

2C ~ave a j o i nt a ccount or? 

2 1 A Yes . 

Q Okay . Is that w~a t you would refer t o as the fa r n 

23 acco.mt ? 

24 A Van :C:, ee ~·a rms . 

Q And d o you k~ow where t h a t a2cou ~t was at tha t tine wh e n 
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1 

2 

3 

1 

r:: _, 

6 

7 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

57 

your l ea~ was at Quoin Bank? 

It wa s a t the Quoi n Bank . 

Okay. So the loan and the b ::rnk acco __ m t we re beth t here? 

Yes . 

l\.nd t hen ycu tr~L1si t ion -- I will stop mys e lf t here . 

Ye ur co~versa t ions with t h e people at Quoin Bank , why 

d i d the y want y oJ t o sel l s o ~ e land ? 

2 A 'l'o reduce rry dad ' s debt . 

9 Q I s i t something t hey te l d you yoJ ha,j to de o r t hey ·.vere 

l C g o ing to default the lean, or wha t was h appe n ing ? 

11 A I got t he h i ~t t ~ey we r e . They didn 't cone out and 

threaten me . 

13 Q So based on t h e se convers at i ons , ycu l coked for a 

14 d ifferent ca:1k? 

1 5 A Yes . 

1 6 Q And you e nde d up at Dacotah Bank in Faul ktcn·? 

17 A Yes . 

1E Q And you r e f i :1anced t h e l oan f rom Quoin Bank 3 t Dacotah 

1 9 3ank in Faulktcn? 

2 C A Yes . 

2 1 Q Di d you _1s e the sarre eel l a t era l at t1.at bank? 

') ~ 
'--- L A Yes . 

23 0 Do you k:10W abcut wha t year tha t wcul d have '.)een? 

24 A _\l o . 

') r:: 
L,-! Q Okay. A:1d your l oan a t Dacotah 3ank fer 
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53 

1 you knew ato ..1 t how much i t was ? 

2 A :'-Jo . 

3 Q Lese tha'l ha l f a nillicn? 

1 A Yes . 

5 Q Okay. Do yo _1 know a :'.)out how long yo_1r l oan ·,,ra s a t Dacot ah 

6 3ank, how lo:1g you h ad the loan there tefore ycu switched? 

7 A >To . 

E Q Okay . Because frorr t he docu~ent in f r cnt cf ycu , 

9 ~xhi b i t 9 , i t app ea r s t ha t i n 20 1 0 you swi tched t o 

l C Fr ontier Bank in Pender , Nebra ska, cor rect ? 

11 A Ye s . 

Q 

13 

So is Dacotaj Ea'lk in Faulkton t i e bank you wer e a t right 

before Frontier 3 an k? 

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q Okay. W1at prcmpted ycu to switch to Fronti e r Ban k? 

1 6 A They dropped ny p ayment s if I we'lt t _1rcugh t herr . 

17 Q So your payments we re l e s s through Fronti e r Ba nk? 

1E A Ye s . 

1 9 Q Did you 'lave other acccunt s or l oa ns at Frcnt i er Bank that 

2C you knew the payme nt s were going tc be l owe r? 

2 1 A ::-Jo . 

Q 

23 

24 

A 

I g uess what I am t ryi ng t o ge t at , Cr aig , is wha t 

prompted ycu t c s tart sea rchi ng f o r o ther t:an ks o t he r than 

Uacota h 3ank .:' 

At Dacct a h Bank my p ayrrent s were pretty jig h . And I asked 
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1 

2 

3 

1 

59 

to dror:; them d ew:1 where I coulc make semething go at it . 

And they said they cou ldn't. Eo , rrea nwhil e , I talked t o a 

frie~d a~d he wa □ banking at t hi □ ba~k i~ Nebra□ ka . So I 

call ed tjerr and they ceme and l ooked at the o l ace and they 

d i d what I wante d t hen t o co . 

6 Q And the payments we r e lmve r than at --

7 A Yes . 

E Q Uo you recal l what your payment s were at Uacotah Bank~ 

9 A )lo . 

l C 

11 

1~ L 

1 3 

14 

1 5 

1 6 

17 

1 9 

2C 

2 1 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

They were hi g her than $ 3 3 ,1 67 . lG a year? 

They had te been . 

So -- and it leoks like just from t hi s printcmt , as Df 

Marc:1 24 , 2023 , the rerrainincJ principa l on t h is l oan lS 

j ust over $ 136, 0:)0 ; lS tha t ::::or r ect ? 

Yes . 

And I am trying t o see here , b ut I don ' t -- I d o n' t see 

anyt j ing fro m this document wha t the natJrity da t e o f this 

loan is or how lon g of a loan this is . 

De you knew? 

Do you have any d ocu :nent t hat shows that? 

I do:1 ' t knew . 

23 O Okay . Yo u have o the r l oans assoc i ated wi t h F r entier Bank? 

24 A _\l o . 

Q You d on ' t have a~y other l oans a t Frontier Bank? 
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6J 

1 A ~o , just land. 

2 Q Okay. Tiat's what I nea nt . So i t ' s a loan f or land you 

3 

1 A Yes . 

5 Q Okay. Okay . 

6 A And Dad ' s debt. 

7 Q So Exh ibit 8 -- ~x hiDi t 9 , I'n sorry, i s t he l ean t ha t you 

2 are s ayi~g is associ a ted wi t h Dad ' s debtl 

9 A Yes . 

l C Q Okay. A~d Lee's o ffi c e a r ovided me three e t he r loan s 

11 throJgh Frenti er Ban k t hat a r e i ~ yoJ r n ane and your 

wife ' s name . Those have nothi ng te do with the l and by 

13 t he l ake ? 

14 A ~o . 

15 Q Th ey h ave no thing t o de wi t h Dad ' s debt, cerr ect? 

1 6 A ~o . 

17 Q Is t i at correct , they don ' t? 

le A Yes . Sorry . 

1 9 Q ~o , that ' s okay . I t ' s not a great qJest i on . 

2C De you knew what t hose other l oans a r e r e l a t ec to ? 

2 1 A The Lrnd that I purchased . 

') ~ 
'--- L Q The 

23 A :\OaC.1 . 

24 Q _-Zo ac:1 la:1d'.:' 

') " L, -..} A Yes . 
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1 Q So a ll t j r ee of t hem are fo r tha t ? 

2 A Two of t jerr . 

3 Q Okay. I arr ~ot going t o na rk t hece Jn le□ c you want to 

1 l ook at them, but we have one from 2J ~3 t hat ' s 

1. 8 million , one fro~ 20 12 that' s 265 ,00J, a nd one f rom, = 

6 

7 

gues s , 2J19 that leaks l i ke ~ore of a li~e of credit t han 

a loan . 

2 De you i1ave a 1 ine of c redi t t hroug i1 f rontier Bank'! 

9 A I do~ •t knew . 

l C Q Okay. BJt you have t wc l oan s f o r t h e la~d, the Roach 

11 l and, t hroug i Fronti er Bank? 

1~ L A We call it ti1e Roach g rounc . Ye s . 

13 Q Okay. Do y o --1 t hi n k that nay'.)e t ie f i rst one was fo r a 

14 down payment? T>1e fi rs t one lS frem Nevent:er 30 , 2012 . 

15 I t' s f e r $265 , 00J . 

1 6 A :\To . I t ain ' t a down payTtent on t he :::Zoac _, ground . 

1 7 Q Do you k:,ow wha t that loan would have teen f o r t hen ? 

16 A I am t hi~king that was another q Jarter of ground r ight 

1 9 a c r oss t ie r oad frem Reach gro und . 

2 C Q Okay. 

21 A 3ut we call i t t ,e Roa ch g r ounc . 

') ~ 
'--- L Q So you call all of it t he Foach g reu:,d? 

23 A :\i ght, t,e -- what I pur chased . 

24 Q Ukay. .So yo -1 i::;urc hased a c uarter across t he r e a ,j fro□ 

:::Zoac:, ground? 

t he 
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1 A Yes . 

2 Q 3ut you call it t he Roa ch ground? 

3 A Yee . 

1 Q Who di d you purc'lase that fron? 

r:: _, A I thi n k they call ed it the Nil so:1 quar ter. 

6 Q )Tilson? 

7 A Yeah . 

2 Q Ukay . A:1d t:1e large r loan f or 1. 8 mil lion i n Novembe r o f 

9 20 1 3 wa s fer the Reach ground from Roach ' s? 

l C A Yes . 

11 

13 

MR . VOGEL : I need t o us e the r estroon . Is i t okay i f we 

take a litt l e b r e ak he r e? 

MR . SCHO~NEECK : ~cu bet . 

14 (A b rief r ece ss was ta ken. ) 

15 BY MR . VOGEL 

1 6 Q So , Craig , j J st back tc this debt cf ycur dad ' s , d i d you 

17 

1E 

ever app roac:1 Mi chael er The r e s a a nd ask the~ t o hel9 pay 

this debt ? 

19 A ::-lo . 

2 C Q And I know you have a farn accou:1t at A.me rican Bank anc: 

2 1 Trust . Do you k:--10w abcut wh a t ye;:,i.r you opened t hat? 

A )To . 

23 O Okay . A:1d t:1e reason I ask is , you knew, I ' ve got the 

24 reco r ds , aboJt seven vears back i s all tje banks kee8 

r ecords . So I am just c urious how l o ng that account has 
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1 been ope~ . You ' re nDt aware? 

2 A )lo . 

3 Q What de you -- ac; fa r as checkin,J account::; gD , t here ' :::; a 

1 farm account at Anerican Bank and TrJs t . Do yeu have , 

yourself, have a ~y other che cking a ccounts? 

6 A )To . 

7 Q Do you k:1ow if your "1i f e does? 

2 A 1 a ssurre s he' s got h e r mm . 

9 Q Okay. All I ' n aski n g i s i f you knew . If you don't , 

l C that 's 

11 A Yeah, s he ' s got i1er Dwn . 

Q 

13 

14 

15 

Okay. A~d we ' re talking about t j e payrre~ts ~ade on Dad ' s 

debt on ~xhibi t 9 . The payments t hat have been ~ace on 

that lea~ si ~ce 20 1 0 , as f ar as you knew, h ave t hey come 

out o f t je Va n Zee farrr account? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q And t he money that goes into the Van Zee far~ account , 

would ce a rental paynent fron t:~1e honeplace land and tha 

1 9 l and by the l ake? 

2C A Al l the land . 

2 1 Q 3 ecaJse -- so a ll cf the l a nd yoJ get cut cf 

A 

23 

24 

)Tow, all the land I got , ne anc Morr , we fell in one nig 

g r o up , Roach g r o Jnd, Dad ' s ground, a~d t~e l and ny the 

lake i s o ne b i g grcup . Anc then we take out t h e pay11ent s 

o n it , bJt I get t he~ ether loans , too , jocked together , 
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6 4 

1 too , all in one b i g grcup . 

2 Q And they a r e a t Frcn ti er Ba n k ? 

3 A ~igh t , y es . 

1 Q So you get o :--ie l ease payTtent that wo..1ld <JO i ntc the farm 

r:: _, acco_m t ? 

6 A Ye s . 

7 Q Yo u woul d rra ke o~e payrrent t o Frontier Bank f or a l l of 

2 your lea:1.s '.:' 

9 A Yes . 

l C Q Oka y . A~d you would p a y t he rea l e s ta t e taxe s o n a l l of 

11 the g r eu~d o Jt o f t ha t ban k accoJnt ? 

A Yes . 

13 Q Okay. A~y oth er expenses t i ed to -- are there any -- so 

14 let me ba c k ..1p. 

15 Expenses that are d irect l y t i e d te the l a nd by t h e 

1 6 l ake , what we ' ve establ ished is you' ve tol d ~e t here ' s no 

17 leas e er -- or excuse rre -- t here ' s ~o mortgage or lien on 

that property , correct? 

1 9 A Yes -- no . There i s nc nD l ease . 

2C Q Okay. Tje r e ' s r ea l estate taxes t hat need t D be paid on 

2 1 

23 

24 

A 

0 

A 

it, cor r ect ? 

Yes . 

An d you pay these t wi ce a year? 

'f e s . 

Q And Lee previded ne with a suppl ementa l l ette r o u t l i n i ng 
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1 

2 

65 

the t axes that have 6een paid e n tha t going 6ack oevara l 

years. Are you f aJTiliar wi t h that? 

3 A Yee . 

1 Q Okay. A~y other ncn ay that ' s been spent on the l and by 

6 A 

7 Q 

2 A 

9 Q 

l C A 

11 Q 

1~ L A 

13 Q 

14 A 

15 Q 

1 6 A 

17 Q 

1E A 

19 

2C 

2 1 

23 0 

24 A 

Q 

the l a ke out of the farm a ccount? 

)Tot l ately . 

When was there? 

1 ca:1 1 t r ecall. 

Okay. Do yo..1 know if t here aver was ? 

Yes . 

What what was it f or? 

Putt ing JP fence . 

Okay. Is that bac k '"1hen i t 'J'laS past--1re? 

)To . 

What was fence p..1t U :J fo r? 

The other i_:::;erscn ' s cattle . 

To keei_:::; them o ff? 

Yeah , !Take a lcng otory ohort , fanTerB divida t he fence 

J p . They take care of their hal f . We take care of ou r 

i a l f , each l i ne arcund . And the~ i t ' s oJr -- well , 

them - - lake -- the lake ground ialf was bad, s o I h ad t o 

fi x it . 

Di d you ~i re scmebcdy? 

_\l o . 

You did it yoursel f? 
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1 A Yes . 

2 Q Wh e n ycu say " f i x i t , " d i d you me a n i s L1is oarb,vi r e 

3 fence? 

1 A Yes . 

5 Q Di d you ~ave tc put n ew posts or wi r e en i t or just 

6 stretch it a~d splice it 

7 A Thee was an area that we had t c p ut :1ew posts up . 

2 Q 'l'he wire was stil l g ood'! 

9 A )lope . I t flooded a n ,j i t bent ove r frorr the sncw. 

l C Q Do you k:10W abc ut wh a t y ear t h i s was? 

11 A )To . 

Q Are we t alki ~g 1) years ago? 

13 A I do:1 1 t knew . 

14 Q Okay. BJt o ther than t he fen ce t h a t ycu f i xed and the 

15 taxes , a~y o ther l and t ha t ' s bee~ spent o n t h e -- any 

1 6 other rro~e y t h at ' s been spent o n the l and b y t he lake ? 

1 7 A )lot :1OW. 

le Q Okay. W>1en el.se was t here? 

19 A To get i t r eady to break, we spe~t money on i t , cleaning 

2C it u p , picki ~g rock . 

2 1 Q Okay. Did you h i r e s o rreDne t o do t h at? 

') ~ 
'--- L A )To . 

23 0 Who did that ? 

24 A Me a :1d my t o ys . 

') " L, -! Q Do you k:1OW abcu t what year this was ? 
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1 A )To . 

2 Q Did you ev e r a sk Michael o r The r e s a i f tiey 'd te wi l ling 

3 to help do t:,1at? 

1 A )To . 

r:: _, Q The t axes wi th t 'l.e L rnd DV the l ake , from rry r ev iew i t 

6 appea r s that ycu receive t hose tax not i ces? 

7 A Yes. 

2 Q Ukay . A:1d y ou r eceive the tax not i ces fo r t he lane :JY t he 

9 l a ke a s we l l as t he horre~l ace l a~d? 

l C A Yes . 

11 Q Okay. Di d you ev e r you n ever r eac hed out t c Theresa or 

Mi ke and a sked t i err to he l p pay these , d i d y ou ? 

1 3 A ::-STo . 

14 Q I jus t want t o go t hrough the leas e s tha t I have her e wi t h 

15 you and jus t t a l k a li t t l e b i t about t hem . 

1 6 (Exhi b i t 10 marked for i denti fi c a t i o ~ ty the ccurt 

17 repo rt e r . ) 

le BY MR . VOGEL 

1 9 Q Crai g , I arr iandi ng you Exhi bit 10 . And I wi ll j us t give 

2C you a rri ~ute t c l oc k a t t ha t , p l ea s e . 

2 1 A I' v e s ee~ t hese be f ore . 

Q 

23 

24 

A 

Okay . So Ex iitit 1 0 , a s I l ook a t it , i t l ooks like i t ' s 

a l ea s e ag reenent fron 2004 until 20J 7 . De e s t hat sound 

r i g ht '? 

I got 20J5 to ' 7 . 
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1 Q I' m sor r y . You ' re ri gh t . You ' re r ight . I t is fo r 2005 

2 throJ 9h -- tje f a r rring y ears 2005 t hrougj 20 0 ? . Do es that 

3 cound ri 1Jht? 

1 A Yeah, yes . 

5 Q And it' s b e tween Patricia a nd Cra ig Va n Zee and Norths t a r 

6 Farms ? 

7 A Yes . 

2 Q When l look, it' s about the third p a r agraph d own where i t 

9 li s t s the la:,d to ce rentec . As I look a t t ha t, it l ook s 

l C like that ' s j ust the land b y t h e l ake . Do you s e e t hat 

11 two pa r a 9 rap _, s frorr t he t op -- or t hree? 

1~ L A Yes . 

13 Q So t1is l ease h e re lS just fo r tje l a nd by the l ake , 

14 c o rrect ? 

15 A Yes . 

1 6 Q So frorr 2 005 tc 2 00 7 , wh at was happe~ing wi th the 

17 

16 A These guys would ren t it . 

1 9 Q Just on a separate l ease? 

2C A Yes . 

2 1 Q And a t tje bottom e r by the lega l description i t says , 

23 A 

24 Q 

A 

"Grassla:,d t o be broke " ? 

Yes . 

Was i t all grass a t that p o i ntl 

Yes . 
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1 Q Okay. So a s of t he farmi ng season o f 20 05 , i t was -- the 

2 

3 

1 

r:: _, 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

l and by the l ake was a l l g r a ss; i s t i at ri g h t ? 

Yee . 

Okay. k,d No r thstar Fa rT1s lS who l eases i t f or thos e f our 

y ear s ? 

Ye s . 

Okay . k 1d you -- c kav . And whe :1 we l cok a t -- t he :;:>ages 

a ren' t nJ mbered , but i t ' s the l a st p age o f t h i s exhibit. 

You wi l l see s i g :1a t ure l ines for Patri c i a a nd Cr a i g 

Van Zee and a wi t ness as wel l as Ncrths t a r Fa r rrs and s ome 

indiv i du a l s frcm Norths t a r Fa r ms . You'll s ee t ha t, 

corre c t ? 

13 A Yes . 

14 Q There' s :10 s i gnature line f o r ~i ke or There s a , i s t he re? 

15 A :'-Jo . 

1 6 Q This l e a s e , are you t he one who ta l ked wi t h Northstar 

17 Fa r ms a bo ut ente ri ng i n t o this l ease ? 

1E A Me a:--id my ff.Om t oget her t al ke d t o t hem . 

1 9 Q So y ou both tal ked t o t hen? 

2 C A Yes . 

2 1 Q On t ,e p_1.one or :1.ow? 

') ~ 
'--- L A They s howed JP a t t h e ho us e . 

23 0 Okay . A1.d y ou gJys d i s c us s e d li ke a r ent a l r a t e ? 

2 4 A 'f e s . 

Q Okay. So the rro :1ey t hat was r ece i ved unde r thi s lease , 
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1 would that all have '.vent into yo-1 r fa rrr account ? 

2 A Ye s. 

3 Q Okay. Wac a~y of t ha t money provided to Michael or 

1 

6 

7 

Theresa? 

A 

Q Did you ever tel l t h en a6out this lease agreenent? 

A 

7 J 

2 Q Ukay . A:1.d your -1nde r s t andi n 9 i s that Northstar ~·a rms i s 

9 the s arre as L&O Acres? 

l C A Yes. 

11 Q Okay. So I ' ve got -- I ' v e been in contact wi t h Lee 3bout 

1~ L a lease f r cm 2003 t hro ugh 2 012 , and i t s ounds like you 

13 were:1. 1 t able tc l ocate a l ease . Dees that sound r ight ? 

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q Fr om ycur recollection for 2008 thro-1gh 20 11 , we r e you 

1 6 l eas i ng the l and by t he l ake to L&O Acres? 

17 A Yes . 

16 Q Do you have any idea what the re~tal rate was? 

19 A ::-lo . 

2 C Q Was ther e a wr i tte n l ease? 

2 1 A Same 3 S this . 

Q So you were pointi ng t c Exhi6i t 1 0? 

23 A Well , they wri te up the 2ontrac t, j u s t l ike the s e, thi s 

24 pape r wc rk . ~very ti~e they l ease ground f r o~ rre , t h3 t ' s 

what me and Morr s i gns . 
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1 Q Who woul d draft the l ease ? Tflas i t you or was i t L&O 

2 Acr es? 

3 A What ' c tjat? 

1 Q The l ease . 

r:: _, A Drew it _tp ? 

6 Q Ye ah, who d r ew it up? 

7 A They did. 

E Q Okay . So yo~r u~ders t a nding o r r ecollecti c n fe r t he 

9 

l C 

11 A 

t imef rame cf 2003 t o 20 11 is i t was a l ease s i rri l a r to 

~xhi bit 10 with L&O Ac res ? 

:l.i g ht . For them, but I don't know t1.e pri ce . 

71 

Q 

13 

Okay. T:1.e rental paynents f cir t jose years wcmld have been 

deposited in the far~ ac8ount? 

1 4 A Ye s . 

15 Q J'.\.nd with t ha t l e a se , d i d you ever ta l k with Mi ke o r 

1 6 Theresa abcut it? 

17 A )To . 

1E Q Did you ever talk to theJ, abcmt the rents that yciu 

1 9 rece i ved from that l and? 

2 C A )To . 

2 1 (Exhi b i t 11 marked fcir identifi cat i o~ by the ccurt 

reporter . ) 

23 BY MR . VOGEL 

24 Q Crai g , l wi l l have yciu ta ke a l ook at ~xji b i t 11. 

A Okay. 
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1 Q So Exh ibit 11, a~d cor re::::t me if I' m wro~g , Craig, a9pea rs 

2 to be a l eas e wi th Ki r by Odde who a lso can be called 1&0 

3 Acre □ , a □ he operate □ l &O Acre□ . Doe□ tjat sound r i ght? 

1 A Yes. 

5 Q And as I revi ew it, it's fo r the f a rming seasons 20 1 3 

6 

7 

throJ gh 2017 ? T~at wou l d be on the seco~d page -- or I ' ~ 

sorry. The end part of 20 12 through 20 1 7 . 

E A Jes, l s ee tjat. 

9 Q Does that soJnd accu rate? 

l C A I do:1 't knew. It JTu st be be::::a use i t 's written down . 

11 Q I will have you l ock at the last page . It ' s page 4 , it 

says at the top . Do ycu see there ' s a signa t u r e l ine for 

13 your mcm Patricia a n d for you as we l l as f e r Kirjy Odde 

14 and twc witnesses? 

15 A Yes . 

1 6 Q There ' s ~o signature line for ~ichael er Theresa ? 

17 A )To . 

16 Q Just back en the first page of t j is , whe~ I lock a t 

19 

2C 

2 1 

23 

24 

A 

0 

A 

~xhi b it 11 ve rsus Exhibit 10, i t appea rs tha t there ' s more 

l and li s t ed in Exh ibi t 11 . 

De e s that l ook a ccurate? 

Yes . 

Is t ~ i s -- t~e botto~ descr i 8t i o ~ f or 47 1 . 2 acres in 

Sect i on 21, would t h at be the l a ~d by the lakel 

I -- I ' m net tha t good on te s cri pt io~s of land . 
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1 Q 3ut i t ' s approximate l y 480 a2res? 

2 A Yes. 

3 Q Okay. Tie re □ t of t he l and li □ted above it , ju□t t ell me 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

this : W,at l and were you l easin<:J to Ki r by Odde in 20 :_ 2 

thro_1gh 2017 just frDn y,::)Ur knowl edge , was i t Hardes , the 

~omepl ace , a~d t~e land ny the l ake? 

I do:1 1 t knew . 

Who woul d knovJ'! 

Prob ably the guys whD rent my ground or that grounc . 

Okay. 

::<irby Codde . 

So with this lease frorr 2 01 2 to 2017, were you part o f 

~egotiat ing this l ease wi t h Oddes? 

14 A Me a~d Mom . 

15 Q Okay. A~d t i e money rece i ved from r e nt for these yea rs 

1 6 li sted , 2 012 through 20 1 7 , that was deposited i n the f ar~ 

17 a cco __ mt? 

1E A Yes . 

19 Q For these years , was any of that renta l inco~e provided to 

2C Mike or Theresa? 

2 1 A ::-Jo. 

') ~ 
'--- L Q Did you tell them about the l e as e t hat ' s Exhibi t :_ 1? 

23 A )To . 

24 Q Uid yo u tell t hem about the rental L1ccme'? 

') " L, -! A ~\Jo . 
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74 

1 (Exhibi t 12 marked fo r identificatio~ by the ccurt 

2 r e port e r. ) 

3 BY MR. VOGEL 

1 Q I am Handing vcu Exhibit ~2 , Craig . I will have you t ake 

a loo k at that . 

6 A Okay. 

7 Q So Exhibit 12 appears to be a l ease between Ki rby Odde, 

2 

9 

yourself , and yoJr mother for j ust s jy of 2 , 00 0 acres of 

land . Does that scund a2curate? 

l C A Yes . 

11 Q Page 2 lists the years of leases fer -- it' s 20 1 8 , 20 ~9 , 

and 2 020 at the very tcp? 

13 A Yes . 

14 Q P,nd it lists the ren tal anount of $32 3,4 JO pe r yea r. Do 

15 you see that? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q Does that all seen a2curate ? 

1E A Yes . 

19 Q So tje renta l incorre fer t his l ease , eacj yea r you 

2C 

2 1 A 

Q 

23 A 

24 Q 

r ecei ved, t hat was depcs i t ed into t he far□ a2ccun t? 

Yes. 

And this lease would inclute the l and by the l ake? 

Yes . 

Wh e n ycu lco k at the final page of tje lease, t h ey are not 

~umbered . Tjer e ' s a signature line for Patricia Van Zee 
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1 and Craig Va:1 Zee a n d Ki rby Odde , p lJs two wi t nesses . 

2 De y o u .s ee t hat ? 

3 A Yep , yec . 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

1~ L 

13 

14 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

I t a p pears t~at you signed thi s, cerrect ? 

Yes . 

And it appears t~at Kirby Odde signed this? 

Yes. 

.:::lut J:Jatricia Van tee did not s ig:1 t hi s , did she '! 

What year i s thi .s ? 

It would be 2018 throug h 2020 . 

The land was a lread y swi tche d over L'1 rry n ame . 

So W_1 y did you pJt h e r 

They l eft it on there . 

They left it on there? 

75 

15 A Yes . Every tirre I get a d iffere :-it paperwork, her na~e i s 

1 6 always 0:1 there . 

17 Q Okay. So t: ec:aus e s he didn ' t own a ny of the l and any11ore , 

you d idn ' t have ~er sign i t, correct ? 

19 A Well, y eah, yes . 

2C Q There 1 s :10 s i gnatur e line for ~ichael er Theresa , is 

2 1 

23 

24 

A 

0 

A 

Q 

t here? 

P,nd t hey owned son e o f t h a t l and, d i d n't t hey? 

'f es . 

This l ease Exhib i t 1 2 , you n ever ta lked with Mi ke or 
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1 Theresa abcut thi s , did you? 

2 A :'-Jo. 

3 Q And you ~ever provided them any of t ie r ental income fro~ 

1 

6 

7 

A 

Q 

t hi s l ease , did you? 

:'-Jo. 

Since yo...1 r mother didn ' t own the land during t hese -- thi s 

timeframe, was sie invcl veci in negct i ati~g t his l ease ? 

2 A ':i'es . 

9 Q Okay. W_1.y was t1.a t ? 

l C A 3eca~se I talked t c her every t i me I did anythi ng with her 

11 

1~ L 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

1E 

19 

2C 

2 1 

23 

24 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

old grcu:1.d . 

Just tc let _1.er knew what was going on? 

Yes . 

Okay. B...1t you didn't have to, d i d you? 

:'-Jo . 

Okay. kld you k:1.ew that ·? 

Yes . 

Okay. I thi :--i k I asked this, ye a:~1 . I ' ll ask it again . 

3ut a ll t he rent was deposited i ~ that farlf account? 

Yes . 

At Amer i c an 3 ank a nd Trust ? 

Yes . 

(Exhi bi t 13 mar ked fo r i dent i f i c at i o ~ by t he ccurt 

repo r ter . ) 

BY MR . VOGE L 
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1 Q Craig , I a rr janding you Exhi6it 1 3 . 

2 A I' ve leake d a t i t . 

3 Q Okay. Ar e you fan iliar with t hi □ lea □ e? 

1 A I do~ •t see the yea rs en t he lease . 

5 Q If y o u l ook a t t j e bo t t o~ , t h e s e ccnd fron t he b o t to~ 

6 

7 

p aragrap_1 en page 1, i t says " Ter m of lease ." 

De yo u s e e t hat ? 

E A Jes . Une yea r. 

77 

9 Q Cor rect . So i t appears that t hi s i s fer t h e 202 1 fa rni n g 

l C s eason ? 

1 1 A Ye s . 

Q Okay. Do yoJ know why i n 2 0 2::_ y ou j Jst :,ad a cne- year 

13 l eas e with Oddes ? 

1 4 A I do:1 1 t knew rig:1t n ow . 

15 Q Okay. A~d t ji s l e as e , is i t between Patri c i a Va n Zee , 

1 6 

17 

Craig Va~ Zee , a ~d Odde Farms , cor rect ? I t ' s at the v ery 

t o p it says it ff1de r " lea s e " ? 

1E A Yes . 

1 9 Q Thi s l ease wou l d inc l ude t he land by the l a ke , corr ect ? 

2C A My mom' s na me i s a l ways goi ng t o b e o n t j ese b ecause t h ey 

2 1 d i dn ' t t ake i t off. 

Q Okay . 

23 A Yes , the r e ' s -- i t ' s everyth i ng on t~e land , t he t o t a l 

24 a c re s . 

Q It i ~c l udes t h e l a nd b y t h e la ke? 

Filed: 10/9/2023 9:02 AM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 385 -

App. 084 
29CIV22-000009 



AFFIDAVIT: OF LEE SCHOENBECK, AND EXHIBITS 1-31 - Scan 2 - Page 78 of 100 

73 

1 A Yes . 

2 Q And you mentione d your -- s o whe:1 yo---1 l ook at t h e fi nal 

3 page , there ' □ a □ ignature l ine for you r morr, but □he 

1 didn ' t sign i t, cor rect ? She didn ' t sig:1 this ? 

A Yeah, no , she didn ' t s ign i t, bu t s he l ooked a t i t. Li ke 

6 

7 

I t old you , I ' d take everythi ng over ther e so she can see 

it. 

2 Q ':i'ou s igned L1.i s 1 ease'? 

9 A What ' s L 1.a t ? 

l C Q You s i gn ed t_-ii s lease? 

11 A Ye s , I did . 

Q Are you the one t ha t s poke wi th Odde Far ms abo ut t his 

13 l eas e ? 

14 A Ye s . 

15 Q Okay. Tie rent checks t hat wer e sent fo r a ll t he l eases 

1 6 that we ta l ked about , were they sent tc you? 

17 A Yes . 

16 Q Okay. Tiey were:1 't sent to your metier , were t hey? 

1 9 A They started off wi t h rry name and Mom ' s :,arre on them. T'rvO 

2C :-iames , t j ey sta r ted of f when t hey fi r st r ent ed i t. Now 

2 1 i t ' s j us t rre . 

Q When did they start ;iutting just ycur name on i t ? 

23 A I do:1 't knew . 

24 Q 3ut the c hecks were a lways sent to youl 

A Yes . 
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1 Q And you' r e tje o~e t ha t depos ited then i~ the farn 

2 acco ___ rn t? 

3 A Yee . 

1 Q And any c hecks tjat were wri tten o ut of that far~ account 

6 

for loans er tc your n ether we r e written by you or you r 

wife ? 

7 A Yes . 

E Q l' v e reviewed thos e bank accounts and it dcesn ' t appear 

9 that ycur rrother Patri cia wrote , a t least s tarting in 

l C 2 015, wrote any checks o ut of tha t acccu~t, di d she? 

11 A Sh e jad it wj e r e she cculd h ave i f s'.1e want e d t o . I don' t 

know if she :---iever did . I can't knew . 

13 Q Well , if the records shul'l that S'.1e never did, do you 

14 A :?.ight . 

1 5 Q Do you ai:;r ree wi ti1 t ha t ? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q Okay. Do yoJ recall her ever c epositing any ncney into 

1E that farm account , your ~other? 

1 9 A ~o , she d idn' t . Ne . 

2C Q Getti ng back tc ~ xh i bit 13 , t here ' s '.10 s i gna ture l ine for 

2 1 

23 

24 

A 

0 

A 

Q 

Mi chael or Tjer esa , i s there? 

You di dn ' t -- d i d you provide them a ccpy c f t hi s l ease? 

_\l o . 

The rent a l i~ccme that was paic:: was deposited i n t he fa r~ 
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1 acco __ mt ? 

2 A Yes . 

3 Q You didn't p r ovide any o f that renta l 1ncorre t c Mike or 

1 Theresa? 

A 

6 

7 

Q And when I l ook at t his l ease v e rs us Exhibit ~1 , t here ' s 

approximatel y 40) rrore a2res o n ~x hibit 13 t ha n 

2 ~xh i b it 11. Dees t ha t have t o do with tje Hoach l and~ 

9 A I do ne t know. 

l C Q Were ycu ever re~tin g t he Roach l a nd out sep arately f r om 

11 the land by the l a ke a nd t he hcmeplace? 

A ::,Jo . 

13 Q Okay. 

14 (Exhibi t 14 marked fo r i dent i ficatio~ by t he ccurt 

15 repo r ter .) 

1 6 BY MR . VOGE L 

17 Q I will g ive y o u ~xhi6i t 1 4 there , Cra ig , jus t t a ke a l ook 

a t t >iat and let me know -.vhen you ' re done . 

1 9 A Okay. 

2C Q This appe ars t c be a l ease b e t ween Patricia Va n Zee , Crai g 

2 1 Van Zee , and Odde Fa rns , correct? 

A Mom ' s no t en thi s . He r name is o n here . 

23 O Cor rect . Her name i s en it, corr ect? 

24 A _--Zi g h t . 

Q Okay . A~d wjen you l ock at the seco~d page , i t appea r s 
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1 

2 

3 

1 

r:: _, 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

1E 

19 

2C 

2 1 

23 

24 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

0 

81 

that t his is a tjree - yea r l ease frcm 2022 thr o ug h 2024 at 

the v ery tcp? 

Correct . 

This l ease would include t he land by the l ab:,? 

Yes . 

And this is the lease t ha t is curren tly in place? 

Yes. 

When we lock at the final pa9e, you mention there 's a 

signature l i ~e for you r ~other, b ut she didn' t sign i t , 

correct? 

Yes . 

You signed i t and Greg Odde s i gned it? 

Yes . 

And it appears t jat it l ooks l i ke De x ter Van Zee s i gnec a s 

a wi tness? 

Yes . 

Is t i1at your s e n? 

Yes . 

Mike and Theresa never signed t hi s ? 

\Jo . 

And you ~e ver provide d the m a copy of thi s , di d yo u? 

The r ental i ~ccme fo r t he -- I s J ppos e two -- you' ve 

rece i ved ren t a l i n co~e from 2022 a nd 2023 under this 

l e ase? 
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1 A Yes . 

2 Q Aga i ~ , t i a t was deposi ted i nto t ie farrr account ? 

3 A Yee . 

1 Q You :, ever provided anv of that i ~ceme to Mik8 er Theresa , 

r:: _, did you ? 

6 A )To . 

7 Q P,nd I rreant t o a sk you this earli er . I see Dext e r Van Zee 

2 s igned L 1.i s . How rrany kids do y ou h ave'! 

9 A Three . 

l C Q What a re their nanes? 

11 A Dext e r, De r ick, Desi rae . 

1~ L Q =-i:ow old a r e they? 

13 A I do:, 1 t knew . 

14 Q Out of h i gh school ? 

15 A Yes . 

1 6 Q Dkay. W_1.at does Dexter do ? 

17 A ::-i:e works fer a f arrrer south of town . 

1E Q Whic>1 farme r lS t hat ? 

1 9 A Ful tc:ms . 

2C Q And you sa i d De ri c k lS anoth8r son? 

21 A Yes . 

Q What dce s Derick de? 

23 

24 

A =-i:e ' s in t he Air Force fo r s i x yea r s and --ww he ' s goi ng t o 

3rooki ngs t o school. 

Q So h e goes to SDSU? 
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1 A Yeah, that ' s --

2 Q Doe s he -- I 'n sorry. I cut ycu off. 

3 A I 'm oorry . 

1 Q ~o . It was mv faul t . Go aheac, Craig . 

r:: _, A Yes, he does. 

6 Q Does he live in 3rcokings then? 

7 A Yes . 

2 Q And Desi rae , what does s he do'! 

9 A She ' s a :,.rn rse in Huron . 

l C Q Does she live in Hu r on? 

11 A Yes . 

Q And I will back JP a little b i t toe . YoJ current l y live 

13 at -- what was y our addre ss agai~? 

14 A 718 ~ast Second Avenue. 

15 Q 3ef o r e living there , where d i d you l ive? 

1 6 A I do~ ' t r errember . 

17 Q Le t ' s do it this way . Growing up and going t o s::::hool , you 

lived wi th your parent s ? 

19 A Yes . 

2C Q Was that on the f a rm or i n town? 

21 A 30th. 

Q Okay . 

' 69 . 

Do yo J know a8out what year you moved into tmm ? 

23 A 

24 Q l s t i1at -- do yoJ know the a ddress of that house '! 

A That ' s wi1e r e ny morr ' s address is . 
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1 Q What wa s that again? 

2 A 509 ~as t Fifth Street. 

3 Q 3ow long did ycu -- did you live t he r e a f ter high □chool ? 

1 A Yes . 

5 Q =--Iow long ? 

6 A I do net know . 

7 Q 3efore moving to whe r e you l ive :-iow , did veu liv e anywhere 

2 between your paren t s ' house anc your curren t heus e '.:' 

9 A Yes . 

l C Q Wher e d i d yo.1 live? 

11 A I ca:1 ' t t e l l ycu the address the r e . 

1~ L Q Was it L1 Mi ller? 

13 A Yes . 

14 Q P,nyw:1e r e els e in bet'Neen l i v i ng at your parents ' hou s e t o 

15 where yoJ c urrently live ? 

1 6 A Just t ha t e ne litt l e p l a:::::e . 

17 Q Who did you l ive the re with? 

1E A My wife . 

19 Q Were ycu guy o rrarried at t hat t i me ? 

2C A Yes . 

2 1 Q Okay. So yo_1 -- de you knc,w abo_1t how l ong you lived a t 

thi s l itt l e place i n Mille r ? 

23 A )To . 

24 Q Okay. You don ' t -- so after hi gj scjoel , you t hink you 

lived i n yeur pa r ents ' house fer 1 0 yearo? 
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1 A I do~ •t knew. 

2 Q :'-Jo idea of how old you think you wer e ? 

3 A :'-Jo . 

1 Q Were -- did you live there , was i t jJst you and your 

6 A -Jntil s he rroved in . 

7 Q Okay. Do yo..1 know -- "she" :=:ie in<J Famela? 

2 A ':{es. 

9 Q So you both lived at ycur parents ' house f er a whi le? 

l C A Yes. 

11 Q Was thi s after your dad di ed. 

1~ L A :'-Jo . We 1Na s already :narriec and moved cut . 

13 Q So you were married and T1ove d ou t before yc ur dad c ied? 

14 A Yes . 

15 Q So you moved out o f that house befcr e ' 97 ? 

1 6 A Yes . 

17 Q Okay. Okay . Did you pay any r e~t wjen you lived a t 

your 

19 A :'-Jo . 

2C Q Okay. I thi :-ik I talked -.,,,- i th you a littl e l:::i t , Cra i g , 

21 about the tax the tax rec,:=:ircs f e r all t he l and were 

') ~ 
'--- L sent tc you? 

23 A Yes . 

24 Q Uo you k:-iow abcut when that s t a r ted'.:' 

') " L,-! A ~\Jo . 
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1 Q Okay. JJst -- j Jst i n r e f erence te the land by the lake 

2 

3 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

that invol ves both Theresa and Mi cha e l, the Hand County 

Treac;ure r tax receipt history s hows that as Df 2 0 ::_1 t he 

tax receipt or request from 20 11 gci~g forward fDr the 

l and by the l ake was sent to Cra ig Van Zee at 7 18 East 

Seco~d Avenue, Mille r . 

Dees that sound r i ght? 

1 do:1 1 t knew . 

You've been payL1g t he taxes s ince t1at tirre? 

3efore. 

Okay. 

MR . VOGEL : Lee, I a~ just about fi ni shed . I j u st want to 

take a little brea k and l ook at a coJple things . 

MR . SCHO~NEECK : Su re . 

15 (A b ri ef recess was ta ken . ) 

1 6 BY MR. VOGE L 

17 Q So earlier you h ad mentioned some agreement you had with 

your mcm aboJt your dad ' s debt , correct? 

19 A Like what? 

2C Q I am net sure . It' s b een me ntio~ed i n sane Df t h e 

21 

23 

d i scovery respc ns e s I re2eived t ~a t you ~ad sorre agreement 

with yeur rrom about paying your d a d ' s debt and col le2ting 

i ncome . Can ycu expand on t hat at a l l? 

24 A \Ale a9reed en a deal how to make it work . 

Q Okay. W1.at do you mean :JY that? 

Filed: 10/9/2023 9:02 AM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 394 -

App . 093 
29CIV22-000009 



AFFIDAVIT: OF LEE SCHOENBECK, AND EXHIBITS 1-31 - Scan 2 - Page 87 of 100 

87 

1 A To keep the l and. 

2 Q You and your ncm had scme agreement ? 

3 A We did be f cre we t c o k a l l t h ic over . 

1 Q What wa s that agreement ? 

5 A 3ow to keep Dad's l a nd all in one group. 

6 Q I get that, but what -- wha t was the agr eerrent bet ween you 

7 and Morr? Who wa s s uppcsed t o co what? 

E A tou're going t c j ave tc explai n better . What -- what to 

9 you mean ? 

l C Q Well, something that ycu provic e d t one sayi ng you h ad an 

11 agreement wi th Mon to pay Dad ' s debt , and what d i d t hat 

agreement entail? 

13 A Probabl y the agreerrent that the income off the l and goes 

14 t owa r ds Dad' s de bt. 

15 Q Okay. 

1 6 A To keep it . 

1 7 Q What aco.1t ti1e excess in:::::orne off the lan,j? Is that :::>art 

of t je agreement? 

1 9 A Well, we j ust ki:1d of ke:::it i t i n t he account fer b ackup . 

2C Q 3 ack..1p for w:1a t ? 

2 1 A Taxes . 

') ~ 
'--- L Q Okay. W1at abcu t t he ex:::::ess after taxes? 

23 A Well, t here ' s rry liv i ng expenses a nd I pa i d Morr . 

24 Q Ukay. l-'f-1.en you say you :::>aid Hern, yo.1' re 

t hat yearl y check you pa i d her? 
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1 A ~ight . 

2 Q =-i:ow di d you de t e rnine hmv rnu::::h you were (JOlWJ t o pay your 

3 morn? 

1 A That was her dc i1g . 

r:: _, Q Was it a g ift to her or 'Na S i t --

6 A That ' s W_1at she a sked f or . 

7 Q Okay. k 1d your mo t her ' s l i v i ng e xr::;e:1ses , I unders tand s he 

2 :1ad >1er own acco __ mt, bank ac::::o un t '! 

9 A Yes . 

l C Q And she :--1ad income frorr retirerne :1t? 

11 A Ye s . 

1~ L Q And possibly Sccial Security ? 

13 A Yes . 

14 Q So i s i t fa i r t o s ay that your mom paid mos t o f her liv i ng 

15 expe:1ses out o f i1er Dwn a.ccount after that c heck came t o 

1 6 ~er frcm t he farm ac::::oun t ? 

17 A I do~ •t knew . 

1E Q Who would know t>1a t? 

1 9 A Probabl y my morr. 

2C Q Okay. BJt it ' s ~o t li ke you were regularl y - - I can' t 

2 1 talk - - r egul a rly rraking p ay~ents f or yoJr mon for her 

s ewer bill or e l ect r i c bil l ? 

24 Q Okay. So any c f the excess ~oney after you pa i d your 

dad ' s debt , paid t he taxes , a.n~ pa id Mcm, you ke8t tD pay 
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1 your own living exr::;ense.s ? 

2 A Ye.s . 

3 

1 

6 

7 

2 

9 

l C 

11 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

17 

1E 

1 9 

2C 

2 1 

23 

24 

MR. VOGEL : I do~'t have anything rrore. 

MR. SCHO~NEECK: ~cu ' re entitled tc read and s i gn t he 

deposition, but I would encourage yo~ to wai ve t he reaci ng 

and sign ing. YoJ j ust have t o say o~ the re2or d t ha t 

you 're wi lli ~g t o wa i ve i t . 

rHE Wl1N~SS: 1ell h e r that l 

MR. SCHO~NEECK : ~eah. 

THE WI TN~SS: I will ju.s t waive i t . 

(vJHEJ.EUPON, the for egoin-;i- ceoo.s i t i cn ccncl uded a t 

1 : 1 7 p . m. ) 
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9 J 

1 STATE OF SO~TH DAKOTA 

2 CCU::--JTY OF DAY 

3 

1 

5 3 e it known t hat t he fc regoing p r oceed i ngs we r e t aken by 
Kelli Lardy , RP~, o~ t h e 30th day o f August, 2023 , a t 

6 Watertown , Sout:1 Da kota . 

7 

2 

9 That I wa s t j en and t here a Not a r y PJ b l i c i n a nd fo r the 
Cou~t y of Day , Stat e c f Sc uth Dakc t a , a ~d t iat ~y virtu e 

l C thereof, I wa s duly a ut ho r i z ec t o a dmi n ister a n oath; 

11 

13 That t he proceedi ngs were re:::or ded i :, s tenctype ::>y myse l f 
and tra:-1s c rib ed into wri t i n•J by cc rnput er- ai ded trans cri:;ition , 

14 and t hat t he transcript i s a t rue r e ccrd c f t he t e s t imony 
g iven to the test of rry abili t y ; 

15 

1 6 

17 Dat ed and si9ned the :_1t h cay of Septerrbe r , 2023 . 

1 9 

2C 

21 

23 

24 

/s/ Kel l i Lar dy 
Kelll Ldrdy, RPR 
13060 439th Ave 
Rcs l yn , Sc uth Da kcta S7261 
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16th [1] 31 /2 296[2] 3/1621/17 able [1] 70/13 85/11 87/22 88/15 

MR. SCHOENBECK: 
1933 [1] 42/5 297-298 [1] 3/18 about [73) 5/15 6/25 88/24 

[11] 5/21 26/22 33/3 1976 [5] 7/20 9/22 298 [1] 3/18 9/8 9/25 11 /22 12/3 again [12) 9/3 10/16 

50/8 50/12 50/22 51 /1 
10/1 7 12/1 2 1 2/24 29CIV22-10 [1] 1/6 12/18 13/25 14/12 1717 12/10 12/14 30/14 32/E 

62/13 86/14 89/4 89/9 1977 [1] 9/22 
3 

18/ 18 20/22 22/22 33/5 51/5 76/18 82/2 
1993 [2] 20/20 20/23 22/25 23/2 24/13 24/16 83/13 84/1 MR. VOGEL: [11] 
1997 [2] 9/15 10/17 30 [3] 1/15 22/5 61/14 24/25 26/19 27/2 27/8 against [2] 6/5 35/24 26/23 28/23 50/11 

50/13 50/25 51/4 51 /6 1:17 p.m [1] 89/12 300,000 [1] 55/13 28/ 19 33/18 34/9 34/ 17 ago [8] 9/10 13/20 

51/10 62/11 86/12 89/3 2 
301 [1] 46/8 37/4 41/2 41 /23 43/13 14/1 14/1217/1019/6 
30th [1] 90/5 43/ 16 43/25 44/3 44/ 18 41/23 66/12 

THE WITNESS: [8] 2,000 [1] 7 4/8 310 [1] 2/10 44/22 45/ 15 46/ 1 48/ 1 2 agree [2] 34/4 79/15 
5/22 33/5 50/16 50/24 
51 /3 51 /5 89/8 89/10 

20 [1] 3/15 320 [1] 38/15 49/3 50/5 50/10 51/21 agreed [2] 34/18 
2004 [21) 3/21 15/9 39 [1] 3/18 52/12 53/3 57/23 58/1 86/24 

$ 15/1315/1615/19 
4 

58/5 62/21 62/24 63/12 agreement [13] 3/21 
15/21 16/4 16/18 22/5 66/10 66/25 67/15 68/8 3/22 67/23 70/6 86/17 $186,000 [1] 59/14 
22/7 22/13 22/21 23/7 400 [1] 80/7 69/17 70/6 70/11 71/16 86/21 87/2 87/4 87/6 $265,000 [1] 61/15 
24/13 25/24 26/14 42 [1] 3/19 71/18 73/22 73/24 76/1 87/11 87/12 87/13 $323,400 [1] 7 4/14 
27 /1 0 29/11 31 /2 35/17 439th [1] 90/22 78/12 78/16 83/22 87/18 $33,167.16 [1] 59/10 
67/23 46 [1] 3/20 84/21 85/21 85/24 ahead [4] 26/7 26/9 $375,000 [2] 47/11 

47/15 
2005 [5] 67/25 68/1 471.2 [1] 72/23 86/12 86/18 86/22 33/4 83/4 
68/2 68/16 69/1 480 [3] 38/9 38/17 87/17 87/22 87/24 aided [1] 90/13 

' 2007 [3] 67 /23 68/2 73/1 above [1] 73/3 ain't [2) 12/15 61/16 

'33 [1] 42/1 68/16 480 acres [1] 44/7 according [1] 23/25 Air [1] 82/23 

'69 [1] 83/23 2008 [3] 70/12 70/15 
5 account [33) 11 /1 alive [1] 18/19 

'7 [1] 67/25 71/9 11 / 4 11 /6 11 /7 11 /8 all [64] 6/5 6/16 7/9 

'76 [5] 8/2 9/24 9/25 2010 [13) 31/12 31/19 500,000 [1] 55/9 56/20 56/23 56/25 57 /3 8/19 12/18 12/20 15/1E 

10/15 36/5 32/18 32/25 33/9 33/17 509 [2] 54/ 11 84/2 62/20 62/25 63/4 63/15 15/17 15/21 16/4 20/1 C 

'97 [9] 9/25 10/15 35/5 35/7 47/10 47/13 57201 [1] 2/11 63/17 64/5 64/11 65/5 21/16 23/2 23/14 23/1~ 

10/15 22/8 26/21 27 /9 48/6 58/9 63/14 57261 [1] 90/22 70/1 71/13 73/17 74/20 23/22 24/10 25/19 

49/24 51 /18 85/15 2011 [4] 70/15 71/9 57402 [1] 2/16 76/19 79/2 79/4 79/10 28/18 28/21 29/1 31/2( 
86/3 86/4 79/18 80/1 82/2 87/19 33/7 33/1 8 34/3 35/7 

I 2012 [8] 3/22 61/5 
6 

88/8 88/8 88/15 88/16 37/8 37/11 37/24 38/3 

Is [1] 90/21 61/14 70/12 72/7 73/4 6 marked [1] 28/11 accounts [4] 58/19 38/5 40/20 40/22 41/5 
73/12 73/16 67 [2] 3/21 42/22 63/3 63/5 79/8 41 /7 41 /1 3 41 / 16 43/2~ 

1 2013 [10] 39/25 40/22 GA [3] 29/3 29/10 accumulated [2] 50/7 44/19 45/10 51/18 52/E 

1.8 million [2] 61 /5 41/2 41/8 41/18 42/25 29/25 51/17 52/8 54/25 61/1 61/22 
62/8 45/9 61/4 62/9 72/5 6B [2] 29/3 30/11 accurate [10] 11/24 62/24 63/9 63/20 63/21 
1/2021 [1] 3/24 2014 [1] 39/2 GC [6] 31/4 31/4 31/15 12/1 15/14 20/2 40/24 63/22 64/1 64/7 64/10 

10 [12) 1/6 3/21 9/10 2015 [2] 37/22 79/10 31 /25 33/16 34/15 41 / 11 72/9 7 2/21 7 4/9 68/24 69/2 70/1 74/17 
42/25 45/9 66/12 67 /19 2017 [7] 3/23 14/12 6D [1] 32/4 74/17 76/19 78/15 85/21 
67/22 70/22 71/10 72/6 72/7 73/5 73/12 6E [7] 32/6 32/20 33/1 acres [28] 12/3 1 2/4 86/23 87/3 87/5 
72/19 84/25 73/16 33/8 33/13 33/16 34/15 12/815/2516/117/4 already [2] 75/11 
10 marked [1] 67/16 2018 [3] 14/13 74/11 6G [1] 37/14 22/18 38/7 38/9 38/12 85/12 
10/2004 [1] 3/21 75/10 7 38/15 38/17 43/8 44/1 also [2] 2/18 72/2 

10/2012 [1] 3/22 2019 [2] 61 /6 7 4/11 
7 marked [1] 39/6 

44/7 44/10 44/22 70/9 always [5] 8/16 23/25 
10/2021 [1] 3/25 2020 [2] 7 4/12 75/10 70/16 71/2 71 /10 72/3 75/ 16 77 /20 78/24 
10:54 [1] 1116 2021 [6] 3/24 3/25 71 [1] 3/22 72/3 72/23 73/1 7 4/8 am [29) 4/18 4/22 5/8 
11 [8] 3/22 71/24 72/1 41/21 42/5 77/9 77/12 718 [3] 4/14 83/14 77/24 80/7 6/1 7 9/25 15/1 7 20/4 
72/19 72/20 73/22 80/6 2022 [2] 81/1 81124 86/5 across [2] 61 /19 61/24 20/10 22/10 25/17 42/L 
80/8 2023 [5] 1/15 59/13 73 [1] 3/23 actively [4] 8/17 11 /23 45/1 45/22 48/13 49/3 
115 [1] 42/22 81/24 90/5 90/17 76 [1] 3/24 16/6 17/8 50/4 50/8 52/8 55/15 

11th [1] 90/17 2024 [1] 81 /1 8 actual [1] 20/1 58/22 59/16 6113 61/ 1E 

12 [4] 3/23 74/4 74/7 21 [11) 3/16 16/16 
8 marked [1] 42/11 

actually [1] 18/10 62/25 67/19 7414 77/ 1 
75/25 25/20 29/13 30/13 31/6 address [7] 4/13 7/15 86/1 2 86/20 
12/2017 [1] 3/23 32/8 37/16 38/5 38/17 80 [2] 3/25 43/9 54110 83/13 83/24 American [3] 62/20 
1200 [1] 2/10 72/24 88 [1] 42/8 

83/25 84/11 63/4 76/21 
13 [7] 3/24 11/15 22nd [1] 39/25 9 administer [1] 90/1 0 amount [2] 47/15 
20/17 42/22 77 /1 79/20 24 [1] 59/13 

9 marked [1] 46/4 
advance [1] 47/10 74/14 

80/7 25th [1] 37 /22 
90 [1] 42/7 

after [30) 7/21 7/23 another [11) 5/4 16/23 
13060 [1] 90/22 265,000 [1] 61/5 

920 [1] 22/1 8 
8/3 8/12 12/17 13/2 25/12 30/11 3115 32/6 

14 [3] 3/25 80/14 28 [1] 3/17 14/18 23/19 24/4 36/15 42/20 48/7 56/ 12 61/ 1E 
80/1 7 289-290 [1] 3/19 A 3611 7 48/7 48/8 48/25 82/20 
1500 [1] 44/10 290 [1] 3/19 a.m[1] 1/16 49/2 49/24 49/24 50/3 answer [13) 4/25 4/25 
16 [1] 29/11 295 [1] 21/17 Aberdeen [1] 2/16 50/4 52/16 53/22 54/2 5/1 5/8 6/11 9/11 26/1 
160 [2] 38/12 44/23 295-296 [1] 3/16 ability [1] 90/14 54/21 56/1 84/3 84/24 33/4 50/11 51/4 51/11 
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A 28/15 29/3 29/17 31 /19 48/22 49/23 50/3 52/22 12/16 62/13 65/16 

answer ... [2) 51/15 
32/25 33/8 35/4 35/7 54/16 54/21 54/22 55/3 better [6) 9/2 15/7 certain [1] 54/16 

52/24 35/15 36/24 36/24 39/2 55/16 55/18 55/20 56/1 26/5 44/24 54/25 87/8 chance [5) 21/19 

answering [2) 50/22 
40/3 40/18 4117 41 /7 56/1 56/3 56/5 56/8 between [7) 68/5 7 4/7 28/21 29/6 39/11 42/1 E 

51/6 41 /8 43/23 44/14 45/9 56/8 56/11 56/12 56/14 77/15 80/20 84/8 84/14 check [2) 87/25 88/15 

answers [2) 6/7 6/14 45/14 46/2 47/5 47/19 57/1 57/2 57/3 57/6 87/6 checking [2) 63/3 

any [58) 5/11 6/1 6/15 48/14 52/1 52/1 55/19 57/14 57/16 57/18 big [5) 34/11 34/12 63/5 

6/17 6/19 6122 6/25 m 56/22 59/12 63/3 63/3 57/19 57/21 57/25 58/6 63/22 63/24 64/1 checks [4) 78/15 

7/7 7/10 7/21 8/21 63/14 63/14 67/9 67/9 58/10 58/12 58/12 bill [2) 88/22 88/22 78/24 79/4 79/10 

1 0/15 10/17 11/8 12/20 67/22 68/9 69/1 69/10 58/13 58/15 58/17 bills [1) 48/16 CIRCUIT [2) 1 /1 1 /2 

1 3/3 18/2 19/2 1 9/9 
69/1 0 70/9 70/21 72/3 58/19 58/24 58/25 59/3 bit [8) 6/6 7/13 7/15 city[1) 46/21 

19/19 34/14 34/17 35/9 
72/5 72/13 72/13 81 /14 59/8 59/23 59/25 60/11 40/9 48/10 67/15 83/12 claim[7] 3/183/19 

35/11 35/13 36/22 
86/3 61 /8 61 /11 62/20 63/4 85/20 37/15 39/13 42/14 

36/25 41 /9 44/16 44/18 
aside [1) 21/16 64/2 64/7 64/11 76/21 blank [1) 20/23 42/20 43/2 

44/20 45/1 0 45/11 
ask [15] 5/5 5/5 5/8 79/8 88/8 block [1) 32/5 cleaning [1) 66/19 

45/14 45/15 52/1 56/13 15/7 28/19 38/25 44/25 banker [1) 36/13 book [4) 18/4 18/5 clear (1) 49/5 

59/21 59/25 63/5 64/13 
50/9 50/9 51/5 62/17 banking [1] 59/3 18/6 18/7 close [1] 52/17 

64/13 65/4 66/15 66/15 
62/23 67 /2 76/18 82/7 bankruptcy [2) 6/22 born [3] 42/1 42/2 coin [1) 48/3 

70/3 70/18 73/19 75/17 
asked [6) 41 /20 45/8 36/3 42/5 collateral [2) 55/19 

76/3 79/4 79/10 79/17 58/25 67 /12 76/18 88/6 banks [4] 52/17 52/19 both [6] 40/8 57/3 57/21 

80/3 82/4 85/17 88/24 asking [5] 6/17 45/1 58/23 62/24 69/19 83/21 85/9 86/2 collecting [1] 86/22 

anymore [2) 4/19 45/22 55/15 63/9 barbwire [1] 66/2 bottom [9) 20/12 combine [1) 18/24 

75/17 associated [5) 35/22 based [1) 57/13 20/13 20/22 29/4 46/7 come [6] 24/11 41/4 

anyone [1) 53/22 
47/18 52/6 59/23 60/8 Bates [2] 28/1 6 46/8 68/21 72/23 77/5 77/5 52/1857/1159/463/1L 

anything [6] 5/11 8/21 
assume [4) 5/9 11/7 be [32] 8/23 11 /15 boys [1) 66/24 coming [2] 10/25 

17/19 59/17 76/10 89/3 
50/16 63/8 20/13 20/25 24/14 brawl [1) 34/11 12/15 

anywhere [3) 18/ 14 attorney [9) 2/9 2/14 26/22 31/14 34/2 34/11 break [4) 45/21 62/12 compared [1) 43/7 

84/7 84/14 6/10 6/12 6/19 6/22 7/1 38/1 2 38/14 38/19 66/19 86/13 computer [1] 90/13 

apart [1) 43/14 24/20 46/9 39/22 40/19 41 /22 42/8 brief [4] 26/24 28/24 computer-aided [1) 

appear [3) 38/19 August [3] 1/15 37/22 58/20 63/18 64/20 67/2 62/14 86/15 90/13 

40/19 79/8 90/5 68/9 68/22 72/2 72/2 briefly [1] 4/23 concluded [1) 89/11 

appears [22] 20/13 
August 25th [1) 37/22 72/6 72/10 72/24 7 4/7 broke [2) 17/1 68/22 consider [1] 43/19 

22/14 22/18 23/18 authorized [1) 90/1 0 75/10 77/20 80/20 90/5 Brookings [2) 82/24 construction [2) 7/25 

24/20 29/11 30/19 Ave [1) 90/22 beans [1) 10/8 83/6 8/5 

39/22 40/7 41/8 45/10 Avenue[JJ 4/1483/14 because [19] 9/1 3 brought [2] 34/1 8 contact [1] 70/11 

58/9 67/6 72/1 72/19 86/6 35/3 35/17 36/22 44/25 34/21 contract [1) 70/23 

7 4/7 75/4 75/6 77/9 
aware [9) 30/4 30/6 48/19 49/1 0 49/12 buy [1) 10/21 control [1) 35/2 

80/20 80/25 81 /14 
30/22 33/11 39/2 41 /16 49/23 51/18 52/17 

C 
conversation [1) 23/5 

appreciate [1] 26/21 
45/18 52/2 63/1 53/21 56/11 58/8 63/21 conversations [9] 

approach [1) 62/17 
away[11] 9/1511/23 72/1 0 75/17 76/1 0 call [11] 4/11 1 0/8 22/21 24/25 25/3 33/1i 
12/17 13/2 22/7 23/19 77/20 10/20 26/19 27/4 30/16 34/14 34/17 41/1 57/6 

approximately [13) 
24/4 31/20 41/21 49/25 been [22] 8/1 10/19 46/8 61/12 61/21 61/22 57/13 8/1 13/17 13/19 15/25 

22/18 27/9 38/9 38/12 54/13 12/8 16/7 20/10 26/2 62/2 copy (2] 79/23 8 1 /21 

38/15 44/6 55/5 73/1 B 
36/9 46/1 46/2 57/23 called [6] 4/3 8/24 corn [1) 1 0/8 
59/11 61/17 63/1 63/13 47/25 59/4 62/5 72/2 corner [2) 24/21 46/8 80/7 

are (33) 5/11 5/15 8/17 
back [32) 7/15 18/9 65/1 65/4 66/15 66/16 came [4) 24/15 48/12 correct [49) 1 6/20 
18/10 21/23 25/17 70/11 71/12 86/9 86/20 50/5 88/15 18/12 22/7 23/18 24/1 9/10 21/2 21/4 25/14 48/1 0 48/1 0 50/13 before [31) 2/1 4/19 can [17] 6/6 8/9 19/5 25/ 1 8 25/20 25/22 28/16 28/17 29/8 38/7 

40/9 43/14 43/23 46/13 
50/14 50/17 51/8 51/10 4/20 4/25 5/24 6/17 21/16 23/2 23/18 25/18 27/11 27/15 29/18 30/~ 

50/22 52/15 55/7 60/8 
51/12 51/18 51/21 9/24 10/2 11 /23 14/9 26/22 30/2 33/4 33/16 31/12 31/17 31/20 
51/24 52/1 52/4 52/6 18/21 19/15 22/9 23/6 40/3 48/14 51/4 72/2 32/ 1 2 32/21 33/2 34/2: 

60/11 60/20 61 /1 64/2 53/3 53/24 54/2 54/16 23/7 27 /22 27 /23 28/14 78/6 86/23 35/18 37/9 37/20 37/2: 
64/13 64/15 65/2 66/12 
69/16 74/24 77/3 78/12 

55/16 62/16 62/24 29/9 47 /22 48/6 53/19 can't [7] 19/20 20/3 38/15 38/17 39/4 41/21 

82/10 82/12 
64/14 65/1 65/13 72/18 58/6 58/13 67/21 83/15 34/3 38/2 65/8 84/11 45/16 58/10 59/14 
79/20 83/12 84/7 85/13 85/15 86/10 88/20 60/15 60/17 64/18 area [1) 66/7 

background [1] 7 /13 87/3 cannot [4] 4/16 9/11 64/21 68/14 69/12 72/1 
aren't [1) 69/8 

backup [2) 87/19 beginning [1] 29/1 0 35/6 52/24 75/4 75/18 77/9 77/16 
arguing [1) 25/21 87/20 BEHALF [2] 2/8 2/13 care [6] 10/4 16/1 1 77/19 78/4 80/21 80/2: 
around [9) 14/13 bad [6] 26/1 26/1 behind [2) 36/5 53/21 16/12 21/11 65/19 80/23 81 /3 81 / 1 0 86/ 1 E 
27 /21 28/8 29/17 34/15 
41/148/2452/15 65/20 

36/24 41 /19 49/19 being [3] 4/3 39/16 65/19 could [8] 6/16 18/4 

as [66) 4/3 4/4 8/9 8/9 
65/21 85/7 Carlon [1] 6/23 33/21 34/2 48/1 7 49/11 

11/21 13/12 15/25 
bank [68) 3/20 6/15 believe [2) 16/4 43/9 case [2) 25/5 38/24 59/1 79/11 

1 5/25 1 9/25 19/25 20/6 
46/15 46/17 46/24 4 7/3 bent [1] 66/9 cash [3] 10/8 16/8 couldn't [7) 31/ 13 

20/10 20/20 22/13 
47/2147/2548/7 48/18 best [2) 48/14 90/14 19/13 34/25 35/23 36/ 12 38/1 

25/17 26/17 27/25 
48/19 48/19 48/21 bet [4) 10/17 12/11 cattle [3) 10/5 1 6/7 38/6 59/2 

Filed: 10/9/2023 9:02 AM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 400 -

(2) answer ... - couldn t 
App . 099 

29CIV22-000009 



AFFIDAVIT: OF LEE SCHOENBECK, AND EXHIBITS 1-31 - Scan 2 - Page 93 of 100 

C 63/23 86/18 86/22 87/5 2/1 4/20 4/23 5/19 6/1 don't [59) 5/5 6/25 ever [13] 8/11 1 4/25 

COUNSEL [2] 2/8 
87/11 87/14 88/25 89/5 89/11 9/13 10/22 12/6 14/5 24/23 49/ 19 62/ 17 65/~ 

2/13 DAKOTA [9] 1/1 2/3 depth [1] 4/19 14/915/17 16/116/3 67/2 67/11 70/6 71/15 

COUNTY [9] 1 /2 2/2 
2/3 2/11 2/16 90/1 90/E Derick [3] 82/11 82/20 16/5 16/19 17/11 18/2 71/18 79/17 80/10 

18/6 53/3 53/9 54/7 90/9 90/22 82/22 22/ 10 22/11 22/25 every[5] 8/13 9/14 

86/2 90/2 90/9 date [5] 31/1932/18 described [7] 31 /15 23/13 25/13 31/13 70/24 75/15 76/10 

couple [2] 48/22 45/14 47/9 59/17 31 /25 32/20 32/25 33/8 34/16 38/3 40/15 41/19 everything [5] 24/11 

86/13 dated [4] 20/22 22/5 33/13 43/16 42/4 42/8 43/15 44/25 34/10 48/15 77/23 78/E 

court[16] 1/12/15 
42/25 90/17 describes [2] 22/3 51/18 52/20 52/20 53/1 exactly [1] 48/5 

20/7 21 /13 28/11 39/6 day [9] 2/2 8/13 9/14 39/16 53/12 53/14 55/24 Examination [2] 3/3 

42/11 46/4 50/14 51 /8 
20/23 47/12 90/2 90/5 description [5] 3/14 56/16 59/16 59/16 4/5 

51/12 67/16 71/21 74/1 
90/9 90/17 38/3 42/21 68/21 72/23 59/22 59/25 60/17 61/9 examined [1] 4/4 

76/23 80/14 
deal [5] 24/ 12 24/ 15 descriptions [5] 1812 63/9 66/13 71/11 72/10 excess [3] 87/17 

Courthouse [1] 53/9 
46/19 46/23 86/24 40/8 40/18 40/19 72/25 73/7 77/4 77/14 78/23 87/22 88/24 

Craig [49] 1/3 1/13 2/1 
death [2] 50/4 52/15 Desirae [2] 82/11 83/8 79/11 79/12 82/13 excuse [6] 6/9 21/3 

4/2 4/7 4/84/94/11 Deborah [2] 11 /14 determine [1] 88/2 83/16 84/24 85/1 86/8 21/10 21/22 28/4 64/ 1 r 
5/24 7/14 20/10 20/14 

20/13 Dexter [4] 81/14 82/7 88/17 89/3 exhibit [71] 20/7 

21/16 21118 21/22 
debt [36) 33/22 33124 82/11 82/16 done [3] 50/22 51/7 20/11 21/13 21/16 

21 /24 23/19 25/19 
34/5 34/23 35/3 35/4 did [95] 80/18 24/17 25/8 25/15 25/ 1 r 

28/14 28/21 29/1 32/16 35/24 37/5 37/5 37/11 didn't [28] 10/2 10/9 down [10] 20/22 22/2 27/6 27121 28111 28t 1e 

33/16 37/14 39/9 40/12 46/2 47/19 47/21 48/11 13/3 14/17 15/5 18/12 4719 48/17 49/4 59/1 29/1 29/17 29/25 31/4 

41 /25 42/4 42/14 45/2 48/12 49/12 49/25 34/20 35/2 45/20 48/5 61/14 61/16 68/8 72/1C 31/4 31/15 31/25 32/4 

45/20 46/7 48/14 58/22 49/25 50/5 50/7 51/17 49/2 50/3 56/11 56/13 draft [1] 71/1 32/6 32/20 34/15 39/6 

62/16 67/19 68/5 69/9 
54/25 55/5 57 /8 57/25 57/11 75/17 75/18 drafted [1] 24/21 39/9 39/13 40/4 40/6 

71/24 72/1 74/4 75/1 
60/6 60/8 60/15 62/16 75/23 76/6 76/14 77/21 draw [1] 40/13 40/11 40/16 40/18 

77/177/1680/17 80/20 
62/18 63/13 86/18 78/4 78/4 78/5 79/19 drew [2] 71/5 71/6 40/1942/11 42/14 

83/4 85/20 86/5 86/22 87/11 87/14 79/23 80/3 81 /9 drive [2] 2/10 18/24 42/18 43/7 43/16 43/2, 

credit [2] 61 /6 61/8 
88/25 died [21] 10/2 14/18 drop [1] 59/1 43/22 45/4 46/4 46/7 

crop [1] 10/8 debts [1] 48/16 14/19 16/21 18/21 22/8 d rapped [1] 58/16 58/9 60/7 60/7 63/13 

crops [8] 10/5 10/6 decided [1] 36/13 24/10 26/13 27/9 36/15 dry [3] 7/24 8/4 36/5 67/16 67/19 67/22 69/E 

1 0/7 16/8 17 /8 1 9/2 deed [43] 3/15 3/16 36/17 42/5 48/15 48/24 duly [3] 4/1 4/3 90/10 70/22 71/10 71/21 

19/13 20/1 3/18 3/1911/1317/24 4 9/2 52/ 1 7 53/ 19 53/23 during [4] 8/4 12/4 71/24 72/172/1972/1S 

curious [1] 62/25 
20/1321/521/2122/9 54/2 85/11 85/13 19/17 76/6 72/20 73/22 74/1 74/4 

current [1] 84/8 
22/13 23/9 23/12 23/15 different [5] 39/17 

E 
74/7 75/25 76/23 77/1 

23/25 24/17 25/15 47/21 56/1 57/14 75/15 79/20 80/6 80/7 80/8 
currently [8] 8/19 12/8 

25/17 27/21 27/25 differently [1] 40/10 each [3] 31/24 65/20 80/14 80/17 12/1312/20 12/23 81/6 
83/12 84/15 

29/11 29/17 29/24 30/6 difficult [1] 5/12 74/19 Exhibit 11 [1] 80/8 

cut [4] 9/19 50/22 51 /2 
30/9 30/12 30/19 31 /5 directly [1] 64/15 earlier [5] 29/23 45/8 Exhibit 11 marked [1] 

83/2 
31/19 32/6 32/14 37/15 discovery [2] 46/10 45/20 82/7 86/17 71/21 
37/19 37/24 39/13 86/21 East [5] 4/14 54/11 Exhibit 12 marked [1] 

D 39/22 39/22 40/4 42/15 discussed [1] 69/23 83/14 84/2 86/5 74/1 

Dacotah [11] 56/4 42/20 42/20 43/2 43/6 discussion [2] 26/24 Eight [1] 43/15 Exhibit 13 marked [1] 

56/5 56/8 57/16 57/18 deeded [21) 12/17 28/24 either [1] 41/14 76/23 

57/25 58/5 58/12 58/24 22/22 25/19 25/19 dispute [1] 27/2 electric [1] 88/22 Exhibit 14 [1] 80/14 

58/25 59/8 25/24 26/2 26/12 26/13 ditches [1] 17/20 else [4] 17/19 18/14 Exhibit 4 marked [1] 

dad [40) 9/24 10/ 1 27/13 28/6 29/20 31/16 divide [1] 65/18 66/18 84/14 20/7 

10/2 10/22 11 /2 11 /20 31/20 32/21 33/7 35/18 dividing [1] 20/12 else's [1] 24/19 Exhibit 5 marked [1] 

11/22 12/4 12/11 12/21 37/8 39/16 40/5 40/22 do [129) employment [1] 19/19 21/13 

12/2413/213/10 14/18 45/10 doctor [1] 7/8 encourage [1] 89/5 Exhibit 9 [1] 58/9 

1 4/19 16/21 18/19 deeding [12] 22/14 document [7] 6/7 46/9 end [1] 72/7 exhibits [3] 20/6 40/9 

18/21 24/6 24/10 26/13 23/1 24/25 25/5 30/19 46/1547/558/8 59/17 ended [1] 57/16 41/8 

27/9 35/4 35/23 35/25 31/9 32/14 34/17 34/21 59/21 enough [2] 45/1 55/18 expand [1] 86/23 

36/15 36/17 48/15 38/21 40/6 43/5 documents [3] 6/2 entail [1] 87/12 expenses [6] 64/13 

48/24 49/2 49/24 49/25 deeds [13] 3/17 12/16 6/11 6/12 entering [1] 69/1 7 64/15 87/23 88/7 88/ 1 ~ 

50/7 51 /17 52/17 53/19 20/5 28/16 28/1 7 28/20 does [25) 6/9 22/19 entitled [1] 89/4 89/1 

54/2 54/22 85/11 85/13 29/8 29/12 33/16 34/15 23/21 38/19 40/24 44/3 equipment [1] 50/6 explain [7] 6/6 9/2 

dad's [39] 10/25 11 /7 40/8 41/7 45/10 47/15 63/7 67/23 68/2 ERICKSON [2] 2/10 11/1 15/4 15/23 33/24 

15/17 21/11 33/22 default [1] 57/10 70/13 72/3 72/9 72/21 2/22 87/8 

33/24 34/5 34/23 35/3 Defendant [2] 1/7 7 4/9 7 4/17 80/8 82/16 established [1] 64/16 explained [1] 4/22 

35/4 37 /4 43/21 46/2 2/13 82/22 83/2 83/5 83/6 estate [6] 31/10 32/15 extra [1] 34/3 

47/19 47/21 48/11 deposited [7] 71/13 83/8 83/10 86/7 45/15 51/24 64/10 
F 

48/12 48/15 50/4 53/5 73/16 7 4/20 76/19 79/1 doesn't [2] 55/14 79/8 64/20 

53/16 53/22 54/3 54/10 79/25 82/2 doing [6] 4/24 16/7 eventually [6] 8/14 fair [4] 5/9 45/1 55/18 

54/25 57/8 57/25 60/6 depositing [1] 79/17 24/16 29/25 41/2 88/4 17/127/1328/3 28/5 88/14 

60/8 60/15 62/16 63/12 deposition [8] 1/12 dollars [1] 55/7 37/9 familiar [12) 13/6 13/9 

. . 
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F 81/8 God [1] 36/2 29/13 30/12 31/5 31/9 held [2] 26/24 28/24 

familiar ... [10] 16/15 
find [2] 6/16 20/14 goes [5] 23/4 41 /3 31/25 32/7 32/15 37/1E hell [1] 35/23 

21/4 21/4 21/7 25/15 fine [2] 45/23 45/23 63/17 82/25 87/13 38/14 39/19 41/23 help [6] 19/2 34/5 51 /1 

27/17 29/8 46/13 65/2 finish [6] 4/24 5/24 going [37) 5/8 5/11 42/21 43/9 58/3 65/19 62/17 67/3 67/12 

77/3 9/19 45/22 51/4 51/15 9/19 12/14 15/17 20/4 65/20 65/21 helped [1] 19/22 

family's [1] 44/10 finished [1] 86/12 25/17 27 /8 27 /25 28/19 halfway [1] 20/22 helping [1] 36/11 

far [1 O] 4/24 8/9 15/25 finishes [1] 5/21 29/24 30/6 30/9 30/22 HAND [5] 1 /2 18/6 her [59) 7/8 11 /20 

19/21 19/25 43/14 first [8] 4/3 40/16 32/5 36/12 36/13 41 /25 53/9 54/7 86/2 22/22 23/3 23/4 24/1 8 

51/11 52/1 63/3 63/14 54/17 54/21 61/13 49/8 49/9 49/10 49/22 handed [1] 46/7 24/19 25/5 25/6 25/20 

farm [51) 7/24 8/4 8/7 61/14 72/18 78/20 50/8 52/8 52/17 53/13 handing [4] 20/1 0 26/6 26/8 26/12 28/5 

8/10 8/10 8/12 8/16 
five [8] 10/2 11 /22 57/10 58/20 61/3 65/1 67/19 74/4 77/1 30/1 30/2 30/24 31/9 

8/19 9/ 14 10/2 10/25 
13/24 13/25 14/12 19/5 76/12 77/20 82/23 happened [4] 23/5 31 /20 33/7 33/ 18 33/H 

11 /3 11 /6 12/2 1 2/5 
19/5 50/10 83/1 7 86/4 87 /8 88/2 25/6 33/20 41 /3 33/21 34/8 34/ 10 34/ 11 

1 5/5 15/8 15/18 16/ 11 
fix [2] 65/22 66/2 gonna [1] 48/19 happening [2] 57/1 0 34/17 35/18 36/1 1 37/~ 

18/12 19/11 19/23 
fixed [1] 66/14 good [6] 4/18 4/24 68/16 40/5 40/6 40/22 40/23 

19/25 20/1 44/4 45/3 flooded [1] 66/9 42/4 45/24 66/8 72/25 happens [5] 23/3 41/3 41/5 41 /9 44/25 

48/18 49/2 49/8 49/9 following [1] 4/1 got [19) 6/16 7/8 8/4 24/19 25/12 34/11 54/4 63/8 63/11 75/12 

55/21 55/22 56/22 follows [1] 4/4 12/16 19/21 34/3 36/11 38/24 75/15 75/18 76/10 

62/20 63/4 63/15 63/17 Force [1] 82/23 36/12 36/13 48/13 hard [1] 50/25 76/10 76/12 79/1 7 

64/4 65/5 70/1 71 /13 foreclose [11 49/13 48/15 57/11 62/23 63/8 Hardes [16) 10/20 80/22 80/23 87/25 88/i 

73/16 7 4/20 76/19 79/1 foreclosed [1] 36/6 63/11 63/22 63/25 11/10 11/12 11/13 88/5 88/8 88/1 4 88/1 5 

79/4 79/18 79/25 82/2 foreclosure [3] 36/17 67/25 70/11 11/17 11/19 12/3 12/9 88/ 16 88/21 89/8 

83/20 88/16 49/17 49/20 gotta [1] 18/4 12/13 15/13 20/25 here [18) 5/17 16/15 

farm's [1] 17/20 
foregoing [2] 89/11 graduate [1] 7/17 23/22 44/12 49/6 55/22 20/5 20/1 4 26/ 15 28/ 1 ~ 

farmed [6] 9/22 10/1 
90/5 grain [2] 18/24 19/11 73/5 40/17 41/8 42/14 45/1 ~ 

15/1815/2416/216/13 
form [2] 33/3 50/8 grass [2] 68/24 69/2 harvest [1] 19/17 51/1 55/14 55/14 59/1E 

farmer [3] 18/15 82/17 format [1] 40/1 0 Grassland [1] 68/22 has [6] 36/24 41/9 62/12 67/14 68/13 

82/18 forward [1] 86/4 great [1] 60/19 45/10 45/11 47/5 62/2!: 80/22 

farmers [2] 18/24 found [2] 11 /13 56/12 Greg [1] 81/12 have [77] 4/15 4/19 here's [3] 20/4 20/4 

65/18 four [1] 69/4 ground [29) 8/19 8/22 6/16 8/1 8/15 10/9 21/16 

farming [22) 8/17 9/24 free [4] 33/22 33/22 8/23 8/24 8/25 11 / 1 6 10/19 12/8 12/8 12/14 hers [2] 44/19 44/25 

10/5 11/22 11/24 12/4 33/24 34/2 15/8 15/1816/11 17/18 12/16 12/21 12/23 herself [8] 22/15 

12/11 12/21 12/24 13/6 friend [1] 59/3 17/21 25/21 61/12 13/23 15/5 16/7 17/7 27/14 29/14 30/20 

14/15 14/17 14/17 16/6 front [1] 58/8 61/16 61/18 61/19 17/12 18/12 18/14 19/9 31/16 32/21 40/5 40/7 

1 7 /8 17 / 1 3 18/9 20/ 1 Frontier [16) 3/20 61/21 61/22 61/25 62/2 20/4 20/6 22/9 22/10 HIEB [1] 2/15 

68/2 69/1 72/5 77/9 46/15 46/17 47/3 58/10 62/9 63/23 63/23 64/11 22/22 28/18 28/21 high[9] 7/177/21 

farmland [1] 23/20 
58/13 58/15 58/17 65/21 70/24 73/9 73/9 30/11 31/4 32/4 32/5 7/23 8/3 8/12 58/25 
58/1 9 59/23 59/25 76/11 35/2 35/25 36/9 37/14 82/ 1 4 84/3 84/24 

Farms [10] 56/24 68/6 
60/11 61/8 61/11 64/2 group [5) 3415 63/23 38/11 38/14 39/9 39/11 higher [1] 59/ 10 

69/4 69/10 69/11 69/17 
70/8 77/16 78/12 80/21 

64/7 63/24 64/1 87/5 46110 47/21 56/13 him [6] 24/25 25/3 

farther [1] 7 /16 fu II [5] 14/23 14/25 Growing [1] 83/17 56120 57/23 58/19 50/11 50/22 5111 51/2 

father [6] 9/15 9/23 19/6 19/7 19/13 guess [4] 19/5 54/24 59/21 59/23 59/25 hint [1] 57 /11 

12/17 22/7 23/19 24/4 full-time [5] 14/23 58/22 61/6 60/12 60/15 61/4 61/8 hire [2] 65/23 66/21 

father's [3] 6119 10/12 14/25 19/6 19/7 19/13 guys [4] 68/18 69/23 61/10 61/17 62/20 63/4 his [9] 7/1 7/5 24/6 

52/15 fully [1] 33/21 73/9 84/19 63/5 63/13 63/14 65/1 24/8 24/22 37/5 48/16 

Faulkton [5] 56/6 
Fultons [1] 82/19 

H 
66/5 67/14 70/1 70/18 48/16 49/25 
71/12 71/24 72/11 74/~ history [2] 13/12 86/3 56/10 57/16 57/19 G 

58/12 
had [56) 411 4/19 9/1 75/18 76/14 79/11 BOIE hmm [2] 5/1 5/2 

fault [2] 26/2 83/4 
get [14) 4/19 7/13 13/20 15/5 16/23 19/19 82/8 87/8 89/3 89/6 hmm-mm [1] 5/2 

February [2] 20/20 
24/18 34/23 41 /4 50/4 21/19 22/7 22/22 24/6 haven't[2] 17/14 hold [1] 48/18 

20/23 
52/18 55/15 58/22 24/6 24/25 25/3 26/2 41/20 home[3] 23/441/4 

February 1993 [1] 
63/21 64/4 66/19 75/15 27/24 28/21 29/6 29/23 hay [5] 8/21 8/22 16/8 55/22 

20/23 
87/6 31/16 31/20 31/24 17/16 17/17 homeplace [24] 26/16 

fell [1] 63/22 
getting [5] 6/5 18/9 32/20 33/1 33/7 33/18 he [33) 4/22 5/21 10/2 26/18 27/6 35/13 35/H 
23/3 36/6 79/20 33/25 34/14 35/23 36/3 1 0/23 11 /23 11 /23 1 21:; 36/1 36/18 37/2 37/4 fence [5) 65/12 65/15 

gift [1] 88/5 36/22 36/25 39/3 39/11 12/ 12 12/24 16/23 22/E 37/5 37/8 40/23 43/11 65/18 66/3 66/14 
few [1] 39/17 

give [7] 9/11 22/18 41 /1 42/18 45/14 49/5 36/2 36/3 36/5 36/6 43/13 43/17 43/19 
44/1 44/9 48/14 67/19 49/24 50/1 7 51/10 50/16 50/17 51/6 51/7 43/21 43/23 55/22 

fifteen [1] 4/18 80/17 53/24 57/9 58/6 59/11 51/10 52/1 52/7 52/20 63/18 67/9 68/ 17 73/6 
Fifth [2] 54/11 84/2 given [1] 90/14 65/21 66/7 77 /12 79/11 52/22 53/21 53/22 59/2 80/11 
fight [1] 34/13 go [17] 7/15 7/21 86/1 7 86/17 86/2 1 87 /2 72/3 82/17 82/25 83/2 hooked [1] 63/25 
figured [2] 38/25 
48/17 

18/12 20/5 25/13 25/17 87/10 88/8 88/10 83/5 83/6 house [18] 53/5 53/15 

file [5] 6/19 6/22 6/25 
26/7 26/9 33/4 33/21 hadn't [1] 26/2 he's [2] 82/23 82/23 53/16 53/22 54/3 54/5 

7/5 36/3 
50/3 56/1 59/1 63/3 Hageman [1] 2/22 head [2] 5/1 11/18 54/8 54/1 0 54/ 10 54/ 1 ~ 

final [3] 7 4/24 78/2 
64/4 67 /14 83/4 half [19) 20/12 20/13 health [1] 41 /18 69/22 83/24 84/8 84/8 

.. 
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H 21/23 21/23 22/5 22/18 knee [1] 13/23 40/18 40/19 42/21 longer [3] 33/1 41/9 

house ... [4] 84/14 
26/10 30/11 32/4 37 /19 knees [1] 13/22 68/21 45/14 

84/25 85/9 85/15 37/22 39/25 40/8 41/13 knew [5] 32/2 32/23 less [3] 55/11 58/3 look [45] 6/1 6/4 6/22 

how [42] 4/15 6/25 7/3 
42/14 42/15 42/20 33/13 58/20 76/16 58/17 7/5 7/10 18/4 21 / 18 

7 /14 10/22 12/3 12/3 42/25 43/2 43/12 43/21 know [109] let [11] 4/24 5/6 5/24 21/19 22/13 25/18 

12/4 13/17 14/9 16/1 43/25 44/23 46/15 knowledge [2] 44/3 20/14 21/18 21/23 28/14 28/18 28/21 29/E 

16/2 35/4 38/7 41/25 47/25 50/25 60/2 60/19 73/5 28/14 45/21 64/14 37/14 38/11 39/9 39/11 

43/8 43/14 44/22 48/5 61/15 65/20 67/22 68/5 known [1] 90/5 76/12 80/18 40/3 40/3 40/5 42/15 

48/12 48/12 50/5 50/7 68/8 69/8 72/5 72/10 
L 

let's [2] 8/9 83/17 42/18 46/10 47/5 47/9 

51/17 52/4 55/5 58/1 72/11 73/1 7 4/11 77 /16 letter [2] 29/3 64/25 61/4 67/20 67/22 68/8 

58/5 58/6 59/18 62/25 
77/23 78/21 86/20 label [1] 47/7 letters [4] 29/2 53/7 68/9 69{7 71 /24 72/11 

69/21 82/8 82/12 84/3 
88/20 lack [1] 54/25 53/19 54/7 72/ 18 72/21 7 4/5 7 4/2L 

84/5 84/21 85/2 86/24 J 
laid [1] 40/9 lien [3] 37/6 37/12 77/5 78/2 80/6 80/17 

8 7 /5 88/2 88/2 
lake [45] 27 /1 27 /8 64/17 80/25 81/8 86/13 

Huron [2] 83/9 83/10 
Jim [2] 24/20 24/23 27/24 28/6 29/21 29/21 liens [5] 35/11 35/13 looked [8] 21/20 41/7 
job [1] 4/24 30/14 30/16 30/16 35/20 36/22 36/25 41/7 46/12 57/13 59/4 

I Johnson [2] 11/14 30/18 32/11 35/8 36/20 like [26] 5/4 8/21 13/2 77/2 78/5 

I'd [3] 44/25 51 /16 
20/13 36/20 36/25 37/25 38/4 18/7 24/18 29/24 30/24 looking [3] 40/11 

78/6 
joint [1] 56/20 38/5 38/19 43/14 44/6 40/22 41/18 47/9 48/1 48/13 48/18 

I'll [5] 28/14 28/17 
Jones [2] 24/20 24/23 49/1 6 60/1 3 63/1 9 48/3 50/ 17 52/1 56/11 looks [7] 40/22 47/9 

39/9 51 /1 76/18 
JUDICIAL [1] 1 /2 63/24 64/16 65/5 65/21 59/12 61/6 67/22 68/10 59/12 61/6 67/22 68/9 

I'm [31] 5/25 6/5 6/25 
July (2] 42/25 45/9 65/21 66/16 67/5 67/9 69/23 70/12 70/23 78/5 81/14 

9/19 12/2 12/14 23/18 
July 10 [2] 42/25 45/9 68/10 68/13 69/2 70/16 81/14 86/19 88/20 lost [1] 13/22 

25/18 26/9 26/19 27 /8 
June [7] 22/5 31/12 72/24 73/6 7 4/22 77 /19 line [12] 20/12 61/6 lot (1) 36/19 

28/19 32/5 34/16 35/7 
32/18 32/25 33/8 47 /9 77/25 80/11 81/4 86/1 61/8 65/20 69/1 4 72/12 lower [2] 58/20 59/6 

41 /25 45/22 45/23 49/9 
47/13 86/5 72/16 74/25 75/20 78/3 

June 30 [1] 22/5 land [202] 79/20 81/9 M 
50/16 53/21 54/18 
54/18 60/7 63/9 68/1 June 7 [3] 31/12 32/18 landowners [1] 18/8 lines [1] 69/9 made [4] 10/23 10/24 

72/1 72/6 72/25 83/2 33/8 lands [1] 12/11 listed [4] 22/17 72/20 63/12 63/ 13 

83/3 June 9 [2] 47/9 47/13 Lardy [5] 1/25 2/2 73/3 73/16 mailing [1] 47/7 

I've [9] 29/1 41 /7 46/7 just [70] 4/7 4/23 9/25 90/5 90/21 90/21 lists [4] 22/2 68/9 main (1] 55/21 

62/23 67/21 70/11 10/6 10/12 10/12 15/2 larger [1] 62/8 74/11 74/14 Mainly [1] 19/ 17 

70/11 77/2 79/8 
17/20 18/12 19/11 last[4] 47/1 50/11 little [12] 6/6 7/13 7/15 make [11] 4/24 5/12 

idea [2] 70/18 85/2 
21/17 21/18 23/25 24/4 69/8 72/11 40/9 48/10 62/12 67/15 5/21 5/24 49/7 49/ 11 

identification [11] 
25/1 25/12 28/14 28/18 late [1] 1 0/6 83/12 84/16 84/22 51/19 59/1 64/7 65/18 

20/7 21 /13 28/11 39/6 28/19 29/10 34/2 34/8 lately [1] 65/6 85/20 86/13 86/24 

42/11 46/4 67 /16 71 /21 
34/1 0 36/2 37 /9 38/24 later [3] 10/6 26/12 live [13] 4/9 53/17 makes [1] 11/21 

7 4/1 76/23 80/14 
38/25 40/16 42/15 45/1 36/13 83/6 83/10 83/12 83/15 making [4] 46/3 56/14 

include [3] 74/22 45/21 48/5 48/11 48/13 Law [2] 2/9 2/14 84/3 84/7 84/7 84/10 56/17 88/21 

77/19 81/4 
50/4 50/11 51 /1 52/7 lease (52] 3/21 3/22 84/15 84/17 85/4 many [7] 12/3 12/4 

includes [1] 77 /25 
55/15 59/12 59/14 60/1 3/23 3/24 3/25 17/24 lived [9] 4/15 7/14 13/17 38/7 43/8 44/22 

income [14] 52/1 
62/16 62/25 66/5 67/14 64/4 64/17 64/19 67/23 53/25 54/12 83/18 82/8 

73/19 73/24 7 4/1 9 76/3 67/15 67/19 68/10 68/13 68/19 69/16 84/21 84/25 85/9 85/17 map [1] 18/7 

79/25 80/3 81/23 81/24 68/13 68/19 70/23 69/17 69/25 70/6 70/12 livestock [1] 19/9 March [1] 59/13 

82/4 86/23 87/13 87/17 
72/1 8 73/3 73/5 7 4/8 70/13 70/2D 70/24 71/1 living [7] 53/22 83/15 March 24 (1] 59/13 

88/10 
76/12 77/12 78/21 71/4 71/9 71/15 72/2 84/14 87/23 88/7 88/14 mark [1] 61/3 

individuals [1] 69/11 
78/22 80/17 84/16 85/4 73/12 73/13 73/22 74/7 89/1 marked [15] 20/6 20/7 

interest [14] 28/5 
86/1 86/1 86/12 86/12 7 4/19 7 4/22 7 4/24 LLP [1] 2/15 20/10 21/13 21/17 

31/10 31/20 31/25 87 /19 89/6 89/10 75/25 76/4 76/7 77/3 loan [25) 47/9 47/10 24/1 7 28/11 39/6 42/11 

32/15 33/1 33/7 33/19 K 
77/4 77/6 77/13 77/15 47/15 47/18 47/21 49/7 46/4 67/16 71/21 74/1 
77 /17 77 /19 78/8 78/10 55/155/1956/14 57/1 76/23 80/14 38/22 39/3 40/6 40/23 

keep [10] 30/1 34/8 78/13 79/23 80/6 80/20 57/3 57/10 57/18 57/25 married [3] 84/19 45/11 45/15 
interrogatories [1] 6/7 

49/8 49/9 49/22 62/24 8 1/1 81/4 81/6 81/25 58/5 58/6 59/13 59/18 85/12 85/13 
65/1 7 87/1 87 /5 87/16 leases [4] 67/14 69/4 59/18 60/2 60/7 61/7 math [3] 42/4 42/7 interrupted [1] 26/9 Kelli [6] 1/25 2/2 74/11 78/15 61/17 62/8 63/14 43/25 

involved [5] 11 /23 50/13 90/5 90/21 90/21 leasing (3] 15/8 70/16 loans [10] 48/13 58/19 maturity [1] 59/17 45/3 52/20 52/23 76/7 
involves [2] 16/15 

kept [3] 30/24 87/19 73/4 59/23 59/25 60/10 May [2] 39/25 41 /8 

86/2 
88/25 least [2] 38/22 79/9 60/20 61/10 63/25 64/8 May 2013 (1] 41/8 

is [139] 
kids (1] 82/8 LEE [8] 2/9 4/22 28/17 79/5 May 22nd [1] 39/25 

issue [2] 16/14 26/15 
kind [4] 18/5 18/23 46/1 0 50/25 64/25 locate [1] 70/13 maybe [3] 15/7 48/1 0 

it [255] 
20/12 87/19 7D/11 86/12 located [1] 46/1 7 61/13 

it's [56] 4/1 8 4/25 8/24 
Kirby [7] 72/2 72/13 Lee's [1] 60/1 0 long [12] 4/15 7/14 me [63] 4/24 5/6 6/5 

9/1 5 11 /7 12/1 13/2 
73/4 73/11 7 4f7 75/1 left [5] 24/21 33/23 14/9 36/24 58/5 58/6 6/9 6/12 8/9 11 /1 11/2 

1 3/6 16/16 18/6 20/20 
75/6 46/7 75/13 75/14 59/18 62/25 65/18 84/3 11/2 15/23 20/14 21/3 

21/17 21/21 21/21 
Kludt [1] 6/20 legal [6] 18/2 40/8 84/5 84/21 21/10 21/18 21/22 
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32120 33;1 33f7 3311 7 N 
me ... [48] 21/2323/2 34/434/1434/2135/17-----:-:-:----:-----

191619113
23/1127/2 66/1466/1566/16 

23/13 23/18 23/18 35/18 36/8 36/1 0 36/13 name [49] 4/7 4/8 7/1 
2719 

3
1
/3 33/5 33/18 our [3] 23/14 65/1

9 

24/11 24/16 24/24 25/2 37/8 40/4 40/22 41 /1 1 0/20 1 0/23 13/15 23/3 35/8 44/14 45/9 45/10 65/20 

M 

25/18 26/12 27/16 28/4 41 /9 41 /20 43/5 45/4 2311 0 23/20 23/25 24/5 
45124 6

3/22 66/17 out [39) 8/16 1
0125 

33/16 33/24 36/8 36/1 o 45/10 48/12 48/17 49/2 24/6 24/8 24/11 24/18 
77114 78

/20 82/23 84/7 11 /2 12/15 14/16 14/
1 
E 

36/10 38/2 38/24 45/21 49/4 51/19 52/12 53/2 24/19 24/22 25/1 25/1 NUMBER [1] 3/14 15/8 15/16 16/4 16/9 
48/11 48/14 48/16 491

2 
53/17 53/24 54/2 54/12 2515 25/9 25/12 30/1 numbered [2] 69/8 16/23 18/4 19/22 23/

3 

49/451/551/1956/12 54/1554/2456/13 301230/2434/334/7 
74125 

24/1825/125/534/10 
56/13 56/18 57/12 56/18 56/19 63/22 3418 34/10 36/14 40/23 nurs~ [1] 

8
3/9 36/11 40/9 40/23 41/5 

60/1063/2264/1
4 

69/1870/2572/13 41l541/941/1341/13 nursmg[1] 23/4 48/1749/757/1
16311

, 
64/1664/1764/25 73/1478/386/1886/22 4711 47/547/647/6 0 63/2163/2464/1165~~ 
66/24 69/18 70/24 87/2 87/7 87/11 87/23 60/11 60/12 75/11 ------- 67/11 79/4 79/1 o 80/~( 
70/2572/173/373/14 87/2488/388/1488/19 7511 577/2078/19 oa!h[

1
l 

9
oi

1
o 82/1485/1285/13 

78/2180/1887/
10 

88/2188/25 78/1978/2280/22 obJect[2] 33/350/8 85/15
88115 

mean [8] 6/912/22 mom's [12) 23/10 24/8 80123 Odde [
11

1 
7212 72

113 outlining [1] 64/25 
15/4 16/12 33/24 66/2 24/1 0 24/11 25/1 25/9 named [1] 11 /19 

7314 73111 7 41
7 75/1 outstanding [1] 50/1 

86/25 8 7/9 36/11 41 /1 8 77 /20 names [5] 23/ 14 33/23 
7516 77116 

7 8/12 80/21 over [15] 5/25 231
13 

meaning[1] 49/12 78/1980/2283/25 33l2578/2082/10 
81112 

24/1035/1635/1736/E 
means [1] 6/6 money [11) 11 /6 11 /8 Nebraska [6] 46/18 Odd es [2] 

73
113 77 /13 36/7 36/8 43/5 491

2 

meant [2] 60/2 82/7 63/17 65/4 66/16 66/19 46119 46/23 47/3 58/10 off [
17

1 
9119 1513 

59/14 66/9 75/11 78/
6 

meanwhile [1] 591
2 

69/25 70/3 73/15 79117 59/3 
18

111 18/20 26/22 87/
3 

medical [1] 7/7 88/24 need [5] 16/1 45/20 26/24 28/23 28/24 owe [2] 52/1 53/10 
medications [1] 5

111 
month [1] 42/2 51/1562/11 64/20 

50122 
51/265/1777/21 own [14] 8/2

2 10115 

meet[1] 24/23 more[8) 6/619/20 neede_d~1] 18/11 
7811978

!2083/287/12 10/1712/912/1
31511

[ 
mention[3] 45/20 42/1452/2261/672/19negotiatmg[2] 73/13 

87
~
17 

44/1663/863/1175/1 
51 /21 81 /8 80/7 89/3 7617 office [

11 6011 
O 76/6 88/8 88/15 89/1 

mentioned[11] 7/14 mortgage[3] 37/6 never[10] 36/2249/160h[
7
1

11119 13
l20 owned[6] 11/1913/

1
( 

9/14 13/12 28/3 30/24 37/12 64/17 67/1175/25 76/3 79/12 
18115 2

0l24 23/13 15/21 33/13 52/7 75/22 

34/23 34/24 49/23 78/2 mortgaged [1] 49/13 791138111 9 81/2182/46°
117 51118 

owner [2] 26/14 27/10 
86/17 86/20 mortgages [5] 35/9 n~w [3] 13/3 66/5 66/7 K [8] 

13116 14
13 ownership [1] 45/14 

met [1] 4/22 35/13 35/20 36/22 Nilson [2] 62/5 62/6 
14113 14115 14

l19 owns [2] 44/18 44/21 
Michael [23) 11

6 2119 
36/25 no [135) 14/21 18/11 19/21 

12/1716/1527/14 most[2] 1411788/14 nods[1] 11/18 okay[201] P 
27/25 29/14 29/20 

3017 
Mostly [1] 10/6 none [1] 25/20 old [4] 41/25 76111 =P-.C-[_1_]2-/

2
-
2
---

32/21 33/8 33/13 34/24 mother [17) 9/4 12/16 Nope [1] 66/9 
82112 8512 

p.m [1] 89/12 
39/241/1445/1262/17 22/1429/1231/931/16North[3] 29/1332/7 one[38] 

21151
1/4 page[17] 3/23/14 

67/2 70/3 72/16 75/20 32/14 39/22 43/2 47/6 39119 
21110 2312 

23/14 31/9 29/2 29/3 39/25 40/16 
79/21 86/2 7 4/8 76/6 78/18 79/5 Northstar [6] 68/5 

31125 32115 
35/23 69/8 72/6 72/11 7211

1 

Michael's [1] 35/8 79/9 79/18 81 /9 69/4 69/1 0 69/11 69/16 
42114 47122 

48/1 48/1 £ 72/18 7 4/11 7 4/24 77/E 
Mickelson [1] 2/10 mother"s [4] 7/7 23/20 7018 

5019 50111 5
0112 51 /16 78/3 80/25 81/8 

might [1] 8/15 24/4 88/7 Northwest [6] 29/12 
51117 52

l22 55/1 55/1 ~ pages [5] 21/17 2
8115 

Mike[8] 67/1269/14 move[1] 53/24 32/737/1538/1139/19 
611461156

1/561/13 32/442/1569/7 
71/15 73120 75/25 80/3 moved [6] 54/2 83/22 42122 61114 63122 

63/24 64/1 paid [10] 64/20 65/1 
81/19 8214 85/6 85/12 85/13 85/15 not [34) 5/4 5/25 7/14 

6414 6417 
69/16 77/8 79/25 87/23 87/24 

miles [3] 43/12 43/15 moving [1] 84/7 9/3 12/1 12/2 13/2 
77112 7811

2 79/1 84/1 E 87/25 88/14 88/24 
43/17 Mr [1] 3/3 15/18 19/25 23/22 

8715 
88/25 88/25 

Miller [10) 4/1 o 4/13 much [8] 16/1 16/2 28116 34/8 36/20 40113 one-half [3] 31 /9 Pamela [8] 1/3 212
1 

7 /18 24/20 47 /25 54/5 19/20 35/4 52/4 55/5 4214 44/10 45/3 45/22 
31125 32115 

21 /22 21 /24 37/20 
54/19 84/12 84/2

2 8616 
58/1 88/2 49/16 50/16 54/18 one-year [1] 77/12 39/23 43/3 85/

7 

million [4] 55/7 58/3 multiple [2] 3/17 50/9 60/19 61/3 63/1 65/6 ones [
1
1 

5
2/20 Pamela's [1] 47/5 

61/562/8 must[3] 24/1431/14 66/1772/25 74/24 75/8only[
6
] 23/2024/6 paperwork[5] 6/5 

mine [1] 45/3 72/1 0 80/9 80/22 84/6 86/20 
26114 2

711 O 33/25 37 /~ 21 / 11 48/ 16 701
24 

minus [1] 12113 my [40) 4/8 9/15 9/24 88120 open [
1
1 

6
3/1 75/15 

minute [4] 21/18 10/210/2311/213/22 notary[3] 2/2 32/5 opened [1] 62/21 paragraph [2] 68/8 
28/18 42/15 5

7120 
23/2 23/15 24/24 2612 90/9 operat~s [1] 72/3 77/6 

missed [2] 43/5 43/l 
0 

36/14 42/7 43/25 44/21 nothing [4] 14/1 8 operation [2] 10/5 paragraphs [1] 5
8111 

mm [2] 5/1 5/2 45/9 49/5 50/11 51/19 33122 60/12 60/15 
1317 

Paralegal [1] 2/22 
mm-hmm [1] 5/1 53/5 53/16 53/24 55/23 notices [3] 53/3 67/6 original [1] 47/15 parcels [2] 16/1 39/17 

mom [76] 13/3 13/1 o 56/18 57/8 58/16 58/25 6718 
0th

er l2
6
l 

817 121
3 parents [4] 9/1 15/21 

22/22 22/25 23/2 231
13 

66/24 67/5 69/18 73/9 November [3] 42/3 
1217 121

9 16/9 19/19 83/18 85/5 
24/11 24/15 24/24 25/2 75/11 77/20 78/19 8314 61114 62/8 

32111 34114 
44/16 parents' [6] 15/1 3 

25/325/1926/14
27110 

83/2584/1887/23 November30[1] 
4411

844/2058/19 19/2584/8
8 

2712 4 2813 28/5 29/23 88/1990/14 6111 4 58123 58123 59/23 85/9 

411 4 841

2' 
30/19 30124 31/19 myself [2] 57/5 90/13 now [25] 12/8 12/22 

59125 6
0/10 60/20 63/5 part [15) 13/12 15/2 

15/18 16/1 18/15 1913 63125 64113 65/4 65/1 E 15/24 15/24 18/11 
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p 31/2131/2232/11 5/8 5/9 13/5 26/1 33/4 related [1] 60/20 12/13 15/11 17118 

part ... [1 OJ 19/21 26/8 
39/16 50/14 51/8 51/1 2 36/24 45/8 49/19 50/1 0 relinquishing [1] 17 /21 17 /25 44/14 

26/12 30/14 34/24 portions (2) 39/3 52f7 51/6 60/19 33/18 60/23 60/24 61/10 

43/11 43/19 72/7 73/1 2 possibly [1] 88/12 questions [6] 5/13 remaining [1] 59/13 61/12 61/16 61/19 

87/17 posts [2] 66/5 66/7 6/10 6/14 28/19 45/22 remember [10) 22/21 61/21 61/22 61 /25 62/: 

part-time [3] 15/2 preparation [1] 7/10 50/9 22/25 23/2 34/16 41/1 62/9 63/23 80/8 80/1 0 

18/11 19/21 prepare [1] 5/25 quit [9] 3/18 3/19 41/18 52/20 53/14 Roach's [1] 62/9 

passed [11] 9/15 PRESENT [1] 2/18 13/20 14/1 D 37/15 56/16 83/16 road [4] 7 /25 8/5 

11/23 12/17 13/2 22/7 pretty [3] 13/6 13/9 39/13 42/14 42/20 43/ 2 rent [7] 14/17 68/18 61/19 61/24 

23/19 24/4 41 /2D 49/2 4 58/25 quite (2) 42/7 44/10 73/9 73/15 76/19 78/1E rock [1] 66/20 

54/12 54/22 
previously [2] 31/16 Quoin [20) 47/25 48/3 85/17 Roslyn [1] 90/22 

passes (1) 49/25 
32/21 48/8 48/22 49/23 50/3 rental [13] 63/18 row [1] 50/10 

pasture [6] 16/9 16/18 
price [1] 71/11 54/18 54/22 55/3 55/1 6 69/23 70/18 71/12 RPR [3] 1 /25 90/5 

1 6/20 1 6/21 16/24 
principal [2] 47/1 0 55/1 8 55/2D 56/1 56/7 73/19 73/24 74/14 90/21 

65/13 
59/13 56/11 56/14 57/1 57/2 74/19 76/3 79/25 80/3 rule [1] 5/4 

Patricia [15) 21/22 printout [1] 59/12 57/6 57/18 81/23 81/24 rules [1] 4/23 

21/23 21/24 22/14 probably [6] 4/22 36/2 
R 

rented [7] 8/19 15/16 Run [1] 18/24 

29/12 29/20 32/14 68/ 5 
45/8 73/9 87/13 88/19 16/ 4 1 6/9 16/23 68/9 RYAN [1] 2/14 

69/9 72/13 7 4/25 75/8 probate [1] 6/19 raising [2] 16/7 17 /8 78/20 

77/15 79/9 80/2D proceedings [3] 4/1 Range [1] 42/22 renting [2] 14/16 s 
Patricia's [1] 47/6 90/5 90/13 rate [2] 69/23 70/18 80/10 safe [1] 13/6 

pay [1 OJ 34/5 53/ 12 production [1] 6/8 rather [1] 5/1 rents [1] 71/18 said [11] 9/21 11122 

62/17 64/1 0 64/23 prompted [2] 58/15 rationale [1] 34/24 repaid [1] 48/12 18/10 19/9 24/15 24/H 

67/12 85/17 87/11 88/2 
58/23 reached [11 67 /1 1 repeat [1] 12/14 49/23 51/5 54/10 59/2 

88/25 pronounce [2] 7/3 read [6] 50/13 50/14 REPORTED [1] 1/25 82/20 

paying [4] 10/25 11 /2 
48/5 51/8 51/10 51/12 89/4 reporter [14) 20/8 same [10) 11/16 27/21 

86/9 86/22 pronounced [1] 48/3 reading [2] 23/16 89/5 21/14 28/12 39/7 42/1, 29/17 33/20 40/840/11 

payment [5] 61/14 pronouncing [1] 7/1 ready [1] 66/1 9 46/5 50/15 51/9 51/13 45/5 57/21 70/9 70/21 

61 /16 63/18 64/4 64/7 property [4] 27/10 real [7] 31/10 32/15 67/17 71/22 74/2 76/2~ sat [2] 48/1 7 49/4 

payments [17) 10/23 27/13 27/14 64/18 45/15 51/24 52/17 80/15 SAUCK [1] 2/15 

10/24 46/2 49/11 56/15 provide [2] 79/23 8013 64/10 64/2D request [1] 86/4 saw [1] 17/24 

56/17 58/16 58/17 provided [9) 6/12 really [2] 5/4 35/23 requested [3] 50/14 say [23) 6/ 13 9/20 

58/20 58/25 59/6 59/8 
60/1 0 64/25 70/3 73/19 reason [6] 33/20 41/3 51/8 51/12 10/ 16 10/22 10/24 

63/12 63/13 63/24 76/3 81/21 82/4 87/10 45/4 45/5 56/1 o 62123 response [3) 20/21 12/10 13/6 13/25 15/1, 

71/12 88/21 Public [2] 2/2 90/9 recall [6] 17 /3 22/1 o 39/18 46/20 16/1218/20 33/544/2~ 

PC [1] 2/10 purchase [2] 13/3 55/19 59/8 65/8 79/17 responses [1] 86/21 49/9 51/16 52/8 52/11 

Pender [4] 46/22 
6214 receipt [2] 86/3 86/4 rest [2] 24/3 73/3 53/12 56/19 66/2 87/21 

46/23 4 7/3 58/1 D 
purchased [8] 8/25 receive (2) 67/6 67/8 restroom [1] 62/11 88/14 89/6 

people [2] 16/9 57 /6 
9/6 11/10 50/17 60/3 received [10) 9/4 retirement [1] 88/10 saying [4] 25/14 53/10 

per [1] 7 4/14 
60/21 61/23 61/24 11/14 28/17 46/9 69/25 review [4] 40/18 45/9 60/8 87/1 o 

Perfect [1] 26/21 purchasing [3] 35/25 71/19 73/15 74/20 67/5 72/5 says [8] 21 /21 46/15 

period [2] 12/5 24/5 50/6 50/6 81/24 86/21 reviewed [2] 6/17 79/8 55/14 55/15 68/21 

person [2] 1 6/23 purpose [3] 24/16 receiving [1] 53/3 RICHARDSON [1] 72/12 77/6 77/17 

46/23 2515 38/21 recess [2] 62/14 86/15 2/15 SCHOENBECK [3] 2/t 

person's [1] 65/ 16 
put [19) 8/21 8/22 recollection [4] 17 /12 right [70) 7/1 7/2 8/6 2/10 2/22 

pertains [1] 37/24 10/23 11/8 17/16 17/17 56/7 70/15 71/8 9/16 12/15 14/2 14/4 school [10) 7/17 7/21 

phone [1] 69/21 
27/25 29/1 34{7 36/14 record [6] 26/22 26/24 15/15 15/20 16/1 16/1 i 7/23 8/3 8/1 2 82/14 

pie k [1] 1 8/4 
41/25 49/4 51/19 52/12 28/23 28/24 89/6 90/14 16/25 18/13 19/8 19/2~ 82/24 83/17 84/3 84/21 

picking [1] 66/20 
54/15 65/15 66/5 66/7 recorded [1] 90/13 20/10 21/16 22/9 22/Vi schooling [1] 7/21 

pieces [1] 22/2 
75112 records [6] 6/15 7 /7 22/16 22/19 23/17 sosu [1] 82/25 

PL [5] 3/16 3/18 3/19 
putting [3] 16/7 65/12 62/24 62/25 79/13 23/21 23/22 23/24 24/'., searching [1] 58/23 

21/17 46/8 
78122 85/21 24/3 26/20 28/2 29/1 season [2] 69/1 77 /10 

place [5] 30/22 59/4 Q 
Rediger [1] 7/1 30/3 3 1/23 34/1 34/22 seasonal [2] 18/25 

81 /6 84/16 84/22 
reduce [1] 57/8 35/19 38/12 38/13 19/15 

Plaintiffs [2] 1 /4 2/8 
Q-U-0-1-N [1] 48/1 refer [6] 26/17 29/2 38/16 40/12 40/17 42/E seasonally [1] 19/22 

plant [1] 19/2 
quarter [23) 10/20 29/3 43/23 47/18 56/22 42/7 43/25 43/25 44/3 seasons [1] 72/5 

plat [2] 18/7 18/7 
11 /15 20/1 7 23/22 reference (1] 86/1 45/9 47/14 47/16 49/3 second [1 OJ 4/14 

please [4] 33/5 42/16 
29/12 29/13 30/13 referring [2] 35/7 46/2 49/4 49/7 50/21 51/22 26/22 28/23 39/25 

51/5 67/20 
30113 31/6 31/6 32/7 refinance [1] 54/25 58/12 61/18 61/23 64/2 49/22 72/6 77 /5 80/25 

plus [1] 75/1 
32/8 37 /16 38/11 39/19 refinanced [2] 55/18 67/24 68/1 68/1 68/3 83/14 86/6 

point [7] 11/1 9 15/11 
42/22 43/9 49/5 55/23 57/18 69/2 70/13 71 /11 72/3 section [17) 11 /15 

16/20 31/24 35/20 
55/23 61/18 61/24 62/5 regarding [1] 54/16 77/14 79/14 80/24 86/7 16/16 17/22 20/17 

45/21 68/24 
quarters [2] 38/8 regular [1] 56/15 88/1 20/22 22/2 25/20 29/1: 

pointing [1] 70/22 
48/23 regularly [2] 88/20 Roach [26) 8/24 9/1 30/13 31/6 32/8 37/16 

portion [8] 29/21 
question [13) 4/25 5/5 88/21 9/3 10/9 12/7 1 2/9 38/5 38/17 39/20 42/2'. 
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short [11 65118 67/23 68/3 70/13 72/3 
section ... [1] 72/24 show [2] 15/5 79/13 72/9 74/9 8617 T their [3] 33/25 65/19 
Security [1] 88/12 showed [1] 69/22 sounds [1] 70112 take [24] 8/9 21/17 82/10 
see [42] 7/8 20/15 showing [4] 53/5 south [15] 1;1 213 213 22/19 28/18 30/22 them [45] 6/17 7/8 

s 

20/18 20/20 21/1 0 53/15 53/20 54/7 2/11 2/16 30/12 31/5 37/14 39/9 42/15 44/1 7/10 7/10 10/8 18/18 
21/25 22/3 22/5 22/15 shows [3] 18/8 59/21 31/6 37/16 38/14 82117 44/9 46/10 49/2 49/7 18/19 18/20 18/23 19/: 
23/4 24/17 25/14 29/15 86/3 90/1 90/6 90/9 90122 56/12 62/12 63/24 19/719/13 20/5 20/6 
30/2 31 /3 31/7 31/13 shy [1] 7 4/8 southeast [3] 11115 65/19 65/19 71/2474/.:1 28/18 29/9 33/21 35/2 
32/9 37/17 37 /22 39/13 sic [1] 9/22 20/17 30/1 3 77/21 78/6 80/17 86/13 40/20 53/12 58/16 59/1 
39/17 39/23 42/23 sign [7] 75/8 75/18 southwest [4] 29113 taken [5] 2/1 4/20 59/4 59/5 61 /1 61/2 
42/25 43/3 46/8 47/7 78/4 78/4 78/5 81/9 30/12 31/5 32/8 62/14 86/15 90/5 61/4 62/17 63/25 65/1i 
48/16 59/16 59/16 ~9/4 spelled [1] 4811 taking [3] 5/17 7/8 65/21 67/12 67/15 
68/10 69/9 69/11 72/8 signature [9] 69/9 spent[4] 6514 66115 21/11 69/18 69/19 70/6 71/11 
72/12 7 4/15 75/2 77/4 69/14 72/12 72/16 66/16 66/1 9 talk [9] 5/25 27/8 34/8 71/18 73/22 73/24 76/'. 
7717 78/6 82/7 7 4/25 75/20 78/3 79/20 splice [1] 6616 36/17 46/1 67/15 71/15 78/19 79/1 79/23 81/21 
seem[1] 74/17 ~1/9 split[1] 15/25 71/1888/21 then[28] 7/248/4 
seen [4] 22/9 22/11 signed [11] 33/17 spoke [1] 78112 talked [11] 23/2 29/23 8/15 11/21 15/23 23/9 
29/967/21 75/475/678/878/10 spot[1] 41125 45/1559/269/1669/1c 24/1125/1527/1328/'. 
sell[10] 33/2133/24 81/1281/1281/14 stamp[1] 4619 69/1975/2576/10 28/1936/537/938/14 
34/2 34/3 34/25 36/12 81/19 82/8 90/17 stamped [1] 28116 78/16 85/20 40/5 44/6 44/12 48/16 
48/22 56/1156/1357/7 signing [1] 89/6 stapled [1] 28115 talking [15] 5/25 9/10 49/22 50/17 54/2 55/2'. 
selling [1] 48/20 signs [1] 70/25 start [6] 15/81914 9/2514/12 22/25 26/19 57/5 61/17 63/24 65/2( 
sense [1] 11/21 similar [1] 71/9 29/10 48/2D 58123 37/4 43/13 44/9 49/3 83/6 90/9 
sent[7] 6/1078/15 since(S] 8/1118/20 78/22 52/1555/763/1266/12there[59] 4/1511/4 
78/16 78/18 78/24 63/14 76/6 86/9 started (SJ 18118 87/24 11/1312/20 13/513/1; 
85/22 86/5 sir [6] 4/215/35/7 36/1148/18 78119 tax [6] 67/6 67/8 85/21 13/19 14/9 14/2515/1 '. 
separate[6] 43/6 5/107/47/6 78/2085/24 85/2186/386/4 22/1725/1231/334/11 
43/20 44/12 44/14 six [4] 13/20 13/25 starting [1] 7919 taxes (21] 50/17 50/20 34/16 35/4 35/8 35/13 
53/25 68/19 14/12 82/23 starts [1] 39119 51/16 51/21 51/24 52/1 35/20 36/17 38/7 39/1i 
separately (2) 8/25 small [1] 8/11 state [6] 1/l 213 417 52/152/452/6 53/4 40/11 40/12 44/20 
80/1 0 snow [1] 66/9 25/13 89/13 9019 53/10 54/16 64/1 o 46/21 46/23 47/1 O 
September (3] 29/11 so [147) stay [1] 34/4 64/20 65/1 66/15 67/5 50/10 50/10 52/22 53/~ 
31/2 90/17 Social [1] 88/12 Ste [1] 2110 86/9 87/21 87/22 88/25 53/17 53/20 54/16 
September16[1] sod[4] 15/1815/21 stenotype[1] 90113 Taylor[1] 2/22 54/2457/357/558/6 
29/11 15/24 16/2 still [

1
0] 8117 17115 tell [17] 4/16 8/9 24/16 64/13 64/19 65/7 65/9 

September16th[1] some[27] 4/226/11 23/925/930/236110 31/1333/1635/635/22 66/1869/1470/20 
31/2 11/1311/1912/17 39/2 43/19 50/1 66/8 38/138/238/6 50/25 75/13 75/14 75/16 
set[1] 21/16 12/18 16/20 20/5 27 /13 stop [4] 8/14 4919 70/6 73/3 73/22 73/24 75/21 78/6 79/21 80/17 
seven [4] 13/20 19/5 28/19 30/6 30/9 37/6 49/22 5715 84/11 89/8 83/15 84/3 84/11 84/1 i 
19/5 62/24 43/5 44/21 45/21 49/12 stopped [8] 8115 ten [3] 4/17 17/1 o 85/4 90/9 

several [7] 22/2 22/17 49/25 49/25 56/12 57/7 12/12 12/25 14113 1717 43/15 there's [25] 20/11 
28/15 28/16 50/3 52/16 69/10 75/23 86/17 17/12 17/14 2011 ten miles [1] 43/15 20/12 20/22 22/17 27/1 
65/1 86/20 86/21 87/2 store 11] 8/15 term [2] 54/25 77/6 28/15 39/17 43/6 49/2~ 
sewer [1] 88/22 somebody [2] 24/18 story [1] 55118 testified [2] 4/4 29/23 63/3 64/16 64/17 64/2( 
shake[1] 5/1 65/23 straight[1] 9111 testimony[1] 90/14 69/1472/1272/16 
she[GO] 13/323/1 someone[3] 11/19 Street[3] 211554111 than[14] 5/1 7/16 72/1974/25 75/20 
23/4 25/12 26/12 26/13 17/1 66/21 84/2 12/3 12/7 12/9 44/24 77 /23 78/3 79/20 80/6 
27/13 27/16 27/16 something [19] 5/4 stretch [1] 6616 52/22 58/3 58/23 59/6 81/8 87/23 
27/19 27/24 28/4 29/24 23/3 24/19 25/6 25/12 stuff [2] 1515 18111 59/1 o 61/6 66/14 80/7 thereabouts [1] 43/9 
30/6 30/9 33/18 34/7 33/20 34/10 38/24 41/3 supplemental [1 that [365] thereof [1] 90/1 O 
34/8 34/10 34/18 35/2 43/20 49/4 51 /19 51 /21 64/25 ] that's [51] 5/11 9/3 Theresa [28] 2/20 
41/241/341/541 /25 52/1254/1555/1457/9suppose[1] 81123 10/20 11 /1611/17 12/181 6/1527/14 
42/1 42/2 42/4 42/7 59/1 87/10 supposed [1] 8717 11/20 16/14 17/22 27/25 30/9 30/20 31/1"i 
42/8 43/10 44/18 44/24 Sometimes [1] 50/25 sure [23) 4118 4122 23/15 23/15 24/3 24/2'.; 31/24 34/25 39/3 41/ 1, 
45/5 45/11 45/14 54/12 somewhere [2] 7/23 4/24 5/2l 5124 7114 26/1 26/5 27 /4 27/6 45/ 12 62/17 67/2 67/11 
75/8 75/17 76/7 78/3 11/13 9/25 16/5 16/19 19/25 29/20 31/5 31/15 32/2: 69/14 70/4 71/16 72/H 
78/4 78/5 78/5 78/6 son [2] 81 /17 82/20 22/10 23/14 31114 3317 33/22 34/5 34/7 36/13 73/20 75/20 76/1 79/21 
79/10 79/11 79/11 sorry [16] 5/22 5/22 34/16 35/23 4218 50116 38/17 38/25 39/25 80/4 81/19 82/4 86/2 
79/11 79/12 79/13 9/19 12/2 12/14 14/7 52/9 53/21 54118 86114 41 /11 44/19 44/25 45/2 Theresa's [1] 35/8 
79/19 81 /9 83/8 83/1 o 14/8 26/9 50/24 50/24 86/20 45/23 46/8 48/1 48/3 these [16] 28/19 29/6 
85/6 85/7 88/6 88/7 60/7 60/18 68/1 72/7 surgery [1] 13123 49/3 54/19 60/2 60/19 29/8 40/13 41 /8 45/10 
88/10 83/2 83/3 switch [

1
] 58115 61/4 6 1/5 63/10 65/4 52/6 53/3 53/19 61/3 

she's [5] 29/25 40/6 sort [1] 37/6 switched 141 24110 66/15 66/16 68/10 67/21 68/18 70/23 
63/8 63/11 83/9 sound [12] 22/19 58/6 58/9 75111 70/24 73/22 83/1 83/2: 73/15 76/6 77/20 
shop [2] 13/13 13/15 23/21 40/24 44/3 47 /16 sworn [1] 414 88/6 they [65) 6/7 6/7 6/10 Thee [1] 6617 6/11 19/9 19/9 28/16 
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T 1 0/1 2 14/23 1 4/25 1 5/2 75/1 78/19 81/23 wanted [10) 15/3 West [1] 42/21 

they ... [58) 28/17 
18/11 18/11 19/6 19/7 type [1] 1 0/7 25/12 34/4 34/10 38/2!: what (116) 
19/13 19/21 21/10 23/2 41 /5 48/22 56/11 59/5 what's [6] 4/13 20/10 33/21 33/25 34/2 34/2 
23/1 4 24/5 26/13 27 /21 u 79/11 50/12 54/10 71 /3 78/9 

34/3 36/12 40/9 40/19 
29/17 34/15 48/24 under [51 23/12 47 /6 warranty [51 3/16 whatever [1) 29/3 

41/4 43/14 48/22 49/13 
52/15 56/25 70/24 69/25 77/17 81/24 21/21 30/11 32/6 40/4 when[64) 7/810/24 49/16 49/17 53/5 53/12 
75/15 76/1 0 84/19 86/9 understand [7) 5/5 was [207) 12/24 13/ 19 14/13 53/12 53/15 53/21 

timeframe [2) 71 /9 5/12 5/1 7 23/9 25/8 wasn't [7] 11 /23 17 /5 14/ 19 15/3 15/5 15/7 53/25 56/11 57/7 57/9 
7617 40/14 88/7 25/24 33/20 36/10 42/i 16/ 12 16/21 1717 17/1 57/9 57/11 57/11 58/16 

timeline [2) 48/14 understanding [4] 45/8 18/11 18/18 18119 19/L 59/2 59/2 59/4 59/4 
50/5 9/15 48/11 70/8 71 /8 Watertown [3] 2/3 20/1 21/10 21/18 22/ 11 

59/10 59/11 60/15 
times [1] 1 3/24 understood [1) 5/9 2/ 11 90/6 23/5 23/13 24/ 10 27/1 t 

60/17 62/5 63/14 64/2 
tire [1 OJ 8/15 13/13 undivided [4] 26/10 way [3) 15/7 34/2 28/8 29/2 33/16 35/16 

65/19 69/22 70/23 
13/16 14/3 14/13 14/15 31/9 31/24 32/15 83/17 36/5 36/7 36/11 36/13 

70/24 71/7 74/24 75/13 
14/19 14/21 18/11 unless [1) 61 /3 we [42) 4/19 9/ 10 37/4 43/13 48/15 49/9 

75/14 75/23 75/23 
19/21 until [19) 7/24 8/4 10/20 10/22 10/24 20/!: 52/11 52/11 52/17 77/20 78/16 78/18 

today [6) 5/15 5/17 6/1 9/22 9/25 10/15 10/17 24/17 26/22 28/17 54/15 54/24 55/16 
78/18 78/19 78/20 

6/17 7/11 45/16 12/12 12/24 13/25 33/23 34/5 34/18 36/ 11 55/ 18 56/ 19 56125 65/i 
78/20 78/22 82/12 

together [9] 11 /2 14/18 26/14 27/9 27/9 38/ 11 38/14 46/8 47 /9 65/13 66/2 66/1 8 68/8 
they'd [11 67/2 

28/15 48/15 49/4 51 /19 34/3 49/2 50/3 54/12 48/1 7 48/19 49/4 49/ 11 69/7 72/1 8 7 4/24 78/2 they're [2) 18/24 19/1 1 
52/12 54/15 63/25 67/23 85/6 52115 55/7 56/13 6114 78120 78122 8016 80/1! things [1] 86/13 
69/18 up [34] 8/21 8/22 15/6 61/12 61 /21 62/11 80/25 81/8 85/ 17 85/2L think [14) 19/20 22/11 

told [8] 27/16 27/1 9 16/7 17/1 17/16 17/17 63/22 63/24 65/ 19 66/7 87/24 40/11 41/19 41/23 
27/24 48/19 54/4 57 /9 21 /23 24/11 24/15 66/12 66/19 69/7 78/ 16 whenever [1] 12/12 

44/23 54121 54/21 
64116 78/6 24/21 34/18 34121 38/7 8118 85/12 86/24 87/3 where [25] 4/9 7 /1 7 

61 /13 6215 76/18 84/24 
too [4] 48/7 63/25 40/13 48/1 0 4811 0 53/5 8713 87/ 19 22/3 23/4 29/11 33/21 

85/2 85/20 
64/1 83/12 53/15 53/20 54/7 57/16 we"II [3] 29/10 34/23 36/12 39/16 40/4 40/6 thinking [21 54/18 

took [12) 10/4 15/3 64/14 65/1 2 65/15 48110 46/17 46/19 47/24 61/18 
16/11 16/12 23/13 28/5 65/1 9 66/7 66/20 69122 we're [6] 5/17 14/ 12 48/13 48/ 17 56113 third [2] 1 /2 68/8 
35/16 35/17 36/5 36/7 70/23 7 1/5 71 /6 83/12 25/21 43/13 44/9 63/1:; 56/25 59/ 1 68/8 79/11 this [140) 
36/8 87/3 83/17 we've [4] 19/21 41 /7 83/ 1 5 83/25 8417 84/ 1 ( those [14) 28/21 40/8 

top [7] 20/11 24/21 us [3) 34/4 48/19 45/15 64/16 84/15 50/8 56/17 57/13 60/12 
68/11 72/12 7 4/12 48/22 well [24) 16/6 18/10 WHEREUPON [2] 4/1 60/20 64/23 67/6 67/12 
77/17 81/2 use [2] 57/21 62/11 20120 28/1 33/25 36110 89111 69/4 71 /12 73/19 79/8 

total [1] 77123 used [1] 5511 9 42/144/ 1448/10 48115 which [12) 8/23 10/19 though [1) 49/23 
totally [1] 45/9 50/11 51 /1 55/14 56/ 1S 17/24 38/12 38/14 40/L thought [1] 51/6 
towards [1] 87/14 V 65/20 67 /9 69/10 70/22 48/21 51 /16 52/19 thousand [2] 16/14 
town [4] 46/21 82/17 Van [31] 1/3 1/6 1/13 72/1 3 75/19 79/ 13 52/20 56/3 82/ 18 

43/25 
83/20 83/22 2/1 2/19 2/20 2/21 412 87110 87/19 87/23 while [5] 14115 14/21 

threaten [2] 49/19 
Township [1] 42/22 4/8 20/ 14 21/22 21/22 went [14) 7125 8/ 16 49/24 53/25 8519 

57/12 
transcribed [1] 90/1 3 21 /23 21/24 23/20 1116 22/ 17 29/1 36/12 who [19) 10/24 11 /1 o 

threatened [1] 49/16 
transcript [1) 90/14 45/11 56/24 63/15 48/7 54/17 54/21 54/2~ 17/3 18/16 53/6 56/17 threatening [1] 49/13 
transcription 11] 63/1 7 68/5 69/10 7 4/25 55/16 56/7 58/16 70/ 1 56/ 17 62/ 4 66/23 69/ 4 three [15] 23114 34/3 
90/13 75/1 75/8 77/15 77/16 were [74) 4/1 6/6 6/7 69/16 71/1 71/6 72/2 

38/8 41 /22 43/12 43/16 
transferred [1] 45/6 80/20 80/21 81 /14 82/7 6/1 0 6/11 9/19 10/24 73/8 73/9 84/17 87/7 50/1 7 51121 53121 
transferring [1] 45/5 86/5 12/4 12/11 12/21 12/24 88/18 55/14 60/10 6 1/1 68/1 1 
transition [2] 56/1 o Van Zee [2] 23/20 14115 14/15 14/19 whom [1] 53/8 81/1 82/9 
57/5 69/10 14/25 16/6 1 6/6 23/1 4 whose [1] 53/15 three-something [1) 

Treasurer [1) 86/3 versus [2] 72/19 8016 27/17 30/4 30/6 30/22 why [16] 5/ 17 9/12 55/14 
Troy [2] 46/25 4 7 /3 very [4) 11/23 7 4/1 2 33/11 33/17 35/8 35/12 13/21 22/25 33118 

three-year [1] 81 /1 
Troy's [1] 47 /1 77/16 8 1/2 35/20 39/2 41 /16 45/1 E 33/23 34/7 34/7 35/2 

through [31) 20/5 
truck [1] 18/24 virtue [1] 90/9 49/13 52/4 52/6 52/17 38/2 41/2 43/6 57/6 

21 /17 22/1 7 28/18 29/1 
true [1] 90/14 VOGEL [2] 2/1 4 3/3 53/2 53/2 53/3 53/5 75/12 76/9 77/12 

29/2 37/5 37/11 41/8 
5 Trust [3) 62/21 63/4 vs [1] 1/5 53/1 2 53/15 53/19 wife [16) 22/15 22/23 46/10 48/11 48/13 50/ 

53/21 54/7 56/14 57/3 25/20 37/ 19 38122 76/2 1 w 50/6 55/3 58/1 6 58/ 17 
4 try [2] 9/3 45/21 57/9 57/11 58/12 58/17 38/23 39/23 4017 40/21 60/11 61/8 61/11 67/1 

trying [3) 50/4 58/22 Wagners [2] 18/17 58/20 58/25 59/6 59/8 43/3 44/18 44/21 45/ 1; 
68/2 68/2 70/1 2 70/ 15 

59/16 19/22 59/1 0 70/15 70/22 73/4 63/7 79/6 84/18 
72/6 72/7 73/5 73/16 turn [4] 30/11 31/4 waive [3] 89/5 89/7 73/12 78/15 78/16 wife's [3] 41/ 13 41 /1 3 
75/10 81/1 

32/4 32/5 89/10 78/18 78/24 79/4 79/5 60/1 2 
throw [1] 49/5 Twenty [1] 4/17 walk [1] 48/11 80110 84/1 9 85/2 85/4 will [24] 5/6 5/24 9/3 thrown [1] 6/5 

twice [1] 64/23 want [13] 7/13 7/15 85113 85/21 88/2 88/2C 20/6 26/1 9 29/3 30/11 tied [6] 35/9 37/5 
two[13I 16/14 21/17 20/5 20/11 35/2 40/3 90/5 90/ 13 31/4 32/4 33/3 37/14 

37/11 49/1 2 64/13 
32/4 33/23 41 /23 42/1 5 46/1 49/22 50/11 57/7 weren't [2] 70/ 13 45/21 46/8 46/10 48/ 1 ( 

64/15 
61/2 61/10 68/11 72/1 4 61 /3 67/14 86/12 78/18 57/5 67/19 69/9 71/24 

time [28] 10/9 10/ 1 o 

9 the .. . -will ( ) y 
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w yearly [1] 87/25 

will ... [5] 72/11 74/4 
years [32] 4/17 4/17 

80/17 83/12 89/10 8/7 8/10 8/12 9/10 10/~ 

willing [2] 67/2 89/7 
11/22 13/17 13/20 
13/25 14/1217/10 

wire [2] 66/5 66/8 
17/11 19/5 41/22 41/23 WISE [1] 2/15 
50/3 52/16 53/21 62/24 witness [6] 4/3 11 /18 
65/2 66/12 68/2 69/5 33/4 50/9 69/10 81/15 
71/12 73/15 73/19 witnesses [2] 72/1 4 
7 4/11 77/4 82/23 84/25 75/1 

years' [2] 50/1751/21 
work [15] 7/23 7/25 
8/7 8/10 8/12 13/12 

yep [6] 24/3 24/9 36/4 

1 5/6 18/ 10 18/ 12 18/ 14 
41 /6 55/23 75/3 

18/15 18/23 49/7 51 /20 yes [282] 

86/24 Yesterday [1) 6/3 

worked [18] 7/24 8/3 yet [6] 17/14 25/24 
26/2 41/19 41/20 42/7 

8/5 8/15 9/14 10/22 
you [559] 13/1313/1713/1914/3 

14/9 14/21 18/10 18/15 you'd [1] 14/9 

18/19 18/20 19/21 You'll [1] 69/11 

19/22 you're [28] 4/23 7 /14 

working [5] 8/10 11/21 11/22 12/14 13/5 
1 3/6 13/9 16/ 15 19/7 14/1314/1514/19 
19/13 19/25 21/4 21/7 

18/18 
works [1] 82/17 

25/14 37/4 40/11 45/24 
52/2 63/1 68/1 68/1 would [44] 4/7 6/12 
79/1 80/18 87/8 87/24 8/1 8/23 10/19 11/14 
89/4 89/7 1 2/7 12/8 16/7 1 7 /7 

17/24 18/20 20/25 you've [11) 18/20 

22/22 36/9 38/12 38/14 19/19 21/19 22/11 29/6 

41 /22 42/8 44/24 49/7 42/18 46/1 46/2 64/16 

50/13 51/10 56/12 81/23 86/9 

56/22 57/23 61/17 your [192] 

63/18 64/4 64/7 64/10 yours [4] 23/23 35/8 

68/18 70/1 71/1 71/12 44/12 44/14 

72/6 72/24 73/8 7 4/22 yourself [8] 37/19 

75/10 77/19 81/4 88/18 
38/21 38/22 38/23 

89/5 
38/23 63/5 65/25 7 4/8 

wouldn't [3] 33/21 z 
34/1141/4 Zee [31) 1/3 1/61/13 
write [1] 70/23 2/1 2/19 2/20 2/21 4/2 
writing [1] 90/13 

4/8 20/14 21/22 21/22 
written [4] 70/20 

21/23 21/24 23/20 
72/10 79/4 79/5 45/11 56/24 63/15 
wrong [3) 23/18 25/18 63/17 68/5 69/10 7 4/25 
72/1 75/1 75/8 77/15 77/16 
wrote [2] 79/9 79/10 80/20 80/2181/1482/7 
WYLY [1] 2/15 86/5 
y 

yeah [26) 4/12 9/3 
1 8/8 19/5 24/22 26/23 
28/7 31/3 33/7 39/1 
40/12 43/10 44/25 
46/12 48/2 56/6 62/7 
63/11 65/18 68/4 71 /6 
75/19 76/18 78/5 83/1 
89/9 
year [24) 7 /19 7 /24 8/1 
8/4 9/8 17 /7 36/2 36/5 
36/9 52/12 55/24 57 /23 
59/1062/21 64/23 
66/10 66/25 7 4/14 
74/19 75/9 77/8 77/12 
81/1 83/22 
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In the Matter Of: 

CRAIG & PAMELA VAN ZEE 

vs 

MICHAEL D. VAN ZEE 

THERESA M. VAN ZEE 

August 25, 2022 

Prairie Reporting 
605..321-4906 

www.PrairieReporting.com 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:SS 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE 29CIV22-9 

Plaintiffs 

-vs-

THERESA M. VAN ZEE 

De f e ndant 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ZOOM DEPOSITION OF 

THERESA M. VAN ZEE 

AUGUST 25, 2022 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

APPEARANCES: 

SCHOENBECK & ERICKSON 
Watertown, South Dakota 
BY: LEE SCHOENBECK, ESQ. (by Zoom) 

Counsel on behalf of the Plai ntiffs 

MORGAN THEELER 
Mitchell, South Dakota 
BY: JACOB W. TIEDE, ESQ. (by Zoom) 

Counsel on behalf of t he Defendant 

ALSO PRESENT: Craig Van Zee (by Zoom) 
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WITNESS 

Ms. Van Zee 

NUMBER 

1 

I N D E X 

EXAIVIINATION BY 

Mr. Schoenbeck 

E X H I B I T S 

DESCRIPTION 

Warranty Deed 

* * * * * 

PAGE 

3 

PAGE 

3 

The Zoom deposition of THERESA M. VAN ZEE was taken on 

the 25th day of August, 2022, commencing at 1:52 p.m.; said 

deposition taken before Stacy L. Wiebesiek, RPR, CSR, a Notary 

Public with and for the State of South Dakota. 

THERESA M. VAN ZEE 

called as a witness, being first duly sworn, deposed and 

said as follows: 

Prairie Reporting (605) 321-4906 

Filed: 10/9/2023 9:02 AM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 461 -

App . 110 
29CIV22-000009 

2 



AFFIDAVIT: OF LEE SCHOENBECK, AND EXHIBITS 1-31 - Scan 17 - Page 4 of 45 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(fuxhibit 1! was marked for identification.) 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

for work? 

Would you state your name for the record? 

Theresa M. Van Zee. 

And, Theresa, where do you currently live? 

Moline, Illinois. 

How long have you lived in Moline? 

A little over three years. Almost four, I guess. 

And where did you live before that? 

Blue Grass, Iowa. 

Where is Blue Grass, Iowa at? 

West of the Quad Cities. 

And how long were you 1n Blue Grass, Iowa? 

21 years. 

And then where did you live before that? 

Pierre, South Dakota. 

And how long were you 1n Pierre? 

Eight, nine years maybe. 

What's your education history? 

12th grade. 

And you graduated from Miller High School? 

Yes, that's correct. 

Okay. And then after graduation, what did you do 

Prairie Reporting (605) 321-4906 
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A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Northern? 

Mill. 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

The railroad. 

Which railroad did you work for? 

Burlington Northern. 

What year did you start with the BN? 

1978. 

What year did you graduate from high school? 

'78. 

And then how long were you with the Burl ington 

p,,_ couple years. 

And then what did you do after that? 

Oh, I drove heavy equipment f or Publisher Paper 

And where 1s - - where did you do that for - - what 

city, for Publishe r Paper? 

A 

Q 

A 

or two. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Oregon City, Oregon. 

And how long were you there? 

You know, I don't know. I can't remember. A year 

Approximately how l ong were you there? 

I can 't remember. 

Was it more than ten years? 

No. 

More than five years? 

No. 
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Q And then what was your next job after the paper 

mill? 

I waitressed in between j obs before I went back to 

work for the railroad. 

Q And when you went back to work for the railroad, is 

that the BN? 

Q 

Q 

Q 

No. 

Which railroad? 

DM&E. 

And were you based out of Pierre then? 

Yes. Huron -- Huron and Pierre. 

Is that that eight to nine-year period that you 

ascribed to living in Pierre? 

A No. I don 1 t remember what year I went back to work 

for the railroad. There was a space in there. 

Q So you worked for the DM&E in Pierre and Huron, and 

then what was your next job? 

That 1 s it. Where I'm at now. 

Q Okay. So when you were at Blue Grass, Iowa, were 

you working for the DM&E? 

CP -- not CP. They' ve changed their name five 

times, but the same place in Davenport and, yeah, they --

Q And so you 1 ve been out of South Dakota for about 25 

years? 

About, yes. 
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Q And did you -- did you grow up living on the farm 

near Miller? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Yes, Rockham. 

And when did you last live on the farm? 

'69. 

So you so you moved off the farm before you 

graduated from high school? 

A 

Q 

In the fall, yes. 

And when you weren't living on the farm after 1969, 

where were you living? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Miller. 

Did the family move into Miller? 

Yes. 

After you graduated 1n 1978, when was your last 

involvement with the farm? 

A I came back and lived with my dad for a while 

when maybe in 1980 something and went out on the farm with 

dad and worked. 

Q 

A 

Q 

And how long were you livi ng there wi t h your fathe r? 

Oh, I can't remember now. 

When you wer e giving me t he ki nd of progressi on of 

where you had worked and where you l ived, you didn't have 

living in Miller or working on the f a rm on that progr ession. 

So could you tell me about how l ong you would have worked on 

the farm and lived with your father? 
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A I'm going to say between '86 and '88. I'm just not 

sure. 

Q And would you have been l i ving somewhere else as 

well during that time or were you exclusively living with your 

father and working on the farm? 

A 

Q 

A 

I was staying at my dad's. 

And working full time on the farm? 

Not full time. I had gotten a couple part-time 

waitress jobs and -- I just stayed there until I got hired on 

on the railroad again in '88, I beli eve it was. 

Q 

A 

Q 

So is that when you went with the DM&E? 

Yeah. 

And so you had other j obs. You were living with 

your father and you were doing something on the farm. Tell me 

what kind of work you we re doing on the farm. 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Cultivating, I guess. 

Did you have any livestock on the farm? 

Not that I worked with other than watching a gate. 

Did you help with the harvest? 

I can ' t remember. 

And when you say cultiva t i ng s o how many growing 

seasons were you there helping with cultivating? 

A 

Q 

My whol e life or just tha t year? 

Well, in that in the period after high school 

when you came back? 
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A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Yeah, I can't remember. 

You'd said '86 to '88? 

Yeah. 

Do you know what time of the year you came 1n ' 86? 

I don't recall. 

Do you remember what time of the year -­

It 

I'm sorry. Go ahead. 

I'm just trying to think of how old my son was a t 

the time to -- you know, I think he was about four so that 

would have put it at '87. I'm just not sure. You know, I can 

remember raking hay and remember dad putting me in the f i eld 

and leaving over by the Hardes place and -- I worked in 

another field that was the 80 acres , but I just don' t 

r emember. 

Q 

A 

Q 

today? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

You remember working in two different fields though? 

Yeah. 

Do you have any interest 1n farmland in Hand County 

I don ' t understand the question. 

Do you own any property in Hand Count y? 

Well, I'm not sure. 

Did you ever become aware that your mother had put 

your name on some property? 

A Yes. 
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Q When did you find that out? 

A I'm not sure when it was. Sometime after dad died. 

Q And your dad died ln what year? 

A '97. 

Q Do you remember how long after '97 you found out 

that your name was on some property? 

A No. 

Q How did you find out your name was on some property? 

A Well, dad had told me he l eft me land on the home 

place. He did tell me that on several occasions so I went up 

to the courthouse to see. And all my -- my name wasn't on 

there. It was over by my grandma's. 

Q Well, after your dad died, how long was it when you 

went up to the courthouse to look and see if your name was on 

property? 

A 

Q 

A 

I don't recall. 

Was it two years, five years? 

Because I had moved and my kids were toddlers. I 

don ' t remember . 

Q 

A 

Q 

Where had you moved to? 

Blue Grass, I owa. 

So during the period you were in Blue Grass, I owa, 

you came back and looked at the Hand County courthouse? 

A 

Q 

Yes . 

And at that point in time, you found your name on 
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some land? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

And then when you found your name on some land , what 

did you do about it? 

A I called a lady in Miller to ask her about how my 

name got off the home place. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

called? 

A 

Who is the lady in Miller? 

I can't think of her last name right now. 

What is her first name? 

I don't know. It's been so long ago. 

What kind of a job did you --

I wanted to see the records , you know, so -­

And why would you call thi s particular lady you 

To see how my name got off and Craig and -- got put 

on everything. 

Q So why did you call this particular lady that you 

called? Why would she be somebody that could answer that f or 

you? 

A 

Q 

A 

She would know how t o check the records . 

Was she somebody in the courthouse? 

I don't know if she was in the courthouse, but an 

office pe rson, yeah. I can't think. Luellen maybe . I can ' t 

think of her last name . It's been too long ago. 

Q How did you know her t o call her and ask her t o do 
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that for you? 

A I don't remember. 

Q Did this lady check the records for you? 

A No, it was going to cost a lot of money at the time. 

Q And you made the comment how your name was taken off 

the home place. Do you know that your name was ever on the 

ownership of the home place? 

A I saw old blueprints of the farm. My dad told me, 

and I saw old blueprints. 

Q 

on them? 

A 

Q 

A 

And these old blueprints you saw, they had your name 

Yeah. 

And tell me, what did the blueprints look like? 

Like if you were going to build a building and they 

were the blueprints, kind of like an X-ray type. 

Q And in what year approximately did you see these 

blueprints? 

A 

died. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

The last time I seen them was in like '97 when dad 

And when was the first time you saw them? 

I don't remember. 

When you saw them the last time, where were they at? 

Mom's. Dad's house. 

Do you have a copy of them? 

No. 
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Q How did you happen to see them at your morn's house 

after your dad died? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

I don't know. It was with dad's stuff, I guess. 

You were looking through -- was it in a book? 

Yeah. 

What kind of a book? 

Pardon me? 

What kind of a book was it in? 

Just a folder like book. 

And it was in your mom's house? 

Yeah. 

Where did she keep it in the house? 

I believe that day it was 1n her -- it was out with 

dad's - - some of dad's stuff in what room she called the 

nursery. 

Q Now, back to -- you saw your name on some land at 

some point after your father died, right? 

A 

Q 

Yes . 

And that was when you were living at Blue Grass, 

Iowa, correct? 

A Yeah. Well, '97 -- I woul d have to think about this 

when I came back. I was in the process of moving when my dad 

died, and I had worked on the railroad a short time in Oregon. 

When dad died, I drove back from Oregon. I was on the 

railroad there waiting to get on thi s other railroad in Iowa, 
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Illinois. 

Q 

question? 

A 

Q 

Are you still thinking or can I ask another 

Go ahead. 

So earlier I believe what you said was it was 

sometime after your dad died that you found out your name was 

on some property. It sounded like you meant a couple -­

several years after your father died. 

A 

Q 

No, it was when I came back for the funeral. 

So when you came back for the funeral, you found out 

your name was on some property? 

A Well, dad had told me earl ier. I mean, he had told 

me growing up, but I didn't ever question it or see it on 

anything, you know. 

Q But you have testified under oath that there was a 

point where you did see your name on some property, I thi nk 

you said by grandma's. 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Yeah, that was at the courthouse, yeah. 

And was that when your dad died? 

No, it was after that. 

Whi ch is kind of where I l eft off at. So how l ong 

after your father died was it that you saw this deed at the 

courthouse that had your name on some land? 

A 

Q 

I can't remember. 

And was it -- was it in the first couple years after 
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your dad died or longer than that? 

A 

Q 

I don ' t know. 

Okay. And the -- the land you saw your name on at 

the courthouse, how much land was it? 

A To the best I can recollect, a quarter and a half. 

You know, I just saw Michael's name and my name and I was 

looking more at the home place, you know, trying to see over 

there than grandma's. 

Q But over at your grandma's, there you saw your name 

on a on a deed? 

A It was in a book. 

Q At the courthouse, right? 

A Ub-huh. 

Q You have to say yes or no. 

A Yes . 

Q I would like you to look at fuxhibit 11 that your 

attorney has there, if you could put that in front of you. 

MR. TIEDE: It's s i tting right here on the 

table by her, Lee. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q Okay. So I would like you to l ook at ijxhi b i t 11. Is 

that the deed you're talking about that you saw at the 

courthouse, or a copy of it? 

A 

Q 

It may have been. I'm just not sure. 

And do you see that deed i s dated 2004? Do you s ee 
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that? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

How long after 2004 do you think you would have seen 

the deed with your name on it? 

A 

Q 

I don't know. 

Well, today it's 2022. Let's go back to 2020. By 

then, had you seen the deed? 

A 

Q 

Yeah, I knew about it then. 

So now let's go back ten more years from then, 2010. 

Would you have seen the deed by then? 

A I'm not sure. I would have to think about the kids 

and the dates and the moving and -- I don't know when I saw 

it. 

Q What about the moving would help you remember when 

you saw the deed? 

A I was up at the courthouse a couple different times. 

My mother was still alive, I know that. 

Q Okay. And am I right that I understand you were 

living in Blue Grass, Iowa when you saw the deed? 

A I don't recall when I came back. I don't remember 

when it was. 

Q Okay. I'm not asking you for dates, but I would 

like to know within a couple of years so I'm going to keep 

asking you some questions to help jog your memory. So the 

first question is , were you living i n Blue Grass, Iowa when 
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you went to the courthouse and saw the deed? 

A I was up there a few different times so it ' s 

possible that one of the times. I'm trying to t hink. I don ' t 

know when I was back. 

Q Okay. When you say you were up there a couple 

different times, why would you have been up there a coupl e 

different times? 

A I don't know. I bought one of those little books 

that showed all the land all over. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Did you buy that at the courthouse? 

Yeah. 

Okay. At the Register of Deeds office? 

Probably. I'm not sure. 

And when you bought that book , is that when you wer e 

looking at the deed where you saw your name? 

A No. It was a long time ago. The very first t i me I 

saw this was a long time ago. 

Q 

A 

Q 

t ime ago? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

And you're referencing IExhibit 1!, aren't you? 

Yes. 

You're saying the first t i me you saw t hat was a long 

Uh-huh. 

You have to say yes or no. I think you're nodding. 

Yes . 

All right. So we know that deed has been in 
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existence for 18 years. And you sai d you saw i t the first 

time you saw it was a long time ago. Would that be more than 

ten years ago? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

I don't know. I don't know. 

Do you -- I mean 

I don't recall. 

Is there any way -- anythi ng you could look at that 

would help you remember when you first learned of this deed? 

A 

Q 

No, not at this time. 

I don't mean at this time. Is there is there 

anything we could have you go look or check on t hat would help 

you remember when you first saw this deed? 

A 

Q 

No, not right now. 

Well, and so you added not right now. That 's why 

I've got to keep asking. 

A Yeah, I don't know. I could ask my oldest son when 

I was back, but I don't know if he would recall either. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Was your oldest son with you when you went -­

No. 

-- at the time you saw the deed? 

Huh-uh. 

Okay. How would -- how would your oldest son be 

helpful to you finding out when you first saw the deed? 

A 

Q 

Because I would have talked t o him. 

How old is your oldest son? 
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Q So at this point in time, the best of your 

recollection is the first time you saw IExhibit 11 was, I think 

your words were, a long time ago, right? 

Yes. 

Q Did you talk to any of your family members about 

IBxhibit 1! when you first learned of it? 

Q 

about it. 

Q 

Q 

Q 

My oldest s on. 

Okay. Did you talk to your mother? 

I don't remember when it was I talked to my mother 

So eventually you did talk to your mother about it? 

Yeah. 

Tell me about that conversation. 

She didn' t r eally want t o t a lk too much about it. 

Okay. But what did you ask her? 

I asked her why Craig's name was put on it, beings 

he got the home place given t o him and there was a t ime 

Michael or -- I'm not sure how it went but -- so if Craig had 

the home place and Michael and I had over by grandma's, why 

would have Craig' s name been put on i t at all 

Q Okay. What did your mother t ell you? 

Just some t hing to t he effect tha t da d had debt , and 

she just went on about - - she just really didn't want t o talk 

about it. 

Prairie Repo rting (605 ) 321-4906 

Filed: 10/9/2023 9:02 AM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 477 -

App . 126 
29CIV22-000009 



AFFIDAVIT: OF LEE SCHOENBECK, AND EXHIBITS 1-31 - Scan 17 - Page 20 of 45 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q But she told you that your father had some debt when 

he died, didn't she? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Did you know that your father had financial p roblems 

when he died? 

A Well, I knew that he was seeing a lawyer in Pierre, 

a bankruptcy lawyer, yes. 

Q And then after he died, do you know how the 

financial problems got sorted out? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

would use. 

Q 

A 

Q 

No. 

Did you help with it? 

No. 

Do you know if Craig helped with it? 

I don ' t know if the adjective helped would be what I 

What did Craig do with respect to the farm debt? 

I don't know. 

Do you know if he did anything to get it cleaned up 

or organized? 

A 

Q 

No. 

Did you ever talk to Craig about this deed, ixhibicl 

@, after you saw it? 

A 

Q 

A 

No, I never saw him. 

But you know how to get ahold of him, didn't you? 

No. 
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Did you make any effort to try and talk to him about 

IE:xhibi t 11 after you saw it? 

A I made an effort to talk to him one time. I went up 

to Goodyear at 7:30 in the morning before they opened, and 

when he seen me, he walked the other way. He didn't want to 

talk to me. 

And what year was that? 

I don't remember. 

Was it after your mother had died? 

No. 
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Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q Did you ever try and talk to Jim Jones about IE:xhibid 

1w 
A 

Q 

IBxhibit 1~ 

A 

Q 

No. 

Did you ever talk to your brother Michael about 

Ever? Yeah. 

Okay . Did you talk to him about it within the first 

couple years after you found out about it? 

A 

Q 

I didn't talk to him. I didn't see him. 

Did you reach out to Michael to ask him about 

IE:xhibit 11 and that real estate transaction? 

I put a copy of it in his pickup. A 

Q Were you living around Mil ler at the t ime? 
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you 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

talk 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

I don't remember when it was. 

Why would you put a copy l ll his pickup? 

So that he would be aware. 

And then after you put the copy lll his pickup, 

to him about it? 

No, no, not -- not then, no. 

When did you first talk to him about fuxhibit 1~ 

I don't recall how long ago it was. 

Was it after your mom died? 

No, it was before. 

Within two years before your mom died? 

I think it was before that. 

did 

And when you talked to Michael about it, what did 

you and he decide to do about your interest in the property 

that's in ijxhibit 1~ 

A He didn't suggest -- there wasn't anything said 

really. I don't remember. I just wanted to make him aware of 

it. There was no comment that I recall. 

Q Okay. You said that a long time ago you found out 

about IExhibit 11. After you found out about it, what did you 

do to take control of your property interest? 

A 

Q 

I talked to a lawyer in Pierre. 

And then 

MR. TIEDE: Lee, I'm just going to - - sorry, 

I just want to state that at any point if we're 
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getting into conversation that she had with me or 

Mike, that I would make an objection on the basis of 

attorney-client privilege. You haven't got there 

yet, but I just want to point that out . 

MR. SCHOENBECK: Thank you. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q 

A 

Who was the lawyer in Pierre? 

I can't remember her name. It was a woman at May, 

Adam, Gerdes that I actually hired, but I had spoke to a 

lawyer before that just to -- just to talk to a lawyer to see 

why Craig was not informing me. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Who was the first lawyer you talked to? 

That I hired or that I just talked to on the phone? 

Let's take the one you tal ked to on the phone. 

I don't remember. I just had some questions about, 

you know, the land, and I didn't actually hire a lawyer until 

a few years ago. 

Q Okay. So the first one you talked to on the phone, 

where was that lawyer based out of? 

A 

Q 

I think it was Pierre. 

Then the s econd lawyer you actually -- who is the 

one you actually hired was a woman at May, Adam? 

A 

Q 

A 

Yeah. 

How l ong ago was that? 

I don't remember when. 
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Q Did that attorney take any steps on your behalf to 

reach out to Craig? 

A 

Q 

A 

Yeah. 

And what did they do? 

She just clarified. She gave me a booklet she 

printed out just kind of clarified some things to give to a 

lawyer here. 

Q Okay. The lawyer in Pierre, I asked you if she 

reached out to Craig. First you sai d yes, and then you said 

she just gave you a booklet. Did she reach out to Craig? 

A I don ' t know. I don't think so. I don't know if 

she did or not. I mean, she knew what was going on, you know, 

so she 

Q 

A 

And was that more than five years ago? 

I don't remember when it was. I have the letter and 

the date of the research on that that she wrote up. I have a 

copy of it somewhere. 

MR. SCHOENBECK: Jake, I don't want to see 

the letter, but I want to know the dat e if you're 

willing to furnish -- you can block out of the rest 

of it. That's fine with me. 

MR. TIEDE: I'll make a note of it, Lee. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q Thank you. How long after the Pierre attorney 

before you went to the Mitchell lawyers? 
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A 

Q 

A 

Q 

I don't know. I would have to check t he dates. 

Was it more than five years? 

No. 

From when you learned about fuxhibit 11 a long t i me 

ago, did you ever pay any property taxes on that real 

property? 

A 

Q 

No. 

When you learned about fuxhibit 11 a long time ago, 

did you ever do anything to see that the land -- t he farmland 

was worked? 

A 

Q 

No. 

When you learned about fuxhibit 11 a long time ago, 

did you ever do anything to see that the land would get 

rented? 

A I did try to speak to mother, but she didn ' t want to 

talk about it. 

Q And did you feel your mother was involved in the 

rental income from the property? 

A 

Q 

I didn't know . 

Well, why would you ask your mother about ijxhibit 11 

get ting f armed? 

A I just asked her about the farm in general. 

Sometimes on a -- I didn't specifically ask her this piece of 

prope r ty, 1s it rented out, how much money are you making. I 

didn't ask her, no. 
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Q 

A 

Why not? 

It's just not something the family discussed or 

talked about. It was just tacky. I t's not something I would 

do. 

Q You understood your mother was irnrol ved still i n 

that fanning income, didn't you? 

A She made the comment one time that Craig barely gave 

her enough to live on so --

Q So Craig was providing income for her to live off 

of; is that 

A I don ' t know. That's what she insinuated -- she 

insinuated she got a small amount. You know, I knew she, you 

know, was a retired school teacher and probably got Social 

Security. I don't know. I don't know what . 

Q After you learned about ~xhibit 1! a long time ago, 

what did you do to see that there was liability insurance in 

place on that farmland? 

A 

Q 

I don't understand the question. 

Did you do anything to see that there was insurance 

coverage on your farmland in case somebody got hurt out there? 

A 

Q 

No . 

What did you do t o help your mother handle the farm 

after your fathe r di ed? 

A After my father died, my mother was coming out of a 

drunk stupor. 
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Q 

A 

So she really needed help you're saying, right? 

She was fog-headed for a while. She'd been sick 

she had been sick. She had been in the hospital. 

Q So back to my question to ask you what did you do to 

help your mother handle the farm after your father died, 

particularly in light of your knowledge that she had problems 

with handling her own life? 

A Yeah, I gave her some money to get her tooth -- her 

teeth fixed one time. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

How much money did you give her? 

$600. 

When did you do that? 

I don ' t know when it was. She came out and visited 

me in Pierre. She stayed there for a while . Then I left. I 

went to Oregon to work and she stayed at my place and 

Q 

Oregon? 

A 

sick. 

Q 

A 

This was when you were in Pierre before you were in 

Yeah, this would have been in '97 maybe when she got 

Was that the year that your dad died? 

Maybe '96 or '97. It might have been 1n t he f all of 

'96, I think that she got sick. 

Q So sometime around '96 or '97, you gave your mother 

$600? 

A Yeah. 
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Q Other than that, what did you do with the farm to 

help your mother after your father died ln '97? 

A Nothing. 

Q What did you do to help wi th the farm debts that 

your mother had after your father died ln '97? 

A I didn't know that there was farm debt . I didn't 

know what exactly the financial situation was between her and 

Craig. He never would say. 

Q A little while --

A She never said. 

Q A little while ago under oath you test ified that you 

knew your dad had financial problems when he died. Do you 

remember that testimony? 

A Well, he had told me in November he had everything 

taken care of before he died. In November, so t hree months 

before he died, he told me that he was done with his 

bankruptcy and that he -- you know, he felt good about getting 

it over with, and there was an agreement with the lawyer and 

the bankruptcy and that everything was settled. Everything 

was taken care of. 

Q So he told you in November before he died t hat he 

had a bankruptcy plan in place then? 

A It was over with. It had been going on f or a few 

years. 

Q Did you understand that to mean his debts were paid 
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or just that he had a plan 1n place so that he could pay his 

debts? 

MR. TIEDE: I mean, I don't know that she's 

qualified to answer that, Lee. I mean, I would make 

an objection to the extent that it calls for a legal 

conclusion, but you can go ahead and answer to the 

best of your abilities. 

THE WITNESS: I just, you know, feel like 

what -- that he had everything taken care of. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q Did you know if that meant that the debts were all 

paid off or not? 

A I don ' t know about the debts all paid off, but like, 

you know, he was all - - he was comfortable with having it over 

with, the bankruptcy. He thought that he was good . 

Everything was in the good, left mother sitting okay , you 

know. 

farm? 

Q 

A 

Q 

And at that point 1n time, was Craig working on the 

I don ' t believe so. 

Who did you expect t o a ssi st your mother in 

getting -- handling the farm finances after your father died? 

A 

Q 

The banker. 

So you thought the banker was the one that woul d 

help your mother organize the farm finances after your dad 
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die? 

A She did tell me she went up there and reorganized 

some things and that he was helping her, yes. 

Q 

A 

Q 

Which banker are you talki ng about? 

I think Peterka, I believe. 

Did you know your brother was involved in helpi ng 

your mother get the farm finances organized after your dad 

died? 

A 

Q 

No. 

Do you have any complaints about any of the work 

maybe you don't know if there was any but of the work your 

brother did to get the farm debts taken care of after your 

father died? 

A 

Q 

I don ' t know what all went on. I wasn't there. 

Do you have any complaints about the r ent t hat was 

charged on the land that is IBxhibit 1b 
A I don't know what rent was charged. 

Q You've known about your interest in the land f or a 

long time . Did you ever inquire to see what the terms were 

under which the land was being rented? 

A No, other t han t he whol e f arm. You know, mother had 

explained that -- I don't know if she said she went t o the 

sale barn, but she r ented the ground out and rented it out to 

the highest bidder so there wasn't any hard feelings t o t he 

locals. 
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Q Are you making a claim for any money from your 

brother for any time period before your mom died? 

MR. TIEDE: Well, I 'll make an objection on 

that to the extent that you're asking for a legal 

conclusion if any money is owed before t hen f r om a 

legal basis, but subject to that objection, you can 

go ahead and answer, Theresa. 

THE WITNESS: I would have to see what went 

on, if he owes money or what -- you know, I don ' t 

know what the circumstances were. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q Theresa, I'm trying to understand what you ' re 

claiming in your lawsuit, okay, so that ' s why I'm asking you. 

First off, do you want money from your brother Craig? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Yes, if he owes me money, yes. 

And why do you think he mi ght owe you money? 

I would have to see. 

Okay. As you sit here today, can you t ell me any 

reason that comes to your mind about why you think he might 

owe you money? 

MR. TIEDE: I'll r esta t e the obj ecti on on any 

basis that you're calling for a or on any - - t o 

the extent that the que sti on calls for any type of 

legal conclusion as to whether or not she's owed any 

money by Craig, I would object, but subject to that 
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objection, she can answer. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q 

A 

Q 

Go ahead 1 Theresa. 

Can you restate the questi on again, please? 

I'm going to have the court reporter read it back. 

(The court reporter read back.) 

THE WITNESS: Someone was farming the ground. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q Is that all? Any other reason that you can thi nk of 

about why you think he might owe you money? 

A If he was renting my ground out and keeping the 

money, yeah, he would owe me. 

Q And you've known someone has been farming the ground 

since, in your words, a long time ago, right? 

A 

alive. 

Q 

A 

I don't know when I found out. My mot her was still 

So --

I just drove by there and, you know, it used to be 

pasture 1 and now it's plowed up. 

Q And if it was pasture, it would be rented out as 

pasture ground, right? 

A I don't know if he rented it out when it was pasture 

ground or not. 

Q Did you ever 1nqu1re - - when you learned a long time 

ago that you had an interest in the property that is IExhi bitl 
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lil did you ever inquire to see who was renting it? 

A Mother just said she rented the ground out. That's 

all she said. 

Q And then what did you do about that? 

A I didn ' t do anything after she told me she barely 

had enough to live on. 

Q Did you ask her for your share of the rent? 

A No. 

Q Why not? 

A Pardon me? 

Q Why not? 

A I just wouldn't do that. 

Q Because you understood that rent money was being 

used by Craig to help support your mother? 

A I don't know. I don't know what was going on . I 

didn't ask him. I didn't ever talk to him in 20 years. 

Q 

A 

Q 

years? 

A 

and there. 

Q 

But you did talk to your mother? 

Yeah, I tried to. 

Did you say you haven't talked to your brother in 20 

Well, not -- not too much, a couple comment s here 

How many different times did you have these couple 

comment times? 

A I seen him at the hospital in Omaha, and then I 
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don't know. When he come over to mother's when I was there, 

he just ignored me. 

Q 

A 

So you saw him at the --

I tried to ask him one time when mother was sti ll 

alive, do you know why wasn't I considered in the land or, you 

know, talked to or what, you know. I tried to t alk t o hi m 

about it once. 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Where did that conversation take place? 

In the kitchen at my mother's. 

Okay. And who was present? 

My mother and Craig. 

And how long before your mother died was that? 

Well, she was getting treatments in Mitchell at the 

time, I believe, so I don't know. 

Q I'm waiting if you're stil l thinking. I don't want 

to interrupt you. 

A 

Q 

I don't know how long before she died. 

What kind of an agreement did you have with your 

brother to share the income from the property that' s IExhi bitl 

Ii}? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Whi ch br ot her , Craig? 

Craig. 

I didn ' t have any agreement. 

What kind of conversations did you have wi t h your 

brother about how to manage the property that's in Exhibi t 1~ 
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lj]. 
A 

Q 

I didn't have any agreement with Craig. 

Are you claiming you're a partner with your brother 

on this farming operation on that land that's !Exhibi t 1b 
MR. TIEDE: Objecti on to the extent that it 

calls for a legal conclusi on. Subject to the 

objection, you can answer. 

THE WITNESS: Could you repeat t he question , 

please. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK : 

Q Are you claiming you're a partner with your brother 

on the farming operation that is the land in fuxhibit 1~ 

MR. TIEDE: The same objection. You can 

answer. 

THE WITNESS : Yeah, I don't feel like we're 

partners at all. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q 

A 

And why don't you feel like you're partners? 

I was never asked anything about it. Like when he, 

you know, rented it out, or - - you know , I feel like he t r ied 

to steal it from me. 
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MR. SCHOENBECK: Give me just one minute. 

I'll just step out in the hall with Craig. I'm 

probably done. I just want to talk to him first. 

(A recess was taken.) 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q I just have a few questions. So, Theresa, 1s i t 

your testimony that at the time your father was sick and dying 

that Craig was not working on the farm? Did you say that? 

A 

Q 

Yeah, I thought he worked at Goodyear. 

But you also -- besides working at Goodyear, you 

don't believe he was the one working on the farm? 

A 

Q 

No. 

That's a bad question. We had a double negative 1n 

there. Do you believe Craig was working on the farm duri ng 

the period of time when your father was sick and died? 

A 

Q 

Well, he was sick for a long time, my dad was. 

When your dad died, do you believe Craig was working 

on the farm 1n the months around that time period? 

A 

Q 

I don't know. 

Because the reason I asked 1s because you said that 

he wasn't working on the farm, and I just wanted to make sure 

what you were basing that on. 

A Because dad told me he just wanted him fired. He 

just was stealing from him, and he didn't want him around. I 

thought Craig worked -- I thought Craig worked at Goodyear. 
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Q And then you cultivated for one or two years, did 

you say? 

A Not that long. I was just back staying, waiting for 

another job, and I went out there wi th dad whenever he needed 

help like in between jobs. You know, I had my son then so --

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

But you did say you helped with cultivating, right? 

Yep. 

What kind of crops were you cultivating? 

Corn, I think. 

And what kind of tractor were you driving? 

I don ' t remember. The onl y one he had, an old 

International, I believe. It's been a long time ago. 

Q Tell me about the cultivator. What kind of 

cultivator was it? 

A 

Q 

What brand name it was or how many rows did it do? 

Let's do both. Anything you can tell me about the 

cultivator. 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Yeah, I don't remember. 

You don't remember how many rows? 

Huh-uh. 

I'm sorry . You have to say yes or no. 

No. 

Do you remember what kind of brand it was? 

No. 

Tell me about what work you actually do when you're 
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cultivating. How does that work? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

You just go down the field and get the weeds out. 

How do you get the weeds out? 

I guess I don't understand the question. 

What are you doing to cultivate a field? 

Driving the tractor. 

And how many quarters of l and did you cultivate? 

It was over by the Hardes place. Craig would know 

more of that than that. 

Q Did you cultivate one quarter or two quarters, how 

many, ballpark? 

A 

Q 

I don't know how many acres. 

I wasn't asking acres, because that can be a l i ttle 

tricky, but quarters are - - describe the piece of ground that 

you drove around on. 

A 

Q 

What do I want to know about it? 

I want to know what you know about it. How big of a 

piece of ground were you cultivating? 

A I don't remember how many acres exactly. It was - -

Q Was it more than one - - go ahead. 

A I t was the Hardes place. 

MR. TIEDE: I think it 's been asked and 

answered, Lee. She doesn't know it was by the , 

quote, Hardes place is what she said. And, I mean, 

I don't know what you're getting at, but I think 
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she's answered your question. 

BY MR. SCHOENBECK: 

Q Spell that last name, woul d you? The place you said 

you were cultivating at. That isn't meant to be a trick. The 

court reporter needs it for the record. 

A Yeah, I'm not sure how to spell the last part of it. 

If it's A-Sor E-S. The Hardes place. I don't know. 

MR. SCHOENBECK: I don't have any other 

questions of this witness. It's a li t tle bit befor e 

3:00. Do you want to start at 3:00 on the next one? 

MR. TIEDE: That sounds good to me. 

THE COURT REPORTER: Does she want to read 

and sign or waive? 

MR. TIEDE: Waive, please. She's going to 

waive. We talked about this prior to going on the 

record. 

(2:52 p.m.) 
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C E R T I F I C A T E 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

:SS 

COUNTY OF MINNEHAHA 

I, STACY L. WIEBESIEK, RPR, CSR, in the State of Iowa, 

Notary Public in and for the State of South Dakota, do hereby 

certify that the deposition of THERESA M. VAN ZEE was by me 

reduced to machine shorthand in the presence of the witness, 

afterwards transcribed by me by means of computer, and that to 

the best of my ability the foregoing is a true and correct 

transcript of the deposition by the witness as aforesaid. 

I further certify that this deposition was taken at 

the time and place specified in the foregoing caption. 

I further certify that I am not a relative, counsel or 

attorney for any party, or otherwise interest ed in the out come 

of this action. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand a t 

Sioux Falls, South Dakota, on the 1st day of Septembe r , 2022. 

STACY L. WIEBESIEK, RPR, CSR 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Commission expires December 21 , 2025. 
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ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE Page 1 of 5 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
ss 
) 

II\ CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 29CIV22-000009 

Plaintiffs, 

V. 

DEFENDANT'S ANSWER TO 
PLAI~TIFF'S COMPLAINT AND 

COL'NTERCLAIM 
THERESA M. VAN ZEE, 

Defendant. 

COMES NOW Defendant Theresa M. Van Zee, and in answer to the Complaint of the 
Plaintiff, states and alleges as follows: 

1. Defendant moves that Plaintiff's Complaint be dismissed as it fails to state a claim 
upon which relief may be granted. 

2. As a further, separate and alternative defense, Defendant denies each and every 
material allegation, matter and thing in contained in Plaintiff'>' Complaint except such as 
herninafter spet:i{foally admitted or modified: 

(a) Defendant admits the allegations as contained in paragraph 1 of Plaintiffs 
Complaint. 

(b) Defendant admits the allegations as contained in paragraph 2 of Plaintifts 
Complaint. 

( c) Defendant is without sufficient knowledge to admit or deny the allegations 
set forth in paragraph 3 of Plaintiffs Complaint and therefore puts 
Plaintiff to their strict proof thereof. 

(d) Defendant admits the allegations as contained in paragraph 4 of Plaintiffs 
Complaint. 

( e) Defendant is without sufficient knowledge to admit or deny the allegations 
set forth in paragraph 5 of Plaintiffs ' Complaint and therefore puts 
Plaintiff to their strict proof thereof. 

(f) Defendant admits the allegations as contained in paragraph 6 of Plaintiffs 
Complaint. 
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Craig and Pamela Van Zee v. Theresa M. Van Zee 
Hand County; 29CIV22-000009 

(g) Defendant is without sufficient knowledge to admit or deny the allegations 
set forth in paragraph 7 of Plaintiffs ' Complaint and therefore puts 
Plaintiff to their strict proof thereof. 

(h) Defendant is without sufficient knowledge to admit or deny the allegations 
set forth in paragraph 8 of Plaintiffs' Complaint and therefore puts 
Plaintiff to their strict proof thereof. 

(i) Defendant denies the allegations as contained in paragraph 9 of Plaintiff's 
Complaint and puts Plaintiffs to their strict proof thereof. 

3. Defendant reserves the right to raise any affirmative defenses that may be determined 
by fmther investigation or discovery. 

COUNTERCLAIM 

COMES NOW Defendant Theresa M. Van Zee, and for her Counterclaim against the 
Plaintiffs, states and alleges as follows: 

GEKERAL ALLEGATIONS 

l. Craig Van Zee and Pamela Van Zee (hereinafter "Plaintiffs") are residents of Miller, 
Hand County, South Dakota. 

2. Defendant Theresa M. Van Zee (hereinafter "Defendant") is a resident of Moline, 
Illinois. 

3. Jurisdiction and Venue are properly situated in Hand County, South Dakota. 

4. That Plaintiffs and Defendant each own an undivided one-half (1/2) interest in the 
following described real property, to wit: 

The South Half of the Southwest Quarter (S l/2SW 1/4) and the Southeast Quarter (SEl/4) 
of Section Twenty-One (21 ), Township One Hundred Fourteen (114) North, Range 
Six1:y-Nine (69), West of the 5th P.M. 

(hereinafter "Subject Property") 

5. As joint owners, Plaintiff and Defendant are partners in the Subject Property. 

6. For the past several years Plaintiffs have unilaterally rented out the Subject Property 
to various tenants. 

2 

Filed: 7/18/2022 1 :50 PM CST Hand County, South Dakota 
- Page 7 -

App . 154 
29CIV22-000009 



ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE Page 3 of 5 

Craig and Pamela Van Zee v. Theresa M. Van Zee 
Hand County; 29CIV22-000009 

7. Upon information and belief, the rental income for the Subject Property has been 
deposited into accounts in which Plaintiffs have access and/or control. 

8. Upon information and belief, said rental payments have not been divided 
appropriately between the partners. 

9. Defendant has made multiple demands to Plaintiffs to provide a full and accurate 
partnership accounting, including supporting documentation. Plaintitls have failed to do so. 

COUNT ONE: ACCOUNTING 

l 0. Defendant incorporates and alleges Paragraphs 1 through 9, inclusive, as though fully 
set forth herein and further state and allege: 

11. Plaintiffs have, without communication, been unilaterally managing, operating, and 
disposing of certain Partnership assets, to include rents and lease payments. Plaintiffs have 
failed, despite demand, to provide information related to such activities, which is required by 
Plaintiffs for the proper exercise of their rights and duties as partners. Plaintiffs are required to 
supply this information, without demand, pursuantto SDCL § 48-7A-405(b). 

12. Defrndant is entitled to an au.:ounting of all the business and finam:ial affairs of the 
Partnership from Defendant pursuant to SDCL § 48-7A-405(b). 

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays as follows: 

l. · l hat Plaintiffs' Complaint be dismissed against Defendant and that Defendant 
recover judgment against the Plaintiff in an amount determined at trial; 

2. For a full accounting and all documentation of rents commencing from the time in 
which Plaintiffs obtained control over the Subject Property. 

3. That Defendant recover her costs, disbursements, and attorneys foe herein; 

4. TI1at Plaintiff receive no relief or judgment against Defendant; and 

5. That Defendant be awarded such other and further relief as the Court may deem just 
and proper. 

Dated this 18th day of July, 2022. 
Isl Jacob W. Tiede 

Jacob W Tiede, Esq. 
Of MORGANTHEELER LLP 
POBox 1025, 171 8N SanbornBlv<l. 
Mitchell, SD 57301-7025 
Phone: (605) 996-5588 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT 

3 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Defomlant hereby demands a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by a jury. 

Dated this 18th day of July, 2022. 

Isl Jacob W. Tiede 
Jacob W. Tiede, Esq. 
Of MORGANTHEELER LLP 
POBox 1025, 1718 N SanbomBlvd. 
Mitchell, SD 57301-7025 
Phone : (605) 996-5588 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT 

4 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that true and correct copies of Defendant's Answer to 
Plaintiffs' Complaint and Counterclaim and this Certificate of Service in the above-entitled 
matter were, on the 18th day of July, 2022, sent by regular U.S. Mail with postage prepaid to the 
following named individual at their last known post office address, to-wit: 

ls/Jacob W. Tzede 
Jacob W. Tiede, Esq. 
OfMORGANTHEELER LLP 
PO Box 1025, 1718 ~- Sanborn Blvd. 
Mitchell, SD 57301-7025 
Phone: (605) 996-5588 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT 

5 
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JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL: OF COUNTERCLAIM Page 1 of 1 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) 
:ss 

COUNTY OF HAND ) 

) 
CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, ) 

) 
Plaintiffs, ) 

) 
v. ) 

) 
THERESA M. VAN ZEE, ) 

) 
Defendant. ) 

) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29CIV. 22-9 

JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL 
OF COUNTERCLAIM 

The Plaintiffs' 11:otion for Judgment on Pleadings having come on for hearing 

before the Court in the I3eadle County Courtroom in IIuron, South Dakota, and the 

Plaintiffs having appeared through counsel of record, Lee Schoenbeck and Joe Erickson, 

the Defendant having through counsel of record, Jacob Tiede, and the Court having 

reviewed the filings of the parties, and the Defendant not having filed a resistance to the 

Motion, and the Court having reviewed the relevant statutes, it is hereby 

OKDEKED, ADJUDGED, AND DECKEED that the Defendant's Counterclaim 

seeking a partnership accounting is dismissed, pursuant to both SDCL 15-6-12(b)(5) and 

SDCL 15-6-12(c). 

DATED this ___ day of September, 2022. 

Attest: 
Bertsch. Marla 
Clerk/Deputy 

BY THE COURT 
9/14/2022 8:05:27 AM 

Hon. Kent Shelton 
Circuit Court Judge 

Filed on:09/14/2022 Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-000009 
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STIPULATION AND ORDER: FOR JURY TRIAL OF EQUITABLE ISSUES Page 1 of 2 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VANZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THERESA VAN ZEE and 
MICHAEL D. VAN ZEE, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29CIV. 22-9 

STIPULATION AND ORDER FOR 
JURY TRIAL OF EQUIATABLE 

ISSUES 

STIPULATION 

TI1e paities hereby stipulate that the equitable issues in this proceeding will be 

tried to a jury whose verdict should have the same effect as is a trial by jury had been a 

matter of right. SDCL 15-6-39(c). 

Dated this ~ay of November, 2023. 

ee. choenbed. 
Joe Erickson 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
1200 Mickelson Dr., STE. 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 

RICHARDSON, WYLY, WISE, SAUCK & 
HIEB, LP 

Rya Vogel 
Attorneys for Defendants 
1 Court St. 
P.O. Box 1030 
Aberdeen, SD 57402-1030 

- Page 896 -
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STIPULATION AND ORDER: FOR JURY TRIAL OF EQUITABLE ISSUES Page 2 of 2 

ORDER 

Based on the above Stipulation, it is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND 

DECREED that the equitable issues in this proceeding will be tried to a jury who's 

verdict shall have the same effect as if a trial by jury had been a matter of right. 

Attest: 
Bertsch. Marla 
Clerk/Deputy 

BY THE COURT: 
11/28/2023 11 :57:33 AM 

&~-n-
Circuit Court ,Judge 

Filed on: 11/28/2023 Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-000009 
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JUDGMENT Page 1 of 1 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF HAND 

) 
:ss 
) 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THERESA VAN ZEE and 
MICHAEL D. VAN ZEE, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

29ClV. 22-9 

JUDGMENT 

The above entitled matter having come before a jury in Hand County, South 

Dakota on the 14th day of December, 2023 and the jury having returned a vell:iict on 

December 15, 2023, and the Plaintiffs, Craig and Pamela Van Zee having been 

represented by Lee Schoenbeck, and the Defl.!ndants, Michael Van Zee and Theresa Van 

Zee ~~ying been represented by Ryan Vogel and the jury having returned a verdict to the 

Honorable Kent A Shelton, the Court does now hereby 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that based upon the jury verdict, that 

judgment be entered for Michael Van Zee in the amount of $38,052, with interest 

accruing at ten percent per annum from December 14, 2023; it is further 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that a judgment be entered for 

Theresa Van Zee in the amount of $38,052 with interest accruing at ten percent per 

annum from December 14, 2023. 

Attest: 

Bertsch, Marla 
Clerk/Deputy 

• 

12/22/2023 8:25:17 AM 
BY THE COURT: 

Hon. Kent A. Shelton 
Circuit Court Judge 

Filed on: 12/22/2023 Hand County, South Dakota 29CIV22-000009 
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SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT & CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE: MICHAEL VANZEE Page 1 of 2 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) 

COUNTY OF HAND) 
SS. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE, 

Plaintiffs, 

-vs-

THERESA VAN ZEE and 
MICHAEL D. VAN ZEE, 

Defendants. 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

29CIV22-09 

SATISFACTION OF 
JUDGMENT AND COSTS 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Defendant Michael Van Zee, by and through his attorney of record, hereby 
acknowledges full and complete satisfaction of the Judgment filed December 22, 
2023, in the amount of $38,052.00, costs in the amount of $1,514.84, and interest in 
the amount of $612.08. A total of $40,178.92 has been satisfied in connection with 
this matter. 

Dated this 9th day of February, 2024. 

RICHARDSON, Wl:'L Y, WISE, SAU CK 
& HIEB, LLP 

f/f!¼ By __ -1----'----;,,<---------
Attorneys fo heresa Van Zee 
and Michael Va n Zee 

Ryan S. Vogel 
One Court Street 
Post Office Box 1030 
Aberdeen, SD 57402-1030 
Telephone No. 605-225-6310 
Email: RVogel@rwwsh.com 

1 of 2 
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SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT & CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE: MICHAEL VANZEE Page 2 of 2 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA) 
: SS. 

COUNTY OF BROWN) 

On this the 9th day of February, 2024, before me, the undersigned 
officer, personally appeared Ryan S. Vogel, known to me or satisfactorily proven to 
be the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged 
that he executed the same for the purposes therein contained. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal. 

a 

My Comrnissi n Expires: 7/i1/1,7 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned, one of the attorneys for Defendants, hereby certifies that on 
the 9th day of February, 2024, a true and correct copy of SATISFACTION OF 
JUDGMENT AND COSTS was served through the Odyssey File & Serve system 
on: 

Mr. Joseph Erickson 
Mr. Lee Schoenbeck 
Schoenbeck & E1·ickson, P .C. 
J oe@SchoenbeckLa w .com 
Lee@SchoenbeckLaw.com 

Dated this 9th day of February, 2024. 

RICHARDSON, WYLY, WISE, SAUCK 
& HIEB, LLP 

By Isl Ryan S. Vogel 
Attorneys for Theresa Van Zee 
and Michael Van Zee 

One Court Street 
Post Office Box 1030 
Aberdeen, SD 57402-1030 
Telephone No. 605-225-6310 
Email: RVogel@rwwsh.com 

2 of2 
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PLAINTIFF 1 S EXHIBIT(S): 24 - RECEIPT 112964 Page 1 of 4 
12/18/2023 12:31 PM FILED IN HAND COUNTY SD BY MARLA BERTSCH, CLERK OF COURTS 

Receipt #112964 
03/20/2015 8:38 AM 

Customer: THERESA VANZEE 

PO BOX 123 

User: 
Drawer: 

Fees: 

BLUE GRASS, IA 52726 

DeAnn 
General 

COPY 

Payments & Refunds: 

Cash 

5 pages 

Hand County Regis~er of Deeds 

415 W. 1st Ave 

MIiier, SD · 57362 

$5.00 

Total fees: $5.00 
$5.00 

$0.00 
Amount Received: 
Change: 

$5.00 
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Receipt #112983 
03/23/2015 3:17 PM 

Customer: THERESA VANZEE 
PO BOX 123 

User: 
Drawer: 

Fees: 

BLUE GRASS, IA 52726 

DeAnn 
General 

COPY 

Payments & Refunds: 

Cash 

10 pages 

Hand County Register of Deeds 

415 W, 1st Ave 
MIiler, SD 57362 

Total Fees: 
Amount Received; 

Change: 

$10.00 

$10.00 
$10.00 
$0,00 

$10.00 
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PLAINTIFF 1 S EXHIBIT(S): 24 - RECEIPT 112964 Page 3 of 4 

Receipt #113074 
04/09/2015 1:55 PM 

Customer: THERESA VANZEE 
PO BOX 123 

User: 
Drawer: 

Fees: 

BLUE GRASS, IA 52726 

DeAnn 
General 

COPY 

Payments & Refunds: 

Cash 

10 pages 

Hand County Reglstw of D,;ieds 

415 W. 1st Ave 
MIiler, SD 57362 

$10.00 

TotalFe1is: $10.00 

$10.00 
$0.00 

Amount Received: 
Change: 

$10.00 
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PLAINTIFF 1 S EXHIBIT(S): 24 - RECEIPT 112964 Page 4 of 4 

Receipt #120406 
07/08/4019 9:00 AM 

Customer: THERESA VANZEE 

User: 
Drawer: 

Fees: 

,MO 

Suzy 
General 

COPY 

Payments &. Refunds: 

Cash 

7 pages 

Hand County Register of Deeds 

415 W, 1st Ave 
MIiier, SD 57362 

$7,00 

Total Fees: $7.00 
$7,00 

$0.00 
Amount Received: 
Change: 

$7.00 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT 
OF THE 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

THERESA VAN ZEE 

Appellant 

vs. 

CRAIG AND PAMELA VAN ZEE 

Appellees 

Appeal No. 30600 
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HAND COUNTY, SOUTH DAKOTA 
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CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE 
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Mr. Zachary W. Peterson 
Mr. Ryan S. Vogel 
Ms. Brianna J. Haugen 
Post Office Box 1030 
Aberdeen, SD 57 402-1030 
(605) 225-6310 
Attorneys for Appellant 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 

Mr. Joe Erickson 
1200 Mickelson Drive, Suite 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 
(605) 886-0010 
Attorneys for Appellees 

NOTICE OF APPEAL FILED 
JANUARY 18, 2024 

Filed: 9/4/2024 2 18 PM CST Supreme Court, State of South Dakota #30600 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Table of Authorities ......................... . ....... ................ ..... .. ................. .. ......... ii 

Preliminary Statement .................. ... ....... .......... .......... .. .................. ........... 1 

Reply to Appellees' Argument ............ ..... ....................... ..... ........... ... .. ....... 1 

A. Craig and Pamela's factual recitation takes liberties 
with the record regarding Therea's supposed 
know ledge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 

B. Therea's claims have not changed ........... . ................. .. .......... 2 

C. As in Conway. it was Cr aig and Pamela's receipt of 
co-tenancy money tha t created a duty of trust and 
confidence and a duty t o disclose ............................... .. .. ....... 5 

D. Craig and Pamela's wrongful gains from restraining 
the Subject Property r ent are obviou s, an d summary 
judgm ent was improper on the constructive trust 
claim .. .. .... .. .... .. ... .. .... .. .. .. ....... .. ... ... .... ..... .. .. .. ....... .. .... .... .. ...... . 8 

E. Theresa did not consent to Craig and Pamela 
reta ining hundr eds of thousands of dollars in r ent 
earned from h er un divided one-half inter est in the 
Subject Prop erty ... ... .... .. ... ... ... .. .. .. ... .... .. ... ... .... ... ... .. ... .... ... .. .. 10 

F. The tria l court abused its discr etion by permitting 
irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial evidence ............. .. .. ....... 12 

Conclusion .... ....................... ..... ........... ..... ............................ ........... ... .. ....... 12 

Certifica te of Complian ce ....... ... ....... . ....... ..... .. ... ........... . ............ ... ... .. ... ...... 13 

Certificate of Service .... .. ..... ..... .... ..... .. ............ ... .. ........... ..... ........... ... ......... 14 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 1 



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

CASES: Page(s) 

Clayton v. Clayton, 75 So. 3d 649, 655 (Ala. Civ. App. 2011) ................... 5 

Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21 (S.D. 1992) ........ .. .................. .... ........ 1, 4-9 

Estate of Thacker v. Timm, 2023 S.D. 2, 984 N.W.2d 679 ............ ... .. ....... 10-11 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 11 



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Recognizing the obvious problem they have with this Court's decision 

in Conway v. Conway, 487 N.W.2d 21 (S.D. 1992), Craig and Pamela resort to 

misstating Theresa's testimony and mischaracterizing her argument, to try 

to convert the appellate argument into a game of "gotcha." Craig and Pamela 

have no legally viable excuse for their silent retention of rental income from 

Theresa's undivided one-half share in the Subject Property for over a decade. 

The Circuit Court's summary judgment decisions were erroneous and should 

be reversed. 

REPLY TO APPELLEES' ARGUMENT 

A. Craig and Pamela's factual recitation takes liberties with the 
record regarding Theresa's supposed knowledge. 

A claimed "fact" which pervades Craig and Pamela's brief makes its 

first appearance on pages 7-8, and is repeated on page 10: "In 2015, Theresa 

had the Hand County Register of Deeds send Theresa copies of all the deeds 

that had Theresa's name on them." Cited for this are Theresa's testimony 

and receipts. The content cited does not give any indication of wh at 

documents Theresa received in 2015. Nor does she remember. Craig and 

Pamela argue that "Theresa knew her name was on the real property in 

2015," citing page 82 of the transcript. (Appellees' Br., at 10-11.) Here is how 

Theresa testified on page 82: 

Q So way back in 2015, you know that your name is on 
property in Hand County, right? 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 1 



A I didn't really read through the papers. I don't remember. 

Q Didn't you, in fact, confront your mother about it? 

A When my mom was dying, I knew - I found out Craig's 
name was over by grandma and I went home and asked 
her about it. 

(T82.) (Emphasis added.) 

Patricia was sick and dying around 2020, and that is when Theresa 

testified that she learned that Theresa and Craig were co-tenants on the 

Subject Property. (T 58-59.) Yet, from the evidence set forth above, Craig 

and Pamela repeatedly leap to the assertion that Theresa knew she was a co-

tenant with Craig in 2015, even going so far as to argue that "[a]t trial, the 

jury heard that in 2015 Theresa received the deed that showed her name on 

the property as a joint tenant." (Appellee's Br., at 19.) Repeatedly saying it 

does not make it an undisputed fact. Craig and Pamela's suppositions about 

what Theresa knew in 2015 are not supported by what they cite. 

B. Theresa's claims have not changed. 

Craig and Pamela have contrived a "gotcha" type argument about 

Theresa changing her position in this appeal. Theresa's position h as not 

changed. It remains focused on Craig and Pamela's sil ent retention of rental 

income derived from real estate Theresa owned as a co-tenant with Craig and 

Pamela. 

Theresa's position that Craig and Pamela retained money earned from 

her r eal estate is borne out by Craig a nd Pamela's own factual r ecitation. 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 2 



They list information regarding Patricia's tax returns from 2013-2020 to 

show that Patricia received income even after she deeded the real estate to 

Craig. (Appellees' Brief, at 7.) While it is true that Patricia was furnished 

with $15,000-$17,000 each year, that was a small price to pay for Craig. 

Between 2013 and 2020, he was depositing rent checks that ranged from 

$186,600 to $323,400 for renting out all the land. (CR 788-791, 1048-1051, 

1052-1054, 1055-1057, 1058-1060.) All the rent payments he received from 

the tenants were deposited into the Van Zee farm account at American Bank 

and Trust - Craig's only checking account, which was never utilized by 

Patricia. (T2 36, 40, 43.) Commingled in these amounts were the payments 

he received from the Subject Property acres. 

Craig also paid $31 ,000-33,000 toward the annual payment on 

Desmond's note. (T2 38-39; CR 1731.) However, Craig testified at trial that 

he "got the home place to take care of dad's note[,]" so the Subject Property 

did not have anything to do with that payment. (T2 27.) Later , Craig 

testified that Patricia wanted him to keep all the land together to pay on 

Desmond's debt, and "[e]verything went to that debt." (T2 46.) "Everything" 

certainly did not go to that debt; rather, Craig paid the annual payment and 

nothing more, ensuring that more stayed with him. (T2 38-39; CR 1731.) 

Craig and Pamela do not dispute that they received all the rental 

income. They just chalk it up to a supposed agreement that they were 

supposed to keep the land together and use the income to support Patricia 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 3 



and pay debt. Their misguided insistence that the rental income from the 

Subject Property was used exclusively for Patricia's support and to pay down 

debt explains why Theresa references the "claimed agreement." (Appellees' 

Brief, at 3.) It is a "claimed agreement," because it is simply what Craig and 

Pamela say it is to suit their position. Theresa was obviously never told 

anything about it, because as Craig and Pamela succinctly acknowledge: 

"Craig and Theresa didn't talk." (Appellees' Brief, at 10.) Since Craig was 

cashing the rent checks and keeping the remaining balance after the 

payments referenced above, that is a problem for Craig under Conway. 

Despite the obvious disparity between the payments to Patricia and 

the bank, versus the amounts Craig and Pamela collected and retained, Craig 

and Pamela repeatedly suggest that Theresa has changed her position and 

simply acquiesced in receiving no rental income. (Appellees' Br., at 14, 17, 

18.) Theresa can only assume that Craig and Pamela are being purposely 

obtuse. Ther esa knew nothing about Craig and Pamela retaining hundreds 

of thousands of dollars, while furnishing Patricia a small fraction of what 

they collected annually. They argue: "If Theresa's new story on page 22 of 

her Appellant's Brief is true, and she agreed with rental income going for the 

support of her mother, the undisputed evidence is that her mother continued 

to receive rent all the way until her mother died, what is the basis for 

Theresa's complaint on appeal." (Appellees' Br., at 18.) 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 4 



While this question was presumably rhetorical, Theresa will answer it: 

Theresa's complaint is that, unbeknownst to her, hundreds of thousands of 

dollars in rent related to property she owned were being secretly converted by 

Craig and Pamela. It is undisputed that Theresa received nothing from 

Craig. (T2 43.) The fact that Theresa did not know what was happening 

with the rental income only further underscores the breaches of duty 

committed by Craig and Pamela as her co-tenants, and the errors made by 

the trial court in dismissing or diminishing her claims before they ever got to 

trial. 

C. As in Conway, it was Craig and Pamela's receipt of co-tenancy 
money that created a duty of trust and confidence and a duty 
to disclose. 

Craig and Pamela state: "Theresa's bare argument is that Craig and 

Pamela are her fiduciaries because their mother put them all on the title to 

the real property at some point in time." (Appellees' Br., at 15 .) That is not 

Theresa's argument at all. In fact, in her Appellant's Brief, Theresa 

expressly advised the Court that it need not reach a categorical rule that a 

fiduciary duty exists between co-tenants. (Appellant's Br., at 20.) 

Rather, Theresa's argument is that co-tenants who acquire possession 

and control over property common to the co-tenancy are trustees or 

fiduciaries for fellow co-tenants. Conway at 471, 80 N.W.2d at 159; Clayton 

v. Clayton, 75 So. 3d 649, 655 (Ala. Civ. App. 2011) (quoting Faust v . Faust, 

251 Ala. 35, 37, 36 So. 2d 232, 233 (1948)) (" ... [i]t has become a settled rule 
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in this country that a cotenant who has received money from third persons 

for the use of the common property becomes a trustee for the amount 

collected for the benefit of his cotenants ... "). On page 15 of the Appellees' 

Brief, Craig and Pamela head their argument: "There is no fiduciary 

relationship for tenants in common, absent special circumstances." 

(Emphasis added.) The "special circumstance" is that Craig and Pamela 

received money from third persons for the use of the Subject Property. Craig 

and Pamela's receipt and retention of those funds, and their failure to protect 

and secure those funds for Theresa's benefit, or even disclose any details to 

Theresa, tolls the statute of limitations and gives rise to their liability for 

breach of fiduciary duty in this case. 

Craig and Pamela argue repeatedly that they had no special 

relationship with Theresa that obligated them to tell her anything. But to 

reach that conclusion, they must flatly ignore the Conway decision, as well as 

the body of case law that has developed around the country. "'[A] 

r elationship of trust and confidence exists to the ext ent that each co-tenant 

has a duty to sustain or at least not to assail, the common interest or title, 

and one co-tenant will not be permitted to obtain a secret profit to the 

disadvantage of the other co-tenants where all must act in unison. "' Conway, 

487 N.W.2d at 24 (quoting 86 C.J.S. Tenancy in Common§ 17 (1954)) . In 

South Dakota, if a trust or confidential relationship exists between the 

parties , which imposes a duty to disclose, mere silence by the one under that 
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duty constitutes fraudulent concealment. Id. Therefore, this Court concluded 

in Conway that "a confidential relationship existed between Margaret and 

Gerald and Gerald had a duty to disclose that he was receiving all rental 

income from the farm." Id. 

Craig and Pamela assert that there was a life estate reserved for the 

mother in Conway. (Appellees' Br. , at 16-17.) That changes nothing about 

the Court's analysis in that case, and it changes nothing about this case. 

Conway is concerned with the duties owed between co-tenants when one co-

tenant is receiving the rent from the jointly-owned property. Craig and 

Pamela were the co-tenants receiving the rent. They owed a duty of 

disclosure to Theresa that they did not meet. The trial court's willingness to 

overlook those facts and grant their motion for summary judgment was error. 

Craig and Pamela also devote much of their brief incorrectly repeating 

that Theresa was aware of her ownership interest as a co-tenant as early as 

2015. They again miss the point. Knowledge relating to the title was 

immaterial to the Court's ruling in Conway: 

Trial court held that discovery in 1983 of t he warranty deed put 
upon Margaret the duty of further inquiry and notice. We do not 
agree. We cannot make the inductive leap binding Margaret 
with know ledge of Gerald's claim to all rental income, based on 
her discovery of the warranty deed's existence. 

Id. at 24. 

Here, too, the facts are clear that Craig and Pamela were retaining 

rental income that went leagues beyond the modest support provided to 
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Patricia and the annual loan payment tied to the home place. Their 

arguments for distinguishing Conway are unconvincing. 

Craig and Pamela owed the same duty to disclose their receipt of the 

rental income on the Subject Property as Gerald did in Conway. They make 

no claim that they disclosed any details regarding their retention of the 

rental income from the Subject Property to Theresa. In fact, it is undisputed 

that they kept as quiet as Gerald about their retention of all the rental 

income from the Subject Property. Under these circumstances, the Circuit 

Court committed error by granting Craig and Pamela's motion for summary 

judgment on the fiduciary duty and statute of limitations issues. 

D. Craig and Pamela's wrongful gains from retaining the Subject 
Property rent are obvious, and summary judgment was 
improper on the constructive trust claim. 

Craig and Pamela ask "how is Theresa the victim of 'fraud, accident, 

mistake, undue influence, violation of a trust, or other wrongful act,' given 

what she admitted she knew?" (Appellees' Br., at 22.) Continuing in the 

spirit of answering their questions, Theresa would respond in three parts. 

First, as discussed previously in Section A., the argument that Theresa 

knew she owned the land with Craig as a co-tenant in 2015 is oft repeated, 

but not supported. The extent of Theresa's knowledge was not an undisputed 

fact that supported summary judgment on the constructive trust claim. 

Second, Craig and Pamela's assertion seems to be that they did not 

gain anything. They once again mention the family debt and their support of 

{00752535.DOCX / 1} 8 



Patricia, but conveniently omit the math. Section B., above, explains why the 

argument that they were simply acting out of benevolence does not fit. Craig 

testified he was given the home place to service his father's debt. Even if 

Craig's own testimony is ignored, the annual loan payment plus the $15,000-

17,000 paid per year to Patricia comes in at just under $50,000 per year. 

Craig and Pamela kept the balance for 10 years, including hundreds of 

thousands of dollars generated from the Subject Property acres. They clearly 

gained from Theresa's real estate. 

Third, Craig and Pamela finish with "there is no evidence that Craig 

and Pamela engaged in "fraud, accident, mistake, undue influence, violation 

of a trust, or other wrongful act."' (Appellees' Br., at 22.) In addition to 

perfectly matching Conway's discussion of fraudulent concealment, Craig and 

Pamela's actions constitute deceit, which is defined in South Dakota to 

include "[t]he suppression of a fact by one who is bound to disclose it." SDCL 

20-10-2. As established in the preceding sections, Craig and Pamela were 

bound to disclose to Theresa that they were receiving the rental income from 

the Subject Property. Conway, 487 N.W.2d at 24 ("a confidential relationship 

existed between Margaret and Gerald and Gerald had a duty to disclose that 

he was receiving all rental income from the farm"). Fraudulent concealment, 

deceit, and breach of fiduciary duty, as argued above, undoubtedly qualify as 

"wrongful acts." 
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Also, Theresa's counterclaim states "[p ]lain tiffs assumed control of the 

property without Theresa's knowledge." (CR 184.) SDCL 55-1-7 provides 

that "[o]ne who detains a thing is an implied trustee thereof for the benefit of 

the owner." Here, it is undisputed that Craig and Pamela detained all the 

rental income from the Subject Property. SDCL 55-1-7 also supported the 

imposition of the constructive trust in this case. 

The trial court committed error in its analysis of the fiduciary duty and 

fraudulent concealment issues, which carried over to its consideration of the 

constructive trust claim. 

E. Theresa did not consent to Craig and Pamela retaining 
hundreds of thousands of dollars in rent earned from her 
undivided one-half interest in the Subject Property. 

Craig and Pamela rely on this undisputed fact in their factual 

recitation: "Craig and Theresa didn't talk." (Appellees' Brief, at 10.) Yet, by 

pages 22-24 of their brief, they shift to arguing that Theresa consented to 

their retention of all rent relating to the Subject Property. They also equate 

Theresa being alright with rent proceeds b eing used to support h er mother 

when her mother owned the real estate, to consenting to Craig and Pamela 

retaining the rent proceeds from the Subject Property from 2010 until close to 

Theresa's death. But at no point do they point to Theresa's testimony, or 

their own testimony, to establish Theresa consented to anything. 

They point to Estate of Thacker v. Timm, 2023 S.D. 2, 984 N.W .2d 679, 

for the proposition that "[c]onsent defeats conversion." (Appellees ' Br., at 23.) 
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That was an uncontroversial proposition in that case. "The circuit court 

found that Thacker knew of and consented to Timm's subsequent disposition 

of the funds from those CDs. This finding is supported by evidence in the 

record and is not clearly erroneous." Id. at ,r 43, 984 N.W.2d at 692. Indeed, 

the trial court's recitation reflected that the Estate's claim was dubious. The 

decedent, Owen Thacker, agreed with the money in his accounts being used 

to take care of himself and his significant other, Vicky Timm, whose "actions 

were conducted with [Thacker's] knowledge and correspond with his wishes." 

Id. at ,r 42, 984 N.W.2d at 692. 

Estate of Thacker gives a sense of the type of consent that defeats a 

conversion claim. Craig and Pamela established no similar facts here, which 

is why summary judgment should have been granted to Theresa on her 

conversion claim. Neither Craig nor Pamela said anything to Theresa about 

the fact that they jointly owned the land together. (T 59, 66, 88; T2 35.) 

Likewise, Craig and Pamela did not advise Theresa of the leases that were in 

place, much less have her sign as a landowner. (T 62-65; T2 23-36; CR 788-

791, 1050-1060.) How could Theresa have consented when it is undisputed 

that she was not consulted by her co-tenants about anything? 

From the time Craig became a co-tenant with Theresa in 2010 to t his 

lawsuit, Craig, and later Craig and Pamela, exercised control over $223,830 

in rental income off the Subject Property t h at related to Theresa's undivided 

one-half interest. (T2 23, 43, 64; CR 788-791 , 1048-1060.) Summary 
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judgment should have been granted in Theresa's favor. Under SDCL 21-3-

3(1), she was entitled to a judgment for the money converted plus interest. 

F. The trial court abused its discretion by permitting irrelevant 
and unfairly prejudicial evidence. 

Craig and Pamela offer no explanation or authority to explain why 

Patricia's wishes with respect to the Subject Property from 2010 to her death 

have any legal relevance to whether they, as Theresa's co-tenants, were 

unjustly enriched when they retained all rent proceeds relating to the Subject 

Property. They were permitted to make an "agreement" with Patricia the 

focal point of their defense, essentially allowing Patricia, Craig, and Pamela 

to dictate Theresa's legal rights. The trial court's evidentiary rulings have 

nothing to do with "justice," and everything to do with permitting an 

improper diversion from the real issues of Theresa's unjust enrichment claim. 

The trial court abused its discretion, and Theresa was unfairly prejudiced. 

CONCLUSION 

Theresa respectfully requests that the trial court's summary judgment 

rulings be reversed, and this case be remanded for entry of judgment in 

Theresa's favor for the $223,830 in rental income withheld from her plus 

interest. 

Respectfully submitted this 4th day of September, 2024. 
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